

Durham E-Theses

Watching Over one another in Love: Methodist Superintendents and Oversight in the Church

COCKLING, IAN, NEIL

How to cite:

COCKLING, IAN,NEIL (2015) Watching Over one another in Love: Methodist Superintendents and Oversight in the Church, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/11372/

Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

Ian Neil Cockling

Watching Over one another in Love: Methodist Superintendents and Oversight in the Church

The thesis tests the claim that superintendent ministers in the Methodist Church of Great Britain exercise an effective ministry of personal oversight which is pivotal in the church's life, and which makes a distinctive contribution to the Christian understanding of *episkopé*.

The thesis describes empirical, exploratory research into the nature, operant practice and understanding of superintendency which was focused on the Newcastle upon Tyne District of the Methodist Church during 2011-2012. Data was gathered by means of triangulated interviews of superintendents, their colleagues, and the lay leaders of circuits, the circuit stewards.

Using the model of 'Theology in Four Voices' developed by Heythrop College's Action Research: Church and Society Project, the thesis captures the conversation between the espoused understandings of 'ordinary theologians', the operant theology disclosed in practice, and the normative theology of the Methodist Conference, focusing on the 2005 statement *What is a Circuit Superintendent*?

The thesis argues that the role of the superintendent minister has enduring value in the Methodist Church of Great Britain only insofar as the superintendent inculcates a connexionalism in the local circuit which includes inclusive, empowering and participatory leadership of everyone in the life of the church; which exercises personal oversight in both collegial and communal contexts; and which permits devolved *episkopé* to colleagues who are trained and trusted to lead local churches.

Watching Over one another in Love: Methodist Superintendents and Oversight in the Church

A study of the understanding and practice of Superintendent Presbyters and Personal Episkopé, with a particular focus on the Circuits of the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District of the Methodist Church in Great Britain

Ian Neil Cockling

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Theology and Ministry

Department of Theology and Religion

Durham University

2015

Contents

Abstract	.1
Table of Contents	.3
List of Tables	.9
List of Abbreviations1	10
Statement of Copyright1	1
Date of Research	1
Confidentiality	1
Acknowledgements	12
Dedication	13
Chapter 1 Introduction	14
1.1 Preface	14
1.2 Dissertation Outline	15
1.3 Thesis	16
1.4 Findings	16
1.5 Justification for my research	17
1.6 Research contributions	18
1.6.1 Superintendency in the United Methodist Church	19
1.6.2 Recent books on Methodism	22
1.6.3 Maunder	23
1.6.4 Ecumenical considerations	24
1.7 The Research Context	25

1.7.1 Normative Documents	25
1.7.1.1 What is a Circuit Superintendent?	25
1.7.1.2 Standing Orders	28
1.7.2 Demographic and Ecclesiological Change	30
1.8 Key Assumptions	34
1.8.1 Delimitations	34
1.8.2 Presuppositions	36
Chapter 2 Hermeneutics and Method	39
2.1 Introduction	39
2.2 Theological Method	39
2.2.1 Theological Aim	39
2.2.2 Hermeneutic considerations	41
2.2.3 Models of Practical Theology	43
2.2.3.1 Applied Theory	43
2.2.3.2 Critical Correlation	44
2.2.3.3 Praxis models	46
2.2.3.4 Habitus	49
2.2.3.5 In Via Theology	50
2.3 Interpretative Framework	52
2.3.1 The Four Voices of Theology	53
2.3.2 My use of the ARCS method	57
2.3.3 The conversation between practical and dogmatic theology	61
2.4 Choice of Empirical Research Method	66
2.4.1 Research Method Limitations	68
2.4.2 Participants in the Conversation	69

2.5 Research	Design	71
2.5.1 Stud	y propositions and appropriate data	71
2.5.2 The	Interview Schedule	72
2.6 Data Col	lection	74
2.7 Interview	v Cohort Demographics	75
2.7.1 Gen	der Profile	77
2.7.2 Age	Profile	79
2.7.3 Prof	essional Background	80
2.7.4 Serv	ice History	80
2.8 Data Ana	alysis	81
Chapter 3	Empirical Research Findings and Analysis	
3.1 Introduct	tion	
3.2 The Und	erstanding in Circuits of Superintendency	
3.2.1 The	Role in General	90
3.2.1.1	Leadership	94
3.2.1.2	Power and authority	97
3.2.1.3	Summary of the Role in General	101
3.2.2 Spec	cific Tasks	
3.2.2.1	Worship, Training and Theological Thinking	102
3.2.2.2	Pastoral Care of the Staff	105
3.2.2.3	Maintaining Connexion	106
3.2.2.4	Representative Ministry	108
3.2.2.5	Management and Policies	109
3.2.2.6	Summary of Specific Tasks	113
3.2.3 Broa	ader Thinking	114

3.2.3.1 Hindrances and Helps	115
3.2.3.2 Vocation	117
3.2.3.3 Ordination and <i>episkopé</i>	118
3.2.3.4 Shared episkopé (Team)	121
3.2.3.5 'Separation' for episkopé?	
3.2.3.6 Summary of Broader Thinking	
3.3 The Practice of Superintendents	
3.3.1 The Role in General	
3.3.1.1 Leadership	
3.3.1.2 Developing Circuit Policies	
3.3.1.3 Summary of the Role in General	
3.3.2 Specific tasks	133
3.3.2.1 Visitation of the churches	139
3.3.2.2 Providing for worship	140
3.3.2.3 Training and Enabling	142
3.3.2.4 Overseeing discipline and good order	144
3.3.2.5 Pastoral care of the staff	145
3.3.2.6 Summary of Specific Tasks	148
3.3.3 Maintaining Connexion	149
3.3.3.1 External Connexion	149
3.3.3.2 Connecting the Circuit	153
3.3.3.3 Summary of Maintaining Connexion	155
3.3.4 Governance and Management	155
3.3.4.1 Monitoring the circuit	156
3.3.4.2 Strategic Management	

3.3.4.3 Changes to superintendency	160
3.3.4.4 Summary of Management activities	161
3.4 Normative Influences on Superintendents	162
Chapter 4 Towards a Theology of Superintendency	169
4.1 Introduction	169
4.2 Interpreting the Data	169
4.2.1 Personal Leadership	171
4.2.1.1 Espoused Perspective	171
4.2.1.2 Operant Perspective	172
4.2.1.3 Normative Perspective	173
4.2.1.4 Affirmations and Tensions	174
4.2.1.5 Towards a Theology of Circuit Leadership	176
4.2.2 Representative Oversight	182
4.2.2.1 Espoused Perspective	
4.2.2.2 Operant Perspective	184
4.2.2.3 Normative Perspective	186
4.2.2.4 Affirmations and Tensions	190
4.2.2.5 Towards a Theology of Representative Oversight	194
4.2.3 New modes of Superintendency?	197
Chapter 5 Conclusions	199
5.1 Introduction	199
5.2 Research Questions and Findings	199
5.3 Theological Implications for Superintendency	200
5.4 Pragmatic Implications for Superintendency	
5.5 Contribution	204

5.6 Concludi	ng Remarks	205
Appendix 1	Glossary of Terms	207
Appendix 2	Questionnaire and associated 'voices'	217
Appendix 3	Tested aspects of WIACS	219
Appendix 4	Theses on District Superintendents	225
Appendix 5	Comparative texts of TNOO and WIACS	226
Appendix 6	Ethical Approval and Interviewee Consent	229
Appendix 7	Participant Consent Form	231
Appendix 8	Participant Information Sheet	232
Appendix 9	Interview Schedule	233
Appendix 10	Έπισκοπή in Scripture	235
Bibliography	<i>t</i>	237

List of Tables

1.1	Comparison of UMC and MCGB Superintendents	21
1.2	Demographic measures of MCGB 2003-2013	31
2.1	Types of Interviewee	76
2.2	Analysis by Gender	78
2.3	Age Profile	79
2.4	Analysis by Occupational Background	80
2.5	Method of weighing data	84
2.6	Weighting example	84
3.1	General descriptions of superintendents	91
3.2	Comparison of superintendent with a secular organisation	96
3.3	Describing what the superintendent is	108
3.4	Views concerning the superintendent's management role	110
3.5	Hindrances to superintendency	115
3.6	Sources of Empowerment for superintendents	116
3.7	Attitudes towards ordination as superintendents	118
3.8	Attitudes towards lay superintendents	120
3.9	Attitudes towards and experiences of Team Superintendency	122
3.10	Attitudes of welcome towards 'separated' superintendency	122
3.11	Ways in which Superintendents exercise leadership	125
3.12	Policies developed by superintendents	130
3.13	Espoused and operant importance of tasks	135
3.14	Ranking of Tasks	136
3.15	Spearman rank order correlation coefficients	137
3.16	Utilised Sources of Connexional Information	150
3.17	Communication Methods	153
3.18	Methods cited as being used by the superintendent to monitor the circuit	156
3.19	Locus of Executive Management	159
3.20	Perceived changes in superintendency in the past decade	161
3.21	Perceived normative influences	163

List of Abbreviations

Agenda	The Agenda of the annual Methodist Conference (cited with the year
4 CU	of the Conference).
ASV	American Standard Version of the Bible, 1901
BEM	Baptism, Eucharist and Ministry: World Council of Churches Faith and Order Paper no.111, 1982
С	Circuit Stewards (when used to report responses);
	when used with a numeral (e.g. 1C) indicates the number of
	interviewees
CEB	Common English Bible, 2011
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
cl.	clause
CPD	<i>The Constitutional Practice and Discipline of the Methodist Church,</i> 2013 (updated annually).
CLP	Called to Love and Praise, 1999
CLT	Circuit Leadership Team
DDE	District Development Enabler
D-R	Douay-Rheims Bible, 1582
DS	District Superintendent of the United Methodist Church
DSes	District Superintendents of the United Methodist Church
DU	Deed of Union of the Methodist Church
E	Espoused view concerning superintendency
ESV	English Standard Version of the Bible, 2001
FAOC	Faith and Order Committee of the Methodist Church in Great Britain
GW	God's Word translation of the Bible, 1995
HE	Historia Ecclesiastica of Eusebius Pamphilus
ISV	International Standard Version of the Bible, 2012
KJV	King James Version of the Bible, 1611
LEP	Local Ecumenical Partnership
LP	Local Preacher (pl. LPs)
LXX	Septuagint
Μ	Ministers or other circuit staff (when used to report responses);
	when used with a numeral (e.g. 2M) indicates the number of
MOOD	interviewees
MCGB	Methodist Church in Great Britain
MWB	Methodist Worship Book (MCGB 1999)
Minutes	The Annual Minutes and Directory of the Methodist Conference (cited with the year of publication.)
MPG	The Ministry of the People of God, 1988
NASB	New American Standard Bible, 1995
NCC	The Nature of the Christian Church, 1937
NKJV	New King James Version of the Bible, 1982
NLT	New Living Translation of the Bible, 2007
0	Operant practice concerning superintendency
	10

S	Superintendents (when used to report responses);			
	when used with a numeral (e.g. 3S) indicates the number of			
	interviewees			
SO	Standing Orders of the Methodist Church, 2013 (published annually			
	in CPD)			
Steward	Unless qualified with the adjective 'church', this office refers to that			
	of circuit steward.			
TAR	Theological Action Research			
TNOO	The Nature of Oversight, 2005			
UMC	United Methodist Church			
URC	United Reformed Church			
USA	United States of America			
WIACS	What is a Circuit Superintendent?			
WMC	World Methodist Council			
*	This word is explained in the Glossary of Terms (Appendix 1).			

Statement of Copyright

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Date of Research

My research data was gathered in 2011-2012.

Confidentiality

For reasons of confidentiality in reporting direct speech the genders of superintendents have occasionally been altered.

Acknowledgements

I gratefully acknowledge all those who have helped me to produce this thesis.

- My supervisors, Prof Paul D Murray and The Revd Dr Peter M Phillips
- My parents, Ian and Marjorie Cockling, who introduced me to Methodism at my very beginning
- All who first taught me to think theologically as I sat at their feet in Birmingham: Canon Prof David Ford, The Revd Prof Frances Young, The Very Revd Prof Iain Torrance FRSE, The Revd Dr John B Taylor, Rex Ambler, Nicholas Peter Harvey, The Revd Dr Gordon S Wakefield and Prof Walter J Hollenweger
- My colleagues on the Faith and Order Committee of the Methodist Church, especially The Revd Dr David Chapman, The Revd Dr Stephen Mosedale, The Revd Dr Martin Wellings, Mr Luke Curran and Prof Judith Lieu FBA, who have been enormously helpful in stimulating my research
- My superintendents who were role models over the years for me in my own preparation for superintendency: Eric Renouf, Tom Davies, Philip Chapman, Alan Warrell, Joyce Norman, Bruce Blantern and Terry Hurst
- All in the Ryton and Prudhoe Circuit who helped me over eleven years to reflect on my own work as their superintendent
- The many people I interviewed who remain anonymous, but who gave freely of their time in order that we might explore together how superintendency might be better
- My friends and my fellow students who have encouraged me in my research

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my wife Anne and my sons Daniel and Andrew, who have variously dragged me from my study or sent me back to it during the past eight years, and whose patience I could never repay;

and in memory of my mother, Marjorie, who taught me to read, think and question the world.

1.1 Preface

My research concerns personal $episkopé^{*1}$, or oversight, in the Church. My thesis tests the claim that superintendent ministers in the Methodist Church of Great Britain exercise an effective ministry of oversight which is pivotal in the church's life, and which makes a distinctive contribution to the Christian understanding of *episkopé*.

In this introductory chapter, I outline my dissertation (1.2), thesis (1.3) and findings (1.4); justify the need for my research (1.5); describe the specific contributions to the debate (1.6) and the research context (1.7); and finally note its delimitations and key assumptions (1.8).

My research aimed to answer the following questions:

- How is the superintendent* presbyter's role defined, understood and practised in the Methodist Church* in Great Britain ['MCGB'] in the second decade of the 21st century?
- (ii) How coherent is the superintendent's role with the traditions of the Methodists and the church in general?
- (iii) What is the continuing adequacy of *What is a Circuit Superintendent?*['*WIACS*'] as a normative document?
- (iv) How do my findings affect MCGB's polity and theology of oversight?What implications are there for the future practice of superintendency?

¹ Asterisks refer to the Glossary (Appendix 1).

1.2 Dissertation Outline

I aimed to undertake research into superintendency: what superintendents do, how their role is understood in the circuits*, and what factors influence their praxis, discerning what is pragmatically normative as well as what is formally deemed normative. From this research I aimed to induce a framework for a theology of personal *episkopé* with special reference to Methodist superintendency which would contribute to the wider debate concerning the nature of oversight in the Christian Church.

My *empirical* focus was the average-sized² Newcastle-upon-Tyne District* of MCGB during 2011-2012. I undertook situational analysis by interviewing all superintendents, and a colleague and lay* leader ('circuit steward'*) working with each superintendent, in order to discover data concerning superintendency in practice and understanding. With an historical lens and a discovery of normative influences, I aimed to describe superintendency's present reality.

My *theoretical* focus consisted of my examining the contributions of formal and normative theology with which to engage my empirical data in conversation. I adopted the approach of 'Theology in Four Voices', the model for reflection propounded by Heythrop College's Action Research:Church and Society (ARCS) Project (Cameron *et al.* 2010). I outline my use and adaptation of this model in section 2.3.

I follow this introductory chapter (Chapter 1) by describing my hermeneutics and method, including a demographic analysis of my empirical sample (Chapter 2). I then present and analyse my empirical research findings (Chapter 3). In Chapter 4, I allow the espoused, operant and normative voices to enter into a conversation in which they both affirm and test one another, and I offer a formal theological contribution to this conversation. Chapter 5 contains my conclusions.

² Mean number of circuits in a District:13; median number:12; Newcastle-upon-Tyne:12.

1.3 Thesis

My thesis argues that the role of the superintendent minister has enduring value in the Methodist Church of Great Britain only insofar as the superintendent inculcates a connexionalism in the local circuit which includes inclusive, empowering and participatory leadership in the life of the church; exercises personal oversight in both collegial and communal contexts; and which permits devolved *episkopé* to colleagues who are trained and trusted to lead local churches.

1.4 Findings

As research which is grounded in practical theology – and indeed which is explored within the context of ministry and its associated theology – this thesis makes an original contribution to the understanding of superintendency by discovering and describing the praxis and theology of superintendency in the British context. My thesis discovers gaps between the normative understanding of superintendency as presented by documents of MCGB and the espoused and operant theologies of superintendency.

The main tensions which need resolution are between:

- The desire for leadership which seeks to help the church better serve the present age which is in tension with the passivity of stable management and risk-aversion
- The normative view of shared and inclusive leadership compared with the practice of personal leadership
- How the circuit is structured and how a diversity of local churches operate in practice
- How personal *episkopé* can operate beyond or within collegial and communal *episkopé*
- Independence and accountability, and the search for mutual episkopé.

1.5 Justification for my research

Why was this research needed?

In my own experience as a reflective practitioner – as a superintendent for eleven years during two decades as a Methodist circuit minister* – I sought to understand my role. Conversations with other superintendents uncovered varied understanding and practice. Apart from a few disparate Standing Orders, MCGB had no document describing the role until 2005.

Following the 1972 failure of the union proposals between MCGB and the Church of England (Anglican-Methodist Unity Commission 1968), George (1974) noted that the *meaning* of superintendency needed further study. As Methodism* examined its future alone, the Committee on Further Training of the Ministry was planning to set up courses for men³ about to become superintendents, and George took the opportunity to revisit superintendency's historical roots, and to ask for further research.

The Methodist Conference published *What is a Circuit Superintendent?* ['*WIACS*'] (Faith and Order Committee ['FAOC'] 2005b) thirty-one years after George's 1974 request, and seven years after I had first sought to understand my own role as a superintendent. However, *WIACS*'s enduring value was being questioned within five years of publication. By 2010, I was hearing remarks from some Methodist leaders (both locally and connexionally), questioning whether *WIACS* was already out-of-date.

Indeed, I would argue that even at publication FAOC appears to implicitly acknowledge *WIACS's* provisionality: at the *same* Conference at which it presented *WIACS*, FAOC also presented *The Nature of Oversight* ['*TNOO*'] (FAOC 2005a),

³ Women presbyters were ordained* for the first time in British Methodism the same year as George was writing (1974); among them was Ethel (Beth) Bridges (1921-2014), immediately appointed a superintendent, having served as a deaconess since 1947 (*Minutes* 1974:33,188; 2015:25)).

requested 'greater clarification and possible change ... in our understanding of the nature and role of Superintendents' (§5.2) and asked,

How can individuals and groups who have [this] clearly defined role within the church's organisational structure be better enabled to be the kind of people able to lead and manage appropriately, and to address and complete the tasks required of them? (§6.2)

No answer has yet been published. I aimed thus to better understand MCGB superintendents' *functional* nature and role, and hence to test the normative status and descriptive adequacy of *WIACS*, as well as to explore superintendency theologically.

Academically, there have been few *theoretical and theological* contributions concerning superintendents and fewer concerning *practice*,⁴ despite the role being seen as vitally important to the church.⁵ Although anecdotally some British superintendents had, in self-appraisal, examined *aspects* of their own work, prior to research I discovered no completed doctoral or Masters' theses concerning superintendents' *full role*, and no publications on the subject.⁶ Thus there were no previous replicable studies or formally-researched testable hypotheses. Both American and British scholars noted this dearth of data.

1.6 Research contributions

⁴ Appendix 4 lists theses on the District Superintendency of the UMC. Such superintendency differs greatly from that of MCGB.

⁵ The role of superintendent arguably predates the beginnings of the Methodist movement, and has often been stated to be the nearest thing British Methodism has to a bishop (MCGB 2005d:579-80 – for this reason FAOC 2000a§§91,94 resisted the title for Chairs). A circuit *must* have a superintendent – on the superintendent's death or other unexpected removal, a replacement must be found within 21 days (SO 785(3)(b)).

⁶ Apart from my own *Handbook for New Superintendents*, published by the connexion (Cockling 2012a). At the time of writing (January 2015), I am aware of 'contemplation' by the connexion to expand that handbook to include a section on relationships, leadership and oversight.

In setting out the research problem – the need to understand superintendency in practice – I note contributions from World Methodism*. Existing doctoral research into various specific roles of District Superintendents* in the UMC (Appendix 4), focusing on *limited* aspects of this *different* superintendency, is not directly relevant to my research; there is a global dearth of research into Methodist superintendency (1.6.1); recent books on global Methodism offer a less-than-cursory glance at superintendents (1.6.2). I note a British research paper (1.6.3) and ecumenical considerations (1.6.4).

1.6.1 Superintendency in the United Methodist Church

The lacuna of practical research into superintendency has also been a concern in recent years in America: two leading United Methodist Church* ['UMC'] professors, Richey and Frank (2004:146-47) propounded that

General Conference should sponsor a study of superintendency in the UMC, including historical and theological discussions, surveys of the practice of superintendency among bishops[*] and general superintendents, and proposals for enhancing the effectiveness of the office for the future of the Church. Almost no data⁷ on how superintendency is actually being carried out is readily available.

Frank notes elsewhere (2006:218-20, 248) that

the district superintendency is arguably the key office in making the connection work, ... has been little studied and its place ecclesiologically is neither well worked out nor widely understood (p.248).

Frank (2006:350-51) notes the only four studies undertaken from 1954 to 1972 (Harmon 1954; Leiffer 1960, 1972)⁸, commenting that they 'did not explore the ecclesiological grounding of the office' (p.351).

⁷ Richey knew of Leiffer's (Leiffer 1960; 1972) research, citing it as contributory to a rewriting of the *Book of Discipline* (Richey 2009).

⁸ The fourth paper, by J.C. Montgomery, remains unpublished.

Church constitutionalist Leiffer undertook his two studies before and after the American Methodist Church* participated in the 1968 union of the UMC. Leiffer found discrepancies between stated priorities of the District Superintendents [DSes] and actual activity, i.e. (in terms of my research framework) between *espoused* and *operant* approaches.

General Conference sponsored Pederson's 2010 study (Pederson 2013). Far larger than studies by Leiffer (1960; 1972), 161 telephone interviews of between 45-90 minutes were carried out, covering 35% UMC DSes, in 51 Annual Conferences. The survey investigated DSes' roles and responsibilities, whether they had clarity about their role, how the role had changed in the previous decade, and how the role described by the DSes matched the five task areas described in the *Book of Discipline* (UMC, 2012:¶¶419-425). It is methodologically parallel to my own research, though it was only published in May 2013 as I was writing up my results, and therefore could not inform my empirical research.

Although DSes' functions are similar to British superintendents' (Pederson 2013), albeit on a larger scale (Table 1.1), the survey indicated that DSes are more akin to the District Chair in MCGB – they had responsibility for between 32 to 210 clergy, with a mean of 69 supervisees, and 75 churches; they *ex officio* hold conference responsibilities; and are also subject to a more autocratic system than in Britain: their origins as 'presiding elders' (Cracknell and White 2005:57) has always made their personal *episkopé* an extension of that of their bishop.⁹ Therefore only the approach, but not the results, is comparable to my own research (Pederson 2013:8).

⁹ Mackenzie footnotes (1957:484) 'if we are looking for the really autocratic 'bishop' it seems that we should seek him among the Methodists of the United States'.

United Methodist Church	Methodist Church in Great Britain
Supervise clergy	Oversee circuit staff - WIACS §32(k)
An extension of the office of the bishop	Represent the Conference - WIACS §33
Support local congregations	Encourage Local Churches* – SO522
Representing clergy to the bishop	Meet in Superintendents' Meeting with the Chair (but not representative in the Conference); <i>WIACS</i> §32(r)
Improve effectiveness and mission of the church	Help circuit create a policy for mission etc WIACS §§30, 31
Make appointments, strategist	Oversee appointments; help circuit make a strategy - <i>WIACS</i> §6
Conflict manager	Maintain order and discipline - <i>WIACS</i> §§6, 7
Deployment of pastors	Lead deployment discussions - <i>WIACS</i> §§24, 25; SO500(1)
Educator of clergy and laity	Stimulate theological reflection and doctrinal preaching - <i>WIACS</i> §§32(b)(t), 36(e); SO524
Empowering the pastors and local churches to change	Lead rational assessment and responsible risk-taking - <i>WIACS</i> §32(c)
Helping clergy and congregations to be effective in ministry	Release ministers and laypeople for ministry <i>WIACS</i> §§29, 32(i); visits churches - SO522
Revitalizer of congregations	Visitation for encouragement, challenge and support – SO522
Spiritual director, vision caster, consultant for church growth	Help means and structures for growth in holiness and inspiration for vision - <i>WIACS</i> §§5, 30
Task 1: Spiritual and pastoral leadership	'Presiding over the people': WIACS §17
Task 2: Supervision	Ensure supervision. WIACS §32(k)
Task 3: Personnel management	Deployment of people – SO500(1)
Task 4: Administration	Administration and support. <i>WIACS</i> §§32(l)(m), 34.
Task 5: Programmatic oversight	Doctrinal preaching – SO524

Table 1.1: Comparison of UMC and MCGB Superintendents

1.6.2 Recent books on Methodism

Books introducing global Methodism give scant attention to superintendent presbyters. Cracknell and White (2005), in their Introduction to World Methodism, focus instead on general superintendency - the 'two streams' (p.vii) of Methodism characterised by episcopacy and Conference. The A-Z of Methodism accords superintendents just three descriptive column inches (Yrigoyen 2009:291). Superintendents are not mentioned in the Oxford Handbook of Methodist Studies (Abraham and Kirby 2009). Frank (2010:316, 322-23) fails to mention DSes when he writes about bishops in T&T Clark's Companion to Methodism. Despite many contributions to Making Disciples in a World Parish (Chilcote 2011) the role of superintendents in the church's mission is ignored – perhaps because most contributors were professors, bishops and agency directors, rather than local pastors who have been, or experienced the oversight of, superintendents (Cockling 2013:176). And in the Ashgate Research Companion to World Methodism, where Richey (2013:263) finally unites thinking about both general and district superintendents in an article on episkopé (he speaks of superintendents' exercising extended episkopé of the Conference or the bishop in a 'suffragan-like' way), he fails to explore how that oversight is practised locally, despite having noted, with Frank, almost a decade earlier (Richey and Frank 2004:146-47), the need for that research.

Recent books about British Methodism are no better. The *magnum opus* of Brake (1984:187-88) offers just one paragraph; the *Dictionary of Methodism in Britain and Ireland* just two paragraphs (Harris 2000). Superintendents (and circuits) are irrelevant to the discussions in *Methodist Present Potential* (Curran and Shier-Jones 2009) which chooses to focus on evangelistic, scriptural, sacramental, diverse, common, ecumenical and global aspects of Methodism.

It is therefore not surprising that in major ecumenical dialogues the entire ministry of superintendents is never mentioned – for example, the Seoul Report notes 'Historically, *episcopé* in Methodism has mostly been exercised corporately, even in those parts of the world where Methodism is endowed with bishops' (Joint Commission for Dialogue between the Roman Catholic Church and the WMC 2006:§112).

1.6.3 Maunder

There is one other related doctoral research project in Britain.¹⁰ Maunder (2012) investigated one aspect of superintendency as part of his research on the wider subject of *episkopé*,¹¹ conducting a study into the views of superintendents in relation to their role of oversight. Asking 27 superintendents in the South-East District of MCGB to complete a questionnaire, he followed up the eighteen returns with six in-depth interviews.

Maunder identified three areas of focus:

- (1) the nature of superintendents' leadership, especially
 - a. the fact that they were not the managers of (and hence had great difficulties in supervising) their ordained* colleagues, who sometimes lacked acceptance of accountability and responsibility; and
 - b. the lack of connexionalism in their circuit (i.e. a trend towards independence from the circuit of churches and ministers);
- (2) the task of administration, and the greater burden being felt by superintendents; and
- (3) the gifts and skills needed for superintendency. These included:
 - a. leadership skills
 - b. administrative competence
 - c. the need for relational skills and a gifting for "people-management".

Maunder asked questions about the training superintendents had received, and discovered that more had found the training helpful than unhelpful; however, those

¹⁰ I exclude here Grundy (2014) which, despite its title, focuses on Anglican episcopacy, not *episkopé* (pp.132-34).

¹¹ Maunder's DThMin thesis (Maunder 2014) relates more to *episkopé* in the wider church rather than at circuit level.

who were newest to superintendency had found the training unhelpful (38% viewed the training on oversight of colleagues as 'very unhelpful'). Respondents requested training in supervision, personnel management, team-work, line management, conflict-resolution and legal or governance regulations, including those relating to lay employment. Maunder concluded that there appeared to be a focus for concern in terms of relationships with colleagues and that superintendents needed to be given appropriate training and peer support. (Cooke (2008:95) came to a similar conclusion in his research in the Methodist Church of Southern Africa, quoting its General Secretary: 'The Circuit Superintendent is immediately responsible for the ministers under his care but is seldom trained for that task').

I build on Maunder's research by addressing the theological aspect of the role (Chapter 4) – I note the absence of any required training in this aspect for superintendents.

1.6.4 Ecumenical considerations

The struggle to optimise the exercise of personal oversight is not unique to Methodism. The 'Lima Document' (World Council of Churches 1982 ['*BEM*']:24-29)¹² acknowledges that the exercise of personal *episkopé* in a ministry of oversight is exercised on behalf of the whole church in order to maintain continuity and unity, and argued that its exercise within a threefold pattern needs to be developed for the most effective witness of the Church in this world. Equally, the transfer of ministerial authority – a function of bishops – has been seen as one of the functions to be grappled with should bishops be introduced to British Methodism, along with the problem of where the personal episcopate might be sited should MCGB adopt 'the' historic episcopate (MCGB 2005d; Joint Implementation Commission 2008:96).

¹² I explore the contribution of *BEM* further in Chapter 4.

Other ecumenical statements follow BEM. The *Meissen Agreement* notes remarkable agreement between the churches during a period of reception (1991:§14). The *Porvoo Common Statement* (Council for Christian Unity 1993:§42) cites *BEM* throughout, stating that the differentiation and diversity of the gifts of God and of the tasks of the Church requires a 'ministry of co-ordination' or 'ministry of oversight, *episkope*'.

1.7 The Research Context

In this section I note normative documents concerning superintendency (1.7.1) and the changing demographic and ecclesiological contexts of MCGB (1.7.2).

1.7.1 Normative Documents

Two main documents are presumed normative for superintendents: *What is a Circuit Superintendent*? (1.7.1.1) and the Standing Orders of MCGB (1.7.1.2).

1.7.1.1 What is a Circuit Superintendent?

WIACS (FAOC 2005b) contains the central theory of superintendency with which I have engaged in my empirical research. The stated aim of *WIACS* was to

discern the intention which is variously embodied in Methodist history and current practice, and so describe an ideal which can function as a model of best practice to be reflected upon and re-embodied in a variety of situations in the future.(§3)

It was also intended to be used to help improve the setting up of appointments for superintendents in circuits, the 'recruitment' or 'selection' of potential superintendents, and the setting of outcomes for the training of superintendents (*WIACS*, n.4).

A priori, WIACS recognises that superintendents share the same role as other presbyters¹³ in terms of ministerial functions, exercising a ministry of word,¹⁴ sacrament¹⁵ and pastoral responsibility;¹⁶ such a ministry being described in the Conference report "What is a Presbyter?" (MCGB 2002b). It also refers to its other 'starting points': material concerning superintendents contained in the Deed of Union* ['DU'] and Standing Orders, some of which is listed in its Appendix, acknowledged as 'not exhaustive'. I construct what I believe to be an exhaustive list of the separate aspects of superintendency in my Appendix 3.

WIACS (§10) defined oversight in its broadest sense as

in particular (but not exclusively) through theologically informed *governance*, ... *management* and ... *leadership*. Oversight is a means of ensuring that a movement or church remains true to its nature and purpose as it grows and develops and as its context changes.

The superintendent's authority in oversight is delegated by the Conference, and shared – especially with the presbyters who exercise local *pastoral charge**– with colleagues and councils exercising personal, collegial and communal oversight (*WIACS*§12,18; SO 700(7)).¹⁷ The superintendent leads the staff in their leadership of the circuit, and the staff and stewards in their governance and decision-making (*WIACS*§20).

¹³ My research does not focus on the *presbyteral* role of superintendents (see 1.8.1 below).

¹⁴ 'this includes (formal and informal) preaching, evangelism, apologetic, theological and prophetic interpretation, teaching and the articulation of faith and human experience' (FAOC 2002b:§6).

¹⁵ 'this includes presiding at acts of celebration and devotion, especially baptism (and, in the wider sense of sacramental acts, confirmation) and eucharist' (FAOC 2002b:§6).

¹⁶ 'this involves collegially 'watching over' God's people in love on behalf of the Conference and includes oversight, direction, discipline, order and pastoral care, and is exercised through a ministry of visitation after watching, praying, waiting on God, and sharing insights with colleagues' (FAOC 2002b:§6).

¹⁷ Staff meetings* should take place weekly, or 'as often as is practicable' (SO523).

WIACS 'builds on' (\$1) *TNOO* (\$3.11), a report which was not adopted* by the Conference.¹⁸ Changes to the text of *TNOO* (\$\$1.11-1.13) as incorporated in *WIACS* (\$32) are set out in Appendix 5. I deduce from the textual differences that *WIACS*

- *stresses* the superintendent's leadership of both lay and ordained people in a way that
 - empowers the powerless and helps understanding of ministerial stress and 'unrealistic or irrelevant' expectations;
 - o models the values and rules of MCGB; and
 - is more communal than personal (while noting the superintendent's responsibility for the *management*, *implementation* and *review* of the governance decisions of the Circuit Meeting*);¹⁹
- explicitly mentions the superintendent's stimulation of theological reflection.

WIACS examines the interplay between three facets of the superintendent's pastoral responsibility: *leadership, management* and *governance*. As secular models, none are specifically theological; nevertheless *WIACS* attempts to speak of them theologically: discerning the work of God in leadership, and enabling the Holy Spirit's guidance in governance. *WIACS* also acknowledges (§21) the tensions of working with volunteers who either reject the superintendent's management or cannot moderate over-forceful management.

Importantly, *WIACS* states (§35) that superintendents may delegate tasks to others, lay or ordained. The report concludes:

Superintendents therefore in their turn require help, support, supervision and training in undertaking their role. The 'good practice' which is set out here is

¹⁸ The report was received and commended for study; however, parts of *TNOO* adopted within *WIACS* are authoritative and thus normative for MCGB.

¹⁹ In Marsh (2004:231), 'Superintendent' is defined as 'presbyter responsible, *in the context of the Circuit Meeting*, for the co-ordination of work in a Circuit' [emphasis added].

intended to provide tools and encouragement for this. Superintendents are not acclaimed but formed and trained. (§37)

However, as a short document, *WIACS* makes no practical suggestions as to how its policies and suggested strategies may be formulated and enacted in circuits. Nevertheless, I would argue that *aspirations* rather than *tools* are offered in *WIACS*.

1.7.1.2 Standing Orders

The Standing Orders of MCGB define superintendents' personal accountability for the work of God in their circuit, ensuring that the Conference's decisions are upheld locally by enabling 'the relevant courts, officers and ministers to fulfil their specific responsibilities under Standing Orders' $(SO520(2))^{20}$ and supplying to the connexion statistical returns (SO358) and details of appointments for which ministers are sought $(SO542(2); 782(1))^{21}$.

Superintendents oversee worship, approving candidates for training as Local Preachers* ['LP'], overseeing that training, deciding where and when LPs lead worship, and permitting visiting ministers (especially supernumeraries or ecumenical partners) to preside at the Lord's Supper (SO521, 564, 792(1)).²²

Superintendents oversee doctrine, addressing the

urgent need that the main doctrines of the Christian faith ... be more plainly and systematically set forth in public preaching, so that the Methodist people may be established in the faith and better defended against error and uncertainty (SO524)

and assessing all candidates for ordained ministry as to their fidelity to the doctrinal standards and discipline of MCGB (SO710(3)(a)). Only superintendents

²⁰ SO425(2) requires the District Chair 'to endeavour to establish close relationships with all the Superintendents in the District, that they may have the benefits of his or her wider experience of the District and knowledge of connexional decisions and policy'.

²¹ The superintendent had implicit personal power to decide which ministers had charge of which churches until 2005, when SO520 was amended, as such decisions are properly the prerogative of the Circuit Meeting.

²² Permission is denoted on the preaching Plan.

can consent to non-Methodist worship or Masonic meetings on Methodist premises (SO920, 928).

Superintendents oversee mission, because the circuit, not the Local Church, is normatively the primary unit of mission (FAOC 2008:1.2, 3.5.3-3.5.4).²³ Superintendents are charged with visiting each local church 'to provide encouragement, challenge and support' and with ensuring the effective fulfilment of each local church's ministry (SO522).

As *de jure* chair of all official meetings in the circuit and its local churches (SO502) superintendents (as chair of managing trustees' bodies) have personal oversight of the circuit's property and finance.²⁴

Superintendents lead and supervise circuit staff, convene the weekly staff meetings, undertake Ministerial Development Reviews, report on circuit probationers*, are part of any advisory committee concerning resignation of a minister in their circuit, and supply ministerial obituaries (SO523, 725(4)(a), 760, 743). Superintendents must be consulted (and inform the Chair) before any minister engages in part-time chaplaincy, teaching or other work not within their circuit responsibilities, including agreements concerning fees.²⁵

My *Handbook* (Cockling 2012a)²⁶ sets out other duties:

• oversight of Safeguarding;²⁷

²³ I contributed Section 3, 'The Development of Circuits'.

²⁴ This encompasses circuit property (SO Section 95) including manses and their Energy Performance Certificates (SO965(3)), local church property (Section 94), accounts audit (SO012(4)), care of Deeds (SO903) and archives (SO015), and applications for grants from Methodist and other organisations.

²⁵ Ministers cannot receive more than one-quarter of the minimum stipend* in fees without recompensing the circuit or ministerial colleagues (for the extra work required for cover) (SO802).

²⁶ This was possibly the first connexional publication of such a handbook (excluding two-page hand-outs on superintendents' training courses) for fifty years, following its predecessor's (Swift 1961) format: duties listed both thematically and calendrically.

- complaints and discipline;
- legal matters;²⁸
- Methodist oversight of Local Ecumenical Partnerships;
- co-ordinating staff holidays and sabbaticals;
- applications to the Conference for authorisations for non-presbyters to preside at the Lord's Supper, and training those who lead services of Extended Communion (SO609);²⁹
- communication with the District, including inviting District Officers to visit the circuit;
- ensuring the Circuit Meetings are adequately representative of age, sex and ethnicity (SO513); and
- liaising with Methodist independent schools' chaplains regarding Methodist membership candidates (SO050).

1.7.2 Demographic and Ecclesiological Change

MCGB is at a crucial historical point. In 2011, 69% of members were aged over 65 (MCGB 2014b:18).³⁰ Statistical measures showed decline in the decade 2003-2013 (Table 1.2).

 $^{^{27}}$ Although SO692(3) only provides that Sex Offenders' contracts be known to local presbyters, I argue that all staff should be aware of such contracts (Cockling 2012a:Section 1 (2)(a)).

²⁸ Legal matters include Listed buildings; conservation areas; Authorised Persons for marriages (and the oversight of the 'conscience clause' for ministers unwilling to remarry divorcees (SOO11A (4)); Charitable registration and annual reports; tax and pension requirements; employment law and the Methodist requirement to pay the Living Wage (Living Wage Foundation 2013); office-holders' insolvency or other incapability; copyright law; and insurance (including contractors' professional liability).

²⁹ At such services, elements set aside from a previous celebration of the Lord's Supper are distributed (SO609).

³⁰ The proportion in the general British population was 21% (Office for National Statistics 2011).

	2003	2013	Decline	MCGB 2014b: Page ref.
Membership	304,971	208,738	-32%	4
Attendance	326,400	224,500	-31%	6
Children in congregations	24%	15%	-38%	11
Pastoral roll (including adherents)	861,600	446,600	-48%	6
Proportion of British population	1.5%	0.7%	-53%	6
Ministers	2,108	1,815	-14%	17
Churches	6,286	4,812	-23%	12

Table 1.2 Demographic measures of MCGB 2003-2013

MCGB is now more ethnically diverse, which brings sociological and cultural factors into play:

Immigrants entering Britain with a clearer sense of Methodist identity than many British-born Methodists have become a challenge to the whole British Methodist Church to clarify what it means to be Methodist. (Craske and Marsh 2009:204)

Circuit reorganisation has aimed to reduce the number of superintendents required, and also to utilise the benefits of scale: a larger staff offers flexibility in deployment and specialisation. In 2009 there were 539 superintendents; by 2014 there were 398 in 375 circuits, a 26% reduction. A five-year scheme using a connexional team of some twenty District Development Enablers* ['DDE'] operated from 2008-2013, the major purpose of which was to facilitate the amalgamation of circuits (MCGB 2007a).³¹ The average circuit staff team in 2014 consisted of four

³¹ I was one of those enablers.

presbyters³² (range 1 to 25), up from three in 2012, one being superintendent: the Stationing Review Group (2008a:507) recommended a ratio of one in six. Indeed, 42% of circuits in 2008 had a staff of only one or two ministers: it was recommended that such circuits amalgamate with others. By 2014, the proportion of circuits with two or fewer presbyters had been reduced to 27%.

Larger circuits covering hundreds of square miles, of 77 churches, or of 27 ministers, cause difficulties in thinking of the circuit as a unit of mission (despite FAOC 2008). This results in Sectionalisation* and 'pastorates', in which ministers concentrate preaching in their 'own' pulpits, aiming for 'consistent' teaching and contact with congregations. Colleagues offer few preaching appointments for the wider preaching Plan*. Thus at best strategic thinking is on a Sectional rather than circuit basis. Less explicit, possibly, is the power-dynamic of the local minister excluding circuit colleagues from a personal fiefdom.³³ The 2013 Conference exacerbated this, removing the right of circuit ministers to a seat on every Church Council* in the circuit (*Agenda* 2013:510). I would argue that this reduces collegial oversight.

Former FAOC Secretary, Marsh (2001:38), and former World Methodist Historical Society Chair, Wellings, also bemoan

an insidious creeping congregationalism. Small churches with energy only for maintenance and large churches safe in their self-sufficiency pay scant heed to the tradition of mutual responsibility and accountability, and do little to foster a wider vision. (Wellings 1999:156)

Shier-Jones (2009:196-97) added an update ten years later: this

creeping congregationalism ... can no longer be described as creeping. ... There is some evidence to suggest ... that churches and ministers alike are increasingly choosing to become as disconnected as possible from a

³² Only 28% of circuits have deacons.

³³ This is not only a modern phenomenon – Hawley (1846), in the American context, defended connexionalism against congregationalism (especially pp.162-71).

Connexion that seems less and less relevant to the concerns and work of the local church.

Alongside this, there has been an exploration of new ways of being church, which challenge inherited assumptions about how MCGB and its ministers should operate, and their very self-understanding (e.g. Horsley, Ellis, King and Woodhouse 2007). During the 1990s 'Decade of Evangelism', the Conference challenged every circuit to plant a new congregation. Yet this was, in those days, a filling of geographical lacunae. Twenty years later, church planting now fills demographic lacunae – new congregations aimed at particular groups defined by age, sociological background or leisure interests. New pioneer ('*Venture FX*') ministers operate at the invitation of the circuit, but with an oversight and accountability which lie not with the Circuit Meeting, but with a London-based Connexional Team*-member (MCGB 2013e). The General Secretary (Atkins 2011:§61) speaks of a 'fluid 'mixed economy''.

Several theological explorations and ecclesiological developments during the 2000s in MCGB (FAOC 1999; 2002b; 2004; 2005a; 2006; MCGB 2000b; 2002b; 2004; 2005a; 2005b; 2005d) impinge on the superintendent's role, including the ecclesiological statement "Called to Love and Praise" ['*CLP*'] (FAOC 1999). These relate to function and to a developing theology of ministry and oversight, within an overarching debate about the nature and purposes of the church, of leadership, and of circuit mission. By 2013, new models of superintendency were being implemented.

Some circuits have co-superintendents, where two or more (or all) presbyters share the tasks.

Another model sees the appointment of a so-called 'titular'* superintendent, who is not *appointed to** the circuit, but oversees it from afar. This may preserve governance, but can a 'transcendent' superintendent exercise an effective, non-incarnational, oversight?

In a small number of large circuits, a 'Lead' Superintendent is 'separated'* from local church ministry, and shares oversight with co-superintendents. This

model of shared superintendency is too new and rare to have been empirically investigated, and is not found in the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District.

1.8 Key Assumptions

I now define the delimitations of my study of the personal *episkopé* exercised by superintendents (1.8.1) and seek to identify my presuppositions (1.8.2).

1.8.1 Delimitations

I have not examined the aspects of their role which superintendents share with other presbyters: this is a study of superintendency and not presbyteral ministry. Where presbyteral functions *have* been noted is where they are exercised in the context of superintendency.

I have not generally sought to contrast the personal *episkopé* of the superintendent with that of the District Chair (except the rights of a Chair to overrule the superintendent); such a study would examine a broader *episkopé* within MCGB than my focus on superintendency within the circuit context.

My study is of superintendents in the British context.³⁴ As noted above (1.6.1), DSes have a different context of ministry. Other connexions have superintendents, but cultural variables could lead to different practices of superintendency.³⁵ Such variables would need to be considered in a more geographically diverse study.

I have undertaken a cross-sectional study of the practice of superintendency at a particular moment in time (albeit that practice is the product of historical norms). Although I gathered descriptions of a fifty-year period of superintendency practice, I did not attempt to gather data relating to particular time periods, and although such data may be inferred, the methodology is not sufficiently robust to come to any

³⁴ Individual interviewees may themselves have experienced Methodism outside this context..

³⁵ Only two interviewees were from a non-British culture.

particular conclusions about the changing nature of superintendency over that whole period. However, I *did* seek data concerning the change perceived in superintendency over the decade immediately prior to the time of my interviews.

I did not interview all colleagues and stewards. Three people were interviewed from each circuit (including the superintendent), in a form of stratified sampling.

I focused on a particular District, but the interview cohort can be taken as a connexional sample due to itinerancy*. Only four Districts (13%) were not represented in my interviewees' previous experience.

My analysis includes useful data from my pilot studies. This has the advantage of affording greater anonymity to interviewees, as none of the data may be securely attributed to the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District.³⁶ Equally, this means that the study cannot be taken as yielding definitive results about one particular District: such was not the purpose of the research, and the practice of itinerancy would make such a study extremely difficult to delineate.³⁷

I have excluded considerations about the historic episcopate. The locus of any bishop in the historic succession within MCGB is, in any case, a subject of debate (MCGB 2005d). That the locus of a future episcopate probably does not lie in the office of superintendent is indicated by the fact that since Wesley's time there has been no transmission of ministerial orders made by any superintendent; ordination is an act of the Conference, not of any officer (*CLP*§4.5.12).

Finally, I make no claims as to the *effectiveness* of the practice of superintendency. This would entail determining a means of measurement which I believe to be beyond the scope of this research. As one report (MCGB 1993:240-41) notes concerning the Church,

³⁶ For the same reason, I interviewed more than one District Chair and more than one member of the Presidency.

³⁷ Kendall (n.d.:104) bemoaned 'districtism' in the stationing practice of Primitive Methodism.

Mere statistics cannot reveal years of faithful and patient witness to the gospel which have not resulted in numerical growth; nor can they detect the truth behind a picture of growth in numbers but decrease in community witness or service, or decline in spiritual depth. ... The work of the Kingdom is of greater importance than separate denominational survival.

Equally, the 'church health' movement has worked against the definition of success which is defined only numerically (e.g. Schwartz 1996; Churches Information for Mission 2001:27-28; Warren, 2004). As Swinton and Mowat (2006:8) note, 'all human practices are inadequate, including the practices of the Church.'

Yet situational analysis of theology questions the church. If the church believes it is important to interrogate the world by its theology, then there must be a reciprocal expectation. This means that things 'of the world' are brought into the process in a critical interchange. Is this thereby syncretistic? Or does it, rather, point to God's action in the world *independent* of the body of Christ – thereby giving a greater understanding of God's perspective? Only by undertaking the research can the questions be asked, and hopefully answered. The goal of superintendency is not effectiveness *per se*, but faithful practice.

1.8.2 Presuppositions

I undertook research as a critical insider: both as a former superintendent in the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District (though my old circuit 'disappeared' in amalgamation) and then serving as DDE, in which part of my role was to advise superintendents in their work. I thus came to this study with an existing relationship with all the superintendents I interviewed. It was therefore necessary to strictly demarcate my role as a researcher. I highlight here the possibility of interviewee compliance because of my role as DDE. I believe this tendency is tempered by my having been a colleague of the superintendents before my role as DDE, and also by the lack of authority imbued in the District by the superintendents themselves, as I discovered in my research. No prospective interviewees declined; most accepted enthusiastically. In interviewing participants in the study, I presumed that they may have 'filtered' their responses, be capable of misunderstanding, or have a limited perspective; however, I presumed that they would probably not be deliberately untruthful. In any case, my interviewing three people in each circuit offered triangulation against these possible deficiencies. I further presumed that by the offices they hold the people I interviewed are sufficiently engaged with the practice of superintendency to be able to yield authoritative data.

Furthermore, I am aware that some of my data does not arise explicitly from my research, but is part of my 'background knowledge'. Nevertheless, my own understanding of the role of the superintendent is a valid contribution to the research: the goal of the research is not to discover simply what one cohort of interviewees understand and verbalise about their own praxis, but to be able to infer a more general understanding held by the whole of MCGB – of which I am part.

I have, however, a wider experience of the Church than Methodism, having variously worshipped as an active member of Catholic, Anglican, and Baptist congregations during my faith journey. I served as the Ecumenical Officer for the Newcastle upon Tyne District for twelve years (2000-2012), during part of which I served on the Enabling Group of Churches Together in England. I was also a member of the Faith and Order Committee of MCGB for eight years from 2007-2015. In both of these national positions I was required to engage with international ecumenical texts. During 2008-2010 I was a member of the Receptive Ecumenism research project based at the Centre for Catholic Studies in the University of Durham, and was a participant in the second international Receptive Ecumenism Conference, *Receptive Ecumenism and Ecclesial Learning: Learning to be Church Together*, held at Durham in January 2009.

These experiences have given me a broader perspective not only on the faith and practice of non-Methodist churches, but also an understanding of the issues and vocabulary which divide churches. Yet as a Methodist Presbyter for 26 years (including 11 years' superintendency) I have an Arminian approach which views a goal of the church to be Christian *unity* (John 17:21-23) without church *uniformity*.

As MCGB said in its response to *BEM* (MCGB 1986:229), 'History has provided us with many different expressions of the common faith. ... When God has made his creatures so diverse, could we wish it not to be so?'

Thus in my theological reflection, I seek not simply to gain a greater understanding of Methodism, but also to better understand Methodism's contribution to and reception from the wider Church of Christ. Hence I presuppose that MCGB may be enriched by receiving from other traditions. I have undertaken formal theological studies in which I have been taught systematic theology by an Irish Anglican, New Testament theology by a Scottish Presbyterian, mission by a Swiss Reformed pastor and practical theology by a member of the Society of Friends and a New Zealand Anglican – all of whom have contributed to the hinterland of my thinking.

Having set the scene for my research, I now turn to matters of methodology.

2.1 Introduction

In this chapter I first explore the goal (and associated tasks) of practical theology and my choice of theological method (2.2). I describe and justify my chosen interpretative framework (2.3), my choice of empirical research method (2.4), and my research design (2.5). I explain how I collected my data (2.6), evaluate my sources demographically (2.7) and describe how I analysed the data (2.8).

2.2 Theological Method

2.2.1 Theological Aim

As research which is grounded in practical theology – and indeed which is explored within the context of ministry and its associated theology – this thesis makes an original contribution to the understanding of superintendency by discovering and describing the praxis and theology of superintendency in the British context.

In the formal theological task I undertook for the research, I aimed to

- identify the espoused, operant and normative theologies evidenced in the data;
- examine any tensions between these theologies;³⁸
- suggest constructive implications for practice, future research and the formal and normative theological understanding of superintendency.

³⁸ Ballard and Pritchard (2006:85) argue that mere description of a context is insufficient: there is only an issue to be explored if there is a discontinuity, an interruption, or a tension which challenges the status quo.

The basic research question, 'How is the role of the superintendent presbyter understood and practised in the Methodist Church in Great Britain in the second decade of the 21st century, how consistent is this with church tradition, and how does this affect the Methodist Church's polity and theology of oversight?' raises subsidiary theological questions:

- What is the espoused theology of superintendency which is understood and expressed by Methodists?
- How is Superintendency practiced, and what does that say about what it means? What is the operant theology evidenced by the practice of superintendency?
- What is the normative theology of superintendency propounded by MCGB?
- What is the formal theological response to this? And how does this affect MCGB's polity and theology of oversight?

These questions can be investigated via the four key tasks³⁹ and four related questions of practical theology (Osmer 2008:4).

- *The descriptive-empirical task: "What is going on?"* There are two parts to the description of the context and 'lived theology' (Sweeney 2010:276) of superintendency: (1) How do people describe superintendency? What do they think that superintendency is about? What is it for? What *espoused* theology is revealed if they are asked these questions? (2) What is the *practice* of superintendency? How does it seem to actually operate? Thus I aimed to describe what *operant* theology is revealed.
- *The interpretative task: "Why is this going on?"* I reflect on what I believe to be the theologies undergirding the espoused understanding and operant practice of superintendency. I compare the similarities and

³⁹ Ritchie and Lewis (2003:27) use similar categories for *secular* qualitative research tasks: contextual, explanatory, evaluative and generative. See also Swinton and Mowat (2006:51-52).

differences between the *espoused* and *operant* voices and seek to explain and interpret those differences.

- The normative task: "What ought to be going on?" Only after the concrete situation has been encountered and the situation has been analysed do I attempt to examine and evaluate any apparent differences between local understanding, practice and norms. This has both hermeneutic and ethical facets as the research subjects and I as researcher make judgements based on our own world-views. 'Perceptions, beliefs and values face the challenge of being in touch with contemporary realities' (Ballard and Pritchard 2006:86).
- *The pragmatic task: "How might we respond?"* The requirement to respond assumes *a priori* that progress might be made; it includes the generation of constructive pragmatic and theological responses and of positive steps in new directions. Pattison (2000a:247) argues that 'It is not enough stoically to expose the nature of situations only to opt out when it comes to changing them' though he warns against being normatively and dogmatically prescriptive (p.248).⁴⁰

2.2.2 Hermeneutic considerations

In determining my method of research, I need to ask an *a priori* question: What is the nature of my main interrogation of the situation of Methodist superintendency?

This is a deeply *practical* question. My concern is with the nature of the concrete reality of superintendency in a *particular* time and place. Thus I place systematic,

⁴⁰ Although Pattison (200a:231) indicates that his list of the characteristics of practical theology is 'in no particular order of importance or significance' I note that the *transformational* purpose of practical theology is listed first in the numbered list in Pattison and Woodward (2000:13-16 at 13) and that they emphasise a commitment to be constructive following analysis, 'not just to seeing the world in a different way, but also to doing something to change it' (Pattison and Woodward 2000:14; see also Pattison 2000a:237, 247).

dogmatic and philosophical theological tradition *secondary* to my *contemporary* analysis.

Swinton and Mowat (2006:25-27, my italics) highlight six tasks of practical theology. Practical theology (i) focuses on the quest for truth and *faithful transformative action* in the world; (ii) mediates Christian tradition with the *contemporary* social context; (iii) seeks to examine the theories and assumptions which underlie *current* practice and hence reshape theory; (iv) seeks to offer constructive new insights into tradition in the light of particular questions from *contemporary* situations; (v) stays close to *experience* while focusing on reflective praxis; and (vi) is fundamentally engaged in the missio Dei in seeking not just to understand the world, but to *transform* it.

Within a situation of interpretative polyvalence, my results offer *an* understanding of superintendency within MCGB, and my interpretation of the practice and espoused values of my interviewees offers *a* description of meaning. Swinton and Mowat (2006:51) argue that 'the more perspectives one uses to explore that reality, the richer the data and the deeper the understanding one will be able to obtain'. I take seriously the notion that practical theology has to be multiperspectival, in what Lartey (2000:76) calls '*collective seeing* or *comparing visions*.' Every question is value-laden (and has culturally-specific presuppositions), and no researcher can be objective in a positivist way: we need others' angles of vision to give a truer perspective of a multi-faceted world, to filter out what is mere background noise, and to undertake the process of complexification which, rather than obfuscating the issues, helps the complicated nature of a situation to emerge (O'Connell Killen and de Beer 1994:2; Swinton and Mowat 2006:75-76).

In sections 2.4 and 2.5 below, I explain my empirical approach. But first, I examine my theological task. What is the source of *theological* data with which I am engaging?

2.2.3 Models of Practical Theology

The various approaches within practical theology differ in their starting-points, their methods of dealing with theological data, and their goals.⁴¹ In their presentation of the four basic models of practical theology, Ballard and Pritchard (2006:59-60) note that the models should not be seen 'as disparate or mutually exclusive. Rather they should be regarded as strands which are often woven together and affect each other' (p.59). These strands are (i) practical theology as applied theory; (ii) critical-correlative methods; (iii) praxis; and (iv) habitus. It will be seen that *I do not use one model exclusively*: I thus heed Tillich's warning that 'Methodological imperialism is as dangerous as political imperialism; like the latter, it breaks down when the independent elements of reality revolt against it' (Tillich 1953:67).

2.2.3.1 Applied Theory

I do not use Schleiermacherian applied theory because such a deductive approach is probably inadequate. Ballard and Pritchard (2006:13) criticise the tendency towards 'an excessive dependence on historical precedent and a theological prescriptiveness which can be insensitive to the importance of the social and psychological realities'. Van der Ven (1993:92-93) contends that 'Theology is in need of inductive research into the current pluriform, heterogeneous and chaotic societal, ecclesiastical and pastoral fields'. I concur: applied theology has on the one hand too narrow a *telos* for the full purposes of practical theology, and on the other hand too universal an approach for the particular concrete contexts of superintendency I wanted to investigate. Any historical or philosophical context is important not as a prior framework, but as part of the rich description of the *present* context, and is very much secondary. I footnote some historical precedents to highlight echoes of the past rather than prescriptions for the present.

⁴¹ Foley (2013:11) has collected twenty-seven definitions of practical theology. Miller McLemore (2012) as an entire work sets out the breadth of practical theology in 'its complex and extended responsibilities' (p.5).

As Pattison (2000b:137) comments,

[T]heology should be seen primarily as *contemporary enquiry* ... What unites all theology is its quest for adequate and true responses to the realities of human and religious experience. Good theology is dynamic, searching and open-ended, ... characterized by a willingness to really try and listen to and understand present realities rather than to regurgitate the answers of the past.

2.2.3.2 Critical Correlation

Tillich (1953:70) described the method of correlation thus: 'it makes an analysis of the human situation out of which the existential questions arise, and it demonstrates that the symbols used in the Christian message are the answers to these questions'. To use this method in my research, I would seek to correlate my empirical findings with theological norms, and generate answers to any dissonance I found. But Tillich's model is unidirectional: the norms are used to interrogate the data. The refinements of Tracy (1975) and Browning (1991) offer a *mutual* critical correlation in which the data is allowed to interrogate the norms, though Browning (1991:55-56) asks 'How do we critically defend the norms of our praxis in this concrete situation?' thereby exemplifying the prioritisation of the normative. But 'tradition' also arises from practice as much as from philosophical and systematic theology:

Take any of the great pivotal figures of Christianity – Athanasius, Augustine, Aquinas, Luther, Wesley, Barth – and their theology arises from and reflects back on to the challenges they had to face. (Ballard and Pritchard 2006:62)

The technical approach of van der Ven (1990) begins with a problem, and moves through theological induction and deduction *before* obtaining any data (p.225).

Pattison (2000a:232) critiques Browning's linear 'action-guiding' approach as too logical a link between theory and practice – whereas 'people are not wholly rational and reality is complicated'. I note that Browning himself struggled with his own earlier term 'strategic practical theology' (Browning 1991:8) as suggesting 'complicated models of anticipation, calculation and retaliation'. Healy (2000:38-39) argues that the method of critical correlation fails because the cultural context of the church is not separate from the church as a distinct entity with which the church's alignment can be correlated within a single normative account (p.175-76) and because the church involves a mystery.

In addition, Healy (2000:49) and Swinton (2012:86-87) criticise Browning (1991:ix, 44) and van der Ven (1996:39-40, 94-95) in their according equal status to social sciences and theology, and being 'excessively dependent upon modernistic and explanatory theological categories, with little or no critical contribution from theology' (Healy 2000:49). Healy himself has been criticised for similar reasons: Watkins (2015:28) notes arguments against Healy's interdisciplinarity resisting his suggested socio-scientific and ethnographic approaches because they 'have failed to be as theologically rigorous, substantial and faithful to the ecclesiological tradition as they need to be, if they are to serve, truly, the practical and faithful living of church.' Swinton (2012:88) notes 'If theological reflection occurs *after* the event has been observed, recorded, interpreted and explained, then theology becomes a second-order activity that is dependent on a particular account of the world that is generated via ethnographic methods that are far from neutral'.

Watkins (2010:167) comments on the list of polarities presented by Pattison and Woodward (2000:16), on Browning's 'revised correlational method' (Browning 1991, especially 44-47) and Campbell's argument for 'relating' practical theology to 'other theological disciplines' (Campbell 2000, especially 84-85), noting that in all there is the assumption of a 'gap' which needs to be imaginatively bridged.

Furthermore, Healy (2000:36) argues that by using models and the bipartite concept of the church⁴², such 'blueprints' aim for 'perfection' (Healy 2000:36). In relation to my own research, *WIACS* and Standing Orders are such normative blueprints, whereas my collecting of interview data is seeking to provide an empirical description about superintendency in practice. Attempts to use blueprint norms fail to account for the church's messiness (Healy 2000:148).

 $^{^{42}}$ That the church consists of two parts: the pilgrim (and not-yet-perfect) church militant, and the perfected church triumphant.

Nevertheless, my quasi-quantitative approach towards some of my data (Appendix 3) offers a type of correlation between the norm and the practice. My presentation of statistical significance⁴³ for my findings, and my counting of the number of similar comments, measures whether patterns exist, i.e. repeated occurrences of particular practices or understandings of superintendency. I contend that my use of this quantitative approach as part of my 'toolbox' (Swinton and Mowat 2006:51) does no injustice to the qualitative approach, but contributes to my rich description of my findings: it is *not* a means of claiming any quasi-scientific objective validation of my data. But it does highlight where further research is necessary to discover a better evidential base.

Although Pattison (2000a:243) notes the dialectical approach of many practical theologies which hold polarities in tension, Healy (2000) has contended that the dialectical approach is not a necessary characteristic of practical theology; indeed he argues (2012:183) that to adopt a correlational approach, using polarities, is flawed, because ethnography reveals the church as a diverse and complex community, which is 'in principle, not clearly bounded in terms of 'church and world', nor closely interiorly regulated and homogeneous'. Watkins (2015:36) agrees, arguing that

a plurality of perspectives is the thing that most adequately describes reality as it is lived and experienced. This places theology not in a position of correlation, or 'dialogue with' (and so separation from) the 'world'; but rather, in the midst of ongoing conversations with numerous others, in a connectivity of 'others'; of which it is, itself, one.

2.2.3.3 Praxis models

Although praxis models *begin* with concrete experience, no practice is value-free: 'Theory and practice are dialectically locked together, for theory or understanding arises out of action, and action relates to reflection on interpreted action' (Ballard and Pritchard 2006:54). Swinton and Mowat (2006:20) argue that practices are

⁴³ The measurement of statistical significance in random data sampling permits the researcher, in a *scientific* survey, to define the probability that what has been discovered is idiosyncratic or is part of a wider pattern.

'performative of particular beliefs' and 'bearers of tradition' within communities. This anticipates the normative task, as *expressed* beliefs can change practice. Browning (1991:9-10) notes the Aristotelian *phronesis*, the practical wisdom, arising from a practical rationality.

Ricoeur thus spoke of a 'hermeneutic of suspicion' about practices. In my empirical research I *begin* with action, asking people to verbalise their understanding of that action, by describing it and explaining it, so that the movement is firstly from action to words. This is not to say that action is performed without undergirding theory – action is performative of theory, but that theory is not always expressed, or is 'assumed'. Perhaps what is assumed is not what undergirds the practice. Swinton and Mowat (2006:vi, 10) ask 'Is what *appears* to be going on within this situation what is *actually* going on?' (p.v) and they note that 'we often discover that what we *think* we are doing is quite different from what we are *actually* doing' (p.vi). It is descriptive research using empirical and literary methods to test practice against an 'interpretative framework' (Swinton and Mowat 2006:34).

The hermeneutic of suspicion seeks to *complexify* situations (Swinton and Mowat 2006:13-16) in order to explore them polyvalently and *interpret* them in the light, for example, of their history, culture, social expectations and language, and evoke that 'unnatural self-reflection' which highlights previously unnoticed assumptions.

The concrete situation I am analysing comprises the research context already described in section 1.7, but also the data I gained from my interviews, which is presented in the next chapter. Placing my research in its context follows the contextual approach of Bevans (2002:3), who argued that all human experience is contextual, and *particular* factors such as culture and social location are themselves a source of theology. It also recognises that the present context is dependent on the past and differs depending on perspectives, what Farley (2000:121) calls the multidimensional 'demand of the situation'. This is corrective to the approach of Hiltner (2000:30) who in 1958 mapped out the 'logic-centered fields' of Christian faith with the 'operation-centered areas' of Christian life, with no reference to any localised contexts.

However, van der Ven (1993:121) has noted that 'perception does not arise simply from the accumulation of facts free from the influence of any theoretical preconception'. I note the impossibility of drawing up interview questions without a prior framework of theoretical preconception. Gadamer (1989:266ff) refers to *prejudices* as forestructures ⁴⁴ or conditions of knowledge that determine our ability to find intelligibility in a situation.

Similarly, although Swinton and Mowat (2006:178) note how important it is that data categories emerge from the data, rather than being imposed on it, data-gathering, analysis and interpretation is not value-neutral. The only way we can make sense of a situation is to interpret it, and the act of interpretation requires the importation of meaning:

Central to the act of interpretation is what we already know. Our own embeddedness and historical situatedness not only deeply influences the way we interpret our world; it is the basic way we strive to make sense of anything in the world. (Swinton 2012:82)

Campbell (2000:85) argues that the relationship between practical theology and other disciplines⁴⁵ is *lateral*; they are side by side because

Practical theology juxtaposes concrete situations of witness, celebration and service with the findings and formulations of the biblical, historical and philosophical subjects in the theological corpus. It does this not in order to correct according to some canon of relevance, nor in order to be corrected according to some canon of orthodoxy. It is more an exercise in creative imagination, the interplay of idea and action, with all the ambiguity and inconclusiveness which this implies.

Swinton (2012:75) argues "[W]e are enabled to look carefully at the empirical church, reflect on it in the light of Scripture and tradition, and allow that looking to challenge and inspire our ecclesial practices". But, he argues, *looking*, i.e. empirical investigation, privileges that which is verifiable as opposed to that which is

⁴⁴ Hammersley and Atkinson (2007:24) speak of 'foreshadowing'.

⁴⁵ Healy (2000:158-169) argues that the social sciences need to be used theologically.

subjective: 'that which drives, motivates, controls, and acts on people's ecclesial lives cannot be seen: it can only be grasped by faith' (2012:76). Therefore, he concludes, 'the methods one chooses to use in one's attempt to look at something will determine what one can see and what one cannot see' (2012:76).

Moreover, there is an aspect of espoused theology which is untestable, unprovable and beyond empirical measurement. Pattison (2000a:223) argues that to place meaning, value and belief on *practice* is to have an implicit, working theology, even if it is unarticulated. The task of my investigations was to glimpse the meaning inherent in practice, and also to encourage an articulation of the espoused theology of ordinary Methodists in relation to superintendency.

Furthermore, God is also revealing Godself in the research I am undertaking. Fiddes (2012:25-26) speaks of 'engagement' with God, rather than 'observation' (of something which can be objectively examined). 'We need to get beyond subjectobject thinking to a kind of thinking characterized by engagement and participation' (2012:26).

2.2.3.4 Habitus

The espoused and operant theologies of my interviewees, I contend, rely on habitus – which includes their way of being Methodists. Following Farley (1983) 'habitus' seeks to undertake practical theology in a way of life, responding to a situation with spiritual love: the task of practical theology is to train mind and heart, will and emotions, in response to the Holy Spirit. This approach may well be criticised because of its emphasis on oppressive conformity in a process of socialisation (Ballard and Pritchard 2006:75), but such conformity is part of the normative scriptural and traditional approach to discipleship and 'growing into God'. Problematically, it is difficult to objectively define standards by which to judge behaviour, relying instead on subjective community consensus. Within the context of my own research, the community may be seen in a wide sense as the whole of MCGB, or in a narrow sense as the local communities which have been experienced by the interviewees. I explore a tiny part of the community of the Newcastle District – the church *in via* – with a view to locating the theology present in its faithful living out of its practice and experience of superintendency, not necessarily in order to generate theological answers to any problems. Healy (2000:74) warns that 'we cannot claim to map out the answers to all major ecclesiological questions in a form that is universally applicable.⁴⁶

If theology is 'faithful understanding' then practical theology serves the quest for 'faithful living'. Healy (2000:21-22, 38) argues for *witness* and *discipleship* as having priority over theology: 'The church's response to its ever-shifting contexts should not first-and-foremost be to formulate theological constructions, be they doctrinal or moral systems, but should be to reconstruct its concrete identity so as to embody its witness in truthful discipleship'. Badcock (2009:7) affirms Healy's pragmatism: 'an ecclesiology that cannot show its relevance to the actual life of the church is of questionable value'.⁴⁷

2.2.3.5 In Via Theology

Yet there is what might possibly be called a fifth approach which seeks to take practice in its entirety as the prime source of theological understanding, as developed by Heythrop College's Action Research: Church and Society project team (Cameron *et al.* 2010).

⁴⁶ The theological horizon or metanarrative described by Healy (2000:52-76), rather than relying on dialectical polarities of church/world or church militant/church triumphant draws on aspects of Balthasar's *Theo-Drama* [TD] (Balthasar 1988-1998). Balthasar contends that the relations between God, world and church are best conceived like a play which has the goal of humanity's communion with the Trinity (*TD* III, 452). All humanity is part of the play, as actors not puppets (Healy 2000:68), but Christians *choose* to participate in the dramatic struggle of discipleship (*TD* I,22; III, 534). There is always a 'tragic' division between our individual identity and the part we are called to play (*TD* III,208), a role we need to discover as it is mediated to us through the Church. The church *in via* lives a tragic tensive existence, caught, for example, between the now and not yet, or between and the ideal and the fallen reality (*TD* IV:453-54) as it dramatically chooses how to constitute its concrete existence (*TD* II, 86; III, 431).

⁴⁷ Conversely, Schleiermacher noted that empiricism was insufficient to discover the essence of Christianity (Schleiermacher 1976:105, Healy 2012:184).

Watkins (2010:168), a member of the team, argues that models of theological reflection which seek to integrate scripture, tradition and experience have a 'striking ... prior assumption of separation of experience from tradition or doctrine' in which both are 'objectified' as conversation partners. Where practice is brought *alongside* tradition, the implication is that practices

are not already part of and bearers of that tradition. ... Thus violence is done both to Christian practices as theology (instances of faith seeking understanding) and to the texts of the Christian tradition, as themselves fruits of faith practised.

Watkins (2010:168-69) presents an alternative model of integration, beginning with an 'ecclesiological understanding of the pastoral theological task as discernment and articulation of God's presence to us - his self-revelation in time and space'. I note here an emphasis on *particularity*. Such an ecclesiology 'begins with an assumption of connection' which 'does not do away with controversy, tensions, fractures and conflicts of understanding, but relocates them to the living context of theological tradition as embodied in the life, practice, current conflicts, and intellectual and worshipping memory of the Church' (2010:169). There is no need for a systematic attempt to make connections (p.173): the connections are already there. The task is then attentiveness to God's revelation in today's world as part of the task of *traditio*: receiving what has been handed on, discerning the *single* voice of God (p.171) and handing on the traditio ourselves. Yet Watkins presents that single voice as being discerned through a 'cacophony'⁴⁸ of particular voices, rather than a controlled conversation. The Word comes to us in more than a rational theological analysis of 'words, texts, practices, traditions, experiences' but as personal encounter in which the Spirit speaks afresh (p.171-72). Sweeney (2010:276-77) comments on the integration of the voices: 'Lived theology [espoused and operant] is not autonomously constructed but is determined and patterned, to a

⁴⁸ Pattison (2000a:243) also warns of a 'cacophony' of voices, but notes that this prevents individual voices from being attended to and clearly heard, as opposed to discerning the *single* voice which is apparently the most important.

greater or lesser degree, by ... *formal* theology ... and ... the *normative* theology of the Christian churches'.

This *in via* method is related to the habitus approach, but is subtly different in the way that data is gathered. Habitus could emphasise the lived Christian experience above all else, and thus 'lose data' from scripture, Christian tradition, and a rational approach to the data (Cameron *et al.* 2010:25.28; Walton 2003).⁴⁹ I would argue that this is especially apposite for Methodists, who are accustomed to adding 'experience' to their inheritance of the Anglican 'threefold cord' of scripture, tradition and reason:⁵⁰ *CLP* (§§1.2.8-10, 2.3.18, 2.4.4, 2.4.13) argues for scripture interpretation in 'dialogue' with tradition and the experience of Christian faith in contemporary context and culture.

Cameron *et al.* (2010:26) ask what 'authority' is 'normative', noting that different Christian traditions give different weight to 'doctrine' and 'experience', and therefore normatively 'restrain' theological reflection. By contrast, as Steen (2010:108) highlights, Cameron *et al.*'s emphasis on making operant theology 'explicit and heard ... allows it to challenge other theologies'. Roach (2011:126) particularly notes that in Cameron *et al*'s work, the four voices free the conversation from denominational and dogmatic approaches; I add that it can potentially do this *within* a denomination as much as between denominations: in particular *contra* formally stated ecclesiology or perceived normative collusion.

So the method of Theological Action Research ['*TAR*'] seeks to integrate all four 'voices' of theology, which I will now discuss.

2.3 Interpretative Framework

⁴⁹ Nichols (2011) argued (albeit polemically) in his address to the *Anglicanorum Coetibus* Conference in Canada that Anglicanism has now lost 'reason' from this trio, as reason has 'mutated' into 'contemporary experience'.

⁵⁰ Avis (2002) maps the development within Anglicanism of the threefold cord, from Jewel and Hooker, through the Tew Circle, and the Chicago-Lambeth conversations, to 2001.

2.3.1 The Four Voices of Theology

Although Cameron *et al.* (2010:53-56) see this *model* of theological reflection as intertwined and linked with *TAR*'s *method*, I suggest that the model has value even without the action element,⁵¹ and can therefore be utilised independently. I thus concur with Ballard (2010:158) who argued that the two should be 'more clearly distinguished'. The conversation between these four voices has, indeed, occurred throughout Christian history.

The key contribution of *TAR*'s 'Theology in Four Voices' is its recognition that to seek to understand a situation is understand the 'interactive performance' and coinherence between 'speech acts' and 'performed practice' (Cameron *et al.* 2010:13-14). The goal of discerning the four voices is to elicit a *better* understanding (as a *complete* understanding is unachievable.) But, I would argue, by engaging in the conversation, I enable different participant's voices to be expressed and heard.

The 'Four Voices of theology' are distinct but overlapping (Cameron *et al.* 2010:53-58):

- (1) Operant theology that embedded within a group's actual practices.
- (2) Espoused theology that embedded within a group's articulation of its beliefs.
- (3) Normative theology which includes scriptures, the creeds, official church teaching and liturgies, and the particular faith communities' orthopraxy.
- (4) Formal theology theologians' theology and interdisciplinary dialogue.

Cameron *et al.* (2010:146-48) have found this tool to be a 'fairly straightforward way of disclosing important tensions' (p.146) which have taken the conversation into a fresh place, particularly where the operant theology of practitioners has been awkwardly dissonant with normative or formal theology. They uphold *TAR* as being 'formative of practice' and practice as being 'transformative of theology' (pp.149-

⁵¹ That part of 'action research' where transformative action is implemented and further analysis takes place.

51). They rightly warn of the difficulties of *speaking* of practice, which is a step removed from the *reality* of practice, and also speaking about practice as *the* place of encounter with God because practice is itself 'partial' and 'by its very nature, resists any exhaustive account of itself' (pp.22-24).

Watkins (2015:24) presents the four voices framework of TAR as 'a constructive and integrative 'whole-theology' response to the particular narratives of practical theology and ecclesiology in recent times'. The four voices approach 'is able to offer such a response because of the way it locates itself within a theology of 'tradition', of faith handed on in via' (2015:24) and therefore views ecclesiology as process ('a verbal reality') (2015:25), not a product. The process avoids the 'danger ... that practical or ethnographic 'ecclesiologies' really do little more than produce descriptions of the living of church, and remain at a loss as to what to make of the described realities theologically' (Watkins 2015:28).

Watkins (2015:34-38) notes three points about TAR.

(1) TAR is fundamentally non-correlationist: it does not seek to correlate theology with practice. Practices are not simply data-sources or objects of theological interpretation. They are 'of themselves, embodiments of faith seeking understanding: they form a theological voice, or authority, which needs to be listened to as such' (Watkins 2015:35). This operant voice itself discloses an operant and an espoused theology. It is, nevertheless, rooted in the established tradition of 'traditio' (p.37)

(2) TAR requires a 'conversational, communal approach, within a context characterised by non-negotiable particularities' (Watkins 2015:35): The conversation is required to be 'attentive to otherness and surprise' as truth is progressively revealed to us (p.36).

(3) TAR requires that the operant and espoused voices are brought into conversation with the normative voice of Christian tradition and the formal voice of the academy: all four voices are interdependent. (Watkins 2015:37).

Within this conversation, she contends, theology is found at 'epiphanies', the 'moments of disclosure'. Watkins (2015:37) argues 'If it is the case that postmodern theology is required, by its contexts, to engage in interruptive conversation with the pluralism of particularity, then the methods called for by 'the four voices of theology' would seem well-suited to our contemporary context'.

Social science methods and ethnographies may, in a postmodern setting, merely offer 'an ever increasing set of detailed descriptions, whose very particularity make them difficult to place within the doctrinal tradition concerning church' (Watkins 2015:38). There are two possible solutions to this, which Watkins (2015:38) discounts: (1) abandon the doctrinal abstractions; or (2) 'simplify and so inevitably manipulate our reading of practices so as to make them coherent'. TAR offers a third way of epiphanies and interruptions entered into by 'real, particular people' in conversation. 'Ecclesiology thus becomes, in its primary function, that practice of interruptive conversation across theological and personal voices, which seeks to serve the life of God's mission in the particular places, peoples and events of the world' (Watkins 2015:38).

The ARCS team propounds that Christian practices 'describe the reality of the church's mystery, as embodied in particular contexts and groups; they both disclose proper questions for the theology of church and ... present an essential locus for the discovery of fresh responses to those questions' (Watkins 2012:169). 'Christian practitioners are constantly working with and responding to thoroughly theological questions in their living of church in the world. This voice of practice must be heard, for it is spoken from the heart of the church itself' (p.176).

Much systematic theology, argues Watkins (2012:176), assumes that 'the places of practice are the loci of problems and that the theological tradition is a treasure trove of answers.' In each case of their presentation of practical theology and qualitative research, Swinton and Mowat (2006:126-131; 178-190; 216-18; 243-44) reflect theologically *after* they have complexified the situation. This is common in the use of the pastoral cycle methodology. Watkins and Cameron (2012:72) describe how the ARCS project involved using social science methods and action research for 'a certain reflective reading of raw data witnessing to practices of faith as they are understood by the practitioners themselves'. The theology expressed through this practice, and 'those theologies expressed primarily through words and concepts, discloses both various connections and disconnections – or fractures – between the embodied and the systematically articulated … theologies. Such recognition of fractures leads us to reflect on their possible bases'.

I would note here that there appears to be a difference between 'fractures' which are worthy of closer investigative conversation, and 'gaps', which correlationists need to systematise.

Watkins and Cameron speak of the importance of what Andrew Todd called the 'Kairos moment' in theological reflection (Thompson 2008:56, 97), 'moments of disclosure' (Watkins and Cameron 2012:81) or 'small epiphanies when something is seen differently', 'a moment when the tradition and reflection on practice trigger an insight that in turn will prompt fresh thinking or action' (Watkins and Cameron 2012:74-75). They give examples of these moments in practical projects and the reflections undertaken following data collection (pp.75-81).⁵²

Gadamer (1982:356) has commented on the nature of surprise, arguing that experiences have to be *new*, otherwise they are simply repetitions, rather than negations, of previous experience: 'Every experience worthy of the name thwarts expectation'. Swinton and Mowat (2006:112) comment that 'the process of knowing and the development of knowledge relates to a constant process of experience – surprise – re-encounter with renewed experience'. In this respect, Methodist tradition is altered in each successive generation, building on previous experiences. When the horizons of my interviewees caused me surprise, my own horizon was expanded.

⁵² I note that these terms resonate with the description by Reichertz (2007:220), within general grounded theory discussions, of the abductive 'cognitive logic of discovery'.

Ballard and Pritchard (2006:17) express the nature of surprise eschatologically: 'The Kingdom has not yet come; so we ask how do we move into God's future and keep ourselves open to the possibility of newness and surprise'. They note that 'we can stumble over the Kingdom' in places where faith is not specifically found (p.54). Fiddes (2012:25, 33) speaks of unexpected insights into how God's promises are fulfilled in the life of the Church. Campbell (2000:86) argues that theologians need to 'have the temerity to suggest that they can discern where God is at work'.

Religious belief is exhibited in practices, but such practices cannot be the sole transmitters of meaning. To limit analysis to practices is to reduce the contribution of espoused and normative theologies to that which is filtered by those practices. I contend that we must avoid the naturalistic reductionism which limits our understanding of the church to that which is concrete and empirically observable. Furthermore, discerning the conscious espoused theologies of those engaging in practice is helpful to ascertain why they carry out those practices, notwithstanding that some practices occur for preconscious or unconscious reasons (in which 'transitional, largely pre-linguistic part of the human the symbol, the ritual and the metaphor hold sway and the logical, rational proposition has little purchase' (Pattison 2000a:220)). Even if a practice is the result of unthinking and habitual traditions, the very act of questioning the practice brings theoretical reasoning into the conversation. One cannot *think* about a practice without *applying* some sort of framework of analysis. It is this *theoretical* reasoning *in conversation* with *practical reasoning* which is transformational.

2.3.2 My use of the ARCS method

Although the full ARCS method⁵³ requires a number of steps, including feedback to participants, reflection by participants alone and with the ARCS team, and the

⁵³ Worked examples of the use of the ARCS method may be found in Cameron et al (2010:109-37), Sweeney et al (2010:274-75), Watkins (2012:171-74), Watkins and Cameron (2012:74-89); Watkins (2014:240-47); Watkins and Shepherd (2014).

agreement of practical responses (the action phase) the limitations of my research meant that I was not able to carry out such an exercise (Sweeney *et al.* 2010:279). I acknowledge thus that my research does not stand securely 'in the performance' as advocated by ARCS, but is situated as it were in the auditorium (2010:280), raising a tension between 'subjective participation and outsider perspective'. This, as acknowledged by Sweeney *et al* (2010:280), raises the problem of objectivity. Nevertheless, I contend that the etic viewpoint, though not without its presuppositions, has greater objectivity. I cannot be purely objective, nor indeed deemed wholly etic, however, as I am myself part of the Methodist culture or habitus which I was observing.

Notwithstanding my part-emic position, I aimed for objectivity by use of full transcripts, giving me greater accuracy than if I had personally-generated a summary of each interviewee's comments; within my analysis, I aimed to be systematic; and within my interpretation, I aimed to be open to further insights. By using a method based on grounded theory, in which theoretical categories are allowed to inductively emerge from gathered data rather than being imposed on it, both the etic and emic approaches are combined. 'This is an emic technique in that it develops internally to the data, but also etic in that it imposes strict systems of coding and classifications' and therefore 'is a corrective for subjective bias' (Sweeney *et al* 2010:281). It also permits a form of 'virtual' dialogue between the participants and the researcher.

The ARCS process 'requires an open (though not uncritical) attentiveness to practice in which emphasis is laid on discerning the work of the Spirit in practices, rather than any sense of need to correct practices against some previously well-articulated authority' (Watkins and Shepherd 2014:109).

The central conviction of the 'four voices of theology' approach is that 'the practices of Christian living are not only suitable objects for theological exploration, but are themselves theological (Watkins 2012:169, 177) Practices are – both intentionally and unintentionally – bearers of theology. Practical theology is concerned with how these embodied theologies of Christians' lives find their proper authority within the doctrinal and pastoral articulations of our age' (Watkins

2014:236). Foley (2013:11, n.1) notes that the chronological place of praxis is contested; but for the ARCS team it has priority, using grounded theory methods of induction. The approach of grounded theory is helpful so that *others* ' perspectives may be heard and I may not suffer too severely from that 'selective deafness' which is the corollary of subjectivity.

I discerned the operant practices from my interview data, but only after the induction of grounded theory does the 'operant' voice of actual practice enter into conversation with the espoused, normative and formal voices in a 'complex inter-dependency of the voices which exists from the outset' as 'each "voice" is already, in some way, present in and formative of the others ... [in an] essential unity of the voices as *together* revelatory of that truth of God's Spirit at work in world and church' (Watkins 2014:239).

Cameron *et al.* (2010:54-55) define normative theology as 'what the practising group names as its theological authority'; they recognise that such a theology is produced due to influences from history, doctrine, scripture, and 'the traditions and practices recognized by the community over generations as being authentic to its gospel living.' Methodist doctrine as defined in *DU* is based on five normative sources: Scripture, the Apostolic Faith, the historic creeds, the fundamental principles of the Protestant Reformation, and 'Methodist usage' – i.e. Methodist tradition. I would argue that *a source of theology only becomes normative when it is accepted (explicitly or implicitly) and inculcated into the group.*

I aimed to discover what practitioners believe constitutes this normative theology. To what extent is *church teaching* within Methodism actually normative? To what extent does this teaching concerning superintendency owe its origin to practice? Methodist tradition allows *experience* to transform norms of praxis.⁵⁴

But

⁵⁴ This is in direct contradiction to Browning's approach, which seeks to defend the norms of praxis against concrete situations (Browning 1991:55-56). See Ballard and Pritchard (2006:62).

Sometimes the very question of what is normative theology for a particular practitioner group becomes *the* question for attention: it is a question that highlights issues of authenticity, legitimation and identity for the practices carried out. (Cameron *et al.* 2010:55).

Wigg-Stevenson (2011) examined formal theology's value for 'ordinary' church members. Using the Four Voices and the work of Tanner (1997), and rooting her research in a local church theology class, Wigg-Stevenson investigated the conversation between what Tanner calls 'everyday theology' (context-specific forms of theology in the local church) and 'academic theology' (specialised, historically consistent and systematic), and discovered that

Everyone ... agreed that academic theology had an important role to play for the church. But no one thought that their everyday theologies should be treated as a source that academic theologians should systematize or even from which they should abstract in order to reflect on it. And, interestingly, no one answered that academic theology could provide them with the "right answers" to questions they might have about belief and truth. (pp.111-12)

Cameron herself (2012:7) has explored the challenges of helping 'ordinary theologians' to engage with practical theology's task.

To what extent are elements of formal theology – the theology of theologians and dialogue with other disciplines – dependent on other voices? Formal theology deliberately attempts to listen to other voices. Shier-Jones (2005:46) highlighted within Methodist theological method the 'conversation with tradition'; Conference reports seek to 'demonstrate that different, important, voices from the past and the present have been listened to and engaged with' as God 'guides us through Christian fellowship' (MCGB 2000a:12). Such emphasis on tradition is criticised for lacking future perspective (e.g. Clark 2010:241-42).

The field of practical theology seeks to understand and test the coherence of the church's *operant* practices and reflect on them theologically. This thesis tests superintendency practice against the *espoused* understanding of representative Methodists and the Church's *normative* statements. My formal theological task is to elucidate their meaning and formulate a response.

In presenting my thesis I myself make a formal theological contribution towards the synthesis of formal theological and pragmatic statements out of which MCGB's normative understanding of superintendency arises.

2.3.3 The conversation between practical and dogmatic theology

I now consider the *limits* of the conversation between the espoused, operant and normative voices. Where are the 'red lines' which the voice of experience and practice may not cross? This very question asks about the priority of the normative.

McGrath (2012:115) argues that the pastoral cycle of Green (1990:93) and its adaptation by Pattison (2000a:135-45) allow theological reflection to be brought to bear on a situation; but

it is important to appreciate that an implicit, intuitive process of theological reflection is already taking place in the processes of observation and reflection, in which the theological *schema* or "mental map" of the Christian observer subtly influences what is actually observed, and the action subsequently taken within that situation.

This is because in their reflection upon practice, practical theologians require a 'background' of systematic theology and a habitus approach in order to describe the epiphanic moments of what practice says (in the ARCS examples, about 'sacrament' or 'hospitality' - Cameron *et al.* 2010:148-50) or of the moments when 'the kingdom breaks in' (Sweeney 2010:282). Making sense of practice draws into the conversation the formal and normative voices. Sweeney (2010:282) warns rightly of 'the need to be on guard against culture simply overpowering theology': the formal and normative are important components in that defence.⁵⁵ Conversely, normative theology must not overpower culture by requiring that conformity and orthodoxy which stifles 'the possibility of developing new insights and directions' (Pattison 2000a:238) and allowing practice to be transformative of theology.

⁵⁵ Pattison (2000a:242) similarly warns against that 'experiential fundamentalism' which deems our own experience as uniquely normative for others.

Practical theology is communal and experiential, giving high status to ordinary experiences (Pattison 2000a:246); it prioritises the communal over the individual and theory-laden praxis as an essential dialogue-partner (Foley 2013). Swinton and Mowat (2006:5) argue that to take human experience seriously 'does not imply that experience is a source of revelation'. I disagree to some extent, because the Holy Spirit's work is not restricted to dogmatic and systematic theology. For example, many Christians would question the assertion of Swinton and Mowat that the resurrection cannot be understood by experience and human reason, for such Christians express that they have experienced the presence of the risen Christ who is with them 'always, to the completion of the age' (Matthew 28:20). Although such an assertion is not objectively testable, it is nevertheless a subjective espoused view and the prevalence of that view can be discovered empirically. However, I also agree to some extent with Swinton and Mowat: although experience can indeed be a source of revelation, in order for it to be *recognised* as revelation such revelation needs to be critically tested by or alongside normative sources. Swinton and Mowat speak of the *script* of the performance being provided by 'scripture, doctrine and tradition' (2006:7). Swinton and Mowat emphasise faith as a performance (2006:4). But such operant practice, they argue, can only interpret the script, and ask questions of it which arise from particular contexts (p.7): scripture and tradition cannot be rewritten. Thus in investigating contemporary experience – the operant and the espoused – the normative and the formal theologies are required as a hermeneutical framework beyond social science methods such as grounded theory research.

Ballard and Pritchard (2006:13) note the 'inner limitation to theology's freedom and independence' arguing that 'theology acts on behalf of and for the purposes of the People of God'. Such a limitation arises from scripture and tradition and other normative teachings of the church. This means that any transformation following my research is *limited* by Methodist and ecumenical tradition: I contend that there must remain something of the Methodist Church of Great Britain which allows it still to be recognisable as *Methodist* by other members of the World Methodist Council, and as *church* by other parts of Christ's Body,⁵⁶ otherwise this would imply that MCGB had 'lost' something that was deemed necessary within *tradition, scripture* and *reason.* Contemporary *experience* is thus tempered by these three: in short, *practice* needs to be considered alongside a common systematic and dogmatic framework, a 'tradition held in common' (Cameron *et al.* 2010: 60). I relate this not only to Pattison's argument for the articulation of *identity* (2000a:223) but also to the nature of the church. A theological framework marks that nature and places limitations on that change. Such a framework, argues Pattison (2000a:223) has 'real significance'. Swinton and Mowat (2006:5) locate 'continuing innovative performance' in critical tension with 'scripture, doctrine and tradition'. In Methodist terms, experience, reason and tradition have always been subservient to scripture, even if there has been disagreement as to how scripture is to be understood in the contemporary situation; and local experience has always needed to recognise the wider connexion.

Although, therefore, a 'grounded theory' approach to theological data treats such data as an authentic theology, the acceptability of that theology is *tested* by its coherence to systematic and dogmatic tradition. There is here a subtle difference between the applicationist approach which *begins* with (or *later* applies) historical and philosophical theology in order to stifle nonconformity to tradition⁵⁷, and my approach which acknowledges that practice is *assessed in the light of tradition*. Gagey (2010:82) notes Grellier's argument that to apply systematic theology from the Bible and Christian tradition to practical tasks in the church is to make practical theology a secondary discipline, requiring it to *apply* doctrines in the development and interpretations of which it itself played no part. As Gisel (1977:11) noted: ''practical theology' cannot just be content with being the pure application of a

⁵⁶ Fiddes (2012:19) has criticised a purely inductive approach due to 'the dangers of relativism and a floating free from the Christian tradition'.

⁵⁷ Pattison (2000a:219) speaks of 'the kinds of totalitarian Stalinist world views that crush individuals in the world and the church'.

theory developed elsewhere'. Gisel (1977:26) argued that theology 'is not for the mere faithful ratification of antecedence. It develops a specific reading of the givens of history and experience'.

Thus I also listen to Methodist traditions, to the normative and the formal theologies, and whether they are new insights and directions which are of enduring⁵⁸ value in the debate. The operant and espoused voices of practice (and the self-description thereof) are part of the current *provisional* (Pattison 2000a:238) culture of the circuits I have investigated, but again, I argue that such culture must not overpower and fragment (p.240) that which is recognisably 'Methodist' or recognisably 'church'. Such culture, though, is *itself* part of the Methodist Church. Here there is a tension between the Conference dictating conformity in connexionalism and limiting subsidiarity, and the pluralist reality of the localism I found in my research.

Fortunately, the flow is not unidirectional.

[O]ur Standing Orders are not theologically sterile. Rather, they represent the doctrines of the Methodist Church in practical and structural ways. Nevertheless, usage is much more open to development and change than doctrine as the annual amendments to CPD demonstrate. (FAOC 1984a:§19)

Shier-Jones (2005:12) notes that 'Methodist theology will continue to change as the Methodist people change and as the Church strives to fulfil its calling'. I would note the reversibility of causality – the way the Church fulfils its calling, and the way that people change in order to do that, is influenced by the Church's theology.

The Church's authority for interpretation, argues Avis (2002:366), is contingent on the 'assumptions, needs and demands of time and circumstance' with 'an appeal to reason and learning as competent to modify the interpretation of Scripture and tradition' (p.112)..

⁵⁸ I use the word 'enduring' not to argue for a generalisation of operant theology (which may be particular to its place and time) but to denote the enduring *contribution* to the tradition of the church which the contemporary and contextual hands on to its successors.

Thus the pragmatic task – the response to the theological enquiry – belongs to the nature of the church: the church only exists to fulfil its calling. I contend that without the church's considering *change*, not only can there be no progress towards God's *telos* for the Church, but the Church would become anachronistic, ceasing to exhibit in each age the presence which is prefigured by the Incarnation: an anachronistic Body of Christ would fail to be fully present. Within Methodist tradition, *TNOO* (§§2.2, 4.1.3) speaks of the creative and re-creative love of God seeking to *perfect* all things, both in the internal κοινωνία of the church and the participation in external relationships in the world which God loves.

Swinton and Mowat (2006:87) argue that theology should be given priority, because 'Within the process of practical-theological research, qualitative research data *does* acquire its significance from theology'. However, they argue (p.91) that that does not make theological tradition immune from criticism, because such tradition is part of ongoing contextual communal history. I would add, also, that scripture also should not be immune: this is not to criticise scripture, but to criticise the way it is used to interpret the contemporary situation.

By adopting *WIACS*, the Conference endorsed its conclusions (SO131(17)(d)) and thus *WIACS* formally became a normative document for the practice of superintendency in MCGB, intending 'to stimulate, encourage and assist both Superintendents and the circuits' (*WIACS*§3). As the existence of a normative *document* does not lead to normative *practice*, my research aims to capture the conversation between theory and practice, seeking to test the mutual relevance of this theoretical definition for the actual practice of superintendency.⁵⁹

It is important, in Swinton and Mowat's term, not to lose the plot and 'require the creation of another play' (2006:4-5): they emphasise 'the importance of normativity' (p.11). I understand this to be the case because the true starting-point for practical

⁵⁹ The use of the word 'theoretical' does not imply that the theory was built up *a priori* – the document was a result of its writers thinking about the practice of superintendency as they had experienced it, as well as exploring what was normative for the role in Methodist history (*WIACS*§3).

theology is not *experience*, but *God*, in God's self-revelation, as the source of ultimate truth.⁶⁰ Practical theology seeks a faithful response to that revelation in its interpretation of the practices of the church (p.11) in order that those practices may be more faithful. Ballard and Pritchard call tradition the 'givenness' which is a faith passed on by the saints: 'We do in fact live out of a continuity and we are truly given the treasures of wisdom from the past' (2006:92), Yet this tradition 'has to be living' (p.93), and is not necessarily a chain – it is possible to return to foundations which have been forgotten, 'making theology connect with life and ministry so that Gospel truth comes alive.' It is also possible to be reminded of forgotten treasures by ecumenical partners. Pattison (2000a:239) argues that pastoral theology privileges the present over the past. Yet God is not solely the God of the *present*: God has acted throughout history. Therefore the historical voice also needs to be heard. The voice of the future may not be empirically testable, yet fresh insights may be the seeds of that which is seen as normative in the future. Until then, we need to hear from all four voices.

2.4 Choice of Empirical Research Method

The nature of the data I sought dictated my research method.

Yin (2009:8) helpfully tabulates the three variables guiding method: (a) the type of research question; (b) whether the researcher may control behavioural events; and (c) the degree of focus on contemporary, rather than historical, events.

Of the five major research methods presented by Yin, I ruled three out. *Experiment* was not possible due to the inability to control behavioural events. Nor would *archival analysis* yield much data – my literature review found little published evidence concerning the praxis of superintendency, and practice is simply not

⁶⁰ Of course, sources of normative theology, including scripture and tradition, are seen (depending on one's hermeneutical viewpoint) in a range of ways, for example either as *the* revelation of God, or as a *conduit* of the revelation of God.

recorded. I did consider a questionnaire *survey* of superintendents and key informants, but this would have required my formulating questions which (a) would possibly have closed down the conversation; (b) may not have been answered or understood; and (c) were difficult to systematise as a lack of prior research gave few parameters to test. Open questions do not suit surveys, as people may write little, be unsure how to answer, and are not present to clarify answers during questionnaire processing.

I therefore adopted a *case study type* approach to investigate variables of interest. By case study *type* I mean triangulated interviews, which, unlike a survey, could ask supplementary questions to probe and clarify in a situation of open enquiry, reducing the negative effect of semantic polyvalence.

Other possible case study approaches were not pursued. It would have been impracticable to undertake an embedded researcher, participant observation or focus group approach in each of thirteen circuits; furthermore, a one-off Circuit Meeting, staff meeting and CLT in each (entailing 39 meetings⁶¹), might be locally unrepresentative. Interviews supply greater chronological and situational information. Equally, analysis of secondary written sources such as meeting minutes merely investigates redacted secondary sources concerning decisions, not a detailed description of the superintendent's performance or actions.

The research method adopted can be seen as a single case study using multiple sources of evidence, rather than a multiple-case study of the detailed practice of different superintendents. This follows the model of Kaufman (1981), who undertook a multiple-case study of six federal bureau chiefs but presented his findings as a single-case study. Multiple sources of evidence aid the discovery of trends, commonalities and convergences of data, and minimise the effect of gaps in individuals' data.

⁶¹ My work as DDE gave me multiple experiences of these.

This multi-perspectival view also addresses two dangers of interviewing only the principal actors (i.e. superintendents): (1) power dynamics, especially of a group who may habitually act as knowledge gatekeepers; and (2) an approach which is ultimately individualistic as opposed to (using a Methodist term) connexional.⁶²

I used three main triangulation methods – data triangulation, consisting of at least three interviewees per circuit; theory triangulation, consisting of my multiperspectival interpretation of the data; and methodological triangulation, consisting of an analysis of both interview transcripts and written normative documents. I did not use investigator triangulation, as I myself undertook all the interviews; this did have the advantages of providing a more consistent interviewer approach, and an opportunity to observe the interviewee's non-verbal messages, but the disadvantage of the possibility of interviewer bias. I mitigated this in my data analysis of full transcripts, and by using Cameron *et al*'s four voices as an interpretative framework.

2.4.1 Research Method Limitations

Case-study research has limitations (Wisker 2001:90). Particular contexts are not necessarily generalisable. Sufficient case studies need to be undertaken before general patterns can be identified with any degree of certainty. If

case study is a strategy for doing research which involves an empirical investigation of a particular contemporary phenomenon in its real life context using multiple sources of evidence (Robson 1993:52),

then here the multiple sources of evidence arise from just 3% of circuits. Would this number suffice?

Kvale (2007:44) notes that interviews 'in common interview studies' tend to be number around 15 ± 10 .⁶³ I sought advice from Roger Walton, experienced in case study research (Walton 2002); he suggested that I might find sufficiently clear

⁶² I note Miller-McLemore's (1993) web-based 'connexional' approach.

⁶³ Five interviews seems a small number.

repeating patterns of results before completion of all interviews. Nevertheless, I completed all my planned interviews. Furthermore, since no invited interviewees in the District declined to participate, a 'single-case study' was also in effect completed.

2.4.2 Participants in the Conversation

I do not investigate Methodist superintendency as a disinterested outsider. Coghlan and Casey (2001:674) argue that insiders 'need to combine their action research role with their regular organizational roles and this role duality can create the potential for role ambiguity and conflict'.

Yet permanent insiders have an advantage concerning their organisation's everyday life:

They know the everyday jargon. They know the legitimate and taboo phenomena of what can be talked about and what cannot. They know what occupies colleagues' minds. They know how the informal organization works and to whom to turn for information and gossip. They know the critical events and what they mean within the organization. They are able to see beyond objectives that are merely window dressing. When they are inquiring they can use the internal jargon and draw on their own experience in asking questions and interviewing, and are able to follow up on replies and so obtain richer data. (Coghlan and Casey 2001:676).

However, insiders may assume too much and thus not probe as thoroughly as outsiders or those ignorant of the situation; think that they know the answer and not expose their current thinking to reframing; and find it difficult to obtain relevant data, because as a member they have to cross departmental, functional or hierarchical boundaries or because as an insider they may be denied deeper access, which might not be denied an outsider (Coghlan and Casey 2001:676).

Cameron *et al.* (2010:143) speak of the verbalisation of espoused theology being restricted where it differs from perceived normative theology. I would elucidate that this begs two questions: How much is not said? And what is said that is only said because it is expected to be said? There are implications for power relationships

here. I particularly needed awareness of this when asking stewards or colleagues questions which might invite criticisms of their current superintendent.

My contribution as a former superintendent has validity, but I also needed the perspective of each superintendent, colleague or steward. Despite each individual perspective's restricted contribution, by placing them all into the conversation I elicited and utilised the practical knowledge of 'local stakeholders' (Greenwood and Levin 2007:53) as much as any formal, theoretical, or normative knowledge which I as researcher, or the wider church, may bring to the conversation.

The theology of ordinary participants also needs to be heard: for, if we define 'theologians' as 'all those who seek to make sense of life by speaking about God', they comprise the majority. They receive theology through a personal and idiosyncratic process, argues Astley (2002:36), which

is much more important for most people. Our embracing of faith compels us to speak here of the truth of theology as an 'encountered truth'; it is the sort of truth that we do not just know, but are 'in'.

In his charting Astley's 'ordinary theology' as an epistemological model for his own doctoral research, Armstrong (2011:12) asks 'Why should we take the views of ordinary Christians seriously as *theology*?' Armstrong notes Astley's (2002:56) argument that the God-talk of 'ordinary people' is only theology when it is engaged in critically and seriously, and Cobb's (1993:136) argument that ordinary Christians need to become 'reflective believers'; he also notes Christie (2005:209): research which found that some ordinary believers are 'highly resistant to any kind of critical reflection and evaluation of their faith'. Armstrong (2011:20-21) might have engaged more with *ARCS*' voices of theology if Cameron *et al.* (2010) had been published a little earlier. I suggest that belief, faith, or spirituality become *theology* only when they are communicated, i.e. theology *only exists in conversation*.⁶⁴ Conversation requires thought formulation: the requirement to *express* belief clarifies one's espoused theology. This develops Astley's argument for the need for rational reflection.

2.5 Research Design

I now set out my practical design for gathering data: identifying appropriate data (2.5.1) and questions (2.5.2).

2.5.1 Study propositions and appropriate data

In framing my questions, I needed awareness of the ethnomethodological and phenomenological problem occurring when interviewees and I understand underlying meanings differently. In any interview it is necessary to negotiate shared reality. The process of interpretation (of questions and answers) may be obfuscated by misunderstandings and language difficulties. Yet within the MCGB context there is a shared sub-culture (termed 'Methodism') which would help in overcoming some of the interpretative problems. Such a subculture has built up over two hundred years of working practices based on a highly centralised decision-making process – indeed, until 1996 all local churches and circuits shared identical meeting agendas determined under Standing Orders promulgated by the Conference (MCGB 1995). By restricting my lay interviewees to stewards, usually appointed due to their knowledge of Methodism's structures and practices, I hoped that we would share a common descriptive framework and understanding, and I would receive appropriate data.

⁶⁴ Of course, that conversation may be between writer and reader. The reader could even be the writer, reading a journal and engaging in conversation with her younger self. 'Conversation' includes non-verbal theology (as in creative arts), albeit with the communication problem of subjective interpretative frameworks: conversation requires a shared interpretative understanding.

I recognised paradigmatic orthodoxy – the testing of practice against the Church's statements on Superintendency – as a possible data contaminator: interviewees may well tell me what they think I ought to hear. Triangulation tempers this.

One steward (in interview) commented on the limited number of key informants:

I think a lot of people around the circuit certainly don't know the superintendent, and, other than those who go to Circuit Meeting, probably, never actually see the superintendent acting as a superintendent. He was one of the circuit staff who came to preach. I don't think most people would have any idea of what the superintendent was there for, and have very little idea of what the superintendent actually did.

Perhaps only superintendents know what they do – others see the 'tip of the iceberg'. As one steward noted, 'to be honest I don't know what he does in a working week'. However, interviewing other people triangulates the superintendents' comments about themselves. Furthermore, those who are or have been superintendents have a framework of experience which they use to comment on others' superintendency.

2.5.2 The Interview Schedule

I sought comments on superintendents' *operant* practice both on *specific* tasks identified by theory, and in *general*; on the *espoused* understanding of superintendency past, present and future; and on *normative* factors impinging on superintendency.

In designing the interview schedule (Appendix 9) I initially defined a specific question for each aspect of superintendency I was to investigate: a possible interview schedule of over sixty questions. Meeting with Guest, I drew on his considerable experience of using interviews in ethnographic research (e.g. Guest, Tusting and Woodhead 2004; Guest 2007). Guest suggested a maximum of eight broad questions using an interview-guide approach: a more free-ranging conversation might actually lead to richer material than a tightly-structured (and intensive) interview. I hoped such questions might also allow freedom for authentic answers. I did identify

possible follow-up questions when I sought ethical approval (Appendices 6-9). Appendix 2 shows which voice(s) each main or follow-up question was designed to probe: 'O' for the operant voice about the *practice* of superintendency; 'E' for the espoused voice about the *understanding* of superintendency; 'N' to discover sources deemed to be normative.

Guest also suggested a pre-interview questionnaire: I declined, in order to discern interviewees' espoused views untainted by the paradigmatic orthodoxy risked by my providing any prior formal framework, including 'in-house' jargon.

Early on, after eight interviews, I found it helpful to ask interviewees to compare the superintendent's role with a secular organisation. This probed issues of power and hierarchy, particularly concerning leadership styles and shared oversight. Focusing on the fifteen current superintendents with triangulated interviews, I was able to test their leadership against the statements in *WIACS*.

I inferred from *WIACS* a list of superintendency tasks. I asked interviewees about the list's composition, inclusions and omissions. I asked them to rank the tasks, based on what they *thought* was the most important, and on what *in practice* either they as superintendents spent the most time doing⁶⁵ or what they thought their superintendents emphasised.

I asked superintendents what had empowered or drained them in their ministry, to understand helps and hindrances, but also to uncover any normative influences.

I asked about *others*' expectations as an attempt to discover normative influences: superintendents might respond to expectations in order to reduce stress when these differ from their own viewpoint (*WIACS*§37). Furthermore, interviewees possibly covertly presented their own expectations by speaking in the third person.

 $^{^{65}}$ One superintendent said 'That's not what I spend most of my time doing, but that's the most important thing I do.'

Finally, I asked an open question as to whether interviewees had anything further to say: 19 (41%) of interviewees (8S 7M 4C) had nothing to add. Additions are dependent on the preceding conversation, and are not truly "open". Nevertheless, space was offered beyond my own framework of analysis for interviewees to express themselves.

2.6 Data Collection

I arranged interviews by telephone, explaining that I would be asking for opinions on superintendency. Three people in the pilot studies declined to be interviewed: two by not replying and one superintendent by insisting that I only interview her stewards in her presence. I responded to this experience in my study proper by ensuring my telephone conversation explained that my study was about superintendency rather than about a particular superintendent. One steward admitted 'I was worried about talking about a particular person as opposed to the function in general'[C]. No one in the study proper declined to participate or be recorded or withdrew during interview; I thus had a 100% participation rate.

I explained that it would take 'an hour or so' – interviews averaged 82 minutes (range 45-125). For interview privacy and comfort, I interviewed most in their homes. One interview was curtailed due to a funeral, and one superintendent prioritised answering the telephone and having four lengthy conversations, rather than speaking to me. Most seemed to genuinely enjoy the conversation - one superintendent expressed thanks for the opportunity to talk about his work; he noted that superintendents did not feel the same freedom to speak in superintendents' meetings.

Of the 46 interviewees, only two had undertaken any preparation: one superintendent had read *WIACS*, and one steward had looked at *CPD*: thus, for most interviewees, there was no recent explicit attempt to ensure paradigmatic orthodoxy.

In total, I recorded 66 hours of conversation and transcribed around 250,000 words. There is debate as to the value of *verbatim* transcription (for a discussion see

Halcomb and Davidson 2006); however, the qualitative focus of my research and analysis of the 'conversation' was greatly aided by it, as I sought to discover 'values, meanings, beliefs, thoughts, experiences, and feelings' (Halcomb and Davidson 2006:39). Furthermore, as I transcribed the interviews during the year-long process of undertaking them, I was able to improve on the clarity of my questioning in subsequent interviews.

Such was the interviews' nature and their subject matter (particularly when considering disciplinary cases) that I assured confidentiality and promised that I alone would listen to the recordings, and no individual interview would be published in full transcript. Such was the specific nature of some of the comments, that I have also avoided publishing individual triangulation (apart from Table 2.6) of any superintendent's comments or practices; such triangulation undergirds my work, but is not referred to in this text. The triangulation thus occurs in general terms insofar as two non-superintendents in each circuit have commented on the work of superintendents they have known (including their current superintendent), and each superintendent has spoken of other superintendents they have known.

2.7 Interview Cohort Demographics

My 46 interviewees included three key people from each of thirteen⁶⁶ circuits who would have knowledge of superintendency: the superintendent, a colleague and a steward. In addition, five interviews were undertaken as pilot studies, but also yielded data worth including in my results. These interviewees included people in a neighbouring District.

Where I had a choice of interviewees (which colleague or steward) I ensured a representative sample overall of different interviewee types (Table 2.1 – some appear

⁶⁶ Two amalgamated during my study.

in more than one category.) I excluded some colleagues: the five full-time chaplains lacked regular contact with the superintendent.

I convened two focus groups: (i) a DDE group working with circuits' strategic vision; (ii) a discussion between all of the District's superintendents, enabling dynamic sharing to supplement their individual interviews. This allowed me to probe some common themes which were emerging in order to test their veracity.

Table 2.1 gives an analysis of the breadth of interviewees. Except where stated, percentages refer to the proportion of interviewees.

Interviewee Type (some appear in more than one category)	Total
Total interviews	46 (100%)
Superintendents (current and former)	18 (39%)
Colleagues	16 (35%)
Stewards	14 (30%)
Newcastle-upon-Tyne District	44 (96%)
Other District	3 (7%)
Pilot study	6 (13%)
Study proper	40 (87%)
Members of Presidency*	2 (4%)
Chairs	2 (4%)
Active superintendents	16 (35%)
Presbyters [57 in District; 44 who were not superintendents]	27 (59%)
Deacons* [5 in District]	1 (2%)
Current probationers [5 in District]	1 (2%)
Full-time lay workers	2 (4%)
Superintendents appointed from within the circuit (% of supts)	7 (37%)
Team superintendents (% of supts)	5 (26%)
Those who have experienced Team superintendents	7 (15%)
Experience of single-minister circuit	1 (2%)
Former superintendents (% of non-supt, presbyters)	5 (63%)

Table 2.1 Types of Interviewee

Ministers who had previously been full-time lay workers	9 (20%)
Ministers from other denominations (% of ministers) [14 in District]	3 (10%)
Methodist ministers with experience of LEPs (% of ministers)	10 (36%)
Stewards with first-hand experience of LEPs (% of stewards)	3 (21%)
English as a second language	2 (4%)
Ex-probationers supervised by their current supt (% of ordained)	2 (22%)
Superintendents who had supervised probationers (% of supts)	14 (78%)
Currently working in more than one circuit (% of supts/colleagues)	2 (7%)
Local Preachers or Worship Leaders (% of lay people/deacons)	8 (47%)
Experience of "titular" superintendent	2 (4%)
Current circuit had merged	21 (46%)
Experience of non-circuit appointments (% of ministers)	6 (21%)
Supernumeraries (% of ministers) [55 in District]	2 (7%)

All but one interviewee were white, reflecting the relative lack of ethnic diversity in the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District.⁶⁷ No data exists as to the ethnic diversity of Methodist ministers and stewards.

2.7.1 Gender Profile

There is no attempt in the connexional stationing committee to achieve gender balance: *circuits* seeking ministers are expressly forbidden from specifying gender. Gender is not accounted for when stationing superintendents, and there appears to be an imbalance. Most surprisingly, when pressed about women in superintendency, no interviewee saw gender as a relevant factor. Across the whole of MCGB in 2012 (*Minutes* 2012), of 1,711 presbyters and stationed probationer presbyters, 620 (36%) were female, yet of 402 superintendents, just 86 (21%) were female while 317 (79%) were male. Of 406 circuits, 323 (80%) had male superintendents and 87 (21%)

⁶⁷ Population for the District's geographical area in 2011 was 95% white; for Great Britain it was 87% (Office for National Statistics 2011; National Records of Scotland 2011).

	Male	Female	Total	% Male	% Female	% of Intvwees			
Role									
Superintendents	17	1	18	94	6	39			
Colleagues	10	6	16	63	37	35			
Circuit Stewards	5	9	14	36	64	30			
Chairs	2	0	2	100	0	4			
			Age						
20-29	0	1	1	0	100	2			
30-39	2	2	4	50	50	9			
40-49	7	1	8	88	12	17			
50-59	10	3	13	77	23	28			
60-69	8	7	15	53	47	33			
70-79	3	2	5	60	40	11			
'Min	isters' in	this section	Years of se		<i>v</i> workers				
Ministers 1-10	4	4	8	50	50	25			
Ministers 11-20	13	2	15	87	13	47			
Ministers 21-30	2	1	3	67	33	9			
Ministers 31-40	4	0	4	100	0	13			
Ministers 41+	2	0	2	100	0	6			
Lay people 1-6	3	3	6	50	50	43			
Lay people 7-12	1	5	6	17	83	43			
Lay people 13+	1	1	2	50	50	14			
	Ha	ve experien	ced female	e superinte	ndents				
Ministers: yes	7	5	12	28	71	38			
Ministers: no	18	2	20	72	29	62			
Lay people: yes	1	4	5	20	44	36			
Lay people: no	4	5	9	80	56	64			
Total	30	16	46	65	35	100			

Table 2.2 Analysis by Gender

female.⁶⁸ (The Bristol District, which had 71 staff in 10 circuits, had no female superintendents in 2012.⁶⁹) Thus Newcastle-upon-Tyne had a below-average number (1 rather than 3) of female superintendents. Of the circuits, 5 out of 12 had never had female superintendents before or after amalgamation. However, in all but two there were staff members who had experienced female superintendents. Only one circuit in the District had no female staff. Of 44 non-superintendent circuit ministers, 24 (55%) were female.

2.7.2 Age Profile

														Estd.
													Mean	Popn.
	20	s	30	S	40	S	50	Os	6	Os	70	S		Mean
													age	(95%
														C.I.)
Role	no.	%	no.	%	no.	%	no	%	no.	%	no.	%		
Supts			1	7	3	20	8	53	3	20			53	53.2 ± 4.4
Colleagues	1	6	3	19	5	31	3	19	4	25			48	48.25 ± 6.7
Stewards							2	14	7	50	5	36	67	66.6 ± 4.0
Chairs							1	50	1	50			60	

Table 2.3 Age Profile

As ages were asked for in decade-intervals, the estimated population mean (at a 95% confidence interval) indicates no significant age difference between superintendents and their colleagues. As for stewards, I note that I tended to interview the longest-serving steward. There is a generational difference between the stewards and some

⁶⁸ Joint superintendencies account for a greater sum than 100%.

⁶⁹ The four tiny Districts – Cymru, Channel Islands, Isle of Man and Shetland, totalling five circuits – similarly had no female superintendents.

of the circuit staff: when discussing circuit strategy it is possible that this difference in age could cause difficulties in mutual understanding.

2.7.3 Professional Background

	Ma	inual	l Cleric		Profes	sional	
Role	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	
Superintendents	2	13	5	33	8	53	
Colleagues	1	6	12	75	3	19	
Circuit Stewards	1	7	3	21	10	71	
Total	4	9	20	44	21	47	
For ministers, this refers to their work before entering the ministry. 'Lay Worker',							
because it is does not require a qualification, is categorised as 'clerical' rather than							
[•] profe	ssional'.	'Student'	is also categ	gorised as 'o	clerical'.		

Table 2.4 Analysis by Occupational Background

Of the (only three) colleagues who had professional backgrounds, all were female. From this interview population, it appears that superintendents are nearly three times more likely to have been professionals before offering for the ministry than those who are their colleagues. I suggest that the skills needed for superintendency, coupled with these figures, indicates that the stationing committee is identifying people who are more likely to be able to cope with that part of superintendents' work which goes beyond simple administration.

The high number of stewards with a professional background also gives some confidence in their ability to critique superintendents' work, even though they do not see much of that work in practice. Some skills used in their own workplaces would thus be transferable.

2.7.4 Service History

Superintendents' mean current length of service was six years; the stewards', eight years (one had served for seventeen). As, on average, the stewards interviewed had been in post longer than the superintendents (in only three circuits was this not the

case), this could have implications for the sharing of authority in a circuit. As one steward said,

I'm very unsure of the relationship between circuit stewards and the ministerial staff. I can remember in days gone by, the circuit stewards made the decisions and they were there as a constant whereas the ministers moved on.

On average, superintendents had served with four superintendents, their colleagues with five (one had 39 years' service – none as superintendent), and stewards with two. This reflects itinerancy – the moving between circuits increases ministers' contact with superintendents, but superintendents in post will only experience their own superintendency. Two had been superintendents of three circuits, seven of two, and ten were in their first superintendency. The average number of circuits in which superintendents had served was 3.5, that of their colleagues 2.6, and that of stewards 1.6. This last figure is artificially high due to circuit mergers – 8 of the 14 stewards had thus served in an 'old' and a 'new' circuit whilst remaining in post.

Interviewees had collectively experienced the superintendency of 123 people. Not all were commented on explicitly, though in asking to comment on previous superintendents, the practices which remained in the memory were highlighted, or were part of the general hinterland of interviewees' understanding of superintendency. I thus had a primary source of superintendency from 19 current or former superintendents, and secondary sources for the individual practice of a further 103 superintendents. The DDE focus group represented an overview of some 60 further superintendents' work (*Minutes* 2012).

2.8 Data Analysis

I analysed the data with NVivo. Financial and time constraints precluded my undertaking detailed scrutiny and piloting all possible software analysis techniques: I chose NVivo due to training being offered (I attended three two-hour training sessions) and on personal recommendation by doctoral colleagues. I analysed the data in two different ways: inductively and deductively. The inductive approach was used to answer part of my first research question: 'How is the superintendent presbyter's role ... understood and practised in MCGB in the second decade of the 21st century?' The deductive approach related to my third research question: 'What is the continuing adequacy of *WIACS* as a normative document?'

Firstly, my *inductive* analysis of the data, following the *TAR* approach, used grounded theory techniques (Sweeney *et al.* 2010:275; Birks and Mills 2011). In an initial *totally open* approach to the data, I used NVivo to 'automatically' find all occurrences of every word used by interviewees. Although this gave a basic outline of the data, a multiplicity of synonyms and descriptors about identical concepts diminished its usefulness.

My resultant manual inductive approach was not totally free of an analytical framework. Birks and Mills (2011:89) argue that when using grounded theory, 'In order to maintain focus and develop analytical depth and integration, the substantive area of enquiry should be kept in mind at all times'. So my interview questions (Appendix 9) shaped part of my analysis.

Responses for each question were coded for descriptors in the following broad areas: superintendents and their power (Question 1); eight task areas described in *WIACS* (Q.2); espoused views, and the practice, of governance (Q.3) and management (Q.4); superintendents' leadership practice (Q.5); normative and formal influences on the practice and understanding of superintendency (Q.6); characteristics of particular situations (Q.7); possible future superintendency practice (Q.8); and a final open question inviting any further comments not already made in response to my questions (Q.9).

However, answers to questions were not focused exclusively on those questions. I thus also undertook a more open inductive approach to coding which sought to find themes which arose throughout the conversations. This axial coding method grouped data into that which concerned the operant voice, the espoused voice or, more rarely, referred to normative or formal sources. This allowed patterns to emerge from the data, which I could then investigate theologically. Those data-driven patterns give the headings to Chapter 3, in which I present my data.

My second, *deductive*, approach to coding was based on the fifteen superintendents about whom I had obtained triangulated interviewees, and consisted of *my imposing a theoretical framework on the data*. I analysed the full transcripts of each interview for particular comments about each superintendent's practice, and coded these comments based upon 136 theoretical statements which I inferred from *WIACS* (Appendix 3). This entailed my manually testing each transcript against each statement in order to ensure that I did not miss nuances in statements. The result is a test of whether I found *significant* evidence for each statement. As the exploration of my research is qualitative, I do not analyse the results in my discussion, but I offer the results to show where further research is needed in the quest for further evidence concerning the practice of superintendency.

NVivo can be used in a literal way to codify words and syntax; it can also be used reflexively to analyse a researcher's own approach to making sense of data. I concentrated rather on the interpretative use of NVivo. My interpretative method was to gather comments which gave evidence for each aspect of superintendency represented by the theoretical statement, then to 'weigh' the comments data on a seven-point scale for each superintendent, ranging from +3 to -3, using the following criteria:

Table 2.5 Method of weighing data

Evidence basis for each superintendent	Evidential weighting
There are <i>multiple data</i> (more than one comment and more than one interviewee) which <i>explicitly evidence</i> this theoretical statement to be <i>true</i> about this superintendent.	3
There are <i>some</i> data which <i>explicitly evidence</i> this theoretical statement to be <i>true</i> about this superintendent.	2
There are <i>some</i> data which <i>imply</i> that this theoretical statement is <i>true</i> about this superintendent.	1
There are no data in this interview which evidence the truth or falsity of this theoretical statement in relation to this superintendent.	0
There are <i>some</i> data which <i>imply</i> that this theoretical statement is <i>untrue</i> about this superintendent.	-1
There are <i>some</i> data which <i>explicitly evidence</i> this theoretical statement to be <i>untrue</i> about this superintendent.	-2
There are <i>multiple</i> data (more than one comment and more than one interviewee) which <i>explicitly evidence</i> this theoretical statement to be <i>untrue</i> about this superintendent.	-3

In Table 2.6, I offer an example, chosen because it demonstrates the full range of weighting. I show the evidence and decision for six of the superintendents.

Table 2.6 Weighting example

Statement being tested: "In leadership, superintendent inspires implementation of ideas".

Evidential statements [and who said them] References denote comments from a superintendent [S], a minister or other colleague [M], or a circuit steward [C].	Weighting of this superintendent
"We've tried lots of things that haven't worked." [S] "It was very significant when the Circuit Meeting approved the finances for that appointment." [S] "One thing that I see my role as: basically releasing, affirming and celebrating. I tend to want to say "Yes" unless I can think of a strong reason to say "No" rather than the other way around." [S] "If he sees people that have innovative, creative ideas, he's more than happy to run with them until such a point as they drop off, or they become obviously they're not going to work. But there's not	3

	[]
been one idea yet I can recollect where we've not run with to see	
whether or not it's got legs, and that's one of his strengths." [M]	
"He won't restrict people's creativity or imagination, but he will	
encourage people to be honest and open about what it is they want	
to happen, whether he agrees with it or not." [M]	
There's something about the permission-giving nature that [he]	
has which enables an awful lot of things to happen."[M]	
"There was some discussion about [an initiative] which has been	
taken forward, and [he] was instrumental in making that change. It	
was done in consultation and for a trial period. He's seen some	
changes through." [C]	
"We've supported [<i>Messy Church</i>] in the circuit financially and	
otherwise, and I've encouraged that – supporting what others do.	
The support within my Circuit Meeting where we decide where	
money is going is there." [S]	
"When the Circuit Review was first proposed, [he] was	
	2
instrumental in coming up with the prod to say we ought to be	2
looking at things. Once we'd started that thinking off, and were	
getting feedback from various areas and churches, then [he] was	
exercising a leadership role in how that feedback information was	
handled. [C]	
"[He] does think very thoroughly about circuit policies. That's	
what he emphasises." [C]	
"I take the leading role, but I don't believe I have that style of	
saying "Right, we will do this: you'll do that, you'll do that". It's	
much more by consensus. I would say that my emphasis is always	
on "we": "How are <i>we</i> going to do that?" Even if one person ends	1
up doing it." [S]	1
"[He] does adopt an inspirational approach. [He's] a lovely guy,	
and there is something stimulating and inspiring about him." [M]	
Q. Have you seen [him] talk about changing the way you do	
things? A. "At circuit level that is fine" [C]	
[No example offered by virtue of this category requiring that no	0
evidence exist].	-
"Developing circuit policies is my weakest area, probably." [S]	
"I don't think forward-planning is very much [his] thing. I think	
he's good at reacting to crises, but I don't think forward-planning	-1
is his genius." [M]	1
"I think that involves organisation – and I have to say, I wouldn't	
say that's [his] strongpoint" [M]	
Circuit policies to me is ways of moving forward, of developing	
new ideas, new ways of working. [He] does this very reluctantly.	2
We've looked at the way forward, but it was status quo, really. It's	-2
almost a fear if anything even slightly different was suggested.	
I can't think of anything which [he] may have changed rather than	

continued. It's just a continuation of the circuit routine. [He's]	
reactive rather than proactive". [C]	
"They don't always wish to toe the line when you ask them to do	
things The bigger the circuit, the harder it is." [S]	
"People were coming to give their ideas and then go away and	
leave them with the people that were co-ordinating the meeting.	
So then [how] you deal then with all those ideas, I don't	
know."[M]	-3
"I wouldn't say [he] was great at communication and clarity. So	
when it comes to publicising things, or getting people on board for	
things, I think [he] gets disappointed that people don't come	
forward and volunteer for things. People have the view that [he]	
maybe isn't the most organised." [M]	
"I think [he] is trying, but it doesn't seem to materialise."[C]	

The result was a measure of statistically significant data. For most – 88 of the 136 statements (65%) – the evidence was inconclusive. Where significant evidence exists, the strength of that evidence is shown in the third column of the table in Appendix 3.

I add the caveat that this is 'soft' data – the evidence was ranked by me as researcher, and thus perhaps has less validity than if each interviewee had been asked to make a judgement on each theoretical statement for their particular superintendent.

Conversely, there are advantages to the researcher weighing the evidence for each theoretical statement. Firstly, it avoids the interviewees feeling pressured to 'score' or 'mark' the superintendent. Rather, their statements about the superintendent's practice are used to provide evidential data. Secondly, when a subject completes a simple Likert scale, there is no requirement for that judgement to be evidenced. By manually coding the data myself, I generated an evidence-base for my categorising on the Likert scale each superintendent's practice. The evidential weighting could be manipulated quantitatively.

Furthermore, statistical significance is only part of the analysis – a statistical 'mean' answer would result from both positive and negative evidence for a particular practice, yet much can be learned from both evidence types, even with an

inconclusive mean. Furthermore, qualitative data incorporates minority or even unique comments.

Having described my data collection and analysis, I now present my data.

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter I set out, and begin to analyse, my data. The way the data is approached out reflects both my interpretative framework (as described in section 2.3) and my research questions.

My first research question, "How is the superintendent presbyter's role defined, understood and practised in MCGB in the second decade of the 21st century?" requires that the data be seen as located in a particular place and time. My data is so located (as noted in section 1.8.1).

How the role is *defined* and *understood* relates both to the normative definition and understanding of MCGB and also to the understanding of those at the level of the circuit who are, or who work with, superintendents. I have already set out my answer to the normative definition and understanding of MCGB in section 1.7.1.⁷⁰ By engaging with my data in this chapter, I first set out my answer to the understanding of practitioners (3.2). I then set out my answer to the question of how the role is *practised* (3.3).⁷¹

I note two caveats. Firstly, my presentation is not an 'objective' description. I have not relied on neutral evidence but on the descriptions of others (Cameron *et al.* 2010:23). However, my use of many perspectives increases the veracity of my data, when such data is commonly described (Swinton 2012:76). Furthermore, my

⁷⁰ In terms of the ARCS framework of 'four voices' this *relates* to the normative voice. I explore the normative theology in Chapter 4.

⁷¹ Thus section 3.2 relates to the *espoused* voice, and section 3.3 to the *operant* voice of the ARCS framework of 'four voices'. I explore the espoused and operant theological voices in Chapter 4.

interviewees are all – whether superintendents or not - engaged participants in the habitus of superintendency (Fiddes 2012:25-26).

Secondly, although I have sought to work from a grounded theory type of approach, I cannot totally avoid an interpretative framework which is limited by my own theoretical sensitivity as to what is of interest: others may choose to present other patterns in the data (Gadamer 1989:266ff; van der Ven 1993:121; Hammersley and Atkinson 2007:24; Swinton 2012:82). This interpretative framework includes the need to answer my research question (Cameron *et al.* 2010:99).

3.2 The Understanding in Circuits of Superintendency

This section presents data which answers part of my first research question: 'How is the role of the superintendent presbyter currently understood in MCGB?' By 'understood' I mean that which is espoused by individuals and articulated by my interviewees as members of MCGB rather than that which is propounded by official Methodist teaching as normative.⁷² My presupposition (as set out in section 1.8.1) is that as all interviewees are members of MCGB, and that my interview cohort includes those experienced in many different parts of the Connexion, then their espoused views as a sub-group is representative of the espoused views of MCGB as a whole. Their answers are thus valid data to construct an answer which indicates how the role of the superintendent is understood in MCGB.

What do people think that superintendency is about? What is it for?

In presenting my empirical data I present not only the espoused views explicitly stated by my interviewees, but also my interpretation of the views I believe have been *implicitly* revealed in the statements they have made about the practice of superintendency: in speaking about that practice they have filtered their description,

 $^{^{72}}$ I have answered the normative aspect of my first research question – how the superintendent's role is *defined*, in section 1.7.1.

based on their own understanding of the actions of superintendents. That practice also reveals something of their espoused theology which has not been expressed in words by my interviewees.

To answer this part of my research question is to begin to undertake Osmer's first task of practical theology (section 2.2.1 above) by answering the question "What is going on?" I also begin to undertake Osmer's second task of theology – the interpretative task.

3.2.1 The Role in General

I began each interview with an open question asking interviewees to describe the role of a superintendent (Appendix 9, Question 1). It should be noted that these first descriptions were not given at great length, but were short summaries, rather than attempting to be exhaustive and definitive statements. Therefore they indicate what interviewees saw as the most important aspects of superintendency. Table 3.1 tabulates the responses. I have further categorised these responses as to whether they refer to the tasks of leadership (L), governance (G) or management (M).⁷³

It can be seen that the majority of interviewees described the superintendent as a collaborative team-leader who oversees and manages a Methodist Circuit.

All three types of interviewee – superintendents, colleagues and stewards – noted governance and management about equally, but made comparatively more statements about ways in which superintendents lead (the average number of statements for each category is shown as 'Total per person' in Table 3.1). I consider leadership in greater depth below (section 3.2.1.1).

⁷³ These three categories are noted in 1.7.1 above as being mentioned in *WIACS*, and I will explore them further in my discussion in chapter 4.

Descriptors	Supts.	Colleagues	Stewards	Total			
(Key: L = leadership,							
G = governance, M = management)							
Collaborates / Works in team (L)	63% (12)	77% (10)	43% (6)	61% (28)			
Manages (M)	47% (9)	62% (8)	50% (7)	52% (24)			
Oversees staff (G/L/M) †	47% (9)	62% (8)	43% (6)	50% (23)			
Oversees circuit's work (G/L/M) †	53% (10)	23% (3)	43% (6)	41% (19)			
Leads (L)	42% (8)	38% (5)	14% (2)	33% (15)			
Oversees churches (G) †	37% (7)	31% (4)	21% (3)	30% (14)			
Pastors staff (L)	32% (6)	31% (4)	29% (4)	30% (14)			
Represents connexion (G)	26% (5)	15% (2)	50% (7)	30% (14)			
Holds ultimate responsibility (G)	16% (3)	46% (6)	29% (4)	28% (13)			
Enables / encourages (L)	32% (6)	23% (3)	21% (3)	26% (12)			
Co-ordinates work (M)	16% (3)	31% (4)	36% (5)	26% (12)			
Administrates (M/G)	16% (3)	23% (3)	43% (6)	26% (12)			
Acts as circuit minister + supt (L)	26% (5)	15% (2)	29% (4)	24% (11)			
Leads circuit's vision (L)	26% (5)	15% (2)	14% (2)	20% (9)			
Leads circuit's strategy (L)	21% (4)	23% (3)	14% (2)	20% (9)			
Directs mission (L)	21% (4)	23% (3)	7% (1)	17% (8)			
Acts as spiritual leader (L)	16% (3)	23% (3)	14% (2)	17% (8)			
Exercises boss's authority (G/L/M)	5% (1)	31% (4)	7% (1)	13% (6)			
Exercises prophetic function (L)	11% (2)	8% (1)		7% (3)			
Makes circuit Plan* (M)		8% (1)		2% (1)			
Total	100% (19)	100% (13)	100% (14)	100% (46)			
Total Leadership statements per	3.95	3.92	2.79	2.98			
person Total Covernance statements per	2.00	2.31	2.36	2.20			
Total Governance statements per person	2.00	2.31	2.30	2.20			
Total Management statements	1.84	2.38	2.21	2.11			
per person	_						
[†] These categories have been separate	ed out; every	interviewee me	entioned one f	form of			
oversight.							

Table 3.1: General descriptions of superintendents

Colleagues were almost twice as likely as *stewards* (77% compared with 43%) to mention superintendents' *collaboration* with others. Perhaps this reflects where that collaboration occurs, with superintendents being more collaborative in the staff meeting than in the Circuit Leadership Team* ['CLT'] (I discuss collaboration in greater detail in sections 3.2.1.2 and 3.3.1.1).

One in four interviewees spoke about one aspect of collaboration – the enabling/encouraging of others – but superintendents were more likely to describe themselves in this way than were their colleagues and stewards.

Every interviewee mentioned the superintendent's role as overseer. However, this role was more often cited as overseeing *staff* than *churches*: twice as many colleagues and stewards mentioned the former rather than the latter. Does this arise from the fact that superintendents oversaw local churches by speaking to the minister in pastoral charge rather than attending local meetings? And does this practice of oversight at a distance lie behind the fact that colleagues cite the superintendent's oversight of the *circuit's work* at half the rate of stewards and superintendents – because they see *themselves* as in practice undertaking that oversight of local churches on behalf of the circuit? Just one quarter of interviewees mentioned superintendents as co-ordinators of the *circuit's* work.

Furthermore, comparatively more colleagues highlighted themselves being overseen by the superintendent than the numbers of superintendents or stewards mentioning that oversight. Does this indicate that they more likely to view conversations with the superintendent as checking on the way they personally are doing their work, rather than a general inquiry as to how the work is going? Perhaps this possible view is not helped by only one in three colleagues (indeed of all interviewees) seeing the superintendent's role of pastoral care for them as important enough to mention it in response to this question (I discuss this in section 3.2.2.5).

Half the stewards – though only one-quarter of superintendents and fewer colleagues – noted the superintendent's representing the wider connexion (see section 3.3.2.3). It could be that these latter two are figures lower because the ministers view the representational role as belonging to *all* presbyters. (One in four

interviewees highlighted that the superintendent was first and foremost a circuit minister, and therefore fulfilled the same purpose as his or her colleagues as far as some of the local churches in the circuit were concerned.) And was the collegial figure lower still because colleagues are more aware than stewards of how much superintendents do not pass on from the connexion, and in any case, see that as their own role?

Only one in four highlighted the superintendent's role in co-ordinating the work of the circuit. Perhaps this is because co-ordination was seen to be undertaken collegially in meetings *chaired* by the superintendent, rather than as an individual action of the superintendent. Colleagues and stewards highlighted the co-ordinating role twice as often as did the superintendents themselves: does this reflect that superintendents believe themselves to be more *laissez faire* than they are?

Around half the interviewees saw the superintendent managing the circuit (see section 3.3.4) though this needs to be distinguished from administrative duties. Stewards and colleagues attributed more duties of both management and administration to superintendency than did superintendents themselves – is the size of these tasks more imagined than real? However, more than three-quarters of all interviewees did not mention the administrative tasks of superintendency, possibly because most of my 'sample' superintendents had administrators to help them. A Chair spoke about the value of circuit administrators freeing superintendents for 'some of the broad brush thinking':

My recollection of one Super is that he did seem to spend his whole time chasing up membership returns or doing insurance policies, and found it a huge burden – and it was almost entirely for him an administrative task. [Chair]

However, the Chair acknowledged that

You have to have a certain skill to be able to use an administrator. [Chair]

After inviting an answer to this first, open, question, I then showed interviewees a list of eight tasks inferred from *WIACS* (Appendix 9, Question 2). A minority (11%) of interviewees commented that there was no explicitly spiritual framework in the list, such as 'encouraging discipleship' (a new emphasis of the Connexion since *WIACS*); 'growing the Kingdom' in non-church-based work and Fresh Expressions; the task of praying for the circuit; and 'no mention of Jesus Christ, or God'.

But when asked about *other* people's expectations, the three most common answers were that the superintendent should 'solve all problems'/'give comfort' (28% of interviewees); 'be available in churches'/'pastoral'/'nice' (26%); 'be business-like'/'organised' (20%). None of these could be describing prophetic leadership or even specifically spiritual tasks. Most people seemed to think that there were no general expectations of superintendents:

The majority probably don't think about it, and haven't a clue what the role involves. It's slightly unsettling, because you don't know what role you're supposed to play, and do people care less anyway? [S]

I think most folk haven't any expectations. I just don't think they know what a superintendent is. Just like they don't know what a circuit is or a District is or the Connexion is. I think we've got so many people in our churches now that don't come from Methodist stock. I think we can get hung up on an awful lot of stuff, trying to get information to people that really just don't bloody care. [M]

I note here the findings of Maunder (2014:97) who surveyed 106 people in 4 churches (from different circuits), 60% of whom said the superintendent was, for them, 'very influential', and 23% of whom said he or she was 'influential'. Unfortunately, Maunder did not ask them how that influence was felt, but it would certainly indicate – in a more controlled survey than the qualitative answers I gained, and albeit from a small sample – that people do, on the whole, notice what their superintendent is doing. I would therefore suggest that the answers I obtained were second-hand opinions about opinions, and therefore should not be taken as too authoritative. Having hoped that they might elicit deeper responses given in the third person, I do not intend to comment further on them.

3.2.1.1 Leadership

It can be seen in the 'Total statements per person' section of Table 3.1 that superintendents and colleagues made statements relating to leadership comparatively more than did stewards. Yet the simple description of the superintendent as a 'leader' (shown in the table as 'Leads') was noted by just one-third of interviewees, but three times more by superintendents and colleagues than by stewards. Is this figure low because collegial and conciliar collaboration diminishes an individual's apparent contribution, leading people to be less likely to notice and comment on it?

In all comments about leadership, interviewees most often highlighted the superintendent's personal leadership role *as part of general leadership in the church*: [9S]⁷⁴ (47% of them), [7M] (54%) and [5C] (36%) mentioned it.

It's a very significant leadership/management role within the connexional church. [S]

It may well be that leadership is seen with a particular person or a particular group of people depending on what's being done – but I suppose overall that has to be the superintendent. [S]

People understood leadership to include: leading by example; modelling good practice; exercising 'people skills' (such as caring for circuit officers); encouraging vision ('to be the person who asks the right questions of the circuit'[S]); managing conflict; and enabling others' gifts.

Superintendents described their responsibility for leadership as a task additional to the role of minister of a local church:

I have this consciousness that I have responsibility to be leading the circuit. [S]

Finding direction for the churches of the circuit, the unity of the circuit and the vision. [S]

Some see the extra responsibility as removing them from the 'normal' presbyteral role (note that both comments imply that the circuit overview is not a task of other presbyters):

[I constantly have] to carry the thoughts of the circuit, not just the four churches that I'm minister of. [S]

⁷⁴ 'S' refers to superintendents; 'M' to ministers and others on the staff of the circuit; 'C' to Circuit Stewards (see List of Abbreviations).

[I need to] take the circuit overview, when other people are at the coal-face of their pastoral charges.

To offer leadership required enabling a developing vision:

A good superintendent [is] an inspirational figure. [S]

Being able to set a tone and to contribute to a conversation and to that process of discernment. [M]

To draw out of the staff what's happening in their churches. [S]

[To] build the bigger picture which then enables the Leadership Team to be informed and guided. [S]

During my interviews, 10 (22%) interviewees mentioned leadership in *mission* as one of the primary goals of superintendency. Superintendents approached 'mission' more generally: the task was

to offer leadership across the circuit in terms of mission and on-going purpose. [S]

Table 3.2 shows the espoused views when asked to compare superintendency with a secular role.

	Supts.	Colleagues	Stewards	Total
CEO	20% (3)		29% (4)	18% (7)
Higher manager		33% (3)	21% (3)	16% (6)
Area/middle/line manager	53% (8)	67% (6)	50% (7)	55% (21)
Non- hierarchical	26% (4)			11% (4)
Total	100% (15)	100% (9)	100% (14)	100% (38)

Table 3.2: Comparison of superintendent with a secular organisation

Most saw the superintendent as middle-manager. I hypothesised that those who saw the superintendent as a CEO were less likely to think connexionally, seeing the circuit as a closed entity; however one of the Chairs used this term, thus would certainly think connexionally. One steward noted that even CEOs are accountable to a board. One superintendent preferred 'Area Manager', but thought that others saw him as a CEO.

Interviewees spoke from their own experience of other organisations, but most stressed the 'hands-on' task – such as a ward-sister still nursing, the head-teacher still teaching. The low number of interviewees (24%) mentioning superintendents also being circuit ministers may reflect the focus of thought being on what was *different* about superintendents for the purposes of the interviews, or 'taking it as read'.

3.2.1.2 Power and authority

From Table 3.1 we see that the superintendent's oversight role is overwhelmingly acknowledged. One third of colleagues (though only one superintendent) described the superintendent as their boss. But Table 3.1 also shows that only one-quarter of colleagues cited superintendents practising oversight of the *circuit's* work; this may indicate that colleagues see circuit oversight as collegial rather than personal (as noted above in section 3.2.1).

Most interviewees saw the leadership of the circuit as collaborative, with the superintendent

Garnering and putting forward ideas within the Leadership Team then finding the most appropriate ways to disseminate that within the Circuit Meeting. [S]

The making of the policies has to be collaborative. I don't like the idea of people coming with it cut and dried. [C]

They could vote against it, and that's their democratic right to do so. Firm leadership is about persuasion [S].

This could cause problems for those who define leadership as 'getting things done':

My frustration with superintendents I've known in the past is that they haven't given a lot of leadership in terms of they've been willing to sit back and let groups or committees or churches decide, which sometimes takes a long time.[S]

Four superintendents declined to think in terms of hierarchy: 'it's a co-operative'[S]. The small remuneration of 7½% stipend* for being superintendent was seen as illogical – 'either everybody should be paid equally, or the allowance should be greater'[S].

Three times the proportion of colleagues (46%) than superintendents (16%) saw the superintendent holding ultimate responsibility; twice as many colleagues as described the superintendent as overseeing the circuit's work (Table 3.1). This could mean that they themselves want to work in their own way in their own churches, as long as the superintendent takes ultimate responsibility. Half the total number of interviewees spoke during interviews about the superintendent's accountability to the wider church: 'the buck stops'⁷⁵ with them.

I note here that some leadership attributes may be seen both positively and negatively, depending on an individual's viewpoint – 'authoritative' or 'decisive' leadership is not universally welcomed.⁷⁶ Taking proactive initiative was rare: people complained when it did *not* happen, but when it *did* happen it was not always appreciated or welcomed. There were warnings from all three participant-perspectives:

People claim that they are open to leaders being allowed to lead, and yet at the same time are quite antagonistic if where they deem that they are being led is not where they want to be led to. So it's not as straightforward as it is in a hierarchical employer-employee situation, because we're dealing with volunteers [with a] different genre of leadership needed. [S]

Power is a matter of persuasion, because most people in churches will do what they're going to do regardless of what you say. So, that's why the power of the

⁷⁵ Maunder (2012) also found this phrase in common use.

⁷⁶ See Table 3.11 for examples of both positive and negative citations of leadership styles.

superintendent is limited. In the end, the superintendent's power is correlative to their ability to win an argument, and to carry people with them. [M]

Do superintendents really have any power to change anything? [M]

Why should superintendents always feel the need to change things when local churches do not want to change? [C]

Generally the word 'power' was disliked by superintendents and colleagues -

preferring 'authority' or 'influence' because

['Power'] usually gets misinterpreted to being overriding other people's wishes. [S]

I could use the fallacy that I have power to my advantage should I want to. [S]

One superintendent had been given permission to be 'radical', but his

appointment had been curtailed for his overzealousness:

People want strong leadership until they get it. [M]

Conversely, some superintendents see their task as maintaining the status quo:

I don't think he has any power. Power is being able to *change* things. They don't change things – they make sure that, certainly along Methodist lines, everything runs the way it should; which is different to *innovating* things, which would then become power. [*Interjection: So you don't think the superintendent has any role in innovation?*] Well, none of them that I've seen have. No. [*She laughs*] [C]

Thus pragmatically the superintendent's authority was limited:

There's a gap between a perception of authority and the power to enact some bits of work. [S]

One new superintendent noted that his predecessor had exercised strong control:

They seem to have gone through a period where they were not allowed to say anything at Circuit Meetings!

But others dealt with conflict by specifically allowing people to express

'dissenting' opinions in meetings.

Furthermore, there was no significant evidence that superintendents' authority to intervene in the local church was recognised by their colleagues: 'Without sanction,

there is no authority' [S].⁷⁷ Yet colleagues noted the possibility of an attitudinal use of power: superintendents have the power to avoid consultation as much as to enter into it. Thus both superintendents and colleagues could potentially avoid consultation with one another.

So much of what we do does rest on consensus and goodwill. [S]

A member of the Presidency said,

I think a superintendent has probably more power in the Methodist Church than any other minister – including the Chair – insofar as he can, if he wishes, chair any meeting of any sort within the circuit and the churches.

Yet the superintendent must guard against 'treading on the toes of the minister on the ground'[C].

My role is to encourage the ministers in *their* role, and support them from the background. [S]

I'm not the sort who wants to stand over my colleagues in some kind of overbearing supervisory sort of way. Nor will I want to meddle in the internal doings of churches where they have their own minister. [S]

You do not want to undermine their authority. [S]

It's not my job to tell people how to do their ministry or run their churches – it's just my job to run the circuit. [S]

You look after your own patch – which is as it should be. [S]

It appears, furthermore, that *stewards* did not necessarily recognise the authority of the superintendent: 40% of the stewards I interviewed viewed superintendents as the executive officer of the stewards, some stewards believing that they themselves supervised the superintendent. Power struggles were evident.

The circuit stewards have a fair amount of authority, influence, vis-à-vis the superintendent minister. [C]

⁷⁷ Maunder (2012) also found superintendents experiencing powerlessness over uncooperative ordained colleagues.

When I asked one steward 'would you expect [the superintendent] or the Senior Circuit Steward to take the lead in the discussion about policy?' after a pause of twenty seconds he replied, 'Sorry – you've got a big gap [in your recording] now.' When pushed further, he noted that 'I wouldn't expect him to be leading the thinking of the circuit stewards.' He noted that there needs to be research into the working relationship between the superintendent and the Senior Circuit Steward.

Nineteen interviewees (41%) spoke of the role of superintendents 'not to necessarily be the main practitioner' [S] but

To liaise closely with and work alongside all of the staff within the circuit. [S]

[Working] alongside lay leaders in providing that leadership. [S]

Colleagues looked for a 'team player' who had the insight to build, blend, motivate and facilitate teams 'to share gifts and graces together.'

You become the focus person, but you're not the only person. [S]

3.2.1.3 Summary of the Role in General

The superintendent is expected to be a collaborative team-leader and to oversee and manage the circuit. Superintendents are expected to be overseers of the work of the circuit rather than of its individual churches; colleagues, however, are more likely to describe that oversight as being exercised over *them* rather than over the *circuit*, perhaps indicating a greater expectation of *collegial* oversight over the circuit in general. (3.2.1)

Stewards see the superintendent as representing the wider connexion, though this is not a view generally held by ministers, possibly as a result of this also being the task of *every* presbyter. (3.2.1)

Superintendents are expected, in addition to their role as local-church minister, to personally lead the circuit as part of the general leadership structures of the church, including leading by example; modelling good practice; exercising 'people skills' (such as caring for circuit officers); encouraging vision; managing conflict; and enabling others' gifts. They are described most often as 'middle managers',

connecting the 'top' and 'bottom' parts of the organisation, whilst still being 'hands on' practitioners. (3.2.1.1)

Yet the recognition of the superintendent's personal *responsibility* is not accompanied by a similar recognition of their personal *authority* to make decisions. Collaborative leadership can diffuse power and lead to criticism of a lack of leadership. (3.2.1.1)

The notion of 'influence' is preferred to that of 'power', with the leadership authority being seen as collaborative and supportive; but superintendents *as superintendents* are not expected in ordinary circumstances to exercise any authority in the local church; indeed any notional authority has no day-to-day impact on colleagues (except in extreme cases of disciplinary problems). There is a lack of clarity over who has 'ultimate' authority over the circuit, with some evidence of a difference of understanding between stewards and superintendents. (3.2.1.2)

3.2.2 Specific Tasks

Interviewees noted that two-thirds of my 'sample' superintendents had 'delegated' some part of their function, such as making the Plan or chairing Local Preachers' Meetings. I found one example of the Admission of a Local Preacher being 'delegated' to a colleague. Such delegation was noted in Table 3.11. This implies that it was expected that superintendents are the primary performers of these roles.

I now examine the specific tasks interviewees expected of superintendents.

3.2.2.1 Worship, Training and Theological Thinking

Superintendents were expected to make the Plan and organise the ministers and LPs to ensure that local churches' worship needs were met. Only two interviewees (both non-superintendents) mentioned, unprompted, the making of the preaching Plan (Table 3.1) – most only mentioned the Plan when I specifically asked about 'providing for worship' (see section 3.2.2.2). Perhaps the drawing up of a rota was not deemed sufficiently important to mention. (Yet one colleague even claimed 'I have been superintendent in the sense that I have made the Plan.')

When used well, the Plan was seen as a strategic tool for 'sharing preachers fairly and wisely', both those preachers who were appreciated by congregations, and those whom the superintendent avoided planning in some churches:

You keep a lot in your head that borders on the pastoral and the confidential. [S]

The superintendent also planned himself or herself:

It's quite good for the superintendent to go round and share Communion with people [S],

Superintendents were expected to preside over the training of preachers and probationers. A colleague noted that after ordination she missed the regular supervision sessions with the superintendent.

One superintendent noted

the great responsibility of giving [probationers] the foundations for their ministry in the future – slip up there and you could spoil somebody's work.

I note that such a statement assumes almost sole responsibility, as if all studies and support for post-college training and formation in ministry from elsewhere do not exist.

But concerning training for other roles, just five [3S, 2C](11%) minority responses argued that the equipping of the ministry of the whole people of God – training for discipleship, or 'learning and development'[S] – was important. (This matches the low figure in Table 3.1 for the enabling/encouraging role of superintendents). Most interviewees, when presented with the list of tasks inferred from *WIACS*, expressed surprise that superintendents would be expected to train others. Such surprise is perhaps indicative of how little training happened in circuits. One superintendent noted that it 'sits unhappily' with superintendency.

What does that mean? Training others to do what? [S]

There were individual exceptions to such thinking: one superintendent saw himself as 'the fount of all knowledge' of training opportunities; a steward noted that superintendents needed to equip ecumenical partners in Methodist practice; another argued that the staff meeting – of which he was not a member – was seen as the way the superintendent trained others [C].

One superintendent saw it as important

to release people into District, connexional, ecumenical or completely "outside" activities that actually enrich them.

Several interviewees were surprised to see theological thinking a suggested task of superintendents:

I wouldn't have thought a superintendent was any more responsible for making *(sic)* people think theologically than any minister [M, also 2C]

Some superintendents relished the prophetic role, speaking of preaching 'challengingly' around the circuit as 'an extension of what we're trying to do in the CLT': 'participating in God's mission, and about recognising God in our context'.

But spiritual matters were explicitly mentioned by just eight (17%) interviewees. This suggests that spiritual matters are to the fore in the pulpit rather than the meeting-room. Of the eight comments, I note three, each of which speak of the discernment of the activity of God:

A superintendent spoke of

Trying to bring some of the gospel and Kingdom priorities into that mix and the principles by which we are going to be travelling.

Colleagues spoke of the need

To listen for where God was working and seeking to develop that work in that particular part of God's Kingdom, seeing where they could enable all to flourish and grow and develop and offer intelligent and caring ministry in a particular location [M]

If God's in this, then it'll pay off, and if [God] isn't, then it won't. [The superintendent] won't restrict people's creativity or imagination, but he will encourage people to be honest and open about what it is they want to happen, whether he agrees with it or not [M]

3.2.2.2 Pastoral Care of the Staff

Staff pastoral care was seen as intrinsic to superintendents' presbyteral role.

Superintendents' ability to *care* is more important than financial or leadership abilities. [C]

If colleagues feel that they are valued and cared for then you're going to have a happy circuit. [S]

Good pastoral care is 'systematic and consistent' [M]; 'the ability to listen, then to ask relevant questions of the staff', even removing them from difficult situations where necessary [M] and being 'somebody to walk with me' [M].

The superintendent's role in pastoral care of colleagues was

To make sure that everybody's happy, hopefully. [C]

To be a source of help for colleagues and lay workers and members of congregations. [C]

Because you're talking about human beings, their strengths and their weaknesses will have a play upon how they work and where their focus is going to be. [C]

A sounding-board and a guide. [S]

To support the staff in their role within their churches [S]

Another superintendent was content when staff pastoral care was found elsewhere:

I don't think it's something to be precious about.

Concerning colleague's work, care was also seen as necessary in relation to

professional disappointment:

Being in touch enough to see where things are not working as well as they could. [M]

The superintendent needs to care for staff whose ideas are rejected by a CLT. [C]

3.2.2.3 Maintaining Connexion

One colleague argued that it was the superintendent's task to communicate about

Methodism. The superintendent was 'another cog in the wheel'[C] who had to "toe the party line" [S], even when this was not acceptable locally:

Listening to the District or the wider Connexion as to what the Church is saying and where it seems to be going, and looking to put vision into action. [S]

Conference statements drive you mad in the end, the ones you've got to work through. [S]

He does pass that information on. But usually we all [groan] – especially as it usually seems to involve us in doing more work. We feel we're a long way from London here, and so when edicts come, there's a general [murmur against them]. [M]

However, one superintendent said he never filtered connexional information, and passed it on to his circuit

because I think they *should* be interested in it.

The connexional website contained too much information:

No one has pruned it. [S]

I ignore all the bits that fill me with boredom. [S]

In an ideal world, it would be brilliant to read through all this stuff! [S]

Another took 'fairly seriously stuff that comes down from Connexion', believing

that gives us the framework in which we then interpret how we apply those things in our own situation. [S]

One superintendent commented that 'some Conference statements make me feel guilty: "Oh, I'm not *doing* that.""

Twelve months on, the 2011 General Secretary's Report was still being discussed and being used to shape connexional work as "a discipleship movement shaped for mission": We're going to use it for a six-week preaching series, because we want the person in the pew to get it. [S]

Only two colleagues highlighted the superintendent's role of representing the connexion, perhaps indicating that colleagues see this as the role of *all* ministers in Full Connexion* (as noted above in 3.2.1)

Connexionalism also meant the superintendent supporting the implementation of circuit policies at local church level [3S, 3M, 3C]. Most people [57% (26)] commented on the superintendent's personal *episkopé* as one who 'holds together the circuit'[S] and cares for the ministers [C] with

the intelligence and compassion to perhaps come in and offer advice, or if necessary actually do the job as well. [M]

Superintendents spoke of an *executive* leadership based on Circuit Meeting decisions and 'negotiation with others'. The superintendent may personally disagree with those decisions, but must 'ensure that the jobs are done' [M]:

having discerned, to ensure that that discernment is acted upon. It's a facilitation, an encouragement, an urging – rather than actually doing it yourself. [M]

Quite a lot of the goal of superintendency is explanatory – what and why we've decided. [S]

Encouraging others to fulfil their roles as well, but on the whole I suspect that we work best with a kind of consensus. [S]

[The role is] encouraging fellowship between the churches, encouraging churches to work together, encouraging the circuit to play to its strengths in partnership between the churches[S].

To help develop good practice within the circuit. [S]

One superintendent noted that he was

quite keen to keep a close eye on certain churches to make sure that whilst they're being very creative, they're also not contravening what we set out to be and do as a church. [S]

3.2.2.4 Representative Ministry

When asked to describe what a superintendent *is*, most interviewees (27 or 59%) only described what a superintendent *does* (Table 3.1). However, descriptions concerning what the superintendent *is* have different underlying nuances from *functional* descriptions (Table 3.3).

	Supts.	Colleagues	Stewards	Total
Minister	21% (4)	8% (1)	14% (2)	15% (7)
Embodiment of the Connexion	16% (3)		7% (1)	9% (4)
ἐπίσκοπος / 'bishop'	11% (2)	15% (2)		9% (4)
Figurehead / focus	5% (1)	8% (1)	14% (2)	9% (4)
First among equals	5% (1)	15% (2)		7% (3)
Father-figure ⁷⁸	5% (1)		7% (1)	4% (2)

Table 3.3: Describing what the superintendent is

What a superintendent *is* relates to the nature of the superintendent's *office*, rather than that of any actions. In this sense, I emphasise the representative public and official ministry of *being* rather than *doing*, which subsists in the entirety of a superintendent's being stationed as such.⁷⁹ This is represented in Table 3.3 by the number of people who used non-functional descriptions concerning what a superintendent *is* rather than what she *does*. It is further evidenced by occasional problems of continuing deference to a former superintendent who remained in a circuit after relinquishing the superintendency (thus no longer functioning as such).

Answers emphasise that a superintendent is first and foremost a presbyter – who is first among equals. Few interviewees seemed comfortable with ascribing too

 $^{^{78}}$ The proportion of female superintendents (20% - *Minutes 2011*) is perhaps too small to counteract this image.

⁷⁹ Murray (2010:51-52), in the Catholic theological tradition, makes a similar case on which to base Catholic priests' representative ontology.

hierarchical a position to superintendents – 'focus' and 'Father-figure' may be seen as 'soft' expressions of hierarchy. A minority (all ordained) equated superintendents with bishops – this did not seem to be an image which resonated with laypeople.

Superintendents were commonly seen as the representative or 'face' of the circuit (though team superintendency diminished this role) both to local churches and to ecumenical partners.

When I go somewhere as superintendent, I am "the circuit", and I am saying, "The circuit is interested in what's going on in your church". [S]

3.2.2.5 Management and Policies

Most interviewees (34 or 74%) explicitly mentioned their views concerning the superintendent's management role (Table 3.4). The 'other answers', each given by only one superintendent, were: processing complaints, giving information for decision, doing paperwork, organising conversations, sowing seeds, and appointing leaders. Such leaders were not specified.

You do have things that need to get done, and so you try to manage the processes. [S]

To ensure that the Methodist Church within that circuit runs smoothly and in the way that it should [S, similarly C].

There are certain things that they're *required* to do – and that is to chair the Circuit Meeting – most of their other responsibilities could in theory be delegated. $[S]^{80}$

It's primarily the superintendent's role to make sure things are done. [M]

The superintendent was generally seen as ultimately responsible as 'the guy at the top' [2C] for managing the circuit (including themselves), requiring good financial understanding [4C]. Even delegated tasks needed to be managed by the superintendent [S, 3C], by regular reports [2C].

 $^{^{80}}$ SO 502(1)(b)(i) permits the chair also to be delegated.

	Supts	Colleagues	Stewards	Total
Overseeing others	3	5	5	13 (38%)
No or poor management	1^	5	3	9 (26%)
Finance/property		2		2 (6%)
Making Plan	1		1	2 (6%)
No delegation		1†	1†	2 (6%)
Other answers	6			6 (3% each)
Total (excludes nil responses)				34 (100%)
†These responses related to the same superintendent.				
^A superintendent agreed with his colleague and steward that he was a poor				
manager.				

Table 3.4 Views concerning the superintendent's management role

The staff needed to be managed, but with care [C]; it was better to speak of being Team Leader, argued one superintendent. Strong management was seen as being exercised more in facilitating consultative conversations than in issuing directives. However, in two circuits, there was a lack of clarity as to where collaborative decisions should be taken.

One colleague noted that superintendents should be trained in management and leadership as well as theology. [M] One steward felt that the sharing of management with lay people should be explicitly stated and expected.

Colleagues spoke of superintendents' responsibility for running the circuit effectively, with

All the administrative work of the circuit to attend to. [C]

They probably do a lot more admin that I don't have to look at [C].⁸¹

However another colleague – in a circuit with a paid administrator - specifically said

⁸¹ As noted in section 3.3.4.1, stewards do not necessarily see administration taking place.

I don't see it as an admin role. [C]

[The superintendent] has oversight for the ministerial staff and the working of the circuit – and that working should be about mission. [C]

Superintendents spoke of managing resources collaboratively. There was a need to avoid being 'maintenance-driven':

It's primarily a co-ordinating role, trying to give a focus for all the churches to be working together, and use our resources in an intelligent way, rather than just all operating separately. [S]

The superintendent should take the lead in *discussing* the use of resources. You *facilitate* discussion about it because there's people in the circuit know more about it than you do. [S]

I don't think it's the superintendent's job or role to say how we're going to look to staffing in the near future. I think it's got to come from within the churches, and from the Leadership Team, and not just from the treasurer. [C]

Nevertheless, one interviewee recognised the influence of superintendents and therefore the covert use of power:

The strong should support the weak – providing there's potential. So that if they were a struggling church, had no money, no personnel, and there was no potential, I wouldn't encourage money to be thrown at that church. [S]

The superintendent had 'some responsibility' [M] for resources deployment involving having 'a really good understanding of what needs to be done'[C], but three stewards argued that *stewards* had ultimate *financial* responsibility 'and the superintendent should be more involved with the spiritual side.'

In overseeing governance, the superintendent was 'helping to keep the Methodist Church connected'[S] and 'a person who brought together all the sections of the church'[C], 'and point them in the same direction so they are not pulling each other apart – and pulling me apart!'[S]. This latter superintendent clearly saw an important role for himself in maintaining unity in the circuit. The superintendent needed to support all ministers in *their* role as connexional representatives by ensuring they know the Conference's decisions [M].

Interviewees were clear that superintendency was exercised in the context of a connexional church with responsibility and accountability: 'the superintendent has the overall responsibility to make sure that [local] policy fits Methodist policy and guidance'[S; similarly C, M], 'to see the relevance of those [connexional] policies within our own particular unique situation'[S], and to 'interpret' connexional policy [2S] (though sometimes 'the District and Connexion are a different universe, as far as [the local people] are concerned'[S]).⁸²

Governance included upholding Standing Orders and guidelines [M, C, S]. John Wesley was 'big on discipline and good order, a good model for Methodists'[C].

One superintendent had moved from being 'quite anxious to toe the line, and to do everything as required' to believing he was

as entitled to influence things as anyone else, including innovation. I'm not called to just do everything the way it's always been done, but to do the job as I see fit.

Part of my role has been interpreting the spirit of *CPD* (and then I suppose having to face the consequences if I misinterpreted things and things go wrong) but to give permission for people to do what they believe is sensible unless there are rules which say otherwise. I tend to hang a little bit loose from the strictures of *CPD*, although I think I probably know enough of it to know my way around and I regard some of the stuff that we are required to do as a little bit ridiculous in some places, because we just haven't got the personnel to do everything that's required of us. That's part of the confidence that I think superintendents acquire as they go on – as to what can be ignored, or at least distanced from a little. I think there is an element of [feeling secure in my role] – at best what are they going to do [to me]?

Two people [1M, 1C] saw the superintendent's *personal* governance responsibility purely in terms of connexional policies. Superintendents were expected to represent the wider connexion to ensure that the circuit's policies were not askew from connexional thinking. Governance of *circuit* policy was shared with the CLT and Circuit Meeting: 'it has to be delivered as a corporate whole, rather than

⁸² Maunder (2014:98) has shown a diminishing influence of connexional officers and meetings as they exist further from the local church.

just being one person trying to push it' [M]. The development of policy was expected to be evolutionary rather than revolutionary. Collaborative policy-making was expected to be empowered by the superintendent's inspiring the circuit to discern God's will and to seek a common vision.

One superintendent commented that

Developing circuit policies could be based on a 'maintenance-driven model' of the church: rules, regulations and schedules. Or it could mean, "How are we as a circuit going to organise ourselves in order that we work in the most effective way?"

Effective organisation need not mean constant change:

[I'm] keen on continuity. If we do have a good thing going it's a blooming pain when that's disrupted by changes. [S]

We don't know whether we're doing things right at all. We're just carrying on with the system that's been laid down for us, but we don't want to do that unthinkingly. [S]

Yet the task was to guide the Circuit Meeting and CLT to formulate strategies to

Deploy resources in the most effective and fruitful way. [S]

To help the circuit to move as a coherent whole and not just as several individual ships that do their own thing. [M]

Whether it's visionary or not depends on the person and their gifts. [M]

3.2.2.6 Summary of Specific Tasks

Superintendents were expected to perform specific tasks (such as making the Plan and chairing circuit meetings), though they were recognised as able to delegate aspects of their work. (3.2.2)

Superintendents were expected to make the Plan in order to provide preachers in an equitable way to lead worship. They were expected to preside over the training of preachers, to assist in the training of probationers, and perhaps to train staff within the staff meeting. Interviewees generally did not expect superintendents to engage in training people for other ministries, nor, *as superintendents rather than circuit* *ministers*, to stimulate theological thinking. Spiritual input was expected in worship, not meetings. (3.2.2.1)

Superintendents were expected to offer good pastoral care to staff. (3.2.2.2)

Though half the stewards expressed the expectation that superintendents, as superintendents, represent the connexion, only a minority of superintendents stated that they expected this of themselves. Their colleagues, on the whole, did not express this expectation, perhaps indicating that they see it as their own role too. Superintendents were expected to aid the implementation of circuit-level decisions in the local churches, and encourage the local churches to work together. (3.2.2.3)

Superintendents were expected to personally represent the circuit when they visit local churches, but hierarchical terms were eschewed, interviewees preferring to emphasise their primary role as presbyters. (3.2.2.4)

Superintendents were expected to manage the circuit, ensuring the wise use of resources and overseeing others to ensure that agreed tasks are performed and that good governance arrangements existed. Some interviewees argued that circuit policies should be aligned to connexional policies, but not all superintendents themselves saw the need to adhere to connexional policies, arguing that local differences were possible.

One quarter of my interviewed superintendents were judged by interviewees to be poor managers, perhaps due to the lack of training in management practices. The task is seen mainly as one of co-ordination, encouraging churches and staff to work together, but not generally one of administration. (3.2.2.5)

3.2.3 Broader Thinking

I asked for responses to broader questions about superintendency – hindrances and helps for superintendents, vocation to superintendency, and possible patterns of superintendency.

3.2.3.1 Hindrances and Helps

No particular problem hindering their work was cited by a majority of superintendents, though 'workload' and 'administration' were cited by large minorities (Table 3.5). Perhaps this was linked to poor delegation.

Workload and Stress	8	42%
Administration	7	37%
Staff disagreements	4	21%
Negativity and whingeing	3	16%
Resistance to change	2	11%
Unrealistic expectations	2	11%
Previous supt still present	2	11%
District supts' meetings	2	11%
LEPs	1	5%
Employment Issues	1	5%
Problem churches	1	5%
Managing decline	1	5%
Chair's attitude towards me	1	5%

Smaller numbers of superintendents found the *people* they had to work with difficult – though 'staff disagreements', 'negativity and whinging' and 'resistance to change' may be interrelated, and all may be a product of an authoritative non-collaborative approach to superintendency: it is, however, difficult to find a definitive causal link. I would comment, though, that the expected collaborative working is difficult in an atmosphere of staff disagreements and negativity.

The District superintendents' meeting was seen by two attendees as unhelpful (compared with five who found it helpful) due to covert competitiveness, the sense that they were not performing as well as their colleagues, and for one, the sense that the Chair was judging him.

One superintendent spoke about the need to oversee oneself, necessary because only a superintendent understands the experience:

Planning one's own learning, recognising one's own limitations, reflecting on pressures. [S]

Only two superintendents felt that people's expectations of them were unrealistic. If the expectations were as reported (section 3.2.1) then they would not generally be too onerous.

Conversely, Table 3.6 shows sources of help/empowerment identified by superintendents.

Source of Empowerment	Total (19)
Superintendents' Course	42% (8)
Superintendents' Meetings in the District	26% (5)
Conversations with church members	16% (3)
Books	11% (2)
Personal spirituality	5% (1)
Hearing about research	5% (1)

Table 3.6: Sources of Empowerment for superintendents

A superintendent expressed the hope that Chairs might mentor superintendents, but acknowledged that this was a problem when the Chair had never themselves been a superintendent.⁸³

It seems that what seemed to be helpful is the sense of colleagueship *between* superintendents in the peer support that they receive. A sense of isolation and a feeling that they alone must do their job increases stress.

When one of the constituent superintendents in an amalgamation (or an existing circuit minister was appointed as superintendent) they reported the benefit of being able to 'hit the ground running'.

3.2.3.2 Vocation

Some interviewees noted that the process of selection for superintendency had 'no clarity'[C], and no training is required (except if superintendents wish to supervise probationers). The practice of merely ticking a box on a stationing form indicating the willingness to be stationed as a superintendent is an inadequate discernment of vocation, even if accompanied by a conversation with the Chair.

Six people [1S, 3M, 2C] mentioned the personal gifting of superintendents.

I don't think every minister should be a superintendent. I don't think we should clamour to get anybody and everybody just because there's a vacancy [S].

There needs to be more opportunity for development of vocation. [S]

One superintendent noted

I don't feel *called* to be a superintendent, and yet I recognise that superintendency is a really good way in which I can make the most of my gifts – so if that *is* a call, then it's a call. [S]

However, another argued that *practice* and *pragmatism* sometimes fail to respect this:

⁸³ This is rare but not unknown.

I think a lot of 'calling' is trying to assess, with others, your gifts and talents and potential, and to see how you can best serve. I think the tragedy is that Methodism's sometimes knee-jerked when there's been a gap, a need of a superintendent, and bunged somebody in, without them necessarily having the right gifts and attributes. [S]

Four presbyters chose never to accept further superintendency posts. One cited time-loss from his 'normal' presbyteral role: 'Superintendency for me will be a one-off affair. It is very unlikely I will do it again.'

3.2.3.3 Ordination and episkopé

Is the lack of an episcopal order in British Methodism problematic? Table 3.7 summarises responses to its possible introduction into circuit superintendency.

	Supts	Colleagues	Stewards	Total
Would support	1 (6%)	1 (8%)	5 (42%)	7 (17%)
Would not support	9 (53%)	10 (83%)	5 (42%)	24 (59%)
Don't Know	7 (41%)	1 (8%)	2 (17%)	10 (24%)
Total	17 (42%)	12 (29%)	12 (29%)	41 (100%) †
† Excludes nil response	es			

Table 3.7: Attitudes towards ordination as superintendents

Interviewees overwhelmingly rejected any reintroduction of an ordination service for superintendents.⁸⁴ This does not necessarily reject a third, episcopal, order, but would not site it in superintendents. The strongest objection was from colleagues, which confirms the tenor of responses in Table 3.3 of superintendents as being presbyters who are first among equals. Stewards were equally divided.

⁸⁴ In 1846 the three ordination services (for superintendents, elders and deacons) that Wesley had adapted from the Anglican ordinal were replaced by a single service for Ministers which combined elements from the services for elders and superintendents (*WIACS*§10).

Grounds for support were mostly that ordination recognises a person as called, gifted and trained for superintendency [5S, 2M, 7C]. 'It could work. I wouldn't want all the pomp of a bishop'[C]. Conversely, interviewees eschewed any unnecessary distinction between ministers – superintendents would no longer be 'first among equals' – or any denial of lay ministry. [3S, 4M, 3C]

As soon as you have a hierarchy of presbyteral ministries, you assume there is a difference in kind. [M]

Superintendency is merely a time-limited functional role, and is not ontological [6S, 3M, 1C]. One steward sat back in astonishment at the whole notion! Several interviewees mentioned their appreciation of the extra question in the Welcome Service (*MWB*:359) which is asked of superintendents and 'could be strengthened.'

Two interviewees spoke of the still-prevailing 'historic expectations of awe' concerning the status of the superintendent:

I can't imagine some of them [using the superintendent's first name] – always this great reverence, one step down from God. [C]

Some people still look to the superintendent with some regard ("Do you know, we didn't get many here, and it was the Super preaching!") That's helpful and unhelpful in the same breath, really .[S]

But superintendents themselves saw a change in attitudes

I think the number of people who look up to the superintendent in a respectful – almost unhealthily respectful – way is lessening. I think it's probably a generational thing. [S]

What if there were *no* requirement for a superintendent to be ordained? Could a layperson be appointed to a merely functional office? Table 3.8 summarises responses.

	Supts	Colleagues	Stewards	Total
Yes	3 (17%)	7 (58%)	6 (50%)	16 (38%)
No	11 (61%)	3 (25%)	5 (42%)	19 (45%)
Don't Know	4 (22%)	2 (17%)	1 (8%)	7 (17%)
Total	18 (43%)	12 (29%)	12 (29%)	42 (100%) †
† Excludes nil responses				

Table 3.8: Attitudes towards lay superintendents

Of those expressing a preference, the majority opposed the appointment of lay superintendents. However, this majority relies heavily on superintendents' objections; colleagues and stewards were less likely to object to lay superintendents. Perhaps colleagues viewed this from the perspective of superintendency offering oversight of the *circuit*, rather than the *local churches*, so any lack of ordained status of the superintendent would not affect the fact that they, the local presbyter, offered ordained leadership where it was needed.

Arguments for were theological:

- Lay people could also be called by God.[2S, 1M, 4C]
- Ministry is a partnership. [4S, 1M, 2C] (A ministerial vicesuperintendent, separating management from pastoral care, was suggested).
- Lay-people can be trained theologically and bring broader experience.[2S, 2M, 1C]

and pragmatic:

- Could use a different title, such as bursar.[1C]
- Having a lay chair for a Circuit Meeting was working well in one circuit.[1C]
- Would have more time if they did not preach.[1M]

Arguments against were also theological:

- The pastoral, theological and sacramental would be missing.[9S, 6M, 7C] 'Having a presbyter in the role of chair can sometimes mean that you "chaplain" as well as chair a committee.'[S].
- There is an "ontological" dimension to superintendency as it is part of a life-long calling to the pastoral office.[4S, 1M, 1C]
- Presbyters are called to collegially reflect theologically and this would exclude lay superintendents.[4S, 1C]
- Oversight should be shared, not handed over.[1S]
- Laypeople would not be appointed by the Conference.[1M]

and pragmatic:

- Laypeople do not understand the pressures of ministry.[5S, 3M, 4C]
- Laypeople would not have the time to do it on a voluntary basis, and would be more expensive than presbyters.[1S, 5C]
- Laypeople would not accept the oversight.[1M, 4C]
- Presbyters would not accept the oversight.[1S, 1M]
- Too great a cultural change.[3S, 1M]
- The loss of the different viewpoint and the limited timescale which itinerancy brings.[3S]
- There is a dearth of laypeople wanting to exercise leadership.[1M]

3.2.3.4 Shared episkopé (Team)

Interviewees gave their opinions of Team Superintendency (Table 3.9). Team roles needed clarity, or teams failed. People generally preferred one figurehead in leadership.

The circuits which were planning for mission partnership were looking forward to working together, but recognised the challenge for Team Superintendency and the need to define roles (which is a functional approach), which did not work well if there were communication or personality problems. The same comments applied to two-minister circuits.

	Supts. (19)	Colleagues (11)	Stewards (12)	Total (42)
Yes, in theory	21% (4)	27% (3)	17% (2)	21% (9)
Yes, it works	5% (1)		8% (1)	5% (2)
No, in theory	58% (11)	64% (7)	67% (8)	62% (16)
No, it did not	16% (3)	8% (1)	8% (1)	12% (5)
work				

Table 3.9: Attitudes towards and experiences of Team Superintendency

3.2.3.5 'Separation' for episkopé?

Larger circuits in other Districts were 'separating' superintendents from local pastoral charge in order to 'free them up' for superintendency. Table 3.10 shows responses to this possibility.

Table 3.10: Attitudes of welcome towards 'separated' superintendency

	Supt (16)	Colleague (13)	Steward (14)	Total (43)
No	31% (5)	46% (6)	50% (7)	42% (18)
Yes	44% (7)	46% (6)	29% (4)	40% (17)
Maybe	19% (3)		21% (3)	14% (6)
Don't Know	6% (1)			2% (1)
Irrelevant		8% (1)		2% (1)

There was a fairly even divide between those who expressed an opinion on separated superintendency (though on balance it was rejected). Superintendents were more in favour than others. Some were concerned about the cost, but I asked them to address the principle. The overwhelming reasons against were superintendents 'losing touch' with the churches by not having their own church ('It wouldn't be separated, it would be detached'[S]), and the loss of the pastoral role of the presbyter. (It was acknowledged that superintendents could focus pastoral care on

other staff). One steward said the decision was entirely context-specific for each circuit.

Arguments in favour centred on the superintendent being freed to think about the circuit as a whole, losing the secondary role of local minister. One superintendent highlighted the tension between these two roles, noting that his colleagues would 'fight 'their' churches' corner' against the circuit in a Circuit Meeting, but as meeting chair he could not do the same for his 'own' churches.

Separation would permit 'visitation' and, indeed, the smaller churches would see more of the superintendent, and be more connected. There would be the opportunity for a missional, coaching and teaching role. A non-separated Chair commented that there could be problems of oversight – would the local minister leave gaps for the superintendent to preach, or would the superintendent plan themselves first?

Others argued for another benefit: it would make the District redundant.

3.2.3.6 Summary of Broader Thinking

A large minority (42%) of superintendents argued that workload and stress, and the amount of administration they had to do, were hindrances to their superintendency. Others who cited people's negativity, disagreements and resistance to change, may have been expressing results based on their own leadership style. District Superintendent Meetings could be both helpful and unhelpful, depending on their perception of either peer support or competition. I note that only two superintendents cited books as helpful, and only one related his personal spirituality with his superintendency. A majority had found the connexional Superintendents' Course helpful. (3.2.3.1)

Despite some interviewees arguing for a discernment of personal vocation to superintendency, many interviewees expressed dissatisfaction with the selection process and system for stationing ministers as superintendents (which is covert). Four presbyters had experienced superintendency and discerned that they would never exercise it again. (3.2.3.2) Interviewees rejected ordination of superintendents to the ministry of oversight. The strongest objection was from colleagues. Negative perceptions of bishops prevailed. The possibility of lay superintendents was more acceptable to colleagues and stewards; superintendents themselves were against the idea. (3.2.3.3)

Interviewees generally argued against team superintendency in theory. Those who had experienced it in practice were more than twice as likely to say that it did not work. It was felt that clarity of role was needed, and that people generally prefer one figurehead. (3.2.3.4)

Interviewees were almost equally divided over the possibility of separated superintendency, but the balance was against it: superintendents needed to be rooted in the pastoral role. (3.2.3.5)

3.3 The Practice of Superintendents

This section sets out the concrete reality of superintendency in the contemporary, multi-faceted and individual experience of my interviewees. It presents data which answers another part of my first research question: 'How is the role of the superintendent presbyter currently practised in MCGB?'

I describe practice in order to 'hear' the operant voice in the conversation. I am seeking in my thesis to advance knowledge of superintendency and to elicit learning about aspects of practice which have not been known before (Cameron *et al.* 2010:103). Thus, aside from my *own* learning, there is in my data as a whole an academic learning about the practice of superintendency, as this is the first time research of this nature has been undertaken into British superintendency (section 1.5). I note that the description of practice is my description based on the description of my interviewees, but the use of many interviews contributes to the reliability of the data.

How does superintendency operate? What concrete challenges are superintendents facing?

3.3.1 The Role in General

There are two aspects of how I present the data relating to the general role: leadership (3.3.1.1) and policy-making (3.3.1.2).

3.3.1.1 Leadership

I asked in what ways interviewees had seen superintendents they had known exercising leadership. Thus the objective population being considered in order to answer this question was at least 123 superintendents (including, for superintendents, themselves) (Table 3.11). These include 'known' past superintendents, as distinct from the 'sample' current (or recently active) superintendents whom I interviewed. Figures, though broadly indicative, cannot be used to securely define any proportions, as interviewees did not necessarily describe the practice of every superintendent they had known; nevertheless they are indicative of the lived practice deemed worthy of mention by interviewees. It is worth noting that extremely good or extremely poor superintendents are more likely to be remembered and commented upon.

Note that Table 3.1 addresses the general role of superintendent, thus answers are more abstract than those of Table 3.11: in Table 3.11 specific 'known' superintendents are called to mind by interviewees.

Attribute	Superintendents	Superintendents negatively
	positively cited	cited
Collaborative leadership	14	5 (No collaboration)
		1 (Collusion with some staff)
'Delegates' part of functions	12	1 (No delegation)
Facilitator, coach, supporter,	11	1 (Poor mentoring)
enabler		
Inspirational / enthusiastic	10	2 (No leadership)
leadership		
Focused with clear agenda	10	2 (No clear agenda)
Leadership to seek vision	9	8 (No search for vision)
Spiritual / theological	8	1 (Theological reflection
leadership		not welcomed)
Laissez-Faire / relaxed	7	2 (Too laissez-faire)

Table 3.11 Ways in which Superintendents exercise leadership

Collegial leadership	7	3 (Irregular staff meetings)
		2 (Power-struggle with
		colleagues)
Listener	6	2 (Ignores others)
Promoted in-house	6	
Administrator / Manager	5	
Intervenes locally where	5	2 (Conflict-avoidant)
necessary		
Business-like / bureaucratic	4	
Participates in team	4	
superintendency		
Allocates resources for	4	1 (Resources not discussed)
ministry		
Leads by example	4	
Authoritarian / no collaboration	4 (Decisive)	7 (Too authoritarian)
Impatient with slow		4
collaborators		
Leading strategic thinking /	4	
proactive		
Directive leadership	4	
Promotes experiment and risk-	4	
taking		
Takes lead from connexional	3	1 (Scant regard for connexion)
strategy		
Gentle leadership	3	2 (Manipulative/ruthless)
Undertakes regular visitation of	3	1 (Not done)
churches		
Encouraging training	3	
Leadership to serve social need	2	
Consultation before sole	2	
decision		
Change-leadership	2	
Persuasive leadership	2	1 (Authority rejected)
Influencing appointments	2	
Supervisor	1	1 (Poor supervision)

Table 3.11 shows that superintendents' practice of leadership varied greatly, but that collaborative leadership was cited most (as it was in the 'open' answers in Table 3.1). Similarly, superintendents were cited as delegating some of their duties.⁸⁵

I notice, however, that out of all superintendents cited, one in four did not work collaboratively. Collaboration is mentioned also at the foot of the table where eleven superintendents were cited as being authoritarian and lacking collaboration (although this was not deemed a negative characteristic when 'decisive' leadership was sought). An examination of similar characteristics on the table shows that collegial leadership had an even higher proportion of negative citation of 5 out of 12 (40%). One in four cited superintendents did not listen to others or were impatient with slow collaborators. Superintendents cited as exercising gentle leadership were almost matched by those described as manipulative or ruthless (but there were few cases cited of either). So my data suggests that collaboration *does* happen, but there is possibly a considerable number of examples where it does *not* happen.

Where it did happen, collaborative leadership took place mostly in regular staff meetings (67% were held monthly, 20% were weekly) and CLT meetings (which were generally less frequent than staff meetings). In the smaller circuits staff meetings tended to be infrequent, as the absence of one person for holidays or a funeral had a greater impact on the value or possibility of meeting.

In an apparently small number of cases a hierarchical stance was taken by the superintendent so the inclination for open sharing in the staff meeting was diminished.

Laissez-faire collegial *episkopé* was offered over local churches primarily through the local minister and circuit stewards. Does this imply that in local churches *episkopé* is devolved rather than shared – notwithstanding the (few) cases of local intervention by the superintendent where necessary? (See sections 3.2.2.1 and

⁸⁵ The notion of delegation is based on the espoused understanding, rather than the normative understanding of what a superintendent should do (as noted in the introduction to section 3.2.2).

3.2.2.4.) There is certainly a possibility that superintendents could have *less* knowledge about local churches than do the circuit stewards, who attend the church councils. Does this diminish their influence? And is it possible that local ministers can feel abandoned by superintendents who are too *laissez-faire*?

'Titular'* superintendencies could be 'light-touch' (often with no staff meetings) with the local ministers undertaking some of the superintendent's work.

In one ecumenical area, where a non-Methodist minister led the circuit but could not for legal/governance reasons be superintendent, the allocation of tasks with the non-leading superintendent had taken considerable negotiation. This separation of personal leadership and oversight of the circuit from the governance tasks of a superintendent raises an interesting question: can the superintendent exercise full personal *episkopé* if governance and management are separated from leadership?

A similar question arises with regard to 'team superintendency': I found that task-sharing between the joint superintendents led to a lack of joined-up thinking and confusion as to who was in charge at meetings.

Both the enabling and spiritual leadership roles appear to be more evident in Table 3.11 than in Table 3.1, but, though inspirational/visionary leadership was mentioned, almost as many 'known' superintendents were cited as not enabling their circuit to seek vision.

'Known' superintendents who were described with pleasure by interviewees inspired and created space for imagination, guiding the development of vision and the sharing of ideas, animating discussion and enabling circuits to review their life, and facilitating, supporting and resourcing the implementation of ideas. Two-thirds of my 'sample' superintendents (Table 3.1) encouraged vision-articulation and rationally-assessed risk-taking, but does the lower figure for 'Leads circuit's vision' in Table 3.1 reflect that half the time they allowed *colleagues* to take the lead in vision-seeking, and were not seen to be leading it themselves? One DDE spoke of a superintendent who was very

enabling, being able to give other people a framework within which to work; not being the unique owner of vision, but being able to see beyond what's always happened to something that might be different in the future.

The ability of superintendents to be focused with a clear agenda was cited positively much more than negatively, but few superintendents were cited as proactively leading strategic thinking and change.

3.3.1.2 Developing Circuit Policies

Nine superintendents (60%) were seen to proactively develop circuit polices; six (40%) were seen as reactive/passive. A Chair commented that superintendents would go to meetings

with some clear ideas of where *they* believe the circuit should be going, most of whom are wise enough to consult – some of whom don't and live to rue the day. Others would go without any clear idea at all, but would be very open to hear what others are wanting to say, and would then play their full part in implementation. And some who would just ask the question "What's a policy?"

Some policies were merely about maintenance:

Almost a fear, if anything different was suggested [M].

Too much routine business often prevented creative vision in meetings; 'time seems to kill everything off, we're all so busy'[S]. Local church diversity inhibited some circuit-wide policies. Two superintendents held concurrent circuit committee meetings as a matter of policy, with the unintended consequence of diminishing participation by churches unable to send representatives for every committee.

Yet proactive superintendents were commended:

He's been the prime mover. [C]

He's always thinking ahead to what we should be changing. [C]

Dynamism was sometimes personality-related, but some superintendents were adept at summarising open discussions:

He's happy to take on board other people's ideas and shuffle them. [M]

Area of Activity	Policy
· · · ·	Response to environmental factors (eg
	new housing estate or new motorway)
	Mission projects (Street Pastors, food
	banks): active response
	Mission funding: obtaining grants and
Las daugh in in Missian	allocating reserves
Leadership in Mission	Balancing church-orientated and
	community-orientated work: employing
	staff
	Evangelism: initiating events
	Congregation-planting: encouraging staff
	to do this (eg Messy Churches)
	Plan-making: responding to diminishing
Ministry of the Word	resources
whilistry of the word	Circuit services: agreeing frequency
	Youth Services: introducing them
	Holy Communion presidency: who
	decides who presides?
Ministry of the Sacrament	Baptisms: when to offer infant
	dedication as an alternative
	Covenant Services: when they occur
	Ministerial staffing and pastoral
	responsibilities (including team ministry)
Ministry of Co-ordination	Circuit use of individual minister's gifts
	Hospital visiting: to reduce duplication
	Ecumenical working
	Learning and development: proactive
Training	policies
	Training opportunities: allocating funds
	for external courses
Commissioner of ministry	Lay staffing provision: funding and
	recruitment
	Church Council agenda standardisation
	Meeting times Communications
	Data-collection concerning churches
Governance	Funeral and wedding fees Chaplaincy income pooling
	Resources and buildings
	Approved tradespersons
	Safeguarding
	5 5
	Lay staff terms of service

Table 3.12: Policies developed by superintendents

Ideas were tested collaboratively in staff and CLT meetings before bringing them to the Circuit Meeting. Some used published resources to help their policy discussion – the *Healthy Circuits Handbook* (Johnson *et al* 2011); *Mission-Shaped Ministry* (2013); or the URC's *Vision4Life* (2013). Table 3.12 lists (non-hierarchically) policies mentioned by interviewees.

Thus some policies concerned the response to changed environments; others aimed to agree the approach to routine business.

Interviewees from all but one circuit described circuit-level policy-making as being 'a shared thing'[S] taking place in the CLT (see section 3.2.4.2). Reviews of circuit life were described as *circuit* reviews, not as *superintendent's* reviews, and usually took place reactively due to financial pressures. Conciliar oversight resulted from

on-going conversations between ministerial staff, circuit stewards, and then the individual representatives of churches.[S]

Discussions took place at various circuit-level meetings, though policy discussion was not always inclusive. In one circuit, stewards made decisions without consulting the staff or the superintendent.

In another circuit,

the honest truth is it's the Staff Meeting [where] you make most progress with the conversation.[S]

Although this superintendent took staff ideas to the CLT for further discussion the Circuit Meeting simply received a report and 'if anyone asks a question we'll answer it.'[S]

Perhaps policy discussion was easier in CLT meetings rather than in the much larger Circuit Meetings? It was perhaps easier still in the more frequent staff meetings: discussion there would (possibly unthinkingly) exclude stewards. What are the implications for power relationships and for who drives the agenda?

One reason for making decisions in smaller groups might simply be because collaborative decision-making 'sometimes takes a long time'[S].

At local church level, superintendents gave more energy to the churches where they themselves had pastoral charge. Their impact on *other* local churches depended on their ability to inspire and empower colleagues.

3.3.1.3 Summary of the Role in General

Superintendents generally exercised some sort of practical leadership of the circuit. Leadership styles varied, but many superintendents worked collaboratively (rather than in an individual capacity) to manage and maintain the work of the circuit and to encourage 'vision-seeking'. Collaborative working was diminished by the leadership stance taken by a minority of superintendents. Even if superintendents personally did not feel able to lead any vision-seeking in the circuit, some enabled others with appropriate gifts to take the lead. However, superintendents generally concentrated on managing existing local circuit policies, with occasional reference to the wider connexion, and were *laissez-faire* regarding local churches. Generally, the circuit's work was co-ordinated by collaborative staff and CLT meetings, which were more frequent with colleagues than stewards, and which had focused agendas concentrating in the main on routine business. Occasionally, decisions were made by staff or stewards without consultation with the others.

The task of monitoring and overseeing the circuit seemed to be reactive rather than proactive. There appeared to be devolved *episkopé* as local ministers led their own churches' decision-making, and superintendents oversaw circuit staff members rather than the circuit's individual churches. Local church diversity prevented some circuit-wide policies from being suggested or implemented.

Experience of team superintendency indicated that it was easier to share governance and management tasks than leadership.

I have raised questions about the practice:

• Were superintendents more likely to maintain the *status quo* than implement change? Is the identification of a person as a leader dependent on what they have changed rather than maintained?

- Does the apparent devolution of personal oversight to local ministers mean that that oversight of churches is no longer exercised? Do presbyters expect that they themselves will represent the connexion as much as the superintendent?
- How does the separation of governance and management tasks from leadership, and the practice of collaborative oversight, affect personal *episkopé*? Does collaboration diminish personal leadership?
- What are the implications for power relationships and for who drives the agenda when staff and stewards make decisions in separate meetings?

I will return to these questions in the next chapter.

3.3.2 Specific tasks

Having described the role in general, I now examine particular tasks undertaken by superintendents.

But first, I look at the task-list as a whole. I asked interviewees what they thought was most important in the superintendent's role and what they saw superintendents spend (or what they themselves as superintendents spent) most time doing.

Table 3.13 presents a great deal of data in one table. For each superintendent in my sample (the rows headed S1 to S15) plus a small number of previous superintendents where data was offered (the row marked 'Other') I tabulate the perceived order of tasks elicited by asking what people thought was most important (the sub-row marked 'E' = Espoused) and what superintendents said they actually spent most time on or were observed spending most time on or emphasising by others (the sub-row marked 'O' = Operant).

In the table cells I show who offered the data: S = Superintendent, M = minister/colleague, C = circuit steward; subscript numerals distinguish two members of the same interviewee type commenting on one particular superintendent (so, for example, two colleagues commented on S2).

It can be seen from Table 3.13 that where a superintendent expressed something as important, for only four tasks across all the circuits did they report that they were able to prioritise that task (e.g. S1 managed to visit the churches, which she also thought was her most important task). Thus for most tasks, superintendents expressed that what they thought was most important was not what they spent most of their time doing. This disconnect implies that superintendents do not, are not able to, fulfil their own expectations. There were nine cases of colleagues and stewards reporting that they saw superintendents prioritising tasks which superintendents had not themselves reported as an e priority (on the table this is shown as a 'C' or 'M' in the 'O' sub-row where there is no 'S' in either sub-row). No superintendents believed that "Discipline and Good Order" was most important. No stewards believed that "Visitation of the churches" was most important.

Supt		Worship	Evangm	Theoly	Policy	D'pline	Care	Visitatn	Train
S1	Е	С	S M C		М			S	S
	0		М	S	S M		С	S	
S2	Е		S	M ₁	С	M_1M_2C	M_1M_2C		
	0	M_1M_2					M ₂	M_1M_2C	
S 3	E			S					
	0	S	M C				С	S	
S4	Е				S M C			S	
	0					С	M C	М	
S5	Е			S M C	S		S		
	0				M C		С		
S 6	E		S		С	М	М		
	0	S M C	M_1M_2C		M_1M_2C	С			
S 7	E				S		S C		
57	0	S			S		С		
S 8	E	S	С		М				
50	0	M C				S	S		
S 9	E	М	S	S			S C	М	
57	0	S C					S M		
S10	E	M ₂	S		С				
210	0	M_1	M ₂		M ₂			С	
S11	E	S	С		S M		S		М
	0				С		М		
S12	E		M ₂	S C	S				
~12	0	M_1	M ₁	С	С				
S13	Е	С	S M C						
	0	S	М		S	S			
S14	E				S		С		
	0	C	С		S				
S15	Е				S				S M
	0				М				
Other	E				S_1S_2M	М	S M		
	0	С	C		M_1M_2C	М	M C	С	
Total	E	2S 2M 2C	6S 3M 4C	4S 2M 2C	9S 5M 4C	0S 3M 1C	5S 4M 4C	2S 1M 0C	2S
	0	5S 5M 5C	0S 6M 4C	1S 2M 1C	4S 7M 5C	2S 1M 2C	2S 5M 6C	2S 2M 3C	
Note:	S2 s	ays their () is admini	stration –	which is n	ot a choice	offered of	n the table	•
		3							

Table 3.13 Espoused and operant importance of tasks

I place the totals in Table 3.13 in a hierarchy in Table 3.14. The columns headed E_S , E_M and E_C are the espoused rankings of the three groups of superintendents, colleagues and stewards respectively; O is the total ranking given by the combined

evidence of the three groups, concerning the operant practice of superintendents; "Ranked E" is the average espoused ranking of the three groups; and "Overall rank" averages all rankings.

	Е	Б	E _C	0	Ranked	Overall
	E _S	E_M	ĽС	0	Е	rank
Worship	5	5	4	3	5	4
Evangelism	2	3	1	4	2	3
Theology	4	5	4	7	4	6
Policy	1	1	1	2	1	1
Discipline	8	3	6	6	6	8
Staff Care	3	2	1	1	2	2
Visitation	5	8	7	5	8	6
Training	5	5	7	8	6	4

Table 3.14: Ranking of Tasks

Table 3.14 shows that all three groups believe that "developing circuit policy" is the most important task. On average, "encouraging evangelism" and "pastoral care of staff" are next in importance. However, superintendents in practice prioritise "pastoral care of staff", then "developing circuit policy". "Visitation of the churches" is seen as least important, especially by colleagues: perhaps due to their desire for the superintendent not to interfere.

It is interesting to note the order of duties described by of one colleague:

You could call the superintendent a chief administrator plus somebody that is attempting evangelical work in an area.

Interviewees found difficulty in distinguishing engagement with evangelism as a superintendent rather than a presbyter. Most interviewees identified evangelism as locally-based, with *encouragement* from the circuit/superintendent.

Most superintendents commented on the formal task of visitation: it was 'a source of great guilt' and 'a ridiculous expectation'; visitation could only be done by 'separated' superintendents, without their own Section [2S].

Table 3.15 shows the Spearman rank order correlation coefficients for the different interviewee types. These indicate the level of agreement between the interviewee types, where +1.00 is total agreement, and -1.00 is total disagreement. I note slight positive agreement between the rankings – however, only two comparisons are statistically significant: E_C compared with O (significant at the 97½% level); and E_S compared with E_C (significant at the 99% level).

Ranking	Co-efficient		
E _s compared with O	0.5611		
E_M compared with O	0.5855		
E_C compared with O	0.7536		
E_{S} compared with E_{M}	0.6038		
E_{S} compared with E_{C}	0.8355		

Table 3.15 Spearman rank order correlation coefficients

The strongest significant agreement is between the espoused views of taskimportance of the circuit stewards (E_C) and the superintendents (E_S). This implies that superintendents and stewards are most likely to agree on relative taskimportance. There is also significant agreement between stewards' expectations (E_C) and superintendents' practice (O).

I comment here that the superintendent is a key player in the appointment of stewards. One superintendent spoke of recruiting

the right sort of people onto the Circuit Leadership Team so that those sorts of leadership roles fit with the direction of travel.

This could imply that superintendents are more likely to permit a person's nomination as steward if they think that that person will agree with their practice.

Does this agreement of E_C with E_S and O suggest the appointment of 'yesmen/women'?

On examining periods of service, only four stewards (29%) were appointed *after* the arrival of a superintendent – so the high correlation between their expectations cannot be a result of collusion over the stewards' appointments. Of these four stewards (S₄, S₇, S₈, and S₁₂), Table 3.14 shows that in three cases, $E_S = E_C$ for the most important task; yet in only half the cases (2) are those expectations fulfilled (i.e. $E_C = O$). The sample size is small, and the *cause* of the agreement between the superintendent and steward cannot be inferred.

Conversely, a longer-serving steward would have been involved in inviting a superintendent to serve a circuit, and is likely to invite someone whose image of superintendency as expressed in interview (which is likely to be E_S) matches their own image (i.e. the superintendent identified by the Stationing Committee as a possible match has been acceptable to the stewards because $E_S = E_C$).

Whatever the cause of the agreement, however, stewards and superintendents on the whole agreed as to which tasks are important (pastoral care of the staff, developing circuit policies, and encouraging evangelism). And that is what stewards saw the superintendents doing – even if the superintendents disagreed.

Two experienced superintendents said that the most important task was entirely contextual on the circuit and the staff mix:

I would have given you a different answer in different circuits. What you do is actually use the gifts of the members of staff to develop the total – so that it might well be that there are those within the staff who are better equipped than I am, say, to encourage evangelism. [S]

It depends on what circuit you're dealing with, and their needs. [S]

Having examined the tensions between what superintendents and others thought was most important to do, and what they actually did, or observed superintendents doing most, I now look at individual tasks in detail.

3.3.2.1 Visitation of the churches

How did superintendents know what was happening in their circuits?

Most superintendents preached around the circuit, and visited coffee mornings, fellowship meetings, concerts, flower festivals, and social care or youth projects:

If you are doing something specific, he will support it. [C]

Everybody knows [her. She] goes to coffee mornings. [C]

Spectacular at networking! I don't know how he copes, because he remembers the people as well. [M]

One superintendent had a monthly 'circuit meal' at home, inviting church and non-church people from each community covered by the circuit, which allowed informal conversation about the churches.

Specific invitations were offered for 'vision meetings' – a Chair spoke of the superintendents'

being able to share some of the vision within the wider circuit that the local minister might not be able to do or might not know

- and for development or property schemes, often offering advice on procedure.

One new superintendent was deliberately attending all the church councils once – 'I don't stay there for the whole thing – I just show my face'.

Superintendents attended church councils outside their Section for four specific reasons: supervision of a probationer (though 50% attended the probationer's first Church Council only); support of a deacon who was 'the' local minister; assisting in a crisis; and where specifically invited.

Crises included church closure (one superintendent attended a closure service though not the Church Council that had voted for it) and visiting all the churches to explain a circuit staffing reduction. Usually superintendents only attended their own church councils and did not undertake formal visitation. Two undertook annual 'virtual' visitation, by sitting down with each member of staff to fill in the online 'statistics for mission' and undertaking *in vivo* analysis of their figures once a year.

It thus appears that superintendents are willing to be seen to be visitors to churches outside their own Section; to gather information and offer support 'behind the scenes'; and to exercise power in other churches *when invited to do so*. Invitations are not common. Does this imply that superintendents' personal oversight is not generally in evidence for local churches?

3.3.2.2 Providing for worship

Providing for worship was the most public face of the superintendent's role: only two interviewees (2C) did *not* mention the making of the preaching Plan as a major way that superintendents provided for worship.

Half the superintendents made the Plan collaboratively with a colleague; 25% made it alone; 25% 'delegated' the task to colleagues, always with 'the right of amendment'. Two used software for plan-making, but colleagues and stewards criticised the 'erratic' outcome. While most were efficient at this task, two were criticised for incompetence – with 'nightmarish' double-booked churches or preachers, planning preachers for non-existent services, or planning them too often at some churches and never at others. One colleague had 'lost confidence' in the superintendent as a Plan-maker due to the number of mistakes.

All superintendents sought to preach around their circuits more than did their colleagues. In the larger circuits, churches would see their superintendents once a year. However, all superintendents prioritised their own Section over circuit-wide preaching to seek 'the huge value of continuity'[S] and 36% of superintendents rarely or never preached outside their own Section on a Sunday morning, making it impossible to visit some other congregations to lead their worship.

All superintendents gave ministers initial freedom (with occasional adjustment) to plan their Section's Holy Communion (and baptism) services, and their own pattern of preaching: ministers were planned mainly – in one circuit entirely – in

their own Sections. Their ability to preach in other churches was limited by the spaces left for them by colleagues. Most superintendents presided at Holy Communion only within their own Section.

A minority of circuits (three) used teams of preachers preaching in thematic series. All superintendents provided lectionaries as a guide, not a rule. Some churches (and LP meetings) resisted superintendents who wanted to innovate with worship provision: 'It's probably about keeping people happy.'[M]

Superintendents oversaw doctrinal preaching by awaiting complaints: 'you can only provide for the content of worship in the services that you take' [M]. They rarely heard other preachers, which raises questions about how they can help maintain the quality of worship.

A superintendent said

I do, from time to time, remind people that they are my eyes and ears in worship, and if they have problems they should come back to me.

I note two further practices which seem to be influenced by the quality of preachers:

- All circuits used LPs as a secondary source of preachers, to fill the 'gaps' after planning the ministers.
- Some churches operated 'local' plans, leaving no space for superintendents to plan other preachers, and therefore controlling who preached in their pulpit.

In accepting these practices, are superintendents also accepting that (a) congregations seem to prefer to see their (better-trained?) minister in the pulpit rather than a LP; and (b) some churches want the 'best' preachers? Both conclusions might imply that some preachers are not as 'desirable' to churches. And if so, what does that say about the superintendents' oversight of preachers? How are they maintaining the quality so that people look forward to preachers, rather than avoid them?

Most superintendents had initiated discussions about midweek worship (the Plan generally only shows Sundays) and much new midweek worship was offered –

particularly 'Messy Church' (Bible Reading Fellowship 2013) or circuit worship for 'holy days'. To address a shortage of preachers, most superintendents were urging a reduction of Sunday services rather than recruiting preachers. Four superintendents personally encouraged the use of Worship Leaders, two with locally-written training courses in preference to a connexional course – which raises questions about their approach to connexionalism. Of all church offices, superintendents gave priority to support LPs and Worship Leaders.

Superintendents with Local Ecumenical Partnerships needed to work with the different timescales of other denominations. Plan-making was a challenge in churches that wanted to have the same preacher at every service, or where the minister did not wish to preach elsewhere in the circuit, or wanted weekly services of Holy Communion. On the positive side, URC churches benefited from being provided with preachers.

3.3.2.3 Training and Enabling

Superintendents generally engaged in their own ongoing training at the District and connexional superintendents' meetings. Several superintendents raised questions about the effectiveness of the connexional training course for superintendents, as Maunder also discovered (see section 1.6.3).

Almost all training of others undertaken by superintendents concerned probationers, LPs and Worship Leaders. Specific training was given for the 'first' time probationers undertook each task; it was noted that this could take up a great deal of superintendents' time.

Superintendents were involved in enabling others' ministries: discerning vocation, training, authorising and co-ordinating ministry. However, most effort was given to training for preaching and leading worship. LP tutors and mentors worked under the superintendent's oversight. Two superintendents were LP tutors; another planned training days for preachers and worship leaders.

Beyond probationers, LPs and Worship Leaders, twelve (67%) interviewed superintendents had not themselves actively carried out any training of others, but a few superintendents had variously developed a learning and development policy; introduced grants for courses; invited external trainers; mentored interns; invited staff to share papers at staff away-days; and organised training for specific ministries: for small-group leadership, church stewards, treasurers, property secretaries, and pastoral or bereavement visitors.

Some superintendents also exerted influence to advocate the employment of youth workers or family workers; conversely, time had had to be given to those facing redundancy as funding streams ended. Most superintendents (64%) encouraged evangelistic ministry in some way – employing lay evangelists; allocating funds; encouraging new congregations (cell churches, 'Messy Church'), open-air services, evangelistic concerts, leaflet distribution, prayer-visitation, youth holidays, an arts project, or national initiatives (Handwritten Bible, sports events, 'Back to Church' Sunday, 'Mission-Shaped Ministry'). Just four colleagues (31%) said they had seen no encouragement in evangelism from any superintendent.

One superintendent offered himself as 'circuit evangelism enabler'. One 'just breathes!'[M] to encourage evangelism; another would 'beat people over the head with it'[M]; another laughed when asked what evangelism he engaged in.

Five (33%) superintendents encouraged action to serve the community: community audit training, part-time chaplaincies; or social care and world mission projects.

Most superintendents enabled theological discussions as *church ministers* in their own Section; *Circuit* Meetings and LP Meetings had little theological discussion or training input. Some superintendents used the LP Meeting *occasionally* for theological reflection, such as a session on forgiveness following a local massshooting. However, one LP Meeting voted in a superintendent's absence to end the practice of his delivering theological addresses there, arguing that "We're here for a business meeting". Of the current superintendents, just three (20%) were seen to be encouraging theological thinking (one, creatively, based the Circuit Weekend Away on a film with a theological theme). I found that just three (20%) superintendents interviewed mentioned a current theological book they were reading as an individual, rather than for a staff meeting (staff occasionally, though rarely, reflected together.) One mentioned his studies in the 1980s; another said he had read helpful books, but could not remember any titles. As one asked, 'How can we help people to think theologically if we are not thinking theologically ourselves?'

3.3.2.4 Overseeing discipline and good order

When problems arose, it appeared that 'the buck' stopped with the superintendent. Superintendents had variously intervened due to: grant-making money sought without permission; an incompetent treasurer; a non-proactive minister; a minister absenting from duties; curtailment of a ministerial appointment due to breakdown in staff relations or undertaking a 'secular' job without permission; breach of Standing Orders; drunken or indebted LPs; sexual misconduct of an LP or minister; schism over adult baptism; and preaching against Methodist doctrines (there were two cases, one preaching against infant baptism, and another preaching Hindu syncretism). Conversations concerning LPs' ministry generally only took place when specific problems arose, rather than about the 'quality' of their preaching (see 3.2.2.2 above).

Conflict avoidance was an issue: 'Keep everybody happy!'[M]. It seemed to be rare for superintendents to intervene in local churches, perhaps for fear of making things worse.

Nine (20%) interviewees saw no evidence of the superintendent actively ensuring good order – this including failing to respond to problems. One superintendent

buries his head in the sand and hopes the problem will go away – or lets other people deal with it. [M]

On one occasion the stewards had finally had to contact the Chair themselves about problems with a minister because a superintendent had failed to do so. I found cases of power being withheld for the sake of love, but thereby denying justice. Another steward felt unsupported by the superintendent over a badly-handled reinvitation. Some superintendents had acted without reference to the Standing Orders relating to complaints and discipline.

Maintaining good order included actively enabling colleagues to meet administrative deadlines [5S], though some superintendents were themselves 'a bit disorganised' [M].

Often the superintendent only entered a local church situation as a last resort when there was a problem – particularly with the local minister. However, influence could be exerted where

Behind the scenes I might have a conversation. [S]

Three superintendents had supported colleagues against local bullies. Only one superintendent was cited as intervening unhelpfully, worsening the situation.

However, another superintendent had himself been a 'dictator'[C, M]; by the end of his first year, all four circuit stewards had resigned and the Chair asked the Conference to station him elsewhere. Three interviewees [1S, 2C] spoke of the benefits of itinerancy in moving a colleague away: 'problem dealt with'.

In the one case of a ministerial resignation I found, the superintendent was involved as a pastoral supporter to the minister.

3.3.2.5 Pastoral care of the staff

Around one-third of interviewees (of all types) mentioned pastoring the staff as a function of superintendency (Table 3.1). Some superintendents took staff to lunch or were available for advice, along with regular texting or telephone calls and the sending of cards and flowers, and ensuring stewards dealt with manse problems. Though one in five superintendents were not cited as undertaking any visiting, eight superintendents (42%) actively sought to give each staff member one-to-one sessions, though only three (16%), *in smaller circuits*, were *systematic* in their care. Seven superintendents (37%) were cited as good at *crisis*-visiting. Support was also given by superintendents who checked that rest was being taken: one colleague's superintendent telephoned him on his rest day in order to reprimand him if he

answered. Most superintendents treated lay employees in the same way as ministers; two superintendents expected others to care for lay employees.

Two superintendents facilitated *collegial* pastoral care in the staff meeting and therefore colleagues were expected by some to prioritise this meeting in its entirety. This was burdensome for colleagues working in two circuits, neither of whose superintendents had thought about their requiring attendance at every meeting. Similarly, superintendents did not always remember external commitments of ecumenical colleagues who were serving the circuit. Conversely, one superintendent in a small circuit called meetings so infrequently that a colleague felt 'quite abandoned and isolated'.

The staff meeting had sometimes been a source of pastoral care but was not always a safe space:

I tried sharing in one meeting, and it didn't work. I don't know anything about anybody. We've never shared our 'journeys' or anything – there's just never been an opportunity. [C]

Outside the staff meeting, one superintendent had introduced a staff rambling group which successfully aided relationships. But in a circuit of two unmarried ministers, social events had been tried but were 'quite formal'.

Bad pastoral care was cited when superintendents had assumed that everything was alright without asking staff how things were. One expressed concern for a colleague but acknowledged that he had not visited her. A housebound colleague on long-term sickness noted that she had not been offered Holy Communion. One colleague had not had a pastoral conversation with the superintendent in three years. Another, visiting a family member in intensive care for a year, was told, 'Hopefully you won't need compassionate leave'. One superintendent inappropriately raised a complaint against a colleague when they were both attending a public gathering. Three superintendents had bullied members of staff.

There were tensions when a superintendent was blamed by a colleague for problems in the circuit:

I used to visit [him] but it took a lot of courage. [S]

Other difficulties occurred when asking colleagues to cover for sickness. [4S]

Some superintendents undertook a single annual visit to supernumeraries* in order to deliver their *Minutes* to them. Deacons, lay employees, and non-circuit ministers appreciated superintendents remembering their particular needs as this did not always happen.

Two superintendents cared for staff families only if they happened to meet them (though one superintendent had failed to recognise a colleague's spouse.) There had been no pastoral response from the superintendent to severe problems with a colleague's teenager. Some superintendents had never visited staff or their families, nor invited any to their home.

But another bought birthday and Christmas gifts from the circuit for staff children. Two organised social events for staff families.

Two colleagues had experienced a number of superintendents:

Superintendents can have a good effect on ministers and can really help and enable work to develop. Sometimes they can also have a bit of a detrimental effect as well. Good superintendents can be inspiring mentors to ministers who are learning and growing and developing.

All are managers, but some are also pastors – [I'm talking] more a pastoral heart, than the job of a pastor.

Thus superintendents varied in terms of their care for colleagues, but most care was reactive, and not systematic.

Two Chairs denied that they themselves had any pastoral responsibility for a minister's family; yet superintendents cannot pastor their own families. Where staff members were *married* to the superintendent, there was no local 'system' of caring for them. Another Chair acknowledged inconsistency:

We provide ministers with an appalling example of pastoral care of them, and then expect them to be outstanding examples of care for other people.

3.3.2.6 Summary of Specific Tasks

Superintendents are expected most importantly to develop circuit policy, care for staff and encourage evangelism. Superintendents have greater agreement with their stewards than with their colleagues on the importance of their tasks. Visitation of the churches is least expected, especially by colleagues. In practice, superintendents prioritise staff care and then circuit policy (3.3.2)

Superintendents undertook informal visitation and so represented the wider circuit to the local churches, helped them to see the circuit's presence, and enabled themselves to know, and be known by, the circuit, and to support the local minister (and intervene) where necessary. Invitations are not common and formal visitation is apparently non-existent. Does this imply that superintendents' personal oversight is not generally in evidence for local churches? (3.3.2.1)

Superintendents oversaw the making of the preaching Plan, consulting with their colleagues (who had freedom to plan themselves) and generally aiming to themselves preach (but not preside at Holy Communion) in all the circuit churches regularly where the needs of their own Section and of their colleagues did not take priority. The preferences of churches and preachers generally over-rode any centralised provision. Problems with the lack of supply of preachers were generally resolved by dealing with the demand for preachers on a Sunday, rather than recruitment: this included encouraging the introduction of non-Sunday services. Innovation with Sunday worship was sometimes resisted. Superintendents found it easier to encourage the recruitment of Worship Leaders than LPs. I have raised questions about the use and quality of LPs (and hence questions about the superintendents' oversight of preachers), and the balance of local- versus circuit-planning of preachers. (3.3.2.2)

Generally, superintendents themselves attended connexional and District superintendents' meetings in order to receive support and training. Superintendents ensured that training occurred for probationers, LPs and Worship Leaders; training for other roles in the church was carried out by one in three superintendents, mainly concerning mission and outreach. Some superintendents were proactive in advocating the employment of evangelistic workers, and most superintendents enabled evangelism across the circuit in some way. Superintendents did not generally engage in helping the *circuit* to think theologically and, indeed, few were developing themselves in this area (3.3.2.3)

Superintendents generally oversaw discipline and good order in circuits, though some tried to avoid difficult situations, and when they did act did not always please all parties with their actions, or act wisely. Oversight of doctrine, good order and discipline was generally reactive. It was rare though not unknown for the superintendent themselves to be the cause of problems. (3.3.2.4)

A large minority of superintendents *sought* to give one-to-one pastoral care to their staff, but most did not generally personally undertake systematic pastoral care for their colleagues and colleague's families. Others' care was reactive, being offered in response to particular problems, and, when offered, was usually appreciated, but not always helpful. One in five superintendents was cited as not undertaking any visiting. The staff meeting was not generally used as a place for mutual care (3.3.2.5).

3.3.3 Maintaining Connexion

I consider two facets of connexionalism: that which connects the circuit to wider Methodism, and that which connects its constituent churches to one another.

3.3.3.1 External Connexion

Table 3.1 shows that half the stewards – though only one-quarter of superintendents and fewer colleagues – mentioned that they expected the superintendent to represent the wider connexion (see section 3.3.1.1). I asked superintendents how they learned of the Conference's decisions (Table 3.16).

Source of Information	Number of supts. citing source		
	100% (18)		
The General Secretary's Report 2011	37% (7)		
Connexional website	26% (5)		
Synod	26% (5)		
Read the Methodist Recorder	21% (4)		
Information from Superintendents' Meetings	16% (3)		
Read the Conference Agenda	11% (2)		
Read the <i>Minutes</i> of the Conference	11% (2)		
Information from Chair or District Officers	11% (2)		
Social networking chat-rooms	11% (2)		
Watched the Conference on the Internet	5% (1)		
Methodist News Service	5% (1)		
Over to You (a summary encouraging local	5% (1)		
discussion of Conference statements) had been			
helpful			

Table 3.16: Utilised Sources of Connexional Information

The biggest source of input from the Connexion was the 2011 General Secretary's Report (Atkins 2011), cited by 37% of the superintendents. This report had had a much higher profile than in previous years, and the Conference had specifically asked for it to be discussed in every circuit, hence its prominence in this answer. One superintendent admitted that, though using themes from the report, he had never actually read it, relying on others' summaries: I'm aware that a lot of people are pushing it, which makes me think, "Actually this must be a really good report." I'm pushing it, and saying how important and dynamic and radical it is compared to previous years. [S]

(This was itself evidence of the normative influence of other superintendents' practice.)

A Chair commented on Circuit Meetings he had attended:

Some proceed as though Conference and District don't exist, and others actually have a presentation on the decisions of Conference, and on what the Synod has decided: "Now what are we going to do in response?"

One in five superintendents read the *Methodist Recorder*, which is a newspaper independent of the connexion (and therefore subject to the vagaries of editorial control):

The difficulty is that I don't think the Connexion's very good at communicating [policies] to superintendents. They assume still that everybody reads the *Methodist Recorder*. [S]

The weekly Methodist News Service was used sparingly – deleted, rarely forwarded; one superintendent filed its emails into a folder – unread.

I noted the practice of 22 superintendents concerning the discussion of connexional policies with colleagues and stewards: 8 of them (36%) paid no or little attention to the decisions of the Conference:

Being entirely reactive, and then only when necessary. [S]

You'd get the report and then you'd work out what the hell you'd do with it, really. It was a reactionary rather than a proactive response. [M]

Another superintendent used reports to stimulate theological discussion in the staff meeting. Three superintendents had specifically worked through *Our Calling* (MCGB 2000b) in their circuits. One superintendent cited problems with the Conference statement on Freemasons (MCGB 1985) when he had a church which was 'packed with them'. In an ecumenical area, denominational statements of the Conference or URC General Assembly were deemed of limited applicability and therefore non-prescriptive.

One superintendent used the internet to keep himself

fairly well-briefed on Methodist Council papers and stuff that's coming up to Conference. [S]

Two superintendents commented that they used Conference information themselves, though they did not discuss it with colleagues. One superintendent distributed the annual *CPD* to his colleagues ten months after its publication: perhaps this timescale is indicative of its importance to him. It seemed that most 'muddled through'. Only four of them cited *CPD* as an influence on their superintendency. Several superintendents told me of instances where they actively ignored Standing Orders.

However, one superintendent said he 'never' filtered connexional information, and passed it all on to his circuit.

The key role of the Superintendents' Meeting as a conduit of information is therefore highlighted. When he or she understood connexional thinking well, the superintendent was able to be effective as the focus for connexionalism in the circuit.

Interviewees spoke of the challenge of connexionalism in particular isolating circumstances. *Geographical* challenges from remote islands and large circuits with inordinate travelling-time required special care for staff. *Language differences* also isolated congregations and ministers from superintendents. *Single-station* superintendencies (i.e. sole minister) were similarly isolating.

Mapping a Way Forward (Deeks 2006), a paper focusing on reorganisation, had been discussed by every superintendent, even in circuits where no amalgamations had happened. Two circuits were considering entering into a partnership. Concerning amalgamation, one experienced steward said:

I know too little about our adjoining circuits to be able to comment [C].

Nevertheless, superintendents ensured that governance decisions were made by the relevant bodies (they chaired most meetings within the circuit). Some continued to use the recommended meeting agendas which were formerly printed in *CPD*, despite these being removed after 1996 so that the connexion was no longer micromanaging local agenda items. Superintendents made statistical returns and completed other reports and schedules – for stationing of ministers, reporting on probationers, and for finance and property. Superintendents had advised on stationing ministers; appointing, managing and appraising staff; charitable status; and on building projects. They oversaw Safeguarding and had been asked for consent for the use of Methodist premises for non-Methodist worship. They ensured sabbaticals and appraisals occurred.

3.3.3.2 Connecting the Circuit

Most superintendents attempted to keep the circuit connected by communicating with local churches. Table 3.17 shows methods used.

Method	Number of circuits	Percentage		
Local church magazines	10	67%		
Superintendent personally	7	47%		
Email network	6	40%		
Administrator	6	40%		
Printed newsletter	5	33%		
Meetings	4	27%		
Circuit plan/directory	4	27%		
Website	4	27%		
Facebook	1	7%		

Table 3.17 Communication Methods

The superintendent's preaching around the circuit also enabled communication. Interviewees identified poor communication in eight (53%) circuits. Newsletters were left unread on vestry tables or at the back of churches; one had 'withered on the vine'. One superintendent exercised veto rights on every article for the circuit magazine.

One circuit 'very sensibly accepted' the superintendent's lack of communication skills 'as a weakness amongst lots of strengths' and so employed a PA to assist him. 'That does help with communication, tremendously', noted his steward.

One superintendent set up a circuit website which failed on his departure from the circuit. In two circuits, volunteers had set up the websites without consultation: 'it looks amateur, and I'm not entirely happy with it'[S].

Superintendents usually relied on Circuit Meeting representatives to relay information, but even in small circuits, 'word-of-mouth is as faulty as it's useful'; 'like Chinese whispers' [2S].

You've got the same people who've gone there for so long because they're from small churches and there's nobody else who wants to be a rep. There's very few things got them animated [C]

Geography affected communication:

The blessing of this circuit is that it's small. [S]

It's got more difficult with a larger circuit. [S]

A colleague who worked in two circuits felt 'closer' to the staff in the circuit where he lived.

Two-person teams had particular difficulties. Two-minister circuits had irregular staff meetings because if one could not attend no meeting happened. In a Team Superintendency, both superintendents had learned by experience that communication had to be worked at:

We're getting liaison sorted out, but we do work in very different ways. [S]

It thus appears that intra-circuit connexionalism is also a problem. Considering also the Sectionalised ways of working and worship provision (3.2.2.2 above) this indicates that local ministers are not working or thinking circuit-wide outside of the circuit-level meetings they are required to attend. Twenty years prior to this study,

each minister had a 'circuit portfolio' such as 'Youth' or 'Ministries': no circuits in my study now adopted a portfolio approach, leaving the superintendent alone to have a circuit-wide role.

One superintendent wanted

to encourage the circuit-mindedness of the staff: the circuit has had a very parochial structure to it, in that most of the staff almost worked as "vicars in their own Section".

I was surprised by the lack of connexionalism expressed by the data.

3.3.3.3 Summary of Maintaining Connexion

Two-thirds of superintendents used a variety of means of finding out about the wider connexion and the decisions of the Conference, though no single method prevailed, and the use of such information varied. Some passed information on to their colleagues and stewards. Most superintendents passed on required information from the circuit to the connexion. Some circumstances – for example, geography – diminished connexionalism.

Superintendents found it difficult to maintain intra-circuit connexionalism and communication within all but the smallest circuits. People, including ministers *and superintendents*, seemed to prefer working at the local church and Section level rather than the circuit level. Of all the ministers, only the superintendent generally has a circuit-wide role.

3.3.4 Governance and Management

When acting in the administrative role of *episkopé*, superintendents undertook tasks related to governance and management. Administration was mentioned by 17 people [6S,4M,7C]. 'It's not an authority role: it's more of an administrative, organisational role' which is 'pretty wide-ranging' [4S; 1M].

One steward recognised his circuit's failure to provide professional

administrative support 'at the moment'; just under 50% of the superintendents had no administrative help – one acting as the circuit property steward.⁸⁶

3.3.4.1 Monitoring the circuit

Superintendents were cited as using several methods of monitoring the circuit (Table 3.18).

	Superintendents	Colleagues	Stewards
Staff meetings	11 (79%)	0	6 (43%)
Problems occurring	7 (50%)	2 (14%)	2 (14%)
Statistical returns	7 (50%)	2 (14%)	0
Listening to people	6 (43%)	1 (7%)	0
Visiting churches	5 (36%)	2 (14%)	1 (7%)
Monitoring staff	4 (29%)	0	0
Written reports	3 (21%)	2 (14%)	1 (7%)
Circuit reviews	3 (21%)	2 (14%)	0
Watching people	2 (14%)	0	0

Table 3.18 Methods cited as being used by the superintendent to monitor the circuit

Five superintendents (36%) were not seen by colleagues or stewards to monitor and assess their circuits in any way.

Although six stewards (46%) said that *staff meetings* monitored the circuit, *none* of the colleagues claimed that this happened in those meetings; the stewards themselves had no direct evidence for their statements, as they do not attend staff meetings. Stewards also cited *no evidence* of the superintendent monitoring via 'listening to people'; as there is a circuit steward on each church council, stewards share with the local minister in the circuit's *episkopé* offered over local churches, and it is the circuit stewards who thus represent the circuit at church councils.⁸⁷ Superintendents did not actively seek feedback from the circuit stewards who had

⁸⁶ Maunder (2012) found a similar case in the District he surveyed.

⁸⁷ Baker (1965:240) notes the origin of this task of 'general' (i.e. circuit) stewards.

attended church councils. Taken together, these figures perhaps indicate on the one hand how little the stewards feel involved in the management or monitoring of the circuit (no one cited the CLT as the place of monitoring), and on the other hand how little their experience of visiting church councils appears to be used in CLT meetings by their being invited to offer feedback. The information flow is thus likely only to be from the superintendent to the local church. Statistical returns were made by every superintendent, but stewards were apparently unaware of this.

In three circuits, superintendents instituted circuit reviews though they did not themselves visit local churches.

Eleven people (24%) said that often assessment only happened after complaints or failures. I note that 'Problems occurring' is not a method of monitoring but a response to information received from unspecified sources. Thus it can be inferred that such monitoring is merely reactive. Although superintendents claimed most of the monitoring happened at staff meetings, none of the colleagues mentioned that they had seen this happening. Superintendents monitored circuits by informally 'listening to people', along with 'visiting churches'.

One superintendent actively sought corroboratory evidence:

Where colleagues claim that great things are happening then I check the statistics to see if that bears that out, and it doesn't in every case! [S]

Another built in annual or six-monthly systems of review in order to assess policies 'where we've involved major changes in circuit patterns' or new projects. Another colleague said her superintendent used meeting agendas to 'make sure that we were talking about where we were going'. However one colleague spoke of the difficulties of measurement when evaluating circuit projects.

But most superintendents did not ensure actions agreed at one Circuit Meeting had been carried out before the next meeting's 'Matters Arising' revealed inaction. Most did not set time-specific goals, or set such 'impossible or vague goals' that could not be assessed. A Chair commented, Some Supers don't believe they've done anything, and they've had a huge impact; some believe that they have changed the world, and no-one would be aware of it at all.

Four superintendents specifically monitored their staff – to ensure they were not overworking, were taking their days off and holidays, and that they were monitoring their own development. All superintendents oversaw the circuit's finances by signing off the accounts – perhaps this is indicative of the practice of the District Synod publicly announcing those finances that had not been signed off, a practice known among superintendents as 'being named and shamed'.

3.3.4.2 Strategic Management

I requested a description of the superintendent's approach to strategy under both the management and the leadership questions, in order to elicit whether the answer differed by question context. It did not; indeed it was difficult to find examples of strategy implementation. One colleague complained that despite the superintendent's input in the CLT, 'nothing ever changes'.

Strategic management had however occurred during circuit amalgamations, where the need to determine policies was thereby identified.

The superintendent played a very key role. [C]

One superintendent had inspired his circuit to increase staffing, after commissioning and acting on a report of the DDE, and seeing the proposals through to fruition. Most 'strategic' thinking was actually a response to decline or unexpected events, and was therefore reactive.

Of interviewees who answered the question about the locus of executive management, most identified it as the CLT (Table 3.19).

	Supts	Colleagues	Stewards	Chairs	Total
CLT	9 (90%)	1 (25%)	7 (64%)		17 (65%)
Staff Mtg		1 (25%)			1 (4%)
Supt	1 (10%)	1 (25%)	1 (9%)	1 (100%)	4 (15%)
Stewards			3 (27%)		3 (12%)
None		1 (25%)			1 (4%)
Total	10 (100%)	4 (100%)	11 (100%)	1 (100%)	26 (100%)

Table 3.19 Locus of Executive Management

However, I found that in over half the circuits, meetings of either staff or stewards were making some decisions alone without consultation, and therefore these figures may be more espoused than operant.

Table 3.19 shows that very few superintendents tried to manage the circuit on their own: much is collegiate/conciliar. Superintendents managed meetings, people (appointing, training, resourcing, deploying, appraising), resources and communication.

Complaints by two colleagues described poor management practice:

He is the "king-pin". He is the commanding officer and we are his minions. And no one looks forward to Staff Meetings. [C]

[One superintendent] used to phone us up every morning at 9 o'clock to check what we were doing. It didn't matter if it was your day off or not. I was hopping mad after a while. [C]

A large minority (38%) of colleagues expressed dissatisfaction with superintendents' management skills.

Resource management included introducing new staff management groups and working patterns, appointing administrators, implementing building schemes and seeking grants. Most (14 or 93%) superintendents scrutinised finances and the Circuit Assessment*, and most (64%) actively argued for funding mission and evangelism projects.

Some interviewees spoke of the wise management of preaching resources, planning people in situations where they were best gifted and places which made geographical sense.

Poor resource management was exemplified by superintendents who failed to delegate, engaged in too much micromanagement, failed to appraise lay staff, or neglected contingency planning. Only one superintendent thought about the time he gave to superintendency. Two interviewees had never heard the superintendent speak about the use of resources. One superintendent was

Very much a pastoral person, not someone who talks about practicalities. There's been no lead to it. I think we're suffering from that point of view. [C]

3.3.4.3 Changes to superintendency

I asked about changes in the past decade (Table 3.20). The small number of people offering each response prevents generalisation. I include the results in the 'management' section because it will be seen that the changes identified by the largest number of interviewees can be seen to refer to the functional, administrative tasks of superintendency as being more burdensome than they were.

Quicker 'promotion' concerns the following quotation:

The expectation years ago was that you wouldn't be a superintendent for twenty years,⁸⁸ and I went to [my first circuit] as a probationer, came out nine years later having been superintendent for three years – because of the age and experience I had. [S]

I was surprised at the small number of interviewees mentioning circuit size as a factor affecting superintendency in the past decade, especially as most (75%) circuits in the District had been involved in amalgamations or enlargement during this period. Perhaps this is due to superintendency continuing to operate in the same way, despite the increased circuit size. One steward described the effect sociologically rather than numerically:

⁸⁸ Rigg (1887:232) also spoke of a twenty-year normative minimum.

Now circuits are so big, stretching over a massive wide range of different churches – whereas the smaller circuits tended to have churches of the same ilk. The superintendents now are in charge of a much wider variety of people, therefore making the job that bit more complicated. [C]

	Supts	Colleagues	Stewards	Total (46)
	(18)	(13)	(14)	
Increased legislation	26% (5)		14% (2)	15% (7)
More administration	21% (4)		7% (1)	11% (5)
Larger circuits	5% (1)	15% (2)	14% (2)	11% (5)
Safeguarding	5% (1)		14% (2)	7% (3)
Professionalisation		8% (1)	14% (2)	7% (3)
Vision expected	5% (1)	8% (1)		4% (2)
More Conference initiatives	5% (1)			2% (1)
Diminished powers	5% (1)			2% (1)
Information overload	5% (1)			2% (1)
Quicker 'promotion'	5% (1)			2% (1)
Lack of collegiality	5% (1)			2% (1)
Expected to be accessible			7% (1)	2% (1)

Table 3.20 Perceived changes in superintendency in the past decade

3.3.4.4 Summary of Management activities

Most superintendents relied reactively on second-hand accounts to discover what was happening in their circuit; they did not themselves systematically and proactively monitor the circuit. They did not actively seek feedback from circuit stewards who had attended church councils on behalf of the circuit. (3.3.4.1)

Most superintendents acted administratively rather than strategically, and when strategic thinking did happen, it often took place in the staff meeting, and therefore excluded stewards from the discussion. Strategic thinking related generally to finances – more often as a result of a lack of them, though occasionally the superintendent's advocacy of the creative use of existing funds. Contingency planning was neglected and the implementation of meeting decisions was poor. (3.3.4.2)

The increase in circuit size in recent years does not appear to be a factor in the way that superintendency operates in the Newcastle District (3.3.4.3).

3.4 Normative Influences on Superintendents

In my introductory chapter (1.7.1) I examined the two documents (*WIACS* and *CPD*) which set out what is deemed to be the normative model for the practice of superintendency. In the next chapter, I will look at the normative Methodist theology undergirding superintendency. But in this final section of my presentation of my data, I investigate what it is that superintendents *name* as their normative influences in terms of how they understand and practice superintendency. How *in practice* are they influenced by normative documents and expectations?

Cameron *et al.* (2010:54) identify the normative voice as 'that which the practising group names as its theological authority – an authority which may even stand to correct, as well as inform, operant and espoused theologies'. Such authority, they note, may also include orthopraxy, 'the traditions and practices recognized by the community over generations as being authentic to its gospel living' (p.55). With respect to superintendency, what are the sources of normative orthopraxy?

I asked interviewees what influenced them in their thinking about superintendency (Table 3.21). For non-superintendents, the focus of this question was on how *superintendents* had influenced their thinking (Appendix 9, question 6) but they also took the opportunity to note what tools superintendents and they themselves had used.

Source of influences	Supts (19)	Colleague s (13)	Steward s (14)	Total (46)	
Conference statements	79% (15)†	38% (5)	36% (5)	54% (25)	
Other superintendents	79% (15)†	23% (3)		39% (18)	
Pragmatic superintendency experience	42% (8)	8% (1)		20% (9)	
Connexional thinking	26% (5)	8% (1)	14% (2)	17% (8)	
WIACS	32% (6)	8% (1)		15% (7)	
Superintendents' course	32% (6)			13% (6)	
Superintendents' Meetings	32% (6)			13% (6)	
Books	26% (5)	8% (1)		13% (6)	
CPD	21% (4)			9% (4)	
Other denominations' practice	21% (4)			9% (4)	
Previous occupations	16% (3)			7% (3)	
Bible / spiritual vocation	11% (2)	8% (1)		7% (3)	
External training courses	11% (2)			4% (2)	
Family members	11% (2)			4% (2)	
The practical needs of the circuit	11% (2)			4% (2)	
District Chair	5% (1)		7% (1)	4% (2)	
Other circuits' practice	5% (1)			2% (1)	
Synod	5% (1)			2% (1)	
Practical theologians	5% (1)			2% (1)	
Understanding of presbyteral role	5% (1)			2% (1)	
*Note that specific questions were asked about these sources; therefore they are likely to rank higher in this table than responses not made to such 'leading questions'.					

Table 3.21: Perceived normative influences

One superintendent said he could think of *nothing* that influenced his thinking about the way he understood, or acted in, superintendency. Such influences would, for him, be subliminal at the most; he thus certainly seemed to be unaware of the processes of socialisation within an organisation or community.

No interviewee mentioned any doctrinal statements of the Conference. I note the inconsistency between Tables 3.4 and 3.21 in which 79% of superintendents spoke

of the influence of Conference statements, yet only 11% said they normally read those statements in the *Agenda*. This would indicate the use of non-written sources of information, such as discussions at Synod or the Superintendents' Meeting, and perhaps written sources (such as the Connexional website, the *Methodist Recorder*) summarising Conference statements;⁸⁹ such activities would also be covered by the description 'Connexional thinking'. I note that this echoes Shier-Jones' (2005:64-65) comments on Wesley's *Sermons* and *Notes* (Wesley 1976; 1988a) being deemed to be normative but in practice remaining unread. Only 15% of interviewees (mostly superintendents) had read *WIACS*; most stewards and colleagues had not heard of it.

Only 10 out of 27 colleagues and stewards (37%) had seen superintendents specifically refer to Conference statements in meetings, half the rate of superintendents who said that they personally had been influenced by Conference statements. However, note that I had specifically asked about Conference statements in the question to superintendents; it is thus more likely that Conference statements are less normative than the 79% figure would suggest, and perhaps the 11-15% and 37% figures referred to in the previous paragraph are better indicators of overtlyrecognised normativity.

My data thus suggests that while written statements of the Conference are held to be normative, in practice superintendents do not generally read them. The formal documents of the Conference – the *Agenda* and *Minutes* – were little read (even though as a matter or practice every circuit minister receives a copy of the latter). This suggests that the force of their normativity may be diminished by lack of use, or that such normativity is transmitted in other ways than via the actual written document.

The description 'Connexional thinking' refers to statements demonstrating vague awareness of thinking happening in the wider connexion without the identification of

⁸⁹ See the quotation in section 3.3.3.1 from the superintendent who was commending the General Secretary's Report (Atkins 2011) as being important whilst not having read it himself.

specific sources of that thinking. This could include information received, for example, at connexional and District superintendents' courses and meetings without the recollection of where that information had been received.

Other possibly normative sources of written material are books on church leadership and the practice of other Christian traditions, and formal theology. Such material, though non-Methodist, may assist reflective superintendents to amend their understanding and practice in ways in which they believe they are being faithful to God's call. But few superintendents found time to read books – one experienced superintendent said 'I don't think I've ever really felt the need'. Only two had read books on leadership: one volunteered that he had found my own Cockling (2012a) helpful. 'Ministers must be trained to lead churches, not as academic theologians.'[S]

Only three interviewees mentioned spiritual or Biblical influences on superintendency. Just two superintendents cited scripture: the Great Commission (Matthew 28:16-20), 'living a life worthy of our calling' (Ephesians 4:17-32) and the washing of the disciples' feet (John 13). I would note that such texts might speak as much to the office of presbyter as to that of superintendent. One superintendent spoke about

trying to think about what leadership is, and the kind of superintendent that I could be, and so there's been an internal dialogue about what that might mean; part of a prayer life of trying to understand what God wants from me.

This suggests that scripture is not seen as normative for the understanding or practice of superintendency. Perhaps this might be different for other roles – for example, a deacon or bishop could read passages in scripture which speak of their office in the early church and make deductions about their role today. Such a simplistic approach is not possible for a superintendent, and, it could be argued, requires more skills in theological reflection.

I note also that only 21% of superintendents saw CPD as an influence on them in their thinking about superintendency. This may reflect that much of what CPD says about superintendency (see section 1.7.1.2) is scattered throughout Standing Orders and it is thus difficult to construct a coherent description of superintendency simply by reading CPD. Most superintendents stated that they had a 'working knowledge' of *CPD*, but did not appear to know it well: most exhibited ignorance of its detailed provisions, including circuit constitutions. For example three quite experienced colleagues asserted that pastoral charge is still the prerogative of the superintendent.⁹⁰ Others thought the superintendent could still prevent the Chair from entering the circuit.⁹¹

I conclude that CPD is not used assiduously as a normative document to understand superintendency.

A third possible normative source, a synthesis of *WIACS* and *CPD*, is my own handbook for new superintendents, commissioned and published by the Discipleship & Ministries Cluster of the Connexional Team and used in 2012 and 2013 for the training of new superintendents (Cockling 2012a). This includes practical advice on the implementation of Standing Orders and the expectations of *WIACS*, but it is too new to be yet tested for its normative status. The tasks of superintendency set out in Appendix 3 are, in effect, a written summary of expected norms.

However, I conclude that though statements of the Conference and connexional communications are presumed to be normative, I present here evidence that this is not necessarily the case in practice. Superintendents, pressured by workload, do not proactively read available information. Nor do they take time to resource themselves (*WIACS*§34).

What about orthopraxy? What is the normative influence of other superintendents? One superintendent said:

I'm not sure it has ever been deliberate, but certainly I have learned an awful lot from each of the superintendents that I've served with – for good, bad and indifferent.

⁹⁰ This belief is expressly noted as erroneous in WIACS§§24, 25. See also footnote 21 [SO 425(2)]

⁹¹ Until 2005, SO425(2) required the Chair to uphold the authority of the superintendent and to 'strengthen the hand of the superintendent', i.e. defer to the superintendent when in the circuit.

Others said:

I've seen the autocrat, the collaborative minister, the gentle and unassuming. I've looked at some Supers and thought "I'm not going to be like that" and there are others from whom I learned a lot of how to do what I do now, but I also learned a lot of how I couldn't do it.

My first superintendent was like a father to me: it was a wonderful start. The Super that succeeded him after a couple of years – we just didn't hit it off. I just thought that his raison d'être was odd. He would be surprised what I learned from him.

My first two superintendents had never used quarter-days* and didn't know what they were for, and didn't encourage me to have them. And it wasn't until I had my first sabbatical [after ten years' service] when I suddenly realised that I really ought to be having them, and how useful they were. The first part of *CPD* I now show probationers to is the holiday page – it wasn't done to me – it's something I've had to realise for myself.

Other superintendents were condemned for garrulousness, egocentricity, avarice and incompetence.

In looking for role models in superintendency, one female superintendent automatically assumed that she needed mentoring by another woman. The women superintendents in the District would go out for meals together 'and shared issues or things that might be concerning us.'

One problem with relying on others' behaviour was highlighted by the superintendent who (I would argue erroneously and arrogantly) felt he did not need training to supervise others:

I can probably do supervision reasonably well anyway having received quite a bit of supervision myself. [S]

Another had never thought of having one-to-one conversations with members of staff because he had never experienced that himself.

My data suggests that superintendents are influenced by others' practice, but there is no normative influence on a theology of superintendency.

The non-mandatory superintendents' training course had been used by 13 (68%) of the superintendents (11 attended once, 2 twice). One complained that it was too

functional, another that it was too retreat-like. One colleague noted that waiting until appointment to train for superintendency is too late.

It allows you access to some of the great and the good in Methodism that you don't normally get a chance to have a conversation with or to hear. And quite simply, I've found it useful as a rest. I can't stick silent retreats. But you can deal with some theological things or you can have a pint with a group of superintendents.

The mandatory training course in *supervision* was mentioned by one superintendent as a source of change for the better in his practice.

Though only 26% found the Superintendents' Meetings in the District helpful, the meetings showcased varied practices of superintendency: 'I respect the way that he comes at it, but it's not the way I understand it'. Interestingly, no superintendents reported sharing resources or officers with neighbouring circuits.

Having presented a thick description of my data in this chapter, I now turn to speak explicitly about what it reveals theologically.

4.1 Introduction

I turn now explicitly to the formal voice in the Four Voices framework. In so doing, I aim to answer my fourth research question (section1.1): 'How do my findings affect MCGB's polity and theology of oversight? What implications are there for the future practice of superintendency?'

In presenting my theological reflections, I do so acknowledging that my framework and imagination for spiritual reflection and the theological dialect in which I speak is a product of my own theological and ecclesiological journey – what Pattison (2000b:139) notes as my 'own ideas, beliefs, feelings, perceptions and assumptions' in dialogue with my familiarity with Christian tradition – with many influences along the way.⁹² Using this personal contextual theology, I present my theological reflections on the situation of Methodist superintendency. These reflections incorporate the final data which helps to me to answer how the role of the superintendent minister is understood – the normative theological voice of MCGB.

4.2 Interpreting the Data

In the previous chapter I set out how the superintendent's role is understood and practised in Methodist circuits. I now turn to my second research question: 'How coherent is the superintendent's role with the traditions of the Methodists and the church in general?' What is *affirmed* between normative and espoused expectations of superintendents and how superintendency actually operates? Conversely, where

⁹² See my autobiographical notes in section 1.8.2.

are the *tensions* between the espoused, operant and normative perspectives, and, indeed, between the espoused voices of the different types of participant?

This interpretative task includes identifying the 'gaps' or 'fractures' between the espoused and operant theologies (Cameron *et al.* 2010:104; Watkins and Cameron 2012:72). Nevertheless, I seek *inductively* to ask what *operant theology* is revealed by the data (Cameron *et al.* 2010:98-99). What is the theology superintendents are working out in practice? I seek to examine the *theological* theories and assumptions which apparently underlie current practice as no practice is value-free (Swinton and Mowat 2006:20,25-27; Ballard and Pritchard 2006:54).

Here I allow the 'voices' to speak in conversation using two inter-related categories which have arisen from the data via grounded theory. It will be seen that because of this approach, as I consider each category I do not at first use formal theological terms, so that I do not impose words and concepts that have not been used by the interviewees.⁹³ Hence I speak of different 'perspectives' as opposed to 'theological voices'. Nevertheless, the concepts I explore are 'theological all the way through', as will be seen when I turn to the use of formal theological terms. Only after examining the affirmations and tensions between the perspectives do I then use formal theological language. As I present the espoused and operant perspectives, I integrate and re-present data which is set out in Chapter 3 before introducing new normative material into the conversation.

In using this framework I seek to avoid that mutual critical correlation which might be deemed to place contemporary experience at odds with tradition. The two cannot be separated in the church *in via*, as practices are 'bearers of tradition' (Swinton and Mowat 2006:20).

The two categories I use to reflect on the data are 'personal leadership' (4.2.1) and 'representative oversight' (4.2.2).

⁹³ Here I adapt the ARCS method in that, unlike that method, I do not try to make the theology explicit until the normative theological voice enters the conversation.

4.2.1 Personal Leadership

What do people believe about the leadership of superintendents? What is the theological meaning of the way it is exercised? What ought to be happening if superintendents' leadership is to be true to MCGB's normative intentions? And how might the church respond pragmatically or theologically to gaps and tensions between these views?

4.2.1.1 Espoused Perspective

People expect the superintendent to be a collaborative team-leader and to oversee and manage the circuit on behalf of the wider connexion of MCGB. They expect this personal leadership to be exercised as part of the general leadership structures of the church. Superintendents, colleagues and stewards all view the most important task of superintendents as seeking vision and developing polices to enact that vision (3.2.1.1, Table 3.14). Superintendents have greater agreement with their stewards than with their colleagues on the relative importance of their various tasks (3.3.2). There is no general understanding of any operant or espoused theology of superintendents' being 'called by God' into superintendency, or sent to help circuits to fulfil their God-given mission.

People are more likely to talk about their expectations of the superintendent's tasks involved in their leadership role, rather than the tasks relating to management and governance (3.2.1) – though superintendents and circuit staff more than stewards seem to highlight the leadership role (Table 3.1). People expect superintendents to model good practice; enable others' gifts; exercise 'people skills' (such as caring for circuit officers); and manage conflict (3.2.1.1). They do not expect their superintendent to lead in an autocratic way, but expect collaboration (3.2.1.2): they expect the superintendent to maintain unity in direction but their acceptance of the superintendent's authority is subject to their agreement with the direction in which the superintendent is leading the circuit (3.2.2.5). Circuit officers are volunteers, and are prepared to withdraw support if they cannot agree with decisions (3.2.1.2). They particularly prefer gradual to sudden change (3.2.2.5). Staff members, too, do not

accept the superintendent's authority in an unqualified way, and are prepared to express disagreement (3.2.3.1). So the superintendent's personal authority is expected to be about 'influence' rather than 'power' (3.2.1.2). Indeed, there is a lack of clarity over who has 'ultimate' authority over the circuit, with some evidence of a difference of understanding between stewards and superintendents, a large minority of stewards believing themselves to be supervisors of the superintendent (3.2.1.2).

4.2.1.2 Operant Perspective

In practice, superintendents generally exercise some sort of leadership of the circuit. Leadership styles vary, but many superintendents work collaboratively to manage and maintain the work of the circuit, with the emphasis being on managing existing local circuit policies and undertaking routine business rather than generally seeking to do anything radically new (3.3.1.1, 3.3.1.2, Table 3.11). Perhaps one in four superintendents fails to work collaboratively and is too authoritarian (Table 3.11).

The task of monitoring and overseeing the circuit is generally reactive rather than proactive. A large minority of superintendents similarly approach circuit policies passively, only reacting when circumstances change and decisions have to be made in the light of that change (3.3.1.2, 3.3.4.1). There are few examples of strategy implementation beyond that required by circuit amalgamations or the impact of environmental change (3.3.4.2). Those superintendents who are proactive with respect to the development of policies do so to allow the circuit to work in a better way by encouraging the quest for new vision. Where superintendents personally do not feel gifted to lead any vision-seeking in the circuit, some enable others with appropriate gifts to take the lead in this (3.3.1). Some superintendents delegate aspects of their work to others, such as making the Plan, or chairing meetings (Table 3.11). Yet where superintendents work entirely collaboratively, they are sometimes criticised for failing to offer personal leadership (3.2.1.1).

4.2.1.3 Normative Perspective

Nowhere in Standing Orders is the superintendent defined as the 'leader' of the circuit.⁹⁴ *WIACS*§18 notes that a superintendent takes the lead in (a) the circuit staff which *as a group* is the primary place of leadership for the circuit; (b) the Circuit Leadership Team which *as a group* exercises leadership in a context of executive management; and (c) the Circuit Meeting which *as a group* exercises governance (my italics).

The bulleted list below is directly quoted from that part of *TNOO* (§1.13) which is cited as a normative definition of leadership in *WIACS*§18. Leadership is defined as:

- inspiring people to be imaginative and to participate in the development of new vision, and empowering them to share their ideas and act upon them
- articulating and considering the content of that developing vision
- initiating action and encouraging people to follow
- providing examples of taking risks, once the realities of a particular situation have been rationally assessed and a commitment has been made to accept responsibility for the results of the action to be undertaken
- providing models of exercising power (not least with regard to the management of resources) with authority, justice and love.
- In the context of the Church, these expressions of leadership are always related to the Word, rooted in the sacraments and undergirded with prayer.

⁹⁴ The closest place that this happens is in SO 512(2), relating to Ecumenical Areas, in which it is recognised that the 'Lead Minister', where a Methodist, should be the superintendent. Indeed, where the Lead Minister is not a Methodist, then he or she cannot be superintendent – this thereby prioritises governance and accountability over leadership. For similar reasons a non-Methodist authorised to serve MCGB as a presbyter may not be appointed superintendent and must act under the direction of a superintendent. (SO 733(7))

Thus normative leadership is described as inspirational and participatory (i.e. collaborative) in a process of developing a vision, initiating action, and encouraging people to own and follow the decisions of the group. It is a leadership which makes the *group* aware of the ramifications of certain choices and asks the *group* to accept responsibility for the outcomes of their decisions. An individual who leads this act of leadership only has the power to act if they receive authority to do so, and that authority is accepted by those whom they lead. Such acceptance is predicated on a leader's power being exercised in a just and loving way, and in accordance with the calling of the church to root its practices in word, sacrament and spirituality.

Perhaps the avoidance of any description of the superintendent as 'the' leader of the circuit results partly from a long period of schism due to past excessive autocracy – particularly in the nineteenth century.⁹⁵

4.2.1.4 Affirmations and Tensions

The **espoused**, **operant and normative perspectives affirm one another** in that they expect to see, and do see, superintendents exercising leadership in a collaborative and participatory way and seeking to model good practice (though there are tensions in the practice of the minority of superintendents who do not work collaboratively). The superintendent chairs the various meetings and enables participation in leadership, management and governance. Sometimes the chairing of meetings and particular tasks are delegated. The allocation of resources is raised for open discussion by the majority of superintendents. Sometimes participants hear similar discussions in all three meetings – staff meeting, CLT and Circuit Meeting –

⁹⁵ Issues of personal oversight and power struggles with superintendents have helped cause Methodist schism, both in Britain and America (Harrison, Hornby, Barber and Davies 1932; Harnish 2000:32). Such was the American feeling about Wesley's autocracy that by 1786 the Methodist Episcopal Church had rescinded their 'binding minute' of loyalty to him, and Wesley does not appear in the UMC's historic list of bishops (UMC 2012:1). For a discussion, see Kirby (2000:42-49) and Richey (1996:38-39). In Britain, following Wesley's death, there was a feeling that there should never again be a pope in Methodism. In 1838, the Bible Christians* replaced the title 'Circuit Superintendent' with that of 'Circuit Pastor' and only used the term 'superintendent' for the Chairman of a District.

to ensure that all have participated. Generally, superintendents lead in the way they are expected to lead, and where individuals differ from what is expected, they are in the minority.

Furthermore, leadership is expected to be, and is seen to be, shared on those occasions when other individuals with the appropriate gifts are encouraged to take the lead in meetings. If superintendents presume to lead alone and do not listen to the consensual corporate leadership (and therefore they themselves deviate from the unity of direction) then people decline to follow where they have not agreed to be led.

However, the **operant perspective is in tension with the espoused** in the making of circuit policies. Though people expect the superintendent to take the lead in *vision-seeking*, it is surprising that in practice the circuit policies which are most often discussed are about routine business. People expect *proactive* policy-making, but often see superintendents reacting to change only when necessary. Is there a possibility that superintendents decline to encourage radical changes or take risks for fear of causing complaints? Team superintendency should be a good example of collaborative working in practice, but lack of communication between co-superintendents or between the superintendent and the rest of the circuit can exclude others from the leadership in which they expect to share.

What of **tensions between the espoused and normative** perspectives? It is surprisingly clear that people expect *personal* leadership from the superintendent. The data about team superintendency and the desire for a single figurehead for the circuit affirm this point of view. But this is in tension with the normative view that the superintendent takes the lead only as *part* of the corporate bodies within the circuit – the staff team, the CLT and the Circuit Meeting. Is there a possibility here that the superintendent is expected to take personal responsibility for corporate decisions? That if no decision-making takes place, then that is a failure of the superintendent? Or that in the context of seeing the superintendent as the place where 'the buck stops' the superintendent is expected to take the blame for any negative consequences arising from the decisions that these groups have made? The **operant perspective is in tension with the normative** in that the opportunity for seeking new vision and the sharing of ideas is not always as proactive as it might be. The superintendent chairs routine meetings, and is not generally prepared to take risks. In a minority of cases, insufficient discussion is allowed to take place in meetings, as the agenda is driven by the superintendent from the chair. Furthermore, there are tensions where in practice people decline to follow the decisions of meetings (as opposed to the personal decisions of the superintendent), or where they blame the superintendent if risks are taken and mistakes are made. There are further tensions where in practice people leave decisions to the superintendent and he or she feels isolated and overwhelmed. In my research, I found more evidence where team superintendency did not work, rather than where it did work.

4.2.1.5 Towards a Theology of Circuit Leadership

What do the gaps and tensions between the espoused, operant and normative perspectives reveal about the theology of leadership of MCGB? What kinds of beliefs are embedded in the data?

In the tensions between the espoused and operant perspectives on leadership I detect a theological gap between activity and passivity, between taking the initiative and responding to it. Christian leadership never arises from a position of the pure personal initiative of the leader. The leader does not simply formulate his or her own ideas *a priori* and then ask everyone else to follow. Christian leaders must first acknowledge that they are followers. Christ called the first disciples not by asking them to *lead* others first, but to *follow* him (Matthew 4:19). The initiative is firstly Christ's. Those who claim to lead must follow Christ in order to know where to lead others – hence the normative expectation that leadership will be rooted in Word, sacrament and prayer. Furthermore, to follow is not simply to let the leader do all the work.

What is the espoused theology of leadership of superintendents predicated on?

Firstly, the espoused theology expects the superintendent to take the lead *in vision-seeking*. What does that mean? I suggest that any quest for vision is not just about the status quo.

The status quo assumes that God has already revealed God's will in the past, and the church has sought to follow that guidance throughout the ages. The Methodist *traditio* understands that the church as it is today is built on the foundations of Methodist forebears. What the church does today is a result of discernment in the past. The make-up of our circuit, the geographical placement of its chapels, the closure of surplus Wesleyan, Primitive or United Methodist chapels following the 1932 union, the way the church orders its affairs, its entire heritage, is predicated on God's revelation and guidance being followed by faithful Methodist servants in the past. If we continue as we are then we are part of that faithful service.

But when the espoused voice expects *vision-seeking* from its leadership it is asking for a *fresh* vision for the future. To expect superintendents to take the lead in *vision-seeking* is to assume that God has a new plan for the church. The task of superintendents is to lead the discernment of that vision in order to discover how the church of today needs to respond to today's needs. God is not a transcendent God of history, but an immanent God of the present. God is not passive, but active in today's church. If the circuit is to faithfully follow in discipleship for today the leadership of the circuit needs to help people to know God's active and current will and help them to fulfil it. Within Methodist tradition, the concept of Christian Perfection is also of value here – the church is *semper reformanda* because it is not yet perfect.⁹⁶ That

⁹⁶ This is, of course, not just a Methodist perspective. Vincent of Lérins (*Commonitorium*, 23:54) argued for progress in Christ's church which enlarges, flourishes and ripens towards perfection the knowledge (while not changing the character) of the church. Vatican II speaks of the church constantly moving forward with 'more stable bonds' between Christ and his Bride (*Dei Verbum* 8; *Lumen Gentium* 44). Using the Vincentian canon, Anglican divines such as Ussher and Wake emphasised the Church as *semper reformanda* (Henson 1939:59; Avis 2002:335). Within contemporary theology, Avis (2002:366) argues for a church which has authority contingent on the 'assumptions, needs and demands of time and circumstance' with 'an appeal to reason and learning as competent to modify the interpretation of Scripture and tradition' (p.112). Murray speaks of theology as 'a process of systematic, critical-constructive reflection on the articulations and practice of faith

very lack of perfection requires change in order for the church to engage in more faithful practice.

But the operant theology is in tension with this espoused theology. In practice many superintendents seem to keep to that which is safe: they in the main concentrate on routine business in order to maintain the status quo. Yet this assumes theologically that God's revelation in the past is sufficient for today. This operant theology – faithful service based on what has always been done – causes tensions with the espoused theology because people expect fresh vision for today – and do not see that they are getting it.

The second assertion of the espoused voice is that the superintendent exercises *personal* leadership. This requires the theological assumption that the superintendent is a conduit of God's will, is personally capable of discerning God's will, and is acting under God's call in Christ and the inspiration of the Holy Spirit. It is such an assumption that lies behind the desire for a single figurehead, so that people can know who is in charge. Yet to assume that a superintendent can *personally* lead is to assert that they have a *personal* revelation from God which it is their task to share. There is a third assumption which is the obverse of this: to seek a single leader excludes others from the leadership task.

But the normative Methodist theology of leadership pushes against this view, for Christian leadership is not about a single leader. MCGB understands leadership to be *shared*. The discernment of God's will in (post-Wesley)⁹⁷ Methodist tradition is

with a view to enriching their quality' (2014:267) so that the practice of faith might be deepened, enhanced and transformed and 'might more adequately witness to the Kingdom' (2010:44).

⁹⁷ Methodists have not always eschewed personal leadership. Charles Wesley was the first to exercise personal leadership and oversight of his religious society at Oxford in 1727. He handed it to his elder brother when John returned to Oxford in 1729 as a Fellow of Lincoln College: John thus became the 'Father of the Holy Club*' (Peirce 1872:3; Edwards 1965:45). Other religious societies later operated 'in connexion with Mr Wesley' as they freely placed themselves under John Wesley's personal authority which he acknowledged 'the Providence of God had cast upon me, without any design or choice of mine' (Whitehead 1796:325). As the Connexion grew, Wesley held that the final authority on matters of discipline in the local society lay with his Assistant (Batty 1992:31-40; Carter 2002b:41, 163n.46) and the Connexion believed that 'Christ had entrusted the Church ... not to the

based not on an individual heroic leader's 'hotline to God', but on the practice of Christian conferring.⁹⁸ The normative theology of leadership places discernment in those places of conference – the staff meeting, the CLT, the Circuit Meeting. Conferring is by definition a *corporate* activity. God does not reveal God's will to one individual, but to all who seek it. The normative theology of leadership assumes not just *inspiration*, but *participation*. Therefore, if the people of the circuit want to experience Christian leadership, they should not look to the sole occupant of the superintendent's office, but to the corporate bodies of Christian conference. Furthermore, the corporate nature of leadership requires that there is a concomitant corporate responsibility (WIACS§32(c)). God does not simply want to involve one or two people in discerning God's will, but a whole community of faith (and ultimately the whole of creation – Romans 8:21). And if the whole of creation participates in God's acts of redemption, then that certainly means that the decision-making in a circuit should not be left to one individual. If people leave decisions to the superintendent, and blame the superintendent for those decisions; or if the superintendent presumes to act alone then there is a failure in the corporate leadership and responsibility which God wills. The task of leadership is therefore to ensure that the *whole* community is stimulated to engage in theological reflection (WIACS§32(b)) and 'that colleagues enable the voice of the least and lowest to be heard and the poor and disadvantaged to be included' (WIACS§32(d)). This means that circuit conferring goes beyond those in power at the Circuit Meeting, but includes everybody who sits quietly at the back in the local church.⁹⁹ For this

people but to the ministers of the Gospel ... they are not at liberty to give up the steering or government into other or less skilful hands.' (Joseph Benson, speaking in 1796, quoted in Batty 1992:15-16.) Such an approach was to be one of the contributory factors to the first major Methodist schism, as the Methodist New Connexion broke away in 1797 (Townsend 1897; Vickers 1988:281-85; Carter 2002b:63).

⁹⁸ The first 'conference' of six ministers (plus four laymen invited in for the day) was held in 1744, and was named for the opportunity for people to confer about the 'work of God' (Vickers 1988:67-70).

⁹⁹ This may even include the participation of people *beyond* the church, who have ideas about what the church should be like. From an ecumenical perspective, Sykes (2006:145) comments that

normative voice to be truly heard, then people need to be *empowered* to share their ideas and act on them (*WIACS*§32(a)). It is for this reason that when in practice decisions are made by a few in separate meetings, those decisions are *ultra vires*.

There is a further theological point which arises from the practice of people only to follow a lead when it is something with which they agree. It involves a paradox: on the one hand, people ask for a leader; on the other they all want to participate in decision-making, so that they do not have to follow anything with which they disagree. This suggests that an individual leader of leadership (the normative definition of the superintendent (*WIACS*§18)) should ensure that such leadership is not 'over and above' but is 'amongst and within'.

There is a diversity of views within Methodism as to whether the ordained exercise a distinctive sole leadership, or work in partnership with all the other leadership ministries of the church (*MPG*§§069-070). Leadership is exercised in both ways – through a focal person, and through communal, collaborative, forms of leadership. In this, *MPG* explicitly affirms *BEM*§26: 'The ordained ministry should be exercised in a personal, collegial and communal way'. Yet I also note that the report recognises the particular dangers of professionalisation, in that those ordained

acquire a body of knowledge and experience which separates them from other people, ... tempted to believe that they are the sole guardians of expertise and insight in their area of competence; defensive, self-perpetuating, oppressive and indifferent to the needs and wisdom of those they are intending to serve; and conversely, non-professionals easily become unduly dependent upon professional expertise and lose confidence in their own gifts and skills. (§073)

So *BEM* (*Ministry*§27) argues that 'Strong emphasis should be placed on the active participation of all members in the life and the decision-making of the community'. All Christians are called to offer their gifts in ministry for the building

^{&#}x27;Exclusive clerical, episcopal or papal control of decision making in the church has ceased to be generally acceptable to an educated and informed lay Christian public. Even a Church without a formal means of elected representation finds itself accountable in the media of a modern democracy, and failure to adapt to such conditions may seriously interfere with the Church's mission.'

up of the church (*BEM*§5; *ECS*§140). This concurs with early Methodism: 'They cannot watch over one another in love unless they are thus united together' (*Minutes* 1748:Q3; Vickers 1988:91).

Secular leadership theory defines leadership as participatory, 'the process (act) of influencing the activities of an organized group in its efforts towards goal-setting and goal achievement' (Stogdill 1997:114-15; also Bass 1990:15-16). The leader needs to help achieve the group's 'preferred outcomes' (Cartwright and Zander 1968:304). People need ownership of decisions. I venture to suggest that one of the factors lying behind the move to people focusing on the leadership of their local minister rather than the leadership of the superintendent (which I discuss further in 4.2.2.5) is that they want to know that the leader 'belongs' to them – and the superintendent is just a little further removed than their own minister. Thus any practice where leadership is exercised from the 'centre' or 'elsewhere' is tested and found wanting by this need for participation. (It also lies behind the comment that 'we're a long way from London' (3.2.2.3)). The whole people of Israel participated in the renewal of the covenant at Shechem (Joshua 24:18-24) – not just Joshua on their behalf. The people of the circuit need empowerment for vision-seeking and participation. Such an approach requires more than communication or consultation – but a commitment from all parties to inclusive and involved participation.

There is a further paradox. This voice which calls for participation is not simply *corporate*. The Body of Christ which is the new Temple is made up of individual stones, each with their own place and ministry. To participate in this corporate leadership is to participate as an individual and to accept individual responsibility for the decisions that are made – and therefore to commit oneself to an individual quest for vision and discernment of God's will. It is for this reason that the corporate act of the Methodist Covenant Service, where the congregation joins in an annual recommitment of dedication to God, has as its central focus a solemn recommitment to God which is said in the *first person (MWB* 288-90). Each individual must freely enter into it.

181

4.2.2 Representative Oversight

What do people believe about oversight by superintendents? What is the theological meaning of the way it is exercised? What ought to be happening if superintendents' oversight is to be true to MCGB's normative intentions? And how might the church respond pragmatically or theologically to gaps and tensions between these views?

4.2.2.1 Espoused Perspective

There are two aspects to consider in relation to shared oversight: oversight of the *circuit* and oversight of *local churches*.

It is recognised by all in circuit leadership that the circuit itself is part of a larger connexion from where the superintendent is sent. Stewards particularly see the superintendent as representing that wider connexion, as 'middle managers' (Table 3.2), responsible for connecting the 'top' and 'bottom' parts of the organisation (3.2.1.1), but this is not a view generally emphasised by either superintendents or staff colleagues. This is possibly a result of their believing this to be the task of *every* minister (3.2.1). Some people argue for circuit policies to be aligned to connexional policies, though others (mainly superintendents) argue that local differences are possible and often desirable (3.2.2.5). The superintendents do not expect to uphold *CPD* to the letter, and, indeed, do not generally know it in detail (3.2.2.5).

People expect superintendents to exercise personal oversight of the *circuit* (3.2.1). Most people see the superintendent as a sort of executive officer of the circuit (3.2.2.3). They expect superintendents to ensure that good governance arrangements exist so that resources are used wisely and agreed tasks are performed. (3.2.2.5) Stewards and colleagues are twice as likely as is the superintendent him- or herself to describe the superintendent as the co-ordinator of the circuit (3.2.1).

Local connexionalism is seen in way that superintendents are expected to encourage the implementation of circuit-level decisions in the local churches, and encourage the local churches to work together (3.2.2.3). *Colleagues* have a particular view of the way that the superintendent exercises their oversight of the *circuit*: they are more likely to describe it not as being exercised over the circuit as a body, but over *themselves* as individual ministers. Perhaps this indicates a greater expectation that the oversight of the *circuit* is a collegial activity, in which they also share. (3.2.1, 3.2.1.2) Conversely, however, when the superintendent's role is described as *additional* to the role of a presbyter, this could imply that they themselves do not expect that a presbyter should share in the oversight of the *circuit* as a whole (3.2.1.1).

Although people expect superintendents to be overseers of the work of the circuit, this does not mean that they expect superintendents to oversee the *individual churches* which comprise the circuit. They see that task as belonging to the local minister. People do not expect superintendents *as superintendents* to exercise any authority (in ordinary circumstances) in the local church; indeed any notional authority has no day-to-day impact on colleagues (it is exercised only in extreme cases of disciplinary problems) (3.2.1.2). People, especially colleagues and stewards, do not expect formal visitation of the churches (Table 3.14) – they eschew hierarchical terms, preferring to emphasise superintendents as personally representing the circuit when they visit local churches *informally*. Superintendents generally aim to preach (but not preside at Holy Communion) in all the circuit churches regularly as part of this representative ministry (3.2.2.1, 3.2.2.4).

Where superintendents *do* have oversight of local churches it is only in their own capacity as the hands-on practitioner who is the presbyter in charge of those local churches (3.2.1, 3.2.1.1). There is a recognition that superintendency removes superintendents from, and diminishes the time for, their ministry as presbyters in pastoral charge of local churches (3.2.1.1).

People expect superintendents to perform specific tasks, though they recognise that superintendents are able to delegate aspects of their work (3.2.2), and in so doing recognise that those tasks that are delegated are normatively the responsibility of superintendents (1.7.1.1). Nevertheless, these delegations are always recognised as temporary arrangements and such arrangements may be ended by the present or next superintendent. People expect superintendents to make the Plan collaboratively – allowing colleagues to make their own plans, and local churches sometimes to invite their own preachers. People expect them to oversee LP recruitment and training and to support evangelistic initiatives. The superintendent is expected to be the normal supervisor for probationers.

People also expect superintendents to offer good pastoral care to staff (3.2.2.2). This expectation is shared by superintendents, with some aiming to have one-to-one pastoral conversations with staff.

4.2.2.2 Operant Perspective

In practice, two-thirds of superintendents use a variety of means of finding out about the wider connexion and the decisions of the Conference, though no single method prevails, and the use of such information varies. Some pass information on to their colleagues and stewards. This means that a large minority – one-third – ignore the connexion except when necessary. Most superintendents pass on required information from the circuit to the connexion. Some circumstances – for example, geography – diminish connexionalism (3.3.3.1). Most superintendents do not rigidly adhere to *CPD*. (3.3.2.4)

Superintendents undertake informal visitation and so represent the wider circuit to the local churches, helping them to see the circuit's presence, and enabling themselves to know, and be known by, the circuit, and to support the local minister (and intervene) where necessary. Invitations to intervene are not common and formal visitation is apparently non-existent. Thus it is the local minister who is affirmed in being the presbyter in charge in the local church. I found only one example (for pastoral reasons) of the superintendent regularly chairing the church council of a church where a colleague was in pastoral charge (see section 3.2.1.1).

Oversight of doctrine, good order and discipline is generally reactive. Superintendents generally oversee discipline and good order in circuits, though some try to avoid difficult situations, and when they do act they do not always act wisely. (3.3.2.1)

Generally, the work of the circuit as a whole is overseen and co-ordinated by collaborative staff and CLT meetings. Colleagues are more likely than stewards to describe the superintendent as 'collaborative' – perhaps this reflects the greater frequency of staff meetings compared with CLT meetings (3.2.1, 3.3.1.1). The Plan is made collaboratively and superintendents ensure LPs in training and probationers receive the required support.

Most superintendents are competent managers (though a large minority are not) and all could improve on their skills. Yet most act administratively rather than strategically, and do not undertake contingency planning. In practice, any weakness of individual superintendents is mitigated in that the executive management of the circuit is a shared enterprise co-ordinated by the CLT (3.3.4.2).

Superintendents find it difficult to maintain intra-circuit connexionalism and communication within all but the smallest circuits. People, including ministers *and superintendents*, seem to prefer working at the local church and Section level rather than the circuit level (3.3.3.2). Local church diversity prevents some circuit-wide policies from being suggested or implemented (3.3.1.2). Presbyters, who seem to view collegial oversight of the circuit as important do not share in that oversight by preaching around the circuit (3.3.2.2). Of all the ministers, only the superintendent generally has a circuit-wide role, and usually leads worship outside his or her own Section more than do the other presbyters, However, in practice superintendents preach in some congregations extremely rarely, if at all. They rarely preside at Holy Communion outside their own Section - the needs of their own Section and of their colleagues take priority. Indeed, they are often welcomed as 'visiting preachers'. Does this imply that superintendents' personal oversight is not generally in evidence for local churches? (3.3.2, 3.3.2.2. 3.3.2.)

Looking at the practice of oversight of local churches, superintendents are almost always *laissez-faire* regarding local churches that are not their own – though 'powerstruggles' are occasionally described, and a minority of superintendents sometimes act in a hierarchical way (3.3.1.1). This shared *episkopé* is actually devolved: local ministers lead their own churches' decision-making, and superintendents oversee these ministers rather than the circuit's individual churches. Inevitably, superintendents have more influence on the churches where they themselves have pastoral charge (3.3.1.2).

Superintendents chair Circuit Meetings, and CLT, staff and LP meetings, which have focused agendas concentrating in the main on routine business with occasional reference to the wider connexion. There is, however, a potential conflict when groups meet separately: occasionally, decisions are made by staff meeting alone or stewards meeting alone without consultation with the others (3.3.1.2). A minority of superintendents do not work collaboratively. Communication to the circuit is more often than not judged to be poor, and monitoring of the circuit is patchy, often relying solely on the annual returns. Most superintendents rely reactively on second-hand accounts to discover what is happening in their circuit because they do not systematically visit churches that are not their own. Nor do they actively seek feedback from circuit stewards who have attended church councils in those churches on behalf of the circuit. (3.3.4.1)

Most superintendents do not generally visit colleagues and colleagues' families. When care is needed for particular crises, however, most superintendents willingly offer it – they prioritise staff care over developing circuit policy (3.3.2) – although perhaps one in five do not undertake any visiting of colleagues. The staff meeting is not generally intentionally used as a place for mutual care, but is a business meeting (3.3.2.5).

4.2.2.3 Normative Perspective

The normative theological writing for MCGB is scripture, which is deemed to record 'the divine revelation' which is 'the supreme rule of faith and practice': albeit that scripture requires interpretation for every age (*CLP*§1.2.8, DUcl.4). The Conference is the supreme interpreter of scripture, explicitly in Conference *statements*, including *WIACS*, which affect the understanding of superintendency (FAOC 1984a; 1984b;

1984c; 1984e; 1984f; 1999; 2000a; 2000e; 2002a; 2002b; 2005a; 2005b; 2006; 2008), and implicitly in Conference *decisions* which affect the *practice* of superintendency and are contained in CPD and Standing Orders (MCGB 2013b).

Normatively, the Conference expects superintendents to adhere to its interpretation of Christian doctrine, and uphold connexional rules and initiatives. This means that the Conference expects superintendents to read the reports and minutes of the Conference in order to keep up-to-date.¹⁰⁰

It is expected that the superintendent is responsible for the management, implementation and review of governance decisions of the Circuit Meeting, along with exercising oversight of property and finance, legal matters and Safeguarding (1.7.1.1). The superintendent is the chair of all meetings in the circuit, and particularly oversees the training of LPs (SO 502(1)(a); 564A(1); 566(2)). Superintendents' governance responsibility includes ensuring compliance with church regulations and external legislation (*TNOO*§1.11). Their management responsibility includes deployment of resources and the monitoring and assessment of how the objectives set by meetings are being met (*TNOO*§1.12).

Superintendents share oversight of the circuit. *WIACS*§§12,14 make use of the sections of *TNOO* which refer to the circuit (§§3.1-3.12) and to shared oversight (§§2.22-2.24). *TNOO*§2.22 states that

An important feature of the Methodist understanding of oversight since the time of Wesley is ... that it has always been corporate in the first instance and then secondarily focused in particular individuals and groups (lay and ordained).

'Superintendent' is defined in DU§1(xxxiii) as 'the presbyter or presbyters identified as such in the list of presbyters appointed to the Circuit'. Those who seek a further definition are referred in the index of *CPD* (2015:[41]) to the word 'Presbyter'.

¹⁰⁰ Brake (1984:186) also makes this point.

There are two strands to this corporate oversight – that exercised collegially by presbyters, and that exercised corporately by particular groups and office-holders. For presbyters,

A core emphasis of their ministry is to exercise *pastoral responsibility* on behalf of the Conference in a way that is always meshed with their ministry of the *word* and *sacrament*. ... At the same time, they are under the oversight of the Conference and its representatives ... and are expected to give an account of the ways in which they exercise their role. (*TNOO*§2.23)

The Conference receives presbyters into Full Connexion and ordains them

to embody its oversight in the particular situations to which they are sent. ... It therefore involves guiding particular congregations, groups and individuals in their explorations of the ways of God and their responses to the grace of God. (*TNOO* 2.24)

However, this oversight is not designed to be exercised as an individual.¹⁰¹ The

Guidelines on *Episkopé* (FAOC 2000a:§114) state that 'The Methodist Church

values personal episkopé in every part of the Church's life, but believes that such

episkopé should be exercised within a collegial or a communal context.' Therefore

Presbyters who are appointed to exercise pastoral charge in a circuit are appointed by the Conference to do so collectively across the whole circuit. They are not appointed to have charge of or be a servant to particular churches in the circuit.' (*TNOO*§3.3)

Nevertheless, normative practice from the Stationing Committee expects profiles to indicate of which churches a prospective presbyter will have pastoral charge.¹⁰²

¹⁰¹ As, for example, an apostle in the New Testament, such as Barnabas, acted with personal authority (Acts 11:22-24). Jerome (*Commentary on Galatians* I:1) argued that the office of apostle derives from the *shaliach*, a personal representative who can speak in the name of his principal and act as plenipotentiary. His authority was delegated and lasted only as long as his mandate, but was not merely task-specific. The *shelihim* of the Great Sanhedrin were sent as messengers and as collectors of subscriptions from the Diaspora. *Shelihim* could also be appointed to act in the name of a congregation (*Mishnah, Berakhot*, 5:5; Dix 1957:229). The Pastorals and 1Clement evidence the post-apostolic continuation of the office of *shaliach* (Dix 1957:267; Farrer 1957a:vii-viii).

¹⁰² This is one reason that superintendents do not have the power to change the pastoral charge of presbyters on the basis of their own personal whim. Should an appointment need to be varied at a later

The collective oversight by presbyters of the circuit and its individual churches is expected to be exercised in the circuit staff meeting, which 'is not primarily for the purposes of governance or management (decision-making) but for taking counsel in order to help provide *leadership*' (*TNOO*§3.9). Such taking counsel involves 'the development of vision and strategy through rigorous group reflection and a collective seeking of wisdom'. This is also an aspect of the doctrinal oversight expected by presbyters, as the words of SO524 note the

urgent need that the main doctrines of the Christian faith ... be more plainly and systematically set forth in public preaching, so that the Methodist people may be established in the faith and better defended against error and uncertainty (SO524)

Superintendents are expected to lead and supervise staff in the staff meeting (section 1.7.1.1; *WIACS*§19), and as such they need to be enabled to lead and manage appropriately and complete the tasks required of them (section 1.5; *TNOO*§6.2).

The staff meeting should also be a place of care, as the superintendent not only exercises the role of *pastor to the pastors* (SO 700(9)) but also receives care in return, participating as a 'leader amongst peers' and receiving mutual support and supervision (*WIACS*§19). Superintendents have a particular oversight of probationers (SO 484(2), 700(8)).

Circuit oversight is not the prerogative of presbyters alone: the circuit stewards are also responsible with the circuit staff 'for the spiritual and material well-being of the Circuit, and for upholding and acting upon the decisions of the Circuit Meeting' (SO 531(1)). *WIACS*§21 warns against lay people presuming that the superintendents are the executive officers of their decisions. Furthermore, it is important to define the intentions of the staff, CLT and Circuit Meetings 'to ensure that their boundaries are

date from that notified to the connexional Stationing Committee when the presbyter was stationed, then this variation is the decision of the Circuit Meeting on the advice of the CLT. See also note 21.

not transgressed' (*WIACS*§20; *TNOO*§3.11) and that decisions are not made by one group of people alone.

TNOO§3.2 argues against the recent 'growing tendency in some areas towards local autonomy and congregationalism, which has shifted the balance away from the circuits to the local churches. Yet without the relationships of close inter-dependence which are embodied in a circuit many local churches would not flourish spiritually or materially'. *CLP*§4.6.2 states that there is mutuality and dependency of local churches within circuits; *TNOO* §3.4 adds that these 'entail a proper form of dependency and a proper degree of autonomy' which 'preclude both independency and autocracy as modes of church government' (*CLP*§4.6.6.) Therefore 'Circuit structures represent interdependence, relatedness, mutual responsibility and submission to mutual jurisdiction' (*CLP*§4.7.4).

4.2.2.4 Affirmations and Tensions

The espoused, operant and normative perspectives affirm one another in that the superintendent is expected to share in, and does in practice share in, oversight of the circuit as a whole. Oversight, as expected by both MCGB and the local people, is exercised first and foremost in a corporate way in the CLT and the Circuit Meeting, meetings in which laypeople and ministers share together in policy-making and governance. The Conference expects circuit staff to share in the oversight of the circuit, and the staff members themselves expect this: in all circuits, staff meetings take place (albeit not always frequently, regularly or collaboratively). The Conference and the people locally expect the superintendent to oversee management and governance aspects of the circuit's life. This is generally affirmed in the way that superintendents operate. Collaborative production of the preaching Plan and oversight of LP and Worship Leader recruitment and training is affirmed from espoused, normative and operant perspectives. Probationers are expected to be, and are, well supervised and mentored by superintendents or their nominees.

The **espoused and operant perspectives affirm one another** in that people expect oversight of the circuit to be undertaken mainly by the superintendent and not

his or her colleagues, and that local churches will be overseen by their 'own' minister but not the other staff. The superintendent is expected to be *laissez-faire* towards local churches, and indeed trusts presbyters to run their own churches. When discipline and good order go awry, people expect the superintendent to help out, and this indeed happens.

However, the **operant is in tension with the espoused** in several areas. Firstly, people expect superintendents to represent the Conference – but surprisingly one in three do not find out what has happened each year at the Conference, relying on hearsay.

Secondly, people expect the superintendent to preach around the circuit – but in practice opportunities for doing this are restricted, and superintendents often do not achieve this aim. This is not just due to practicalities of planning – some superintendents view the needs of their own Section as having a higher priority. Their colleagues' Sections see their own minister often, so the superintendents' own churches should not get poorer treatment simply because their minister is also the superintendent.

Thirdly, people, including the superintendents, expect good pastoral care to be offered to the staff. However, in practice good intentions are not fulfilled. Staff members only receive care when they need it because of a problem or crisis, and the staff meeting in practice is not a place where mutual care is received. Although the superintendent usually works collaboratively in these meetings (and only a minority do not), there is a slight hierarchy in that there is little sense that staff are watching over one another in love or that the superintendent is also accountable to his or her colleagues. Furthermore, despite the normative warnings of the possibility, boundaries are occasionally crossed, and the staff meeting makes decisions in which the stewards do not share. (Less commonly, stewards meet separately from staff and also make decisions without sufficient consultation). This has implications for the balance of power in a circuit. Tensions also exist between the normative and operant perspectives when superintendents see Standing Orders as capable of local amendment. There is a further **tension between the normative and operant perspectives** concerning the staff meeting. The normative perspective expects the meeting to be a place for counsel, reflection and shared leadership between peers, meeting primarily to seek vision and only secondarily to conduct business – especially business which should be shared with stewards. But in practice, routine agendas dealing with business take first place, and there is little space for conversation about the work of God.

Other tensions exist between what the Conference normatively expects to happen with shared oversight and what is the local expectation or reality. Firstly, the Conference expects that *all* presbyters in their capacity of representing the Conference will share in pastoral responsibility throughout the circuit. However, presbyters do not actually *expect* to have circuit-wide responsibilities – only the superintendent has that; the practice of circuit-wide portfolios ceased from the mid-1990s onwards when the connexional 'divisions' were disbanded and stopped looking for a locally appointed minister to represent their interests.

Secondly, the corollary of this normative expectation of circuit-wide oversight is that presbyters do not have their 'own' churches which they look after alone: all churches are to be looked after collaboratively. In reality, presbyters expect to have their own churches, and expect that the superintendent will play no part in overseeing these churches, except insofar as he or she exercises oversight via the conversations he has with them. Nor do they expect any involvement from their colleagues. In practice, superintendents do not oversee the churches that are not their pastoral charge, and are not able to directly monitor what is happening in them. I would also add that in practice staff members have been excluded from any normative involvement in one another's churches because the Conference has now removed the right of every presbyter to have a seat on every church council (SO 610(4)(i)). This means that the Conference's expectation that all presbyters oversee all local churches can no longer happen, by decision of the Conference itself. It also means that superintendents are in practice excluded from active oversight of most local churches in their circuit.

Tensions also exist over the way that preferences of local churches and preachers generally over-ride any centralised provision. Firstly, there is the issue of control – local churches do not want the superintendent to control who leads their worship. Secondly, there is the issue of quality. The implication is that there are some preachers who those churches do *not* want planned in them, because they do not find their preaching helpful. This latter issue perhaps reflects the lack of proactive oversight of preachers that superintendents actually exercise. Their oversight of preachers is reactive, on the receipt of complaints, because superintendents generally do not hear them preach. Complaints are more often about doctrine rather than quality, because it is easier to define bad doctrine than poor quality preaching.

A further tension is apparent over the balance between what happens locally and what is deemed to be a circuit-wide activity. Firstly, I note that normatively LPs belong to the circuit, and exercise a circuit-wide ministry. In practice they may be more locally planned. Secondly, is evangelism better planned at the level of the circuit or of the local church? It is often funded by the circuit but is exercised in the local church. Thirdly, people do not expect the superintendent to organise circuit-wide training for ministries not concerned with preaching – and in practice only a minority of superintendents undertake this activity, mainly for evangelistic ministries. Perhaps this relates to where those ministries are seen as being exercised.

A final tension I want to highlight is over the task of the superintendent to stimulate theological thinking. This is normatively expected as a regular activity of the staff at their staff meeting. Yet not only does it not take place as a regular activity among the staff, people in the circuit do not expect it at circuit events (although they expect the superintendent to stimulate theological thinking in his or her capacity as a local minister). Notwithstanding expectations, superintendents themselves do not regularly find time for their own theological growth and development.

193

4.2.2.5 Towards a Theology of Representative Oversight

What do the gaps and tensions between the espoused, operant and normative perspectives reveal about the theology of oversight of MCGB? What kinds of beliefs are embedded in the data?

At its simplest level, to ask who has oversight for something is to ask who ultimately is responsible for ensuring it is working correctly. From an organisational point of view, the overseer ensures that leadership, management and governance are in place in the organisation and are doing what they are meant to do. So when the espoused viewpoint describes the superintendent as the overseer of the work of the circuit, it is describing the responsibility of the superintendent for the organisation under his or her oversight. But as with Christian leadership (4.2.1.5), Christian oversight is similarly derived from elsewhere. When a superintendent is described as having oversight, it is recognised that that oversight is exercised by someone who are themselves accountable. The espoused view of this oversight is that the superintendent exercises oversight on behalf of the Methodist Conference.

But over what is that oversight exercised? It is too simplistic to say that it is over 'the circuit', because the circuit could refer to the whole entity, or to the individual parts of that entity. The general view is that the oversight of superintendents is not exercised over the local churches. That oversight belongs to local presbyters who are also responsible to the Conference.

Furthermore, the espoused view of colleagues is that the superintendent's oversight is over the *staff*, and I have suggested above (4.2.2.1) that that is possibly because the colleagues see oversight over the circuit as something in which they share. By implication, there is pastoral care involved for the staff as the superintendent's oversight of them is not simply about how they do their jobs, but also about how they *are*. God visits God's people to show God's care for them.¹⁰³

¹⁰³ Carter argues (2002a:15-16) that Wesley's organisation of the Methodist connexion was for the purposes of *positive episkopé*: he gave personal *episkopé* to his Assistants to 'monitor the work of the

The espoused view is that oversight is a collegial activity. The staff members share with the superintendent as a body overseeing the circuit. And individual presbyters oversee local churches as a collegial act on behalf of their colleagues. This actually *reduces* the burden for all.

This says something about the way that God oversees God's people. A Methodist minister is not simply accountable to the Conference, but beyond it. For a Christian, Christ is the 'shepherd and overseer' of souls (1 Peter 2:25); and the ultimate judge of whether Christians are remaining true to their purpose is God Godself (Luke 19:44; Micah 7).¹⁰⁴ A superintendent thus exercises oversight on the one hand on behalf of the Conference and on the other on behalf of God.

What therefore is this espoused theology trying to say? Although God is the ultimate judge and overseer, God exercises that oversight through *people*, who are invited to participate in God's activity in the world. So when as Christians we speak of accountability, we can speak of accountability to *people* as well as to *God*: though, as I said earlier, that accountability is derived. There is, in one sense, no *personal episkopé* – rather there is personal accountability to God, expressed through intermediaries. As God works through individuals, so the oversight of the circuit works through individuals. The superintendent uses the ministers in pastoral charge of the churches and trusts them with what they are given charge of – just as the stewards were trusted with the talents in the hope that they would grow (Matthew 25:14-30). When the ministers speak of being overseen by the superintendent, they speak as those who give an account for that which is entrusted to them. Such accountability need not bring admonition: it might bring affirmation and blessing, as it did for two of the stewards in the parable. Furthermore, the master does not

lay officials, especially the class leaders [*], and to enforce the rules'. Oversight of local officers is for practical support as much as inspection and oversight of doctrine, from the earliest decision of the 1744 Conference that the Assistant should oversee the 'stewards, leaders, schoolmasters and housekeepers' (*Minutes* 1744).

¹⁰⁴ For a fuller list of Biblical references to ἐπισκοπή see Appendix 10.

reclaim the talents so that he himself can do a better job – he hands them on to someone else to act on his behalf. The espoused theology is one of delegated oversight. Such delegation brings non-interference and trust.

There is a further point I believe is implicit in this delegated *episkopé*. It involves the understanding that oversight is not about 'one size fits all'. The stewards in the parable were given different talents. Perhaps the best oversight is exercised in subsidiarity; local oversight is best done with local understanding. Such an approach recognises that there is *variety* in God's creation.

The operant theology recognises that oversight does not require tight control, but trust. Could it be that not all connexional policies are relevant in every local church? And who is the best person to judge that? What does a 'one size fits all' policy say to fresh expressions of church? Within MCGB there are congregations worshipping in many different ways and utilising the riches and resources of many different cultures. Even in a small circuit, churches are very different. So when superintendents make the Plan in consultation with their colleagues, they are acknowledging the expertise that those colleagues are able to share.

Another aspect of the operant theology is shown in the oversight of local churches being exercised by stewards, who represent the circuit on the church council. Oversight is thus shown not to be a special ministry restricted to the ordained, but is something laypeople can share in.

The normative theology expects formal visitation. But is actual visitation necessary for oversight to occur? After all, the Conference oversees all the circuits, but the President of the Conference, who exercises personal oversight of the connexion on behalf of the Conference (SO 111(2)) does not visit all the churches.

The normative theology of oversight is that it is corporate. All presbyters represent the Conference. The normative voice presumes that 'corporate' means that every presbyter shares in oversight of every church. Whilst this expresses the principle, the operant voice and espoused voices differ. The normative voice speaks also of mutual oversight. Here there is a 'watching over one another in love'. This speaks of equality of people who ultimately will all be judged by God. Wesley (1988b:99-100) placed *himself* under the oversight of a 'select company, to whom I might unbosom myself on all occasions, without reserve', in which everyone had 'an equal liberty of speaking, there being none greater or less than another.' This mutuality also removes from superintendents the burden of being the sole pastoral carer of the ministers. Systematic pastoral visiting is not needed in a situation of mutual care. Such mutual care echoes the command of Jesus to his disciples to wash one another's feet (John 13:13-15).

How may ministers exercise accountability for the way they oversee their own congregations? The normative view is that this is in the staff meeting. But where the staff meeting is a business meeting with an agenda controlled by the superintendent, this does not allow the supervision to take place. The normative voice invites the sharing of what is happening so that others can advise.

4.2.3 New modes of Superintendency?

In the final part of this section, I summarise my data relating to possible changes in the practice of superintendency. The very nature of these differing practices means that they are experimental, non-standard and do not yet have a normative theological voice from the church. There is, in any case, a typically pragmatic approach to the development of normative theology in MCGB. The 1824 Wesleyan Conference recognised this pragmatic approach to theology as arising from the 'leadings of the providence of God' in the 'signs of the times' rather than a 'preconceived plan of man' (*Wesleyan Minutes* 1824, V:529). *NCC* (FAOC 1984d:7) speaks of the Church having a 'developing life ... which under the guidance of the Spirit should be richer as time goes on, with fresh manifestations as ... new apprehension of divine truth is given'. Thus I submit the data from my interviewees as part of the discernment of the signs of the times and reflection on fresh manifestations.

 Interviewees rejected ordination of superintendents to the ministry of oversight. The strongest objection was from colleagues. Negative perceptions of bishops prevailed. Normatively, the function of a bishop includes the transfer of ministerial authority (1.6.4) and superintendents have not participated in ordinations *qua* superintendents (1.8.1). Therefore in any discussions with other churches about the possible introduction of 'the' historic episcopate into MCGB, it is clear that the view from the circuits is that superintendents are not the appropriate office holders to exercise that role.

- (2) The possibility of lay superintendents was more acceptable to colleagues and stewards but superintendents themselves opposed the idea (3.2.3.3). The main ecclesiological argument against the practice would be that laypeople are not representatives of the Conference in the same way that presbyters are. Undertaking the work of a superintendent would not change the need for a superintendent in Full Connexion with the Conference. A comparative example is where the superintendent of another circuit is appointed concurrently to the superintendency of a circuit where no presbyter is appointable as superintendent: in practice the local presbyters do much of the work, but it is the superintendent appointed by the Conference who holds the ultimate responsibility (3.3.1.1).
- (3) Interviewees generally argued against team superintendency in theory. Those who had experienced it in practice were more than twice as likely to say that it did not work. It was felt that clarity of role was needed, and that people generally prefer one figurehead. In practice, communication suffers when there is more than one superintendent (3.2.3.4, 3.3.1.1).
- (4) Interviewees were almost equally divided over the possibility of separated superintendency, but the balance was against it: although it would permit a greater amount of formal visitation (1.7.1.1) superintendents needed to be rooted in the pastoral role (3.2.3.5). Perhaps laypeople were persuaded against this possibility because of the cost of paying the stipend of a superintendent who does not have pastoral charge of a church.

5.1 Introduction

In this final chapter, I highlight the evidence I have presented in answering my initial research questions. I note the importance of aiming for pragmatic coherence (5.2). I then summarise the theological (5.3) and practical (5.4) implications that need to be explored in order to resolve the tensions explored in Chapter 4.

Finally, I spell out what I believe is the contribution to knowledge that my thesis makes (5.5). This relates not only to superintendency, but also to my theological method. I also suggest further research related to my work generally, as opposed to one of my specific theological points. Concluding remarks are in section 5.6.

5.2 Research Questions and Findings

My research aimed to answer four questions (section 1.1):

(i) How is the superintendent presbyter's role defined, understood and practised in the MCGB in the second decade of the 21st century? My contribution to answering this question is set out in Chapter 3 and in the normative theology presented in chapter 4.

(ii) How coherent is the superintendent's role with the traditions of the Methodists and the church in general? My contribution to answering this question is set out in Chapter 4, as I examined the affirmations and tensions between the operant, espoused and normative voices of Methodist theology

(iii) What is the continuing adequacy of WIACS as a normative document?

WIACS in its non-prescriptive nature in terms of practical examples remains of value for the Methodist understanding of superintendency. I found insufficient evidence to refute this. Superintendents still exercise a ministry of word, sacrament

and pastoral responsibility. They still exercise communal authority on behalf of the conference along with their staff and steward colleagues. The theology embedded in *WIACS* has not been challenged by the operant and espoused data I have discovered, and it is therefore of enduring value. The only failure is the lack of attention it has received.

(iv) How do my findings affect MCGB's polity and theology of oversight? What implications are there for the future practice of superintendency?

The main tensions which need resolution are between:

- The desire for leadership which seeks to help the church better serve the present age which is in tension with the passivity of stable management and risk-aversion
- The normative view of shared and inclusive leadership compared with the practice of personal leadership
- How the circuit is structured and how a diversity of local churches operate in practice
- How personal *episkopé* can operate beyond or within collegial and communal *episkopé*
- Independence and accountability, and the search for mutual episkopé.

I now summarise the theological and practical implications of my research which I have identified throughout this thesis. They are set out as non-numbered bullet points because they are interlinked, and any numerical system would suggest a hierarchy.

5.3 Theological Implications for Superintendency

I now turn to answer the first part of my fourth research question. How do my findings affect MCGB's polity and theology of oversight? The pragmatic task of practical theology is to make a constructive theological response to what has been discovered: to suggest new insights into tradition in the light of particular questions

from the contemporary situation and to suggest positive steps in new directions in faithful transformative action which progress the *missio Dei* (Swinton and Mowat 2006:25-27). I seek to avoid being normatively and dogmatically prescriptive (Pattison 2000a:248). However, I do adopt an applicationist approach in this respect: I believe that any response which is *faithful* needs to be recognisably part of Methodist tradition, and a response which is capable of being recognised by the wider church as part of ecclesiological tradition: otherwise my response is incapable of serving, truly, the practical and faithful living of church (Ballard and Pritchard 2006:13; Swinton and Mowat 2006:11; Fiddes 2012:19; Watkins 2015:28).

What do the operant and espoused voices have to say to that voice? How consistent is the contemporary practice and understanding of superintendency with the normative theology which what *ought* to be going on? Are there any discontinuities, interruptions or tensions which challenge that normative voice? (FAOC 1984: §19; Avis 2002:112; Shier-Jones 2005:12; Ballard and Pritchard 2006:85; Cameron *et al.* 2010:146)

- I discovered a lack of connexionalism operating in circuits and a drift towards congregationalism. This has theological implications for a church which believes normatively that its primary identity is connexional. Is the 'Missional Nature of the Circuit' out of date in the context of the increasing diversity and size of circuits? Should an entire method of church oversight be seriously considered which MCGB might learn from other denominations which are more congregational in structure? Or even from other Methodist Churches in the WMC – like the UMC – which long ago abandoned circuits. Could the increasing oversight of the Chair learn something from DSes in the UMC? The normative theological tradition of connexionalism is being tested by practice.
- Superintendents are laissez-faire in their oversight of local churches, with a move *away* from personal oversight at the *circuit* level accompanied paradoxically with a move *towards* the personal oversight of the individual presbyter at the local *church* level. There needs to be a re-examination of the

Methodist understanding of personal *episkopé* in the light of these findings, especially in relation to personal oversight at the local church level. Other members of the WMC operate in this way, and MCGB could learn from them.

- There needs to be a recovery of the shared oversight which comes from mutual accountability of ministers. If ministers are becoming more independent as representatives of the connexion (and therefore being trusted to act as such) then there needs to be a concomitant emphasis on accountability. The staff meeting – and the Methodist heritage of mutual *episkopé* and 'watching over one another in love' – need to be developed to fulfil this theological task, as ministers accept their accountability to God for their vocation within a community of other ministers.
- With the increasing variety and missional foci of local churches, there needs to be recognition that CPD can no longer be as prescriptive as it was. This could entail a transformation in ecclesiology which is as radical as was the first movement of Methodism.
- The drift towards congregationalism need not be divisive, but may be a source of resourcing and learning for the rest of the connexion. As God is doing new things, what is that saying theologically to the rest of MCGB?
- This means that there needs to be more theological work on how MCGB remains connexional whilst at the same time exists in a life of great diversity. There therefore needs to be work on the Methodist theology of oversight.
- My research affirmed that there is no espoused or operant view of an ontological distinction between superintendents and presbyters.
- There needs to be a rediscovery of the historical Methodist theology of Christian conferring, as leadership is acknowledged to be a corporate activity, and as meetings move from being focused on business to focused on the activity of God.
- Were the historic episcopate to be introduced into MCGB, my data confirms that it would not be best placed at the level of the superintendent minister.

5.4 Pragmatic Implications for Superintendency

Osmer's final task for practical theology (section 2.2.1) is "How might we respond?" The final part of my last research question asks 'What implications are there for the future practice of superintendency?'

What are the implications of my research for the practice of superintendency?

- Perhaps a radical pragmatic approach to the operant theology of local churchbased ministry would be to formally recognise the practice of the Stationing Committee and station presbyters to Sections rather than to Circuits. The stationing within circuits is almost a legal fiction when compared with the way presbyters, circuits and superintendents operate.
- Superintendents need training in a number of different skills: leadership, management, conflict management, teamwork and supervision (as also evidenced by Maunder 2012). This can only happen if the initial training for superintendents becomes compulsory. They also need to be equipped to help people to think strategically.
- WIACS is not being used in practice in circuits. It has no impact on the setting up of appointments, and is not used in recruitment and selection or the setting up of training outcomes. If the connexion still wants WIACS to be taken seriously by circuits, then it needs to be taken seriously by the Stationing Committee.
- CPD needs to be amended to reflect the actual practice of superintendency. The church can learn from the way superintendency currently operates.
- There needs to be a recovery of theological reflection in MCGB. This might entail training superintendents in the skills needed for it. Superintendents certainly need to be encouraged to set aside time for theological engagement, and to actually read some theology. Staff meetings should be used less for business and more for reflection. They would be more helpful to staff if they had collaborative agendas.

- Superintendents should recognise that the idea of preaching around the circuit is no longer helpful. With a move to sectionalisation their own churches will suffer if they are always elsewhere. There are many different ways of undertaking informal visitation outside the Sunday context.
- Superintendents and staff need to be more aware of the benefits of the shared oversight that circuit stewards offer. Their representation of the circuit on church councils is underutilised
- Circuits need to undertake new thinking about how they undertake the resourcing of lay ministries in the circuit – especially that of LPs and Worship Leaders. Focusing on the local churches means that different ways of support and oversight need to be found.

5.5 Contribution

I submit that my research is the first doctoral-level research focused on the general practice of superintendent ministers in MCGB since the office of superintendent arose nearly three centuries ago. It offers an answer to the request raised by Raymond George in 1974 that there should be some research into the meaning of superintendency.

I have added to the smaller contribution of Maunder (2012, 2014) by (a) concurring that superintendents are not the managers of their colleagues; (b) noting that I too found superintendents struggling with the burden of administration; (c) confirming with my own data that there is a drift towards congregationalism in Methodist circuits; and (d) noting, as Maunder did, that there is a need for leadership skills to be imparted to Methodist superintendents.

I have engaged in exploratory research which has identified issues for further research. I have supplied data which others may use as a comparison set with similar or subsequent research. I have offered my own contribution and adaptation of the use of Four Voices of ARCS as part of the research community's ongoing exploration of its usefulness as an interpretative framework.

Though my research is limited to one District, I believe that itinerancy ensures it is sufficiently representative of the whole of MCGB. It would, however, be interesting to see how a similar single-case study of another District would confirm or deny this. If I were to undertake this research, I could also test how much my subjects were subject to the effects of compliance: in another District where I had not held office, this would not apply; but it might also diminish interviewees' participation rate.

My findings are tentative, and would require further research. Not least, the pragmatic responses suggested could be tried and analysed in a further Action Research phase. In particular, my research would be aided by research into whether:

- the findings in the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District are matched with equivalent research in other Districts
- the practice of interviewees has changed as a result of the interview conversation
- the introduction of the historic episcopate into MCGB would make any difference to the practice of superintendency
- the circuit is indeed the unit of mission in practice
- the nature of cultural diversity in a changing Britain has an impact on superintendency.

5.6 Concluding Remarks

I would contend that the goal of all *episkopé* is *unity*: to exercise leadership, management and governance of the one, holy, catholic and apostolic Church in such a way as to dwell in the love of the Creator by maintaining the unity of the Body of Christ within the fellowship of the Holy Spirit in order to serve God's purposes. Within Methodist tradition the emphasis has always been on the connexion. Connexionalism is thus *the* priority for superintendency as a means of maintaining unity.

I began my research by examining a personal office. I conclude it by recognising that that personal office only has meaning in the context of shared leadership and shared oversight. Any less would diminish the richness and diversity of God's grace.

Appendix 1 Glossary of Terms

This Appendix defines terms marked with an asterisk in the text of my thesis. Unless specified otherwise, all terms are as applied or used in MCGB*. (References may be found in the Bibliography.)

- Adopted Statement. A report which is presented to the Methodist Conference* may be adopted by the Conference by two-thirds majority as a considered Statement of the judgement of the Conference, following a previous meeting of the Conference commending a period of connexional* study, discussion and response from circuits*, Districts*, and other bodies or individuals. Other reports are simply 'received' (SO 129).
- 'Appointed to'. Although most ministers* are stationed* in circuits*, some are appointed to District* or connexional* work, work in 'other appointments' (such as chaplaincies) or are supernumeraries*. Only those presbyters* appointed to the circuit share with the superintendent* in the *pastoral charge** of that circuit (SO 700, 701).
- Assistant*. The itinerant Preacher appointed by John Wesley to care in Wesley's absence for particular Societies* and to travel around them in a regular circuit of preaching and distinguished from *Local Preachers** by the term 'Mr Wesley's Preacher'. Also called Helper*. (Vickers 1988:70)
- **Bible Christian Church.** A Methodist* denomination established by William O'Bryan in 1815, who felt called to prioritise missionary preaching over his duties as a Local Preacher* towards established congregations, and for which the superintendent* expelled him from membership of Wesleyan* Methodism* in 1810. (Vickers, 329-33, 361-61, 626)
- **Bishop.** In the context of the United Methodist Church* (USA), a person exercising general superintendency on behalf of the General Conference*. Each episcopal jurisdiction has a minimum of five bishops, for up to 300,000 members. The bishop shares *episkopé* with the District Superintendents* (UMC 2012:¶¶403, 404, 414).
- **Chair.** The presbyter* appointed to lead a District*. In most Districts, they are 'separated'* and are thus not stationed* in or *appointed to** any circuit.* The *pastoral charge** of all circuits remains with the superintendent* and other presbyters appointed to the circuit. (SO Section 42, 700(10))
- **Church Council.** The governing body of the Local Church*. The superintendent* is the chair, but in practice delegates the chair to the presbyter* in *pastoral charge** (SO502(1)).
- **Circuit.** Individual Methodist* churches in Britain are grouped into circuits, so named from the early Methodist itinerant* preachers' practice of riding round to each Society* in a regular circuit. Circuits were formally arranged as early as 1746. (SO Part 5; Vickers 1988:86).

- **Circuit Assessment.** The contribution made quarterly (and called the 'quarterage' in the early days of Methodism*) (Baker 1965:240) by each Local Church* towards the expenditure of the circuit* and its contribution to the wider church. The major part is usually the stipends* and allowances of the *circuit staff*.* (SO 515(3)). The assessment may be an imposed or voluntarily agreed amount, but, once accepted in the annual budget, is the first charge on the funds of the Local Church (SO 650(4)).
- **Circuit Leadership Team.** ['**CLT**']. A meeting set up by circuits* in order to provide a forum for leadership discussions between ministers* and Circuit Stewards* (SO 515(2)). The concept of circuit leadership teams in which the diverse gifts of lay* people might be better utilised was introduced following the 1988 Conference* report *The Ministry of the People of God* (FAOC 2000f). As all circuits in my survey had CLTs, it can be assumed that most circuits have them.
- **Circuit Meeting.** The principal meeting responsible for the affairs of the circuit* and the development of circuit policy, acting as 'the focal point of the working fellowship' (SO 515) of the Local Churches*, and overseeing their pastoral, training and evangelistic work. It determines how much each Local Church should pay in Circuit Assessment*. It consists of ministers* *appointed to** the circuit, certain lay* officers, and representatives from the Local Churches*. It should encourage leadership between lay people and ministers.
- Circuit Staff. See Staff Meeting*.
- **Circuit Steward.** Each circuit* has at least two stewards lay*, voluntary, officers who are elected by the Circuit Meeting* to work alongside the *circuit staff** to provide leadership and conciliar oversight for the circuit and its 'spiritual and material well-being', and to uphold and act upon the decisions of the Circuit Meeting (SO Section 53). Circuit Stewards are particularly responsible for the circuit's finances, the provision of manses, the payment of stipends*, and issuing invitations to ministers* (the formal request that the Conference* might station* a particular minister in their circuit). They were originally called 'General Stewards', chosen by the Assistant* from the 'particular' stewards (i.e. Society Stewards*) to be responsible for the conduct of all circuit activities. (Baker 1965:240)
- **Class, Classes.** The groups of members into which the earliest Methodist* Societies* were divided; each led by a Leader*. (Vickers 1988:95)
- **Conference.** The supreme governing body of Methodist* churches (except in those Methodist churches that have a General Conference ruling over the annual conferences). The first Conference of six ministers* (plus four lay* men invited in for the day) was held in 1744, and was named for the opportunity for people to confer about the 'work of God'. Conferences now include lay members and most meet annually. In MCGB*, membership of the Conference is both *ex officio* and by election from the Districts*, and also

includes a small number of representatives from partner churches. It is the final doctrinal authority for the church. (Vickers, 67-70; DU,cl.5)

- **Connexion, Connexional.** (US usage: **'Connection'**). MCGB* aways uses the eighteenth-century spelling. In 1743, John Wesley, desiring to introduce a common governing system for the religious societies which had placed themselves under his authority (and were 'in *connexion* with Mr Wesley' as their 'Father in God'), published his rules for Methodist* societies and in 1749 the London Society was recognised as the parent society*. This document inaugurated a common discipline and single authority which ensured the interdependence, or 'connexionalism', of the societies connected with the Wesley brothers. Although in MCGB the term 'the connexion' is sometimes misused to refer to the Connexional Team*, the term is properly applied to the *network* of ministers*, people, Local Churches*, circuits* and Districts* who are 'in connexion' with the Methodist Conference*. The term refers to a Methodist denomination in general. (Wesley and Wesley 1747; DU 1(x); Baker 1965; FAOC 2008:§3.1.2)
- **Connexional Team.** Within MCGB*, people appointed by the Conference* to serve the connexion* as a whole. (SO300-368)
- **Deacon.** [MCGB*] A person ordained* to a life-long ministry of service andwitness in the office and ministry of a deacon in the Church of God, and admitted into Full Connexion* with the Methodist Conference*. Deacons also constitute the membership of a religious order known as the Methodist Diaconal Order. (FAOC 2004; SO701(1))

[UMC* (USA)] The deacon is a member of the clergy who is ordained to the servant ministry. (UMC 2012:¶328)

- **Deed of Union.** ['**DU**'] The current form, as amended by subsequent decisions of the Conference*, of the deed poll between the Wesleyan* Methodist Church, the Primitive Methodist Church* and the United Methodist Church* (GB) executed on 20th September 1932 under powers granted by an Act of Parliament (the Methodist Church Union Act 1929) to form a new united church in Britain to be known as The Methodist Church*. (Great Britain 1929; MCGB 2013c:203-37)
- **District.** Since 1791, circuits* have been grouped into 'Districts', under the oversight of the 'Chair'* of the District. Originally, Districts had a maximum of twelve circuits (*Minutes* 1791; Stevens 1861:34; Smith 1866:88-89). The words 'Chair' (originally 'Chairman') and 'District' are always capitalised in this thesis, thereby indicating a formal use. (SO Part 4). In 2012 there were 31 Districts, with a range of 1 to 37 circuits (mean 13, median 12). Newcastle-upon-Tyne had 12 circuits.
- **District Development Enabler** ['**DDE**']. A connexional* role in existence from 2008-2013 which was designed to help circuits* to map a strategy for the future. I was the DDE for the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District during the interview phase of my research (MCGB 2007a).

- **District Superintendent.** ['DS' pl. 'DSes'] An elder* in the United Methodist Church* (USA), who is appointed at the pleasure of the bishop* to share in extended episcopal oversight with the bishop. DSes are the 'chief missional strategist' of their district: they oversee clergy, advise on clergy deployment, and serve on the bishop's cabinet. They also, *ex offico*, have Conference* responsibilities. (UMC 2012:¶403(2), 419, 424)
- **Elder.** The term for a presbyter* in use in the United Methodist Church* (USA). Elders are ordained to a ministry of 'word, sacrament, order and service'. (UMC 2012:¶¶306, 307, 332-334)
- *Episkopé*. The Greek word underlying the concept of oversight. The term may also be spelt 'episcope'; my preferred usage is, I believe, a better transliteration of the original Greek word, ἐπισκοπή.
- **Full Connexion.** Admission into Full Connexion with the Methodist Conference* means that a presbyter* or deacon* and the Conference enter into a solemn covenant relationship with one another. The act, in which the Conference members solemnly vote by rising to their feet, is also a resolution by the Conference to ordain that person as a presbyter or deacon, should they not already be ordained*. Such a resolution happens at the end of a probationary period (see 'Probationer'*), and admits a person to the status of a presbyter or deacon of the Methodist Church*. (DU cl.1; SO700, 701, 728, 728A)
- General Conference. See Conference*.
- **Helper.** A term used at first interchangeably with Assistant*. It was later used for those preachers who assisted the Assistant*. (Vickers 1988:116-19)
- Holy Club. This derisive title of John and Charles Wesley's religious society at Oxford was coined by Merton College students and prevailed over other terms of derision, such as 'sacramentarians', used by students of Christ Church, and 'Bible moths'. It preceded the term Methodist*. (Edwards 1965:43-44)
- **Itinerancy, Itinerant.** All ministers* are appointed annually to their stations* by the Conference*, and thus accept that they may be moved to a new station by the Conference. As the Conference meets in June or July, and all stations are effective from 1st September, this may entail just eight weeks' notice of a removal to a new station within the connexion.* (SO 700, 701, 740)
- **Lay.** When used in relation to the MCGB* *formally* means a person who is not a minister* (DU (1)(xivA)). *Informally*, this term excludes probationers*, as they are informally referred to as ministers.
- Leaders. The lay people who led Classes* from the earliest days of Methodism.* (Vickers 1988:94-95)
- **Local Church.** The term 'Local Church' is a technical term, as a Local Church may use more than one chapel, and one chapel may be shared by two or more Local Churches. It is a group of Methodist* members who are formally

recognised as one of the constituent units of a circuit*, and who meet together for worship which is resourced by the circuit. (SO Part 6)

- Local Preacher. ['LP'] A lay* preacher, formally accredited and approved by the Circuit Meeting* after following a connexionally-approved training course. Named 'Local' preacher because he or she remains 'local' to the circuit*, unlike the ordained* preachers who practice itinerancy.* (DU 1(xvi); SO Section 56)
- **Local Preachers' Meeting.** Each circuit* has a Local Preachers' Meeting which oversees the circuit's Local Preachers*, holding them accountable for their ministry, 'considering in particular their character, their fidelity to doctrine and their fitness for the work' (SO561). It offers an opportunity for fellowship and development, and a place for conferring so far as the role of Local Preachers and worship are concerned. (DU 1(xvii); SO 560-61)
- Methodism. The practice and faith of those who are called Methodist*. (DUcl.4)
- Methodist. A follower of, or that pertaining to, Methodism*. The term 'Methodist' was not applied until 1732, when John Bingham of Christ Church, Oxford, observed that 'a new set of methodists ... has sprung up amongst us' (Davies and Rupp 1965:44, 216, 263; Lofthouse 1965:116; Cracknell and White 2005:10). There were other Methodists not in connexion* with Wesley.
- Methodist Church. [GB] ['MCGB'] The title 'Methodist Church in Great Britain' is legal rather than strictly geographical, and arises from The Methodist Church Act 1976, §1 (Great Britain 1977). The church formed in 1932 from the Deed of Union* executed by the Wesleyan* Methodist Church, the Primitive Methodist Church* and the United Methodist Church* (GB). In 2013, MCGB had Local Churches* in Great Britain, the Isle of Man, the Channel Islands, Gibraltar and Malta. Note that the Methodist Church in Ireland is a separate connexion* and covers the former Kingdom of Ireland; (Great Britain 1929; Harrison *et al.* 1932; MCGB1932b; 2014:203-37; Methodist Times and Leader 1933)

[USA] The church formed in 1939 by the reunion of the northern and southern factions of the Methodist Episcopal Church* with the Methodist Protestant Church*. (McEllhenney and Yrigoyen 2010:447)

- Methodist Conference. See Conference*.
- Methodist Episcopal Church. The church founded in Baltimore in 1784 by Francis Asbury and Thomas Coke after Wesley had ordained* them as superintendents.* They shortly afterwards adopted the title 'Bishop'. The church split into two during the American Civil War after a slave-owning bishop was suspended, with the formation of the Methodist Episcopal Church, South. (McEllhenney and Yrigoyen 2010:450-51)
- Methodist New Connexion. This church was formed from the first secession from Wesleyan* Methodism*, which occurred in 1797 over the right of preachers to administer the sacraments; the right of societies* to hold preaching

services during the time of, and separate from, the public worship of the parish church of the Church of England; and the rights of lay* people. (Vickers 1988:281-85)

- Methodist Protestant Church. An American denomination formed after an 1828 convention in Baltimore to form an association of Methodists* who were opposed to episcopacy and supported lay* representation in policymaking. Its pastors were appointed by a conference* rather than a bishop*. (McEllhenney and Yrigoyen 2010:447)
- Minister. When used in relation to MCGB* means a presbyter* or deacon* (DU(1)(xix)). Note that these distinctive ministries are complementary, mutually exclusive, and non-hierarchical. Thus a presbyter may be *subsequently* ordained* deacon, but must first resign from Full Connexion* (SO 718). (In the United Methodist Church* (USA), deacons* and elders* who transfer between orders remain in full connection* with their Conference* (UMC 2012:¶309(3)). In Britain, the term 'ministers' is often used informally to include probationers*.
- **Ordained.** A person who has been set apart by the act of ordination, which involves prayer and the laying-on of hands by the President* of the Methodist Conference*. It is carried out by the authority of the Conference, and is considered an act of the Conference. Only those who have been received into Full Connexion* may be ordained. (SO 495, 728, 729)
- **Pastoral Charge.** Each Local Church* is in the pastoral charge of a presbyter* *appointed to** that circuit*. Superintendents* share the pastoral charge of the circuit with the other presbyters appointed to the circuit. Pastoral charge of churches cared for by probationers* belongs to the superintendent. All pastoral responsibility is exercised on behalf of the Conference*. (SO 700)
- **Plan.** The plan of who is preaching at which Local Church* at which service is usually published quarterly. Not simply a rota matching preachers to places, the Plan indicates which churches are in the circuit*; which services are required to be held; Local Preachers'* accreditation and seniority; indicates when the superintendent* determines times and presidency of Holy Communion; authorises visiting preachers (both Methodist* and non-Methodist) to lead public worship in the circuit; and is the formal means of publication of official announcements in the circuit. (SO011(1), 498(2), 521, 561, 563(2),(5), 566(8), 566B, 570(7), 634, 685, 711(2), 743)
- **Presbyter.** When used in relation to MCGB* means a person ordained* to a lifelong ministry of word, sacrament and pastoral responsibility in the office of a presbyter in the Church of God, and admitted into Full Connexion* with the Methodist Conference*. (FAOC 2002b; SO700(1))
- **Presidency.** The Presidency is the collaborative leadership of the President* and Vice-President* of the Methodist Conference.* The Vice-President or a former President or Vice-President may exercise delegated powers from time to time in the name of the Presidency. (DU cl.29A)

- **President.** The President of the Methodist Conference* is the presbyter* elected by the Conference to preside over its sessions, and to exercise personal *episkopé* over the Methodist Church in Great Britain until the next annual Conference. He or she is elected by ballot at the Conference preceding the year of office, during which he or she bears the title 'President-designate'. A formal election in which the Conference members solemnly vote by rising to their feet occurs at the beginning of the Representative Session* of the Conference, and the President takes office immediately. (SO110,110A)
- **Primitive Methodist Church.** The church, connexion* or denomination founded by Hugh Bourne, William Clowes and others after Bourne's expulsion in 1808 from Wesleyan* Methodism*, for organising unauthorised religious meetings. The name 'Primitive' reflected a desire to be true to the original spirit and genius of John Wesley and the early Methodists*. (Vickers, 316-21, 375-79)
- Probationer. A person who has been admitted by the Methodist Conference* upon probation for the ministry of a deacon* or presbyter* and is stationed* by the Conference but has not yet been admitted into Full Connexion* (DU (1)(xxviii)). This period is under the supervision of the superintendent*, and usually lasts two years.
- Protestant Methodists. A secession from Wesleyan* Methodism in 1827 over the right of the Conference* to over-rule the local Leaders'* Meeting. The Conference supported the trustees of a chapel who wished to install an organ against the Leaders' Meeting's wishes; over one thousand members seceded. The Protestant Methodists became a constituent member of the United Methodist Free Churches* in 1857. The Leaders' Meeting, constituted by the Ministers*, Local Preachers*, Society Stewards* and Class* Leaders, was the main governance body of the local church until Church Councils* were constituted in 1976. Only then were the responsibilities of the Leaders and the Trustees combined into one body, thereby removing the possibility of contrary decision-making. (Vickers 1988:396-8)
- **Quarter-Days.** An entitlement for each minister of a break of three consecutive weekdays each quarter, if possible away from home, in addition to the 35 days holiday. (*CPD*:745)
- **Representative Session.** The Representative Session of the Methodist Conference* numbers 306 persons – presbyters*, lay* people and 14 deacons*, either elected by the Districts*or ex-officio members of the Conference. All presbyters who are members of the Representative Session meet in Presbyteral Session prior to the Representative Session. The Conference changes the Presidency* after the Presbyteral Session.
- Section, Sectional, Sectionalisation. Although ministers* work as a team within a circuit* (they are stationed* in the circuit rather than being appointed to individual Local Churches*), it is common to refer to the church or churches for which they currently are assigned specific pastoral responsibility as their

'Section'. In this thesis, the word 'section' when used in this technical sense, is always, for the avoidance of doubt, capitalised. It is not in formal use in church polity. In addition to their duties as superintendent*, almost all superintendents have their own Section in which they carry out the ordinary duties of a presbyter*; those that do not have local *pastoral charge** are referred to as 'separated'*.

- **Separated.** When a Chair* is not *appointed to** any circuit*, or a superintendent* is not appointed as the pastor of any Local Churches* in the circuit, he or she is referred to as 'separated' (i.e. separated from *pastoral charge**).
- **Society, Societies.** The local group of Methodists* connected with and attending one place of worship. Now more usually referred to as a Local Church*. (DU (1)(xv))
- Society Stewards. The lay* people who, from the earliest days of Methodism, assisted John Wesley or his Assistant* by administering the local Society*, looking after the money and property. (Vickers 1988:70; Baker 1965:225-26)
- Staff Meeting. A meeting of the ministers* stationed* in a circuit*, together with lay* workers employed by the circuit, to 'take counsel together respecting the affairs of the Circuit' (SO 523). Most have more than one member of staff, who may receive a stipend* or salary, or work voluntarily. However, no formal distinction is made between those who are full-time or part-time, paid or unpaid. Staff may be ordained* or may include lay-people who work among families, children, young people, schools or communities. In some circuits there are supernumerary* ministers and non-Methodist ministers who are authorised by the Methodist Conference* to serve the Methodist Church* – usually in Local Ecumenical Partnerships. (SO732, 733, 733A)
- Standing Orders. ['SO'] The rules and regulations made by the Conference* of MCGB and published in *CPD*. Under the Methodist Church Act 1976 s.9 (Great Britain 1977) they have legal force for charitable trusteeship purposes. (DUcl.19; *CPD*, 261-718)
- Station, stationed. All ministers* (except separated* Chairs*) are stationed in a circuit* by the Conference*. Those who are *appointed to** serve the circuit are allocated *pastoral charge** of Local Churches*. Note that they are not stationed to Local Churches, but to circuits (SO 700,701). See also 'Section'*.
- **Stipend**. The living allowance paid to a minister* in lieu of his or her having to earn a salary. In MCGB* all ministers stationed into appointments within the control of the church who are available for itinerancy* receive the same amount in stipend, though are given extra allowances of up to 30% for additional responsibilities. A superintendent* receives an allowance of 7¹/₂% of stipend, or in 2014, £1697 per year. (SO801; *Minutes* 2014:150)
- Superintendent. Formally 'Superintendent Presbyter' or 'Superintendent', but often abbreviated informally to 'Super'. The superintendent is the presbyter*

appointed by the Methodist Conference* to be the leading presbyter in a circuit* (DU (1)(xxxiii)). Superintendents share the *pastoral charge** of the Circuit with the other presbyters *appointed to** the Circuit and have oversight of all the ministers and probationers* stationed* in the Circuit. (SO 700(9))

- **Supernumerary.** In some circuits* there are supernumerary ministers* who have retired from 'active' work, but who are expected to continue to exercise lifelong ministry in the circuit as they are able. 'Supernumeraries' are thus named because they are additional to the number of 'active' ministers. (SO700(1); 701(1); 792(1)(a))
- **Tickets.** A quarterly ticket of membership ('class ticket') first issued by Wesley as a guarantee of the fidelity of a member of the Society*. Wesley also issued 'band' tickets, for those who were in smaller, more intimate 'bands'. (Vickers 1988:25)
- **'Titular' Superintendent.** This informal phrase refers to the stationing of a presbyter* who is not appointed* to a circuit* to be its superintendent*, because none of the presbyters (if any) appointed to or stationed* in the circuit are able and willing to serve as such. The informal use of the word 'titular' is a misnomer, as the appointment is not honorary, but *de jure*. Usually such a superintendent is the District Chair* or a superintendent in a neighbouring circuit. (SO552,785(3)(b),(4)(a))
- United Methodist Church. [GB] The church, connexion* or denomination formed under or pursuant to the United Methodist Church Act 1907, as a union of the Methodist New Connexion*, the Bible Christian Church* and the United Methodist Free Churches.* (Vickers 1988:622-26).
 [USA] The American church formed in 1968 from a union of the Methodist Church (USA)* and the Evangelical United Brethren Church. (McEllhenney and Yrigoyen 2010:500)
- **United Methodist Free Churches.** A denomination founded in 1857 on the union of the Protestant Methodists* (1827), the Wesleyan Methodist Association (1836) and the Wesleyan Reform Movement (1849), which were each formed due to a desire to restrict the power of the Conference* or the ministers* over the societies*. (Harrison *et al.* 1932:144-54)
- **Vice-President.*** The Vice-President of the Methodist Conference* is the deacon* or lay* person elected by the Conference to preside over its sessions, and, as part of the Presidency*, to exercise *episkopé* over the MCGB* until the next annual Conference. He or she is elected by ballot at the Conference preceding the year of office, during which he or she bears the title 'Vice-Presidentdesignate'. A formal election in the which the Conference members solemnly vote by rising to their feet occurs at the beginning of the Representative Session* of the Conference, and the Vice-President takes office immediately. (SO110,110A)
- Wesleyan. The common description of the church, connexion* or denomination founded by The Revd John Wesley in the latter end of 1739 from those who

had freely entered into connexion with him in a religious society. (Wesley and Wesley 1747)

World Methodist Council. ['WMC'] The global partnership of 77 self-governing Methodist connexions (including MCGB*), with headquarters in Lake Junaluska, North Carolina. The largest partner connexion is the United Methodist Church (USA)*. The World Methodist Council has no formal authority over individual connexions. (World Methodist Council 2013)

Appendix 2 Questionnaire and associated 'voices'

Question	'Voice'
1. 'If you were asked by someone outside the Methodist Church what (your role as / the role of) the Superintendent Minister is, what would you tell them?'	E
'What power does a superintendent have?'	E
'If you were to compare the church with a secular organisation, how would you describe the superintendent using secular terms?'	Е
'Here's a list of functions a superintendent might find him or herself fulfilling: "Providing for worship", "Encouraging evangelism", "Helping people to think theologically", "Developing circuit policies", "Overseeing Discipline and good order", "Pastoral care of the staff", "Visitation of the churches", "Training others".	
'Thinking about the role of the minister <u>as</u> superintendent rather than as a local minister, how much does this list reflect what (you / a superintendent) actually (do / does)?	0
Can you give me an example of a time when (you or) a superintendent you have known exercised each of the functions?'	0
Do you think it's a helpful list?	E
What's most important?	EN
What does it miss out?	E
'This next question is about <i>governance</i> . What do you see as the superintendent's role in this?'	ΕO
'Can you give examples of specific actions (you or) a superintendent you have known have undertaken in relation to circuit policy?'	0
'How (do you / does a superintendent) monitor and assess the work of the circuit?'	0
'Where do you see the executive management lying in your circuit?	ΕO
'What do you see as the superintendent's role in this?'	EO
'Can you give examples of specific actions (you or) a superintendent you have known have undertaken in relation to circuit strategy?' ¹⁰⁵	0

¹⁰⁵ Answers concerning the superintendent's approach to strategy are discussed in the section on circuit policy (3.3.1), as interviewees used the two terms interchangeably (when speaking of dynamic rather than static policies).

'How (do you / does a superintendent) ensure that resources (human resources, money and buildings) are best deployed in the circuit?'	0
'How is communication enabled in the circuit?'	0
'In what ways (have you exercised leadership in the circuits where you have been the superintendent? or) has leadership been exercised by superintendents you have known?'	0
'Thinking about superintendents you have known in the past, are there any who you would say have particularly influenced the way you think thought about the role of a superintendent?'	N
(To superintendents only) 'To what extent have Conference statements affected the way you undertake your work as superintendent?' (To non-superintendents only) 'Can you give examples of the way superintendents you have known have implemented statements or policies of the Methodist Conference?'	N
'What has empowered you in your ministry as superintendent?'	Ε
'What has drained you in your ministry as superintendent?'	Е
'What do you think are the expectations other people have of superintendency?'	Ν
'What do you think (the situation of this circuit / your situation / your experience) has to say about the role or function or the superintendent minister?'	ΕN
'How do you think the role of the superintendent minister has changed in the past ten years?	ΕN
'And what do you think is the future of superintendency?'	Е
'How would you feel about people being ordained as superintendents?'	Е
'What would be different if a layperson were allowed to be a superintendent?'	Е
'What about the concept of Team superintendency?'	Е
'What about superintendents only doing that role, and no longer also having local churches to look after?'	Е
'Is there anything you expected to talk about, but we haven't covered in our conversation?'	ΕN

Appendix 3 Tested aspects of *WIACS*

Source	Evidence sought	Weight (score, p)
<i>WIACS</i> 3, 37	<i>WIACS</i> is being used by superintendents for encouragement and stimulation to themselves and their circuits	0
<i>WIACS</i> 5, 30	Superintendent helps the circuit to embody the means and structures for 'holiness' to assist people to grow in love for God and for the world	>0.5, 0.05
<i>WIAC</i> S 5, 16, 24, 30	Superintendent helps the circuit to embody the means and structures for evangelism	>0.5, 0.05
<i>WIACS</i> 5, 16, 24, 30, SO500(1)	Superintendent helps the circuit to embody the means and structures for service to the world	0
WIACS 6	Superintendent helps the circuit to discern and respond to the dynamics of the Kingdom of God	0
WIACS 6	Superintendent is accorded the right to exercise authority by his or her colleagues	0
WIACS 6	Superintendent maintains order in the Local Churches	0
<i>WIACS</i> 6, 16, 24	Superintendent ensures the provision and ordering of worship and preaching	=3, 0.0001
WIACS 6	Superintendent ensures the organising of discipleship groups	0
WIACS 6	Superintendent exercises oversight of membership admittance and expulsion	0
WIACS 6	Superintendent oversees appointments	0
<i>WIACS</i> 6, 24	Superintendent oversees accounts	0
WIACS 7	Superintendent oversees preachers	> 0.5, 0.05
WIACS 7	Superintendent walks closely with God	>1.5, 0.05; >1, 0.005
WIACS 7	Superintendent understands and loves discipline	>1.5, 0.01
WIACS 7	Superintendent resources preachers	>1, 0.05
WIACS 11	Superintendent shares in and upholds conciliar oversight	>0.5, 0.05
WIACS 11	Superintendent shares oversight with lay officers	>1, 0.05; >0.5, 0.005
WIACS 12	Superintendent shares oversight with other presbyters	>1.5, 0.05; >1, 0.005
WIACS 12	Superintendent ensures the presbyter has a presiding role in the local church	>1.5, 0.05 >1, 0.005
WIACS 15	Superintendent ensures governance in the circuit is theologically informed	0
WIACS 15	Superintendent ensures management in the circuit is theologically informed	>0.5, 0.05
WIACS 15	Superintendent ensures leadership in the circuit is	>0.5, 0.05

	theologically informed	
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral role as representative	>1.5, 0.05;
WACS 17	superintendent exercises presbyteral role as representative	>1, 0.0005
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral role as focal point	0
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral role as animator	>1, 0.05; >0.5, 0.005
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral role as guide	>0.5, 0.05
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral role in presiding over the ministry of the word	>2, 0.05 >1.5, 0.005
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral role in presiding over the ministry of the sacrament	0
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral role in presiding over the ministry of pastoral responsibility	>1, 0.01; >0.5,0.0005
WIACS 17	Superintendent exercises presbyteral service in contexts beyond the gathered congregations	0
WIACS 18	Superintendent helps the staff meeting to take prayerful counsel together	0
WIACS 18	Superintendent uses the staff meeting for mutual support of staff	0
WIACS 18	Superintendent uses the staff meeting for mutual supervision	0
WIACS 18	Superintendent uses the staff meeting to develop vision	0
WIACS 18	Superintendent helps the CLT to articulate vision	0
WIACS 18	Superintendent helps the CLT to formulate recommendations for strategies to enact vision	0
WIACS 18,	Superintendent helps the CLT to prepare business for Circuit	
32(g)	Meeting and to act on its decisions (executive management)	0
WIACS 18, 32(g)	Superintendent chairs the Circuit Meeting in its role of governance and ensures governance decisions are made by relevant bodies	>1, 0.05 >0.5, 0.005
WIACS 20	Superintendent helps to define intentions of different types of gathering and ensure boundaries are not transgressed	0
WIACS 21	Power is exercised by superintendents in a way that recognises they are working with volunteers	0
WIACS 21	Circuit stewards recognise authority of superintendent, not simply an executive officer	0
WIACS 21,	Power is not exercised by superintendent in an autocratic	>1, 0.05;
22, 32(f)	way	>0.5, 0.005
WIACS 22	Superintendent helps lay people to accept accountability	0
WIACS 24	Superintendent provides interpretation and apologetics in the circuit	0
WIACS 24	Superintendent oversees provision of sacraments (and authorisations to preside)	>0.5, 0.05
<i>WIAC</i> S 24, 25	Superintendent ensures discussions concerning pastoral charge take place in Circuit Meeting or its delegated body	0

WIACS 24, 32(g)	Superintendent facilitates proper organisation in the circuit for meetings to fulfil legal requirements	0
WIACS 25	Superintendent ensures ministers are resourced and supported	0
WIACS 26	Superintendent recognises own accountability	>1, 0.05; >0.5, 0.005
WIACS 27	Superintendent enables circuit staff to be accountable to the Circuit Meeting	0
WIACS 28,	Superintendent ensures gifts and skills of laypeople are	>2, 0.005;
30	supported and utilised (training programmes)	>1.5,0.0005
WIACS 29	Superintendent ensures ministers are released for ministry	0
<i>WIACS</i> 30, 31	Superintendent helps circuit to create a strategy for worship and mission, witness and holiness	0
<i>WIACS</i> 30, 31	Superintendent helps circuit to create a policy for worship and mission, witness and holiness	0
WIACS 30	Superintendent helps circuit to work alongside the poor and disadvantaged	0
WIACS 30	Superintendent emphasises mission and growth, not maintenance	>1, 0.05; >0.5, 0.005
WIACS 30	Superintendent inspires the circuit in a vision to look beyond the institution to the Kingdom of God	0
WIACS 31	Superintendent creates a culture of growth and grace [inc discipline]	>2, 0.005; >1.5,0.0005
WIACS 31	Superintendent helps the circuit to understand the communities and institutions it serves	>0.5, 0.001
WIACS 31	Superintendent helps the circuit to understand the nature and activity of God	0
WIACS 31	Superintendent enables circuit review - staffing, churches, ecumenism, demographics, church planting	>1, 0.001; >0.5,0.0005
WIACS 31	Superintendent confronts oppressive traditions	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(a), 33, 36(e)	In leadership, superintendent inspires and creates space for imagination, development of vision and sharing of ideas	>0.5, 0.01
WIACS 32(a)	In leadership, superintendent inspires implementation of ideas	0
WIACS 32(b)	In leadership, superintendent stimulates theological reflection	0
WIACS 32(b)	In leadership, superintendent helps people to learn from failure	0
WIACS 32(c)	In leadership, superintendent helps rational assessment of situations and responsible risk-taking	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(d)	In leadership, superintendent ensures that colleagues enable the voice of the least and lowest to be heard	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(e)	In leadership, superintendent exercises power with authority, justice and love	0
WIACS 32(f)	In leadership, superintendent challenges abusive exercise of	0
		•

	power	
WIACS 33	In leadership, superintendent enables leadership	0
WIACS	In management, superintendent co-ordinates strategies and	0
32(g), 33	systems to enact decisions	0
WIACS	In management, superintendent sets up systems to review	0
32(g)	Circuit Meeting decisions	0
WIACS 32(i)	In management, superintendent helps deacons and lay workers to exercise their roles	0
WIACS 32(j)	In management, superintendent ensures induction, supervision, support and assessment of probationers	>0.5, 0.05
WIACS	In management, superintendent ensures appropriate and	0
32(k)	adequate supervision of colleagues in professional practice	0
WIACS 32(I)	In governance, superintendent ensures that schedules are completed	>0.5, 0.05
WIACS 32(I); 520(2)	In governance, superintendent ensures that Standing Orders are followed	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(m)	In governance, superintendent ensures that information is co-ordinated to enable the whole circuit to participate in Circuit Meeting processes	>2, 0.05 >1.5,0.0005
<i>WIACS</i> 32(n)	In governance, superintendent enables the Circuit Meeting to formulate policies	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(0)	In governance, superintendent ensures that the Circuit Meeting holds itself accountable to its local churches and the wider connexion	>1, 0.01 >0.5,0.0005
<i>WIACS</i> 32(p)	In governance, superintendent ensures that the circuit adheres to and fulfils its purposes	>2, 0.05 >1.5, 0.001 >1, 0.0005
SO 500(1), 32(h)	Superintendent ensures effective deployment of people, property and finance in relation to churches of the circuit	0
SO 500(1), 32(h)	Superintendent ensures effective deployment of people, property and finance in relation to churches of other denominations and ecumenical work	0
SO 500(1), 32 (h)	Superintendent ensures effective deployment of people, property and finance in relation to local communities	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(q)	In oversight, superintendent models in practice the values, rules and regulations of the Methodist Church	> 1, 0.05 >0.5, 0.005
<i>WIACS</i> 32(r)	In oversight, superintendent helps the people in the Circuit to understand ministerial role and its stresses	>0.5, 0.005
WIACS 32(s)	In oversight, superintendent helps colleagues to discern unrealistic and irrelevant priorities of the members and churches	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(s)	In oversight, superintendent helps colleagues to take steps of faith in new missionary opportunities	0
<i>WIACS</i> 32(t), 36(e)	In oversight, superintendent helps colleagues in their own spirituality and theological reflection	0

14// 4 66 22		1.0.05
WIACS 33,	Superintendent exercises representative role of circuit to	>1, 0.05
36(d)	ecumenical partners	>0.5, 0.01
WIACS 33	Superintendent exercise representative role of circuit to district	0
WIACS 33	Superintendent exercises representative role of district to circuit	0
WIACS 33	Superintendent exercises representative role of circuit to wider connexion	0
WIACS 33	Superintendent exercises representative role of wider connexion to circuit	0
WIACS 34	Superintendent allocates time to superintendency	0
WIACS 34	Circuit provides adequate administrative support for the superintendent	0
WIACS 35	There is no evidence of a prevailing autocratic male- dominated model of superintendency	>1, 0.05 >0.5, 0.005
WIACS 35	Superintendent delegates	0
<i>WIACS</i> 36(a)	Superintendent is theologically and spiritually aware	>0.5, 0.05
<i>WIACS</i> 36(b)	Superintendent is highly sensitive to the way he or she interacts with others	0
<i>WIACS</i> 36(c)	Superintendent is able to negotiate collaborative working and mutual accountability	0
<i>WIACS</i> 36(d)	Superintendent is adept at promoting inclusiveness in terms of multi-ethnicity and disability	0
<i>WIACS</i> 36(d)	Superintendent is adept at promoting interdisciplinary working	0
<i>WIACS</i> 36(e)	Superintendent creates space for creativity, sensitivity and awareness within agencies in the wider community	0
<i>WIACS</i> 36(e)	Superintendent creates space for creativity, sensitivity and awareness within the circuit	>0.5, 0.005
<i>WIACS</i> 36(e)	Superintendent shares theological reflection with the circuit	0
<i>WIACS</i> 36(e)	Superintendent shares theological reflection with the agencies in the wider community	0
WIACS 37	The expectations of people are not inhibiting the superintendent's fulfilment of their responsibilities	0
WIACS 37	Superintendent receives support	>0.5, 0.05
WIACS 37	Superintendent has attended ongoing training	>1, 0.005
WIACS 37	Superintendent accepts staff meeting supervision	0
WIACS 37	Superintendent does not feel guilty	0
SO 524	Superintendent enables systematic preaching of 'our doctrines'	0
SO 521(1)	Superintendent makes preaching Plan	0
SO 564	Superintendent interviews candidates for preaching	0

SO 710 (3)(a)	Superintendent assesses doctrinal fidelity of candidates for ordination	0
SO 542(2), 782(1)	Superintendent fills in stationing forms	>1, 0.05 >0.5,0.0005
SO 920; 928	Superintendent gives consent for non-Methodist worship on church premises	0
SO 522	Superintendent undertakes Visitation of the churches	0
SO 502	Superintendent chairs meetings	>0.5, 0.05
SO 012(4), 015, 502, 903, s.94, s.95, 965(3)	Superintendent oversees property and finance	>0.5, 0.05
SO 725(4)(a)	Superintendent reports on probationers	>0.5, 0.05
SO 760(2)	Superintendent is involved in advisory committee for ministerial resignations	0
SO 358	Superintendent makes statistical returns	>2, 0.05 >1.5,0.0005
SO 743	Superintendent undertakes staff mentoring	0
SO 802	Superintendent oversees chaplaincy time and fees	0
CPD p.733- 35	Superintendent oversees Safeguarding	>0.5, 0.05
SO 1104, 1105, 1110, 1150	Superintendent has appropriately engaged in Complaints and Discipline	0
Handbook	Superintendent oversees and encourages Local Ecumenical Partnerships	0
Handbook	Superintendent oversees and resources staff holidays and sabbaticals	0
Handbook	Superintendent invites district officers to preach	0
SO 513	Superintendent helps Circuit Meeting to ensure it is representative	0
SO 050	Superintendent liaises with Methodist school chaplains	0
SO 523	Superintendent arranges frequent staff meetings	>0.5, 0.005

Appendix 4 Theses on District Superintendents

This Appendix lists theses on the role of the District Superintendent, which have not been included in the bibliography, as they have been noted but discounted on the grounds of the DS being a different ministry from that of the British superintendent. Note that this list includes a Wesleyan Church resource.

- Bailey, Paul C. From grief to greeting: supervising the pastor-parish relations committee and pastor through termination and start up, United Theological Seminary, OH, 1991.
- DeMore, Philip D. *Modeling grace: the district superintendent's role in promoting health/wellness for clergy and the church,* United Theological Seminary, OH, 1991.
- Gómez, Roberto L. *The district superintendent as spiritual leader*, Perkins School of Theology Southern Methodist University, 1989.
- Heisley-Cato, Deborah Joyce. *Effective use of the office of the district superintendent to encourage healthy disciple-making churches*, Wesley Theological Seminary, 2008.
- Isaman, Ronald V. *Identifying and promoting effective spiritual leadership through the role of district superintendent in the Northeast Jurisdiction of the United Methodist Church*, Asbury Theological Seminary DMin Theses, 2005.
- Kammerer, Charlene P. *The spiritual life of the district superintendent: barometer of vitality for the denomination*, United Theological Seminary, OH, 1991.
- Matthews, Eugene W. *The district superintendency, bond of denominational renewal: a mission statement as a catalyst for church renewal and vitalization,* United Theological Seminary, OH, 1991.
- McMillan, Bobby J. *The desk extends to the pulpit and the altar: a pastoral and priestly model for superintending*, United Theological Seminary, OH, 1991.
- Morrison, Martha V. *The district superintendent as catalyst for prophetic ministries,* United Theological Seminary, OH, 1991.
- Reed, James R. *The pastoral role of the United Methodist District Superintendent*, Phillips Theological Seminary, 1998.
- Tomlinson, K. Edward Sowing the seed, anticipate the harvest: the district superintendent as church planter, United Theological Seminary, OH, 1991.
- Vermilya, James P. *The role of the district superintendent in the Wesleyan Church,* Trinity Evangelical Divinity School of Trinity International University, 1998.

Appendix 5 Comparative texts of TNOO and WIACS

The Nature of Oversight, §§1.11-1.13	WIACS, §32
Leadership is the set of interactions	Superintendents have a responsibility in
through which	terms of leadership
people are inspired to be imaginative and	to inspire people, lay and ordained, to be
to participate in the development of new	imaginative and to participate in the
vision, and are empowered to share their	development of new vision by
ideas and act upon them;	empowering them to share their ideas and act upon them;
the content of that developing vision is	to encourage and enable colleagues and
articulated and considered	others to discern the work of God by
	stimulating theological reflection and
	helping people to see that they can learn
	from failure as well as from success;
action is initiated and people encouraged	
to follow	
examples are provided of taking risks,	to provide examples of taking risks, once
once the realities of a particular situation	the realities of a particular situation have
have been rationally assessed and a	been rationally assessed and a
commitment has been made to accept	commitment has been made to accept
responsibility for the results of the action	responsibility for the results of the action
to be undertaken;	to be undertaken;
guidance is given about what actions are	[see 'challenging, guiding and
likely to entail unwarranted risk and	advising' below]
contravene Christian principles or the	
law (or both)	to provide models of exercising power
models are provided of exercising power (not least with regard to the management	(not least with regard to the management
of resources) with authority, justice and	of resources) with authority, justice and
love'.	love;
	to ensure that colleagues enable the voice
	of the least and lowest to be heard and
	the poor and disadvantaged to be
	included;
	to challenge colleagues and other who
	exercise power in other ways.
Management is the process by which	In terms of management they have a
	responsibility:
specific strategies are formulated for	to ensure that after governance
enacting the organisation's policies and	decisions are made by the relevant
fulfilling its purposes	bodies (e.g. the Circuit Meeting)
	appropriate people, systems and
	strategies are set in place to enact them,

	to ensure that the circuit adheres to and
	fulfils its purposes
monitoring and assessing the fulfilment of those purposes	and proper processes established to review them;
particular objectives are set concerning the implementation of those strategies; human, financial, capital (e.g. investments and buildings) and technological resources are deployed to achieve those objectives	to ensure that human, financial, capital (e.g. investments and buildings) and technological resources are deployed to fulfil the particular objectives set for the implementation of those strategies;
	to help any other presbyters appointed to and stationed in the circuit to fulfil their presbyteral role to the best of their ability and similarly, where appropriate, to help any deacons and lay workers in the circuit to exercise their roles; to ensure that any probationers in the circuit are appropriately inducted into the exercise of public ministry, and properly supervised, supported and assessed;
the performance of individuals and groups in meeting the objectives is monitored and assessed.	to ensure that colleagues are appropriately and adequately supervised in their professional practice; to embody in their practice to the best of their ability the values, rules and regulations of the Methodist Church, and thereby to provide a model for colleagues and the circuit;
Governance is the exercise of formal authority in: setting parameters for the implementation of those policies	In terms of governance they have a responsibility:
formulating and adopting the principal purposes and policies of the Church under the guidance of the Spirit	to enable the Circuit Meeting to formulate policies under the guidance of the Spirit, challenging , guiding and advising it as appropriate; to ensure that information is co-ordinated and thereby enable the whole circuit to participate in the processes that lead to the Circuit Meeting making policies;
making rules and regulations for the organisation;	to ensure that all schedules and other tasks required by Standing Orders are completed;
ensuring that the organisation complies with both its internal regulations (e.g.	to ensure that the Circuit Meeting holds itself accountable to churches in the

Standing Orders, doctrinal standards)	circuit and to the wider connexion;
and external legislation (e.g. accounting	
rules, Charity law, data protection).	
Oversight is the process of reflecting on	In terms of general oversight or pastoral
experience in order to discern the	charge they have a responsibility:
presence and activity of God in the	
world. It includes elements of:	
caring for an individual, a group of	to help the people in the circuit to
people or an organisation as a whole	develop an understanding of the proper
body;	role of presbyters (and, where
reviewing the life and work of the	appropriate, of deacons and lay-people)
individual, group or organisation and	and of the stresses and strains which it
seeing how the parts of it fit into the	might entail;
whole	
ensuring that both the parts and the	
whole flourish and fulfil their purposes;	
seeking to catch a vision of what God	to help colleagues to discern which
might require of an individual, a group,	expectations or priorities of members and
the Church or the world, and to proclaim	churches are unrealistic or irrelevant and
that prophetically;	thereby help to liberate people from them
developing plans for how that vision	so that they can take imaginative steps of
might be enacted;	faith in the light of new missionary
taking the decisions necessary to begin to	opportunities;
implement those plans;	
reviewing progress regularly, reflecting	to help colleagues to inspire confidence
on it prayerfully in the light of the word	in the Gospel of grace through their own
of God, offering it all to God and	spirituality of prayer, confidence,
receiving it back from God transformed	enthusiasm, happiness, and vulnerability
in worship	and through their Bible study and
	theological reflection.

Appendix 6 Ethical Approval and Interviewee Consent

I present here an edited version of my ethical approval form, which includes the question schedule, a participants' information sheet, and a sample consent form

Title of project: 'The British Methodist Superintendent Minister: A study of personal oversight, with a particular focus on the Circuits of the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District'.

Proposed means of publication: Doctoral thesis

Aim of the project: To ascertain whether the practice of Superintendency actually matches the theory and theological metanarrative, and to what extent it is responding effectively to the contemporary situation of the Methodist Church.

Please state who has conducted an expert independent review of your proposed project, and his/her verdict. Prof Paul Murray – approved.

Design of study and methodology, in brief: Research will be by interview. Superintendents and their colleagues will generally be interviewed alone, using semi-structured questions; lay officers will be interviewed in pairs or small groups. All interviews will be recorded and transcribed.

Participants:

Who are they? Ministers, lay employees and Circuit Stewards. How many? Around 80.

Selection: Adults of both genders, mainly over 40 years old.

How are the participants to be recruited? By the office they hold. All Superintendents in the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District will be interviewed, plus one staff colleague and at least two Circuit Stewards from each circuit. Pilot and supplementary studies will include similar office-holders from elsewhere. A telephone call will initially be made to ask for consent to being interviewed for the research.

Is there any link with the investigator? Some are former colleagues. **How are the participants to be involved in the study?** They will be interviewed concerning their views on the office and role of a Superintendent Minister.

What research tools do you plan to use? Interview.

What discomfort, danger or interference with normal activities will be suffered by the participant, if any? The participants will be asked to give a maximum of two hours of their time.

State precautions to minimise them: The interviews will aim for one hour length.

State special arrangements for indemnification in the event of injury or nonnegligent harm to the participants. Interviews only.

What benefit (e.g. in terms of increased knowledge) is it hoped will arise from the work? An understanding of how practitioners and their colleagues view the

work of a Superintendent minister. No doctoral level research has previously been carried out.

Has statistical advice been sought on study design? Yes From whom? Dr Mathew Guest

Please describe the statistical/other rationale for the sample size/number of participants to be used in this study and how the study size will yield

meaningful research results. The sample is a case study which thereby dictates its size. Analysis of sampling error has been undertaken to determine that the results would be generalisable, as the sample falls within the required standard error if it had been randomly selected from the entire population.

Consent

Who will explain the investigation to the participant? The investigator. Will written explanation be given to the participant as a summary of the project written in layman's language? Yes

Will written consent be obtained? Yes

How and where will consent be recorded? On a form. All forms will be kept with the project documentation.

Confidentiality

Please indicate what steps will be taken to safeguard the anonymity and confidentiality of the participant's records, and confirm that the requirements of the Data Protection Acts will be complied with. Participants will be identified by case number. Some individual participants may be identifiable by reference to publicly available directories, but

comments will remain confidential to the investigator.

Will tape or video recordings and any written transcriptions from these be destroyed at the end of the project? No

If NO, what further use do you intend to make of the recordings and what arrangements will be made for their secure storage? The recordings will be anonymised, and I will retain them for the use of any future bona fide researcher.

Will consent be requested for this future use? Yes

Project Duration

When do you hope to commence the project? Early 2011 When will the project finish and how long will it take to complete? 2013 – two years.

Where appropriate, please state the source of funding for the work. Some funding from The Methodist Church

Appendix 7 Participant Consent Form

TITLE OF PROJECT: The British Methodist Superintendent Minister

(The participant should complete the whole of this sheet himself/herself)

	Please cross out
	as necessary
Have you read the Participant Information Sheet?	YES / NO
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and to discuss the study?	YES / NO
Have you received satisfactory answers to all of your questions?	YES / NO
Have you received enough information about the study?	YES / NO
Who have you spoken to? Dr/Mr/Mrs/Ms/Prof./The Revd	
Do you consent to participate in the study?	YES/NO
Do you understand that you are free to withdraw from the study:	
* at any time and	
* without having to give a reason for withdrawing	YES / NO
Do you understand that any recordings made of your conversation with the researcher will remain absolutely confidential to the researcher and his supervisors and examiners, and will be deleted at the end of the period of research?	YES / NO
Do you consent to your conversation being recorded?	
YES / NO	
Signed Date	
(NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)	

TITLE OF PROJECT: The British Methodist Superintendent Minister

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this research project!

The research is being undertaken by me, The Revd Neil Cockling, in my capacity as a doctoral student at the Department of Theology. I have been a Methodist Minister since 1989, I was a Superintendent Minister for 11 years, and I currently serve as District Development Enabler for the Newcastle-upon-Tyne District of the Methodist Church of Great Britain.

The Methodist Church is changing – and so is the role of the Superintendent Minister. The purpose of this research is to make a contribution to the thinking of the wider church as to the future role of Superintendents. Your views are valuable for this thinking, and you are being included so that as wide a range of people as possible have been consulted.

Please note that all identities of participants will remain totally confidential to the researcher. If your views are quoted in the text of the thesis, you will be identified by a number, and your circuit will be identified by a letter. Neither you, nor your circuit, will be identified by name, in the final thesis.

It's really helpful if a recording can be made of the conversation. It means that the conversation can flow without my needing to write too many notes. It also means that I can listen again to anything you say that it's important to hear – and so that I can quote your exact words rather than a half-remembered summary. I'm therefore asking for your permission for this to happen. The only people who will listen to the recordings are academics in a carefully controlled setting, and I will personally look after the recordings and restrict access to them. You won't be identifiable by name from the recordings.

Once again, my thanks for your participation in this research – and your contribution to the future thinking of the church.

My contact details are as follows: The Revd Neil Cockling [Home Address] [Home telephone number] [Personal email]

If you have any concerns following this conversation, please contact my main supervisor, Prof Paul Murray, at Department of Theology and Religion [Address] [Email]

Approved by University of Durham Theology and Religion Departmental Ethics Committee

Appendix 9 Interview Schedule

Q1. If you were asked by someone outside the Methodist Church what (your role as / the role of) the Superintendent Minister is, what would you tell them? What power does a superintendent have? [How would you compare the role with a secular organisation?]

Q2. Here's a list of functions a Superintendent might find him or herself fulfilling. [A card contains the following list: Providing for worship; Encouraging evangelism; Helping people to think theologically; Developing circuit policies; Overseeing Discipline and good order; Pastoral care of the staff; Visitation of the churches; Training others.]

Thinking about the role of the minister <u>as Superintendent</u> rather than as a local minister, how much does this list reflect what (you/a Superintendent) actually (do/does)? Do you think it's a helpful list? What's most important? What does it miss out? Can you give me an example of a time when (you / a Superintendent you have known) exercised each of the functions?'

Q3. This next question is about *governance*. The Methodist Church understands *governance* as the making of policy for the church and the implementation of those policies. What do you see as the Superintendent's role in this? Can you give examples of specific actions (you / a Superintendent you have known has) have undertaken in relation to circuit policy? How (do you / does a Superintendent) monitor and assess the work of the Circuit?

Q4. This next question is about *management*. The Methodist Church understands *management* as formulating strategies to make sure that policies are enacted and purposes are fulfilled. Where do you see the executive management lying in your circuit? What do you see as the Superintendent's role in this? Can you give examples of specific actions (you have / a Superintendent you have known has) undertaken in relation to circuit strategy? How (do you / does a Superintendent) ensure that resources (human resources, money and buildings) are best deployed in the circuit? How is communication enabled in the circuit?

Q5. This next question is about *leadership*. In what ways (have you exercised leadership in the circuits where you have been the superintendent? / has leadership been exercised by superintendents you have known? Can you give examples of specific actions (you have / a Superintendent you have known has) undertaken in relation to circuit strategy?

Q6. This next question is about how you have been influenced in your thinking about the role of a superintendent. Thinking about superintendents you have known in the past, are there any who you would say have particularly influenced the way you think thought about the role of a superintendent? [(To superintendents only) To what extent have Conference statements affected the way you undertake your work as Superintendent?] [(To non-superintendents only) Can you give examples of the way superintendents you have known have implemented statements or policies of the Methodist Conference?] [(To superintendents only) What has empowered you in your ministry as Superintendent? What has drained you in your ministry as Superintendent?] What do you think are the expectations other people have of superintendency?

Q7. I'm particularly interested in your view of Superintendency because ...

- There is a co-superintendency
- It is an ecumenical area with an Area President and a separate superintendent Or you
- Are an Anglican minister
- Are a United Reformed minister
- Are a District Chair
- Are a Lay worker
- Are a supernumerary minister

What do you think (the situation of this circuit / your situation /your experience) has to say about the role or function of the superintendent minister?

Q8. How do you think the role of the superintendent minister has changed in the past ten years? And what do you think is the future of superintendency? How would you feel about people being ordained as superintendents? What would be different if a layperson were allowed to be a superintendent? What about the concept of Team superintendency? What about superintendents only doing that role, and no longer also having local churches to look after?

Q9. Do you have anything else to say about superintendency that you haven't had the chance to tell me so far?

Appendix 10 Έπισκοπή in Scripture

Both the Septuagint¹⁰⁶ and New Testament use the word $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota\sigma\kappa\sigma\pi\dot{\eta}$ (Beyer 1964): my taxonomy here suggests increasingly-close oversight.

Firstly, ἐπισκοπή is used to speak of *personal oversight* exercised through an *office*. It is used to speak of the *role of overseeing* (Numbers 4:27).¹⁰⁷ Eleazar's role was overseeing sanctuary care: the tabernacle (Numbers 4:16b), its equipment (4:16a), and the Levites' work (3:32). Peter uses Psalm 109:8 to speak of Judas' *leadership responsibility* (Acts 1:20): the KJV translates ἐπισκοπὴν as 'bishoprick'; Wesley as 'apostleship'.¹⁰⁸ Paul (1Timothy 3:1) uses ἐπισκοπῆς to speak of an *office*: variously translated as 'bishop' (D-R; KJV; NKJV; ASV; GW) 'overseer' (ESV; NASB; NIV), 'elder' (NLT; ISV), and 'supervisor' (CEB).¹⁰⁹ Beyer (1964:615) notes that in the early church, ἐπίσκοποι is only used to speak of the leaders of settled congregations.

Secondly, ἐπισκοπή speaks of the *general role of the officer: keeping watch*. Ἐπισκοπὴ shares with ἐπισκέπτομαι (a later form of ἐπισκοπέω) the root σκεπ-. Beyer (1964:600) argues that whereas ἐπισκέπτομαι is a single act of looking or consideration, ἐπισκοπέω refers to 'continuing and careful scrutiny'. It could be selfscrutiny. The Greeks spoke of the gods looking down in protective blessing. Peter speaks of the 'ἐπίσκοπον of your souls' (1Peter 2:25).

Thirdly, closer watch entails *visiting* to inspect. The Septuagint translators used $\dot{\epsilon}\pi\iota\sigma\kappa\sigma\pi\dot{\eta}$ to translate *pqd*. Its basic meaning is 'to visit', but it could also mean 'to

¹⁰⁶ Maddox (2011:16-17) helpfully indicates Wesley's emphasis on the value of the Old Testament and its intertextuality with the New Testament.

¹⁰⁷ Beyer (1964:603) argues this might be the source of the word's use in the early church.

¹⁰⁸ This use in Wesley (1976) (Acts 1:20), but in Wesley (1988b:92) he uses the word 'Bishop'.

¹⁰⁹ I note the translators' debt to their ecclesiological tradition – episcopalian (D-R; KJV) or congregationalist (NLT; ISV).

worry about', 'to look upon something with concern or interest', 'to attend to with care', 'to undertake extensive oversight', 'to inspect, correct' and 'to arrange'.¹¹⁰ The Greeks spoke of such inspection by a king, a supervisor, or a doctor. Visitation could show concern or offer help: as in Acts 7:23 (Moses visiting the Israelites) or 15:36 (Paul and Barnabas visiting the churches). Beyer (1964:601) notes that the Septuagint translators used $\dot{\epsilon}\pi$ ioκoπή to speak of a shepherd's care: of counting and noting absence or needs.¹¹¹ Hence Peter's '*shepherd* and $\dot{\epsilon}\pi$ ioκoπον of your souls' (1Peter 2:25).¹¹²

Fourthly, an inspector exercises *judgement*. The translators thus used this Greek religious term to speak of God's visitation for judgement – for punishment in Numbers 16:29; Isaiah 10:3; 10:15; 11:23, 23:12, 48:44 [LXX 31:44], 51:18 [LXX 28:18], 46:21 [LXX 26:21], 50:27 [LXX 27:27]; Hosea 9:7; and Micah 7:4. Jesus links God's visitation in this way with his own coming to Jerusalem – Luke 19:44. Yet God also brings blessing for the righteous (1Peter 2:12).

Fifthly, the inspector *responds*. God visits to care and provide for Job (Job 10:12). Meeting practical needs was offered by those with oversight of the tabernacle's external frame (Numbers 3:35-6), as Temple guards (2Kings 11:18); for priestly duties (1Chronicles 24:3, 19; 2Chronicles 23:18); to oversight of a region (1Chronicles 26:30) or city (Ezekiel 9:1); as gatekeepers to the sanctuary and sacrificial slaughterers (Ezekiel 44:11); and as royal accountants (2Chronicles 24:11): ἐπισκέψασθε refers to the provisions or equipment stored (Numbers 4:32).¹¹³

¹¹⁰ Schottroff (1997:1019) lists extensive scholarship. It is beyond this thesis' scope to examine the root in depth: Speiser (1958:21) notes, "there is probably no other Hebrew verb that has caused translators as much trouble as pqd" (Williams 1997).

¹¹¹ Jeremiah 23:2; Zechariah 11:16, Ezekiel 34:11-12; 2Chronicles 24:6.

¹¹² 'Επίσκεψιν refers to a group of people being overseen (1Chronicles 23:11).

¹¹³ I note that Hellenistic writings contemporary with LXX use the word ἐπίσκοπος to describe the treasurer of cultic organisations (Hatch 1881:26-30, 36-37; Brown 1971:37, n.22).

Bibliography

- Abraham, William T. and James E. Kirby (2009) ed. Oxford Handbook of Methodist Studies. Oxford: University Press.
- Ainslie, James L. (1940) *The Doctrine of Ministerial Order in the Reformed Church* of the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries. Edinburgh: T & T Clark.
- Anglican-Methodist Unity Commission. (1968) Anglican-Methodist Unity: Report of the Anglican-Methodist Unity Commission. Part 2, The Scheme. London: SPCK.
- Aquinas, Thomas, Summa Theologica [ST].
- Argyris, Chris (1982). *Reasoning, Learning and Action: Individual and Organizational.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Armstrong, Michael R. (2011) Lay Christian Views of Life After Death: A Qualitative Study and Theological Appraisal of the Ordinary Eschatology of Some Congregational Christians. Doctoral thesis, Durham University. Accessed 2012-21-01. http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/3274/
- Ashdown, James (2001) Interim Moderator Training Pack. London: London Baptist Association.
- Astley, Jeff (2002) Ordinary Theology: Looking, Listening and Learning in *Theology*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Astley, Jeff and Ann Christie (2007) *Taking Ordinary Theology Seriously*. Grove Pastoral Series P110. Cambridge: Grove Books.
- Atkins, Martyn (2011) "Contemporary Methodism: a discipleship movement shaped for mission [The General Secretary's Report]". In *Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2011*, 23-48. London: Methodist Conference Office.
- Augustine, Contra Epistolam Parmeniani: Contra Parmen.
- (1955) Augustine: Confessions and Enchiridion. Library of Christian Classics, Vol VII. Tr. and ed. Albert C Outler. London: SCM Press.
- (1984) City of God. Tr. H Bettenson. London: Penguin.
- Avis, Paul (2002) Anglicanism and the Christian Church: Theological Resources in Historical Perspective. 2nd ed. London: T & T Clark.
- (2006) Beyond the Reformation? Authority, Primacy and Unity in the Conciliar Tradition. London: T & T Clark.
- Badcock, Gary D. (2009) *The House Where God Lives: Renewing the Doctrine of the Church for Today.* Cambridge UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.

- Baker, Frank (1965) "The People Called Methodists 3. Polity". In A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain, ed. Rupert Davies and Gordon Rupp, 211-55. London: Epworth Press.
- Ballard, Paul (2012) "Review of Talking about God in Practice: Theological Action Research and Practical Theology, by Helen Cameron, Deborah Bhatti, Catherine Duce, James Sweeney and Clare Watkins. London: SCM Press, 2010", International Journal of Practical Theology 16.1:156-58.
- Ballard, Paul and John Pritchard (1996) *Practical Theology in Action: Christian Thinking in the Service of Church and Society.* London: SPCK.
- (2006) Practical Theology in Action: Christian Thinking in the Service of Church and Society. 2nd edn. London: SPCK.
- Balthasar, Hans Urs von (1988-1998) *Theo-drama: Theological dramatic theory*, tr. Graham Harrison. 5 vols. San Francisco: Ignatius Press. **[TD]**
- Barrett, Alfred (1854) The Ministry and Polity of the Christian Church. London: John Mason. Accessed 2013-11-27. http://books.google.co.uk/books/about/The_ministry_and_polity_of_the_Chri stian.html?id=xcgCAAAAQAAJ
- Barrett, C.K. (1998) A Critical and Exegetical Commentary on the Acts of the Apostles. Vol. II. In The International Critical Commentary on the Holy Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments, ed. J.A. Emerton, C.E.B. Cranfield and G.N. Stanton. Edinburgh: T & T Clark.
- Barth, Karl (1975), Church Dogmatics. Edinburgh: T & T Clark.
- Bass, B. M. (1990) Bass and Stogdill's Handbook of Leadership: Theory, Research and Managerial Applications. New York: Free Press.
- Batty, M. (1992) *Stages in the Development and Control of Wesleyan Lay Leadership 1791-1878.* Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- Baxter, M. (1865) Methodism. Memorials of the United Methodist Free Churches, with recollections of The Rev. Robert Eckett, and some of his contemporaries. London: W. Reed. Accessed 2013-22-27. http://books.google.co.uk/books?id=aqUHAAAAQAAJ
- Beck, Brian E. (1991) "Some Reflections on Connexionalism." *Epworth Review* 18:48-59.
- (2005) "World Methodist Theology", *Epworth Review*, 32(3):17-24.
- Beckerlegge, Oliver A. (1957) *The United Methodist Free Churches: A Study in Freedom.* London: Epworth.
- (1975) "Our Doctrines". Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society 40(3):69-72, 74-79.

- Beecham, John (1850) An Essay on the Constitution of Wesleyan Methodism, in which various misrepresentations of some of its leading principles are exposed, and its present form is vindicated. 2nd edn. London: John Mason.
- Beet, Joseph A (1917) *The Church, the Churches, and the Sacraments*. London: Hodder and Stoughton.
- Bethune-Baker, J.F. (1951) An Introduction to the Early History of Christian Doctrine. 9th ed. London: Methuen.
- Bevans, Stephen B. (2002) Models of Contextual Theology. Maryknoll, NY: Orbis.
- (2009) An Introduction to Theology in Global Perspective. Maryknoll, NY: Orbis.
- Beyer, Hermann Wolfgang (1964) s.v. ἐπισκέπτομαι *et al.* in *Theological Dictionary* of the New Testament, II, ed.Gerhard Kittel, tr. Geoffrey W. Bromiley, 599-622. Grand Rapids, MI: Wm.B. Eerdmanns.
- Bible Reading Fellowship (2013). www.messychurch.org.uk. Accessed 2013-07-13.
- Birks, Melanie, and Jane Mills (2011) *Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide*. London: Sage.
- Boeve, Lieven (2007) *God Interrupts History. Theology in a time of upheaval.* London: Continuum.
- Boff, Leonardo (1989) *Faith on the Edge: Religion and Marginalized Existence*. San Francisco: Harper and Row.
- Bonhoeffer, Dietrich (1967) Letters and Papers from Prison. Rev.ed. New York: Macmillan.
- Boulding, Cecily (2002) "The Roman Catholic Church". In *The Christian Church: An Introduction to the Major Traditions*. ed. Paul Avis, 77-106. London: SPCK.
- Bouteneff, Peter and Alan D. Falconer, eds (1999) *Episkopé and Episcopacy and the Quest for Visible Unity: Two Consultations*. Faith and Order Paper No. 183. Geneva: World Council of Churches Publications.
- Brake, George Thompson (1984) *Policy and Politics in British Methodism 1932-*1982. London: Edsall.
- Brandt, Wilfried (1968) *Der Heilige Geist und die Kirche bei Schleiermacher*. Zurich: Zwingli Verlag.
- Brierley, Peter, ed. (2006) UK Christian Handbook Religious Trends No. 6 2006/2007: Analyses from the 2005 English Church Census, 5.6. London: Christian Research.
- Brown, Raymond E. (1971) *Priest and Bishop: Biblical Reflections*. London: Geoffrey Chapman.

- Brown, Sally A. (2012) "Hermeneutical Theory". In *The Wiley-Blackwell Companion to Practical Theology*. Ed. Bonnie J. Miller-McLemore, 112-22. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Browning, Don S. (1991) A Fundamental Practical Theology: Descriptive and Strategic Proposals. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress Press.
- Brunner, Emil (1952) The Misunderstanding of the Church. London: Lutterworth.
- Burdon, Adrian (2005) *Authority and Order: John Wesley and his Preachers.* Aldershot, Hants: Ashgate Publishing.
- Burkhart, John E (1983) "Schleiermacher's Vision for Theology". In *Practical Theology: The Emerging Field in Theology, Church, and World*, ed. Don S. Browning, 42-57.
- Burns, D. (2007) *Systemic Action Research: A Strategy for Whole System Change*. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Calvin, John (1949) *Institutes of the Christian Religion*. 2 vols. Tr. H. Beveridge. London: James Clarke.
- Cameron, Helen (2012) "Reflections on the challenges of using the pastoral cycle in a faith-based organisation." *BIAPT Conference*, Chester, 10-12 July 2012.
- Cameron, Helen, Deborah Bhatti, Catherine Duce, James Sweeney, and Clare Watkins (2010) *Talking about God in practice: Theological Action Research and Practical Theology*. London: SCM Press.
- Cameron, Helen, Philip Richter, Douglas Davies and Frances Ward, eds (2005) Studying Local Churches: A Handbook. London: SCM Press.
- Campbell, Alastair (2000) "The Nature of Practical Theology". In *The Blackwell Reader in Pastoral and Practical Theology*" ed. James Woodward and Stephen Pattison, 77-88. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Campbell, Dennis M. (2009) "Ministry and Itinerancy in Methodism". In *The Oxford Handbook of Methodist Studies*, ed. William J. Abraham and James E. Kirby, 262-79. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Campbell, Ted A. (2010) "Authority and the 'Wesleyan Quadrilateral". In *T & T Clark Companion to Methodism*, ed. Charles Yrigoyen, 61-72. London: T & T Clark.
- Carter, David (2002a) "Episkope and Episcopacy in British and American Methodism: Past, Present and Future", *International Journal for the Study of the Christian Church*, 2(2):47-66.
- (2002b) Love Bade Me Welcome. Peterborough: Epworth.
- (2005) "Synodality. Some Reflections from a Methodist". In Synod and Synodality: Theology, History, Canon Law and Ecumenism in new contact. ed. Alberto Melloni and Silvia Scatena, 545-56. London: Transaction Publishers.

- Cartledge, Mark (2003) *Practical Theology: Charismatic and Empirical Perspectives.* Carlisle, UK: Paternoster Press.
- Cartwright, D. and A. Zander (1968) "Leadership and Performance of Group Functions: Introduction". In *Group Dynamics: Research and Theory*, 3rd edn. ed. D. Cartwright and A. Zander, 301-17. New York: Harper and Row.

Catholic Church (1964) Lumen Gentium: Dogmatic Consitution on the Church. Accessed 2013-11-22. http://www.vatican.va/archive/hist_councils/ii_vatican_council/documents/va t-ii_const_19641121_lumen-gentium_en.html.

- (1965) Dei Verbum, Dogmatic Constitution on Divine Revelation, 1965. Accessed 2013-11-22. http://www.vatican.va/archive/hist_councils/ii_vatican_council/documents/va t-ii_const_19651118_dei-verbum_en.html
- (1983) Codex Iuris Canonici. Vatican: Libreria Editrice Vaticana.
- Charry, E., ed. (2000) *Inquiring after God: Classic and Contemporary Readings*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Chilcote, Paul W., ed. (2011) *Making Disciples in a World Parish: Global Perspectives on Mission & Evangelism.* Princeton Theological Monograph Series. Vol. 162. Eugene, OR: Pickwick Publications.
- Christie, A. (2005) Ordinary Christology: A Qualitative Study and Theological Appraisal. PhD thesis, University of Durham.
- Churches Information for Mission (2001) Faith in Life. New Malden, Surrey: CIM.
- Church of England (1549) *The booke of the common prayer and administracion of the Sacramentes, and other rites and ceremonies of the Churche: after the use of the Churche of England.* London: Edward Whitchurche. [online] Accessed 2012-01-22. http://justus.anglican.org/resources/bcp/1549/BCP1549.pdf
- (2000). *Common Worship: Services and Prayers for the Church of England.* London: Church House Publishing.
- Church of England and Evangelische Kirche in Deutschland (1988) *On the Way to Visible Unity: A Common Statement*. Ecumenical Statement, London: Church of England.
- Church of Scotland (1560), *First Book of Discipline*. http://www.swrb.com/newslett/actualNLs/bod_ch03.htm. Accessed 2014-07-13.
- Clark, David (2010) *Reshaping the mission of Methodism: A diaconal church approach.* Warrington: Church in the Market Place Publications.
- Clarke, Adam, Thomas Coke, and Joseph Benson (1897) Articles of Religion proposed to the consideration of the Preachers of the late Rev. John Wesley's Connection, 1807. Reprint, N.p.: Wesley Historical Society.

Clarke, Lowther (1930) Episcopacy Ancient and Modern. London, SPCK.

- Claydon, John Richard (2013) Bound Together in the liberty of Christ: Renewing Baptist collaboration in mission. DThM Thesis, Durham University. http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/9420/ Accessed 2015-01-14.
- Clement of Alexandria, Epistles.
- "Quis Dives Salvetur". In (1901) A Homily of Clement of Alexandria entitled Who is the Rich Man that is being saved? by P. Mordaunt Barnard London: SPCK.
- Clifford, James (1988) *The Predicament of Culture: Twentieth Century Ethnography, Literature and Art.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Cobb, J.B. (1993) Becoming a Thinking Christian. Nashville, TN: Abingdon.
- Cockling, Ian Neil (2012a) *A Handbook for New Superintendents: Circuit Processes.* Draft ed. London: Connexional Team of the Methodist Church.
- (2012b) Theology in Four Voices': An introduction to the model of theological reflection developed by Heythrop College's Action Research: Church and Society (ARCS) Project. Paper presented at the Methodist Church Faith and Order Network Conference 18-20 September 2012, St John's College, Durham.
- (2013) "Review of Paul W. Chilcote, ed., Making Disciples in a World Parish: Global Perspectives on Mission & Evangelism. Princeton Theological Monograph Series. Vol. 162. Eugene, OR: Pickwick Publications, 2011". Wesley and Methodist Studies, 5:175-77.
- Coghlan, David and Mary Casey (2001) "Action research from the inside: issues and challenges in doing action research in your own hospital". *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 35(5):674-682.
- Common English Bible (2011) Nashville, TN: Common English Bible.
- Conde-Frazier, E. (2006) "Participatory Action Research: Practical Theology for Social Justice". *Religious Education* 101(3):321-29.
- Congar, Yves (1964) "The Church: The People of God". Concilium. 1 (1964) 11-37.
- (1965), *Lay People in the Church: A Study for a Theology of the Laity*, tr. Donald Attwater. Westminster MD: Christian Classics.
- Cooke, Frank Terence (2008) *Die gebruik van die pastor pastorum in die pastorale versorging van die predikante van die Nederduitse Gereformeerde Kerk.* University of Pretoria. 18 April 2008. Accessed 2013-06-10. http://upetd.up.ac.za/thesis/available/etd-06062008-122744/unrestricted/06chapter7.pdf
- Cornick, David (2000) "Post-Enlightenment Pastoral Care: Into the Twentieth Century". In *A History of Pastoral Care*, ed. G. R. Evans, 362-82. London: Cassell.

- Corpus Inscriptionum Graecarum (1877) Auctoriate et impensis Academiae litterarum regiae Borussicae/ edititi Augustus Boeckhuis. Berolini: Ex Officina Academica, 1828-1877.
- Council for Christian Unity (1993) *The Porvoo common statement : conversations between The British and Irish Anglican Churches and the Nordic and Baltic Lutheran Churches.* London: Council for Christian Unity of the General Synod of the Church of England.
- Cox, Joanne (2012) Challenging Leadership: Mission-Shaped Presbyters in Methodist Fresh Expressions. Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/3527/
- Cracknell, Kenneth, and Susan J. White (2005) *An Introduction to World Methodism.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Craske, Jane and Clive Marsh, eds (1999) *Methodism and the Future: Facing the Challenge*. London: Cassell.
- Creswell, John W. (2003) *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches.* 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Croft, Steven (1999) *Ministry in Three Dimensions: ordination and leadership in the local church.* London: Darton, Longman and Todd.
- Curran, Luke and Angela Shier-Jones, ed. (2009) *Methodist Present Potential, and realistic hopes for the future.* London: Epworth.
- Dakin, Tim (1996) "The Nature of Practical Theology. Repeating Transformation: Browning and Barth on Practical Theology". *Anvil* 13:3 (1996), 203-21.
- Dalferth, Ingolf (1997) "Ministry and the Office of Bishop According to Meissen and Porvoo: Protestant Remarks about Several Unclarified Questions". In Council for Christian Unity of the Church of England, Visible Unity and the Ministry of Oversight: The Second Theological Conference held under the Meissen Agreement between the Church of England and the Evangelical Church in Germany. ET, 9-48. London: Church House Publishing.
- Dalferth, Ingolf and Rupert Hoare (1997) "Report of the Conference". In Visible Unity and the Ministry of Oversight: The Second Theological Conference held under the Meissen Agreement between the Church of England and the Evangelical Church in Germany, by the Council for Christian Unity of the Church of England, 1-8. London: Church House Publishing.
- Davies, Rupert and Gordon Rupp, eds (1965) A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain, Vol. I. London: Epworth Press.
- Davis, M. (2002) Walking on the Shore. Chelmsford, Matthew James Publishing.
- Deeks, David G. (1987) *Pastoral Theology: An Inquiry*. London: Epworth Press, 1987.
- (2006) *Mapping a Way Forward: Regrouping for Mission*. Methodist Council Paper MC/06/103, London: Methodist Council.

- De Mello, Anthony (1983) *The Song of a Bird*. Anand, India: Gijarat Sahitya Prakash.
- Dillon, R.J. and J.A. Fitzmyer (1968) "Acts of the Apostles". In *The Jerome Biblical Commentary*. ed. Raymond E. Brown, Joseph A. Fitzmyer; Roland E. Murphy. II, 165-214. London: Geoffrey Chapman.
- Division of Social Responsibility (1979) "A Christian Understanding of Human Sexuality". In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 1979, by Methodist Church in Great Britain, 133-45. London: Methodist Publishing House.
- Dix, Gregory (1957), "The Ministry in the Early Church". In *The Apostolic Ministry: Essays on the History and the Doctrine of Episcopacy*, by K.E. Kirk *et al.*, 2nd edn, 183-303. London: Hodder & Stoughton.
- Dulles, Avery (1974/1987) Models of the Church. Dublin: Gill and Macmillan.
- (1992) "From Symbol to System: A Proposal for Theological Method". Pro Ecclesia 1:1 (1992), 42-52.
- Edwards, Maldwyn (1965) "John Wesley". In *A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain, Vol. I.* ed. Rupert Davies and Gordon Rupp, 35-79. London: Epworth Press.
- Elliott, John H. (2008) "Elders as leaders in 1Peter and the early Church." *HTS Teologiese Studies / Theological Studies* 64(2):681-95.
- Epiphanius (2009) *The Panarion of Epiphanius of Salamis*, Book I (Sects 1-46). Nag Hammadi & Mannichaean Studies. 2nd ed.. Tr. Frank Williams. Vol. 63. Leiden: Brill.
- Escott, P. and A. Gelder (2002) *Church Life Profile 2001: Denominational Results* for The Methodist Church. New Maldon, Surrey: Churches Information for Mission.
- Eusebius (324). Historia Ecclesiastica.
- Evans, G.R., ed. (2000) A History of Pastoral Care. London: Cassell.
- Faith and Order Committee of the Methodist Church ['FAOC'] (1984a) "Episcopacy & Methodist Doctrinal Standards, 1982." In *Statements of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order 1933-1983*, by FAOC, 232-35. London: Methodist Publishing House. [On-line edition, http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/Faith_and_Order_Statements_Vol1_0409.pdf, accessed 2015-09-01].
- (1984b) "Episcopacy in the Methodist Church, 1981." In Statements of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order 1933-1983, by FAOC, 153-180. London: Methodist Publishing House. [On-line edition, http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/Faith_and_Order_Statements_Vol1 _0409.pdf, accessed 2015-09-01].
- (1984c) "Methodism and Episcopacy, 1978." In *Statements of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order 1933-1983*, by FAOC, 202-203. London:

Methodist Publishing House. [On-line edition,

http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/Faith_and_Order_Statements_Vol1 _0409.pdf, accessed 2015-09-01].

- Faith and Order Committee of the Methodist Church (1984d) "The Nature of the Christian Church, 1937." In Statements of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order 1933-1983, by FAOC, 5-42. London: Methodist Publishing House.
 [On-line edition, http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/Faith_and_Order_Statements_Vol1_0409.pdf, accessed 2015-09-01]. ['NCC']
- (1984e) "Ordination, 1974." In Statements of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order 1933-1983, by FAOC, 132-46. London: Methodist Publishing House.
 [On-line edition, http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/Faith_and_Order_Statements_Vol1 _0409.pdf, accessed 2015-09-01].
- (1984f) "Ordination in the Methodist Church 1960." In Statements of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order 1933-1983, by FAOC, 124-131. London: Methodist Publishing House [On-line edition, http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/Faith_and_Order_Statements_Vol1 _0409.pdf, accessed 2015-09-01].
- (1984g) "Statement on Holy Baptism (1952)" In Statements of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order 1933-1983, by FAOC, 33-38. London: Methodist Publishing House. [On-line edition, http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/Faith_and_Order_Statements_Vol1 _0409.pdf, accessed 2015-09-01].
- (1985) "Guidance to Methodists on Freemasonry". In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 1985, by Methodist Church, 628-635. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (1999) "Called to Love and Praise: The Nature of the Christian Church in Methodist Experience and Practice." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 1999, by Methodist Church, 157-215. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House. ['CLP']
- (2000a) "Episkopé and Episcopacy (2000)." In Statements and Reports of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order Volume Two, 1984-2000, by FAOC, 383-411. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2000b) "Infant Baptism and Ministerial Discipline (1988)". In Statements and Reports of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order Volume One, 1984-2000, by FAOC, 102-111.
- (2000c) "A Lamp to my Feet and a Light to my Path (1998): The nature of authority and the place of the Bible in the Methodist Church". In Statements and Reports of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order Volume Two, 1984-2000, by FAOC, 644-668.

- Faith and Order Committee of the Methodist Church (2000d) "Lay Presidency at the Lord's Supper (1984)". In *Statements and Reports of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order Volume Two, 1984-2000*, by FAOC, 123-127.
- (2000e) "The Ministry of the People of God (1986)." In Statements and Reports of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order Volume Two 1984-2000, by FAOC, 195-228. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2000f) "The Ministry of the People of God (1988)." In Statements and Reports of the Methodist Church on Faith and Order Volume Two 1984-2000, by FAOC, 229-281. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House. ['MPG']
- (2002a) "Leadership in the Methodist Church". In Agenda of the Methodist Conference, 2002, by Methodist Church, 165-87. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2002b) "What is a Presbyter?" In *Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2002*, by Methodist Church, 446-54. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2004) "What is a Deacon?" In *Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2004*, by Methodist Church, 12-30. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2005a) "The Nature of Oversight: Leadership, Management and Governance in the Methodist Church in Great Britain." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2005, by Methodist Church, 60-123. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House. ['TNOO']
- (2005b) "What is a Circuit Superintendent?" In *Agenda of the Methodist Conference* 2005, 157-74. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2006) "What is a District Chair?" In Agenda of the Methodist Conference, 2006, by Methodist Church, 84-108. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House. Amended version at http://www.methodist.org.uk/conference/conferencereports/2006-reports, Accessed 2013-11-22.
- (2008) "The Missional Nature of the Circuit." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference, 2008, by Methodist Church, 98-108. London: The Methodist Conference Office.
- Faley, R.J. (1968) "Leviticus". In *The Jerome Biblical Commentary*. ed. Raymond E. Brown, Joseph A. Fitzmyer; Roland E. Murphy. I: 487-94. London: Geoffrey Chapman.
- Farley, E. (1983) *Theologia: The Fragmentation and Unity of Theological Education.* Philadelphia: Fortress Press.
- (2000) "Interpreting Situations: An Inquiry into the Nature of Practical Theology". In *The Blackwell Reader in Pastoral and Practical Theology*" ed. James Woodward and Stephen Pattison, 118-27. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.

- Farrer, A.M. (1957a) "Foreword". In *The Apostolic Ministry: Essays on the History* and the Doctrine of Episcopacy, by K.E. Kirk et al., 2nd edn, v-xviii. London: Hodder & Stoughton.
- (1957b) "The Ministry in the New Testament". In *The Apostolic Ministry: Essays* on the History and the Doctrine of Episcopacy, by K.E. Kirk et al., 2nd edn, 113-182. London: Hodder & Stoughton.
- Ferencz, Nicholas (2006) American Orthodoxy and Parish Congregationalism (Piscataway NJ: Gorgias Press).
- Fiddes, Paul S (2012) "Ecclesiology and Ethnography". In *Perspectives on Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Pete Ward, 13-35. Cambridge, UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Foley, Edward (2013) "Siblings or 2nd Cousins-Once-Removed: A Relational Taxonomy for Practical Theology". *New Theology Review*. 26.1 (2013), 11-20.
- Findlay, George G. (1893) *The Church of Christ as set forth in the New Testament*. London: Kelly.
- Frank, Thomas Edward (2006) "Superintendency in United Methodism." In *Polity, Practice, and the Mission of the United Methodist Church*, by Thomas Edward Frank, 229-253. Nashville, TN: Abingdon Press.
- (2010) "Methodism's Polity: History and Contemporary Questions." In T & T Clark Companion to Methodism, ed.Charles Yrigoyen, 309-28. London: T & T Clark.
- Fransen, Piet (1969) s.v. "Orders and Ordination". In Sacramentum Mundi: An Encyclopaedia of Theology. ed. Karl Rahner ET, 4:305-327. London: Burns & Oates.
- Freire, Paolo (1972) Pedagogy of the Oppressed. Harmondsworth: Penguin.
- Fulkerson, Mary McClintock (2012) "Interpreting a Situation: When is "Empirical" also "Theological"?" In *Perspectives on Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Pete Ward, 124-44. Cambridge, UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Gadamer, Hans-Georg (1981) Truth and Method. London: Sheed and Ward.
- (1989) *Truth and Method*. Tr. J. Weinsheimer and D.G. Marshall. 2nd Rev. edn. New York: Crossroad.
- Gagey, Henri-Jérôme (2010) "Pastoral Theology as a Theological Project". In Sweeney, James, Gemma Simmonds and David Lonsdale (eds) (2010) *Keeping Faith in Practice: Aspects of Catholic Pastoral Theology*, 80-98. London: SCM Press.
- Gastil, John (1997 [1994]) "A Definition and Illustration of Democratic Leadership". In Leadership: Classical, Contemporary and Critical Approaches, ed. Keith Grint, 155-78. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Geertz, Clifford (1973) *The Interpretation of Cultures*. New York: Harper Torchbooks.
- General Synod (1997) Synodical Government in the Church of England: A Review. The Report of the Review Group appointed by the Standing Committee of the General Synod. London: Church House Publishing.
- George, A. Raymond (1951) "Ordination in Methodism", London Quarterly and Holborn Review, 176:156-69.
- -(1974) "Superintendency", Epworth Review 1(1):79-87.
- (1978) "Ordination". In A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain, ed. Rupert E. Davies, A. Raymond George, and E. Gordon Rupp, 2:143-60. London: Epworth.
- Gerkin, Charles V (1997) An Introduction to Pastoral Care. Nashville: Abingdon Press.
- Gibson, William, Peter Forsaith, and Martin Wellings (2013) *The Ashgate Research Companion to World Methodism*. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing.
- Gisel, Pierre (1977) "Pratique et théologie: Introduction". In *Pratique et Théologie*, by S. Amsler *et al.*, 11-30.
- Graham, Elaine (2013) "Is Practical Theology a form of 'Action Research'?" *International Journal of Practical Theology*, 17(1):148–78.
- Graham, Elaine L., Heather Walton and Frances Ward (2005) *Theological Reflection: Methods*. London: SCM Press.
- (2007) Theological Reflection: Sources. London: SCM Press.
- Great Britain (1929) *Methodist Church Union Act, 1929* (England). Copy of bill and proceedings in the British Houses of Parliament and Royal Assent. Copy of act authorizing the union of the Wesleyan Methodist Church, Primitive Methodist Church, and United Methodist Church. York: [s.n.].
- (1977). Methodist Church Act, 1976 Elizabeth II 1976 Chapter xxx. London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
- Green, Laurie (1990) Let's Do Theology. London: Mowbray.
- Greenwood, D.J., and M. Levin (2007) *Introduction to Action Research: Social Research for Social Change*. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage.
- Gregory, Benjamin (1873) The Holy Catholic Church: The Communion of Saints. The Fernley Lecture. London: Wesleyan Conference Office, 1873. Accessed 2013-11-25. https://archive.org/stream/theholycatholicc00greguoft#page/142/mode/2up
- (1888) A Handbook of Scriptural Church Principles. London: Wesleyan

Methodist Book Room. Accessed 2013-11-25. https://archive.org/stream/15340958.emory.edu/15340958#page/n1/mode/2u p

- Grellier, Isabelle (1997) "Les démarches de théologie pratique". In *Introduction à la théologie pratique*, ed. Bernard Kaempf, 41-58. Strasbourg: Presses Universitaires de Strasbourg.
- Gros, J. (2001) *Theological Reflection: Connecting Faith and Life*. Chicago, IL: Loyola Press.
- Gruehn, Werner (1960) Die Frömmigkeit der Gegenwart: Grundtatsachen der empirischen Psychologie. Bahn: Konstanz.
- Grundy, Malcolm (2011) Leadership and Oversight: New Models for Episcopal Ministry. London: Mowbray.
- (2014) Episkope as a Model for Oversight and Leadership in the Church of England Examined in the Dioceses of Yorkshire. PhD Thesis. University of Leeds. EThOS.bl.uk:Thesis ID:617184.
- Grdzelidze, Tamara (2005) "The Authority of Scriptural Interpretation: An Orthodox Perspective on the Positions of John Wesley and Modern Methodism". In Orthodox and Wesleyan Scriptural Understanding and Practice, ed. S.T. Kimbrough,131-36. Crestwood, NY: St Vladimir's Seminary Press.
- Guest, Mathew (2007) *Evangelical identity and contemporary culture: a congregational study in innovation.* Milton Keynes: Paternoster, 2007.
- Guest, Mathew, Karin Tusting and Linda Woodhead, eds (2004) *Congregational studies in the UK: Christianity in a post-Christian context*. Aldershot: Ashgate, 2004.
- Guirey, William (1799?) The History of Episcopacy in Four Parts, from its rise to the present day. Raleigh, NC?: Joseph Gales.
- Haddan, Arthur West (1875) s.v. "Chorepiscopus". In *A Dictionary of Christian Antiquities*, ed. William Smith and Samuel Cheetham, I:353-55. London: John Murray.
- Hagstrom, Aurelie A. (1994), *The Concepts of the Vocation and the Mission of the Laity*. London: Catholic Scholars Press.
- Haight, Roger (2004-8) *Christian Community in History*, 3 vols. London: Continuum.
- Halcomb, Elizabeth, and Patrica M Davidson (2006) "Is Verbatim Transcription of Interview Data always Necessary?", *Applied Nursing Research*, 19(2006):38-42.
- Hammersley, Martyn and Paul Atkinson (2007) *Ethnography: Principles into Practice.* 3rd edn. London: Routledge.
- Handy, Charles B. (1985) *Understanding Organizations*. 3rd ed. London: Penguin Books.
- Harmon, Nolan B. (1954) *The District Superintendent: His Office and Work in The Methodist Church*. Nashville, TN: The Methodist Publishing House.

- Harnish, John E. (2000) *The Orders of Ministry in the United Methodist Church*. Nashville, TN: Abingdon Press.
- Harris, Jeffrey W. (2000) s.v. "Superintendent." In *Dictionary of Methodism in Britain and Ireland*. Epworth Press, 2000. Accessed 2013-04-13. http://www.wesleyhistoricalsociety.org.uk/dmbi/
- Harrison, A.W., B. Aquila Barber, G. G. Hornby, and E. Tegla Davies (1932) *The Methodist Church: its origins, divisions and reunion.* London: Methodist Publishing House.
- Haslam, S. Alexander, Stephen D. Reicher and Michael J. Platow (2011) *The New Psychology of Leadership: Identity, Influence and Power.* New York: Psychology Press.
- Hatch, Edwin (1881) *The Organization of the Early Christian Churches*. The Bampton Lectures 1880. London: Rivingtons.
- Hauerwas, Stanley (1998) Sanctify Them in the Truth: Holiness Exemplified. Nashville: Abingdon/T&T Clark.
- Hawley, Z.K. (1846) *Congregationalism and Methodism*. New York: Leavitt, Trow and Company.
- Healy, Nicholas M. (2000) Church, World and the Christian Life. Practical-Prophetic Ecclesiology. Cambridge, UK: CUP.
- (2010) "Ecclesiology and Practical Theology". In *Keeping Faith in Practice: Aspects of Catholic Pastoral Theology*, eds. James Sweeney, Gemma Simmonds and David Lonsdale, 117-30. London: SCM.
- (2012) "Ecclesiology, Ethnography, and God: An Interplay of Reality Descriptions". In *Perspectives on Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Pete Ward, 182-99. Cambridge, UK: William B. Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Heenan, John C. (1961) "A glance at the position in the Roman Catholic Church". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 67-75. London: The Faith Press.
- Hefele, Karl Josef von (1871) *A History of the Councils of the Church*, tr. William R Clark. Edinburgh: T & T Clark.
- Heimbrock, Hans-Günther (2011) "Practical Theology as Empirical Theology", International Journal of Practical Theology, 14(2):153-70.
- Heitink, G. (1999) *Practical Theology: History, Theory, Action Domains: Manual for Practical Theology*. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans.
- Heitzenrater, Richard P. (2010) "John and Charles Wesley: Life, Ministry, and Legacy". In *T & T Clark Companion to Methodism*, ed. Charles Yrigoyen, 3-19. London: T & T Clark.
- Henson, H.H. (1939) *The Church of England*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Hess, Hamilton (2002) *The Early Development of Canon Law and the Council of Serdica*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hick, John (1989) An Interpretation of Religion: Human Responses to the Transcendent. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Higginson, Richard (1996) Transforming Leadership: A Christian Approach to Management. London: SPCK.
- Hills, George Morgan (1879) "John Talbot, the first Bishop in North America". *The Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography*. 3:1 (1879), 32-55. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20084381 accessed 2014-05-09.
- Hindmarsh, Andrew (1999) "Supports of Shackles? Methodist Structures in the 21st Century". In *Methodism and the Future – Facing the Challenge* ed. Jane Craske and Clive Marsh, 73-87. London: Cassell.
- Hiltner, Seward (2000) "The Meaning and Importance of Pastoral Theology". In *The Blackwell Reader in Pastoral and Practical Theology* ed. James Woodward and Stephen Pattison, 27-48. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Hippolytus (1962), Apostolic Tradition. tr. Burton Scott Easton (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press). Available at http://www.chronicon.net/chroniconfiles/Burton_Scott_Easton_-_The_Apostolic_Tradition_of_Hippolytus_%281934%29.pdf. Accessed 2014-06-06.
- Hodgson, Peter C. (1988) *Revisioning the Church: Ecclesial Freedom in the New Paradigm.* Philadelphia: Fortress.
- Horsley, Graham, Jenny Ellis, David King, Bart Woodhouse (2007) "MC0777: Connexional Fresh Expressions Scheme". In *Methodist Council Papers*, 15-16 October 2007. Accessed 2013-09-13. http://www.methodist.org.uk/ministers-and-office-holders/councilpapers/council-papers-archive/methodist-council-papers-15-16-october-2007
- Hughes, H. Maldwyn (1936) *Christian Foundations: An Introduction to Christian Doctrine*. 5th edn. London: Epworth.
- Huxtable, John (1961) "A congregationalist comments on 'a new model". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 139-42. London: The Faith Press.
- Ignatius of Antioch. Letters to the *Ephesians, Magnesians, Philadelphians, Smyrnaeans,* and *Trallians.*
- International Commission for Dialogue between the Roman Catholic Church and the World Methodist Council (2011) *Encountering Christ the Saviour: Church and Sacraments*. Lake Junaluska NC: The World Methodist Council ['*ECS*']
- Isaman, Ronald V. (2005) *Identifying and promoting effective spiritual leadership* through the role of district superintendent in the Northeast Jurisdiction of the United Methodist Church. Asbury Theological Seminary DMin Theses.

- Jalland, T.G. (1957), "The Doctrine of the Parity of Ministers". In *The Apostolic Ministry: Essays on the History and the Doctrine of Episcopacy*, by K.E. Kirk *et al.*, 2nd edn., 305-49. London: Hodder & Stoughton.
- Jenkins, Timothy (1999) *Religion in English Everyday Life: An Ethnographic Approach*. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Johnson, Susan, Rod Hill, Neil Cockling, Rachel McCallum, Tricia Mitchell, Michael Noble (2011) *A Circuit Shaped for Mission: A Healthy Circuits Handbook.* Newcastle-upon-Tyne: Methodist Church of Great Britain.
- Joint Commission for Dialogue between the Roman Catholic Church and the World Methodist Council (2006) *The Grace Given You in Christ: Catholics and Methodists Reflect Further on the Church (The Seoul Report).* Lake Junaluska, NC: International Methodist-Catholic Dialogue Commission.
- Joint Implementation Commission (1988) *Embracing the Covenant: Quinquennial Report (2008) of the Joint Implementation Commission under the Covenant between The Methodist Church of Great Britain and The Church of England.* Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- Jones, W.H. (1952) History of the Wesleyan Reform Union. London: Epworth.
- Kaufman, H. (1981) *The Administrative Behavior of Federal Bureau Chiefs*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
- Kendall H.B. (n.d.) *History of the Primitive Methodist Connexion*. London: Joseph Toulson.
- Kidd, B.J. (1911) *Documents Illustrative of the Continental Reformation*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Killen, P.O. and J. de Beer (2006) *The Art of Theological Reflection*. New York: Crossroad.
- Kinast, R.L. (1996) *Let Ministry Teach: A Guide to Theological Reflection*. Collegeville, Liturgical Press.
- (2000) What are they saying about Theological Reflection? Mahwah NJ: Paulist Press.
- King, Peter (1841) An Inquiry into the Constitution, Discipline, Unity, and Worship of the Primitive Church. New York: G. Lane and P.P. Sandford. [1691] Accessed 2013-09-04. http://archive.org/stream/inquiryintoconstme00king#page/n5/mode/2up
- Kings College London (2015) "Theses". Accessed 2015-01-30. http://www.kcl.ac.uk/library/researchsupport/disseminate/theses/etheses.aspx
- Kirby, James E. (2000) *The Episcopacy in American Methodism*. Nashville, TN: Kingswood Books.

- Kirk, Kenneth E (1957) "The Apostolic Ministry". In *The Apostolic Ministry: Essays* on the History and the Doctrine of Episcopacy, by K.E. Kirk et al., 2nd edn, 1-52. London: Hodder & Stoughton.
- Kittel, Rudolf (1925) *The Religion of the People of Israel.* tr. R.Caryl Micklem. London: George Allen & Unwin.
- Kling, F.R. (1958) "A Study of Testing as Related to the Ministry". *Religious Education* 53:243-48.
- Konstantinides, Chrysostom (1961) "The Episcopal Order and the Bishop in the Orthodox Church". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon tr. Timothy Ware, 76-89. London: The Faith Press.
- Kühn, Ulrich (1997) "The Office of Bishop in the Liturgical Formularies of the EKD". In Visible Unity and the Ministry of Oversight: The Second Theological Conference held under the Meissen Agreement between the Church of England and the Evangelical Church in Germany, 135-40. Council for Christian Unity of the Church of England. London: Church House Publishing.
- Küng, Hans (1972) *Why Priests? A Proposal for a New Church Ministry*. Tr. John Cumming. London: Collins.
- (1976) The Church. New York: Image Books.
- Kvale, Steiner (2007) Doing Interviews. London: Sage.
- Lambeth Conference (1948) *The Lambeth Conference Encyclical and Reports*. London: SPCK.
- Lancaster, Sarah Heaner, Catherine Keller, Donald A. Thorsen, Dennis C. Dickerson, Charles M. Wood (2009) "What makes theology "Wesleyan"?", *Methodist Review* Vol.1 [2009]:7-26.
- Lartey, Emmanuel (2000) "Practical Theology as a Theological Form". In *Spiritual Dimensions of Pastoral Care*. ed. Willows, D. and J. Swinton, 72-77. London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Lash, Nicholas (1993) *Believing Three Ways in One God*. Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Le Bas, P. and W.H.Waddington (1870) *Inscriptions Grecques et Latines*, vol. iii Nos. 1381, 1382; vol. iv No.1915.
- Lécuyer, Joseph (1969) 'III. Theology' s.v. "Bishop". In *Sacramentum Mundi: An Encyclopaedia of Theology*, ed. Karl Rahner. ET, 1:224-228. London: Burns & Oates.
- Legg, Arnold H (1961) "Bishops in the Church of South India". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 116-24. London: The Faith Press.

- Leiffer, Murray H. (1960) *The Role of the District Superintendent in the Methodist Church*. Evanston, IL: Garrett Theological Seminary Bureau of Social and Religious Research.
- (1972) What District Superintendents say about their office and the issues confronting them. Evanston, IL: Garrett Theological Seminary.
- Liégé, Pierre-André (1971) "Positions de la théologie pastorale: une théologie de la Praxis de l'Église". In *Recherches Actuelles, vol I, Le Point Théologique, I,* 51-72. Paris: Beauchesne.
- Life of the Rev. Alexander Kilham. (1838) London: R. Groombridge.
- *Living Wage Foundation* (2013) Accessed 2013-09-13. http://www.livingwage.org.uk
- Lofthouse, W.F. (1965) "Charles Wesley". In *A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain, Vol. I.* ed. Rupert Davies and Gordon Rupp, 113-144. London: Epworth Press.
- Lossky, Nicolas (2002) "The Orthodox Churches". In *The Christian Church: An* Introduction to the Major Traditions. ed. Paul Avis, 1-17. London: SPCK.
- Lossky, Nicholas, et al. (1991) (eds) s.v. "Church" in *Dictionary of the Ecumenical Movement*. Geneva: WCC Publications.
- Lynch, P. (2005) *The Church's Story: A History of Pastoral Care and Vision*. London: St Pauls.
- MacIntyre, Alasdair (1988) *Whose Justice? Which Rationality?* Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press.
- Mackenzie, Kenneth D. (1957) "Sidelights from the Non-Episcopal Communions". In *The Apostolic Ministry: Essays on the History and the Doctrine of Episcopacy*, by K.E. Kirk *et al.*, 461-491. 2nd edn. London: Hodder & Stoughton.
- Maddox, Randy L. (1982) "Schleiermacher on the Holy Spirit". *Studia Biblica et Theologica* 12 (1982):93-106.
- (2010) "Theology of John and Charles Wesley". In T & T Clark Companion to Methodism, ed. Charles Yrigoyen, 20-35. London: T & T Clark.
- (2011) "The Rule of Christian Faith, Practice, and Hope: John Wesley on the Bible", *Methodist Review*, 3 [2011]:1-35.
- Marlé. Rene (1979) Le Projet de théologie pratique. Paris: Beauchesne.
- Marsh, Clive (2001) "The Practice of Theology in British Methodism", *Epworth Review*, 28(3):36-44.
- Marsh, Clive, Brian Beck, Angela Shier-Jones and Helen Wareing, eds (2004) Unmasking Methodist Theology. London: Continuum.

- Martin, David (1997) *Reflections on Sociology and Theology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mascall, E.L. (1969) "Immaculate Conception of the Blessed Virgin Mary". In *A Dictionary of Christian Theology*. ed. A. Richardson, 166-67. London: SCM Press.
- Maunder, Stephen J. (2012) "How oversight is understood and exercised by Methodist Circuit Superintendent Ministers within the South East District of the Methodist Church." *A Learning Church Conference, Birmingham, 14 June 2012.* London: The Methodist Church Connexional Team.
- (2014) Leadership and Oversight in British Methodism whither episcope? DThM Thesis, King's College, London. Accessed 2015-11-01. https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/files/37537195/2014_Maunder_Stephen_0746 675_ethesis.pdf
- Maxwell, John C. (1998) *The 21 Irrefutable Laws of Leadership.: Follow them and people will follow you.* Nashville, TN: Thomas Nelson Publishers.
- McAlpin, K. (2009) *Ministry that Transforms: A Contemplative Process of Theological Reflection*. Collegeville MN: Liturgical Press.
- McEllhenney, John and Charles Yrigoyen (2010) "Methodism A to Z". In *T & T Clark Companion to Methodism*. ed. Charles Yrigoyen, 389-512. London: T & T Clark.
- McGrath, Alister E. (2012) "The Cultivation of Theological Vision". In *Perspectives* on *Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Pete Ward, 107-23. Cambridge, UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- McLeod, J. (2001) *Qualitative Research in Counselling and Psychotherapy*. London: Sage.
- McNiff, Jean and Jack Whitehead (2006) *All you need to know about Action Research.* London: Sage Publications.
- Meadows, Philip (1999) "Following Wesley", *The Christian Century*, Feb. 17, 1999:191-95.
- Meeks, M. Douglas (1990) What Should Methodists Teach? Wesleyan Tradition and Modern Diversity. Nashville, TN: Kingswood Books.
- Meissen Agreement (1991). www.ekd.de/english/download/meissen_engl_.pdf Accessed 2015-16-01.
- Mersch, Emile (1938) The Whole Christ. Milwaukee: Bruce.
- Methodist Church in Great Britain ['**MCGB**'] (1932a) "Book III Standing Orders". In *Minutes of the Uniting Conference 1932*, 185-251. London: Methodist Publishing House.
- (1932b) Minutes of the Uniting Conference held in London, September 20th-23rd, 1932. London: Methodist Church.

- Methodist Church in Great Britain (1983) *Hymns and Psalms: A Methodist and Ecumenical Hymn Book.* Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (1986) "Methodist Church [UK]". In Churches Respond to BEM: Official Responses to the "Baptism, Eucharist and Ministry" Text. Faith and Order Paper No. 132. ed. Max Thurian, II:210-29. Geneva: World Council of Churches.
- (1993) "Home Mission Division: Decline and Growth in Methodism". In *The Methodist Conference Derby 1993: Agenda*, I, 239-245. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (1995) *Doing Things Differently*. London: Methodist Church Co-ordinating Secretaries' Office, 1995.
- (1999) *The Methodist Worship Book*. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House. ['*MWB'*]
- (2000a) A Catechism for the Use of the People Called Methodists. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2000b) "Our Calling." In *Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2000*, by Methodist Church, 303-309. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2002a) "Leadership in the Methodist Church." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2002, by Methodist Church, 165-87. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2002b) "Releasing Ministers for Ministry." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2002, by Methodist Church, 455-67. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2004) "Priorities for the Methodist Church." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2004, by Methodist Church, 121-34. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2005a) "The Review of the Methodist Conference." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2005, by Methodist Church, 146-56. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2005b) "Review of the Methodist Council." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2005, by Methodist Church, 124-45. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2005c) Time to Talk of God: Recovering Christian conversation as a way of nurturing discipleship. London: Methodist Church.
- (2005d) "What sort of Bishops?: Models of episcopacy and British Methodism." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference, 2005, by Methodist Church, 552-83. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2007a) "Resourcing the Districts: District Development Enablers." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference, by Methodist Church, 300-3. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.

- Methodist Church in Great Britain (2007b) "Responses to the What Sort of Bishops? Report." The Methodist Church, 2007. Accessed 2013-07-14. http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/coun_whatbishopsresp_190107_071 1.doc
- — (2008a) "Stationing Review Group." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2008, by Methodist Church, 481-526. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2008b) "Statistics For Mission 2005-2007." In Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2008, by Methodist Church, 578-91. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2009) "Stationing Committee." In *Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2009*, by Methodist Church, 189-205. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing House.
- (2011a) Singing the Faith. London: Hymns Ancient & Modern Lrd.
- (2011b) Statistics for Mission 2008-2010. Accessed 2012-09-27. http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/conf2011-pc-52-statistics-formission-0812.doc.
- (2012a) Methodist Church Council Papers. Accessed 2012-10-11. http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/coun-MC1276-modifiedconstitutions-1012.doc
- (2012b) Methodist church statistics. Accessed 2012-10-11. http://www.methodist.org.uk/ministers-and-office-holders/statistics-formission/2011-12-reports/excel-charts-2011-12
- (2013a) Agenda of the Methodist Conference 2013, by Methodist Church. London: Methodist Conference. Accessed 2013-11-22. ['Agenda 2013'] http://www.methodistconference.org.uk/london-2013/the-agenda-2013
- (2013b) The Constitutional Practice and Discipline of the Methodist Church. 7th. Vol. 2. 2 vols. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing. ['CPD']
- --- (2013c) "Venture FX". Accessed 2013-06-13. http://www.methodist.org.uk/mission/venture-fx
- (2014a) "Deed of Union." In *The Constitutional Practice and Discipline of the Methodist Church*, by Methodist Church. Vol. 2, 203-37. Peterborough: Methodist Publishing.
- (2014b) "Statistics for Mission". Accessed 2015-01-03. http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/conf-2014-37-statistics-formission.pdf
- Methodist Conference (1858) "To the Methodist Societies 1797". In *History of Wesleyan Methodism*. Vol. II, The Middle Age by George Smith, 695-98. London: Longman, Brown, Green, Longmans, and Roberts.
- Methodist Council (2005) *The Methodist Church in Britain.* 2005. Accessed 2013-07-14.

http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/coun_whatbishopsresp_190107_071 1.doc

- Methodist Times and Leader (1933) Who's Who in Methodism 1933: An Encyclopaedia of the personnel and departments, Ministerial and Lay in the United Church of Methodism. London: Methodist Publications.
- Metz, Johann Baptist (1980) Faith in History and Society: Toward a Practical Fundamental Theology. London: Burns & Oates.
- Miller-McLemore, Bonnie J. (1993) "The Human Web: Reflections on the State of Pastoral Theology". *Christian Century* 110(11):366-69.
- (2012) "Introduction: The Contributions of Practical Theology". In *The Wiley-Blackwell Companion to Practical Theology*, ed. Bonnie J. Miller-McLemore, 1-20. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Mishnah, Berakhot, http://www.assif.org/images/Berachot_5.pdf, accessed 2014-06-12.
- Mission Shaped Ministry (2013) www.missionshapedministry.org Accessed 2013-11-23.
- Morgan, E.R. (1961) 'The Office and Work of a Bishop'. In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 16-25. London: The Faith Press.
- Morse, Janice M., ed. (1997) *Completing a Qualitative Project: Details and Dialogue*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mowat, Harriet (2011) Review of *Talking about God in Practice: Theological Action Research and Practical Theology*, by Helen Cameron, Deborah Bhatti, Catherine Duce, James Sweeney and Clare Watkins. London: SCM Press, 2010. In *Practical Theology* 4(3):375-76.
- Murphy, R.E. (1968) "Introduction to Wisdom Literature". In *The Jerome Biblical Commentary*. ed. Raymond E. Brown, Joseph A. Fitzmyer; Roland E. Murphy. I, 487-94. London: Geoffrey Chapman.
- Murray, Paul D. (2005) "Truth and Reason in Science and Theology: points of tension, correlation and compatibility". In *God, Humanity and the Cosmos.* 2nd ed., by Christopher Southgate, 82-115. London: T & T Clark, 2005.
- (2010) "The Need for an Integrated Theology of Ministry within Contemporary Catholicism: A Global North Perspective". *Concilium*, 2010/I, 43-54.
- (2014) "Searching the Living Truth of the Church in Practice: On the Transformative Task of Systematic Ecclesiology". *Modern Theology* 30(2):251-81.
- Myles, William (1803) *A Chronological History of the People called Methodists*. 3rd ed.
- National Records of Scotland (2011) "Scotland's Census 2011", www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk, accessed 2015-01-05.

- Nauss, Allen (1996) "Leadership Styles of Effective Ministry". In *Psychological Perspectives on Christian Ministry* ed. Leslie J Francis, D J James, and Susan H Jones, 85-97. Leominster, Herefs: Gracewing.
- Neill, Stephen (1961) 'The Historic Episcopate'. In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 41-50. London: The Faith Press.
- Newman, J.H. (1845) *Essay on the Development of Christian Doctrine*. Philadelphia, PA: Appleton.
- Newman, J.H. (1955) *Apologia pro Vita Sua*. London: Everyman's Library, J.M. Dent.
- Nichols, Aidan (2011) *The Ordinariates, the Pope and the Liturgy*. Accessed 2012-17-01. http://ordinariateportal.wordpress.com/2011/04/09/aidan-nichols-the-ordinariates-the-pope-and-the-liturgy/
- Nicholson, J. F. V. (1984a) "Towards a Theology of Episcope Amongst Baptists", *The Baptist Quarterly*, April 1984:265-281.
- (1984b) "Towards a Theology of Episcope Amongst Baptists continued", The Baptist Quarterly, July 1984:319-31.
- Norman, R. (2008) "Theological Foundations of Action Research for Learning and Teaching", *Discourse: Learning and Teaching in Philosophical and Religious Studies*, 8(1):113-40.
- O'Connell Killen, Patricia, and John de Beer (1994) *The Art of Theological Reflection*. New York: Crossroad.
- Oden, Thomas C. (1983) *Pastoral Theology: Essentials of Ministry*. San Francisco, CA: Harper & Row.
- (1984) Care of Souls in the Classic Tradition, Philadelphia: Fortress Press.
- (1992) *After Modernity, What? Agenda for Theology.* Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan.
- Office for National Statistics (2011) "Neighbourhood Statistics", neighbourhoodstatistics.gov.uk, accessed 2015-05-01.
- O'Loughlin, R. (2008) "Pedagogical and Discipline-Specific Research Methods". Discourse 7(2):67-120.
- O'Meara, Thomas Franklin (1983) *A Theology of Ministry*. Ramsey, NJ: Paulist Press.
- Osmer, Richard R. (2008) *Practical Theology: An Introduction*. Grand Rapids, MI, William B. Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Outler, Albert C. (1957) *The Christian Tradition and The Unity We Seek*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- (1964) John Wesley. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Outler, Albert C. (1985) "The Methodist Quadrilateral in John Wesley", Wesleyan Theological Journal, 20:1 (Spring 1985):7-18.
- Pattison, Stephen (2000a) A Critique of Pastoral Care. 3rd edn. London: SCM Press.
- (2000b) "Some Straw for the Bricks". In *The Blackwell Reader in Pastoral and Practical Theology* ed. J. Woodward and S. Pattison, 135-45. Oxford: Blackwell. [First published in1989 in *Contact*, 99(2), 2-9]
- Pattison, Stephen and Gordon Lynch (2005) "Pastoral and Practical Theology". In *The Modern Theologians: An Introduction to Christian Theology since 1918.* 3rd edn. Ed. David F Ford with Rachel Muers, 408-25.
- Pattison, Stephen and James Woodward (2000) "An Introduction to Pastoral and Practical Theology". In *The Blackwell Reader in Pastoral and Practical Theology* ed. James Woodward and Stephen Pattison, 1-19. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Patton, Michael Quinn (2002) *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods*. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Paul VI (1972), *Ministeria Quaedam*, http://www.ewtn.com/library/papaldoc/p6minors.htm, accessed 2014-05-23.
- Pears, Angie (2009) Doing Contextual Theology. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- Pears, Iain (1997) "The Gentleman and the Hero: Wellington and Napoleon in the Nineteenth Century". In *Leadership: Classical, Contemporary and Critical Approaches*, ed. Keith Grint, 231-49. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pederson, Michelle (2013) "The District Superintendent in the United Methodist Church 2010." *General Board of Higher Education and Ministry*. Accessed 2013-05-16.
 - http://www.gbhem.org/sites/default/files/PUB_2013DSINTHEUMC.pdf
- Peirce, William (1873) The Ecclesiastical Principles and Polity of the Wesleyan Methodists. Comprising a complete compendium of their laws, regulations, and general economy; together with a full account of all their ordinances, institutions, funds, and customs, carefully compiled and classified from Mr. Wesley's Journals, the Minutes of Conference, and other authentic records, from the year 1774 to 1872 inclusive. 3rd edn, revised Frederick J. Dobson. London: Wesleyan Conference Office.
- Percival, Henry R. (ed.) (1916) 'Excursus on the Chorepiscopi'. In 'The Seven Ecumenical Councils of the Undivided Church: their canons and dogmatic decrees'. In A Select Library of the Nicene and Post-Nicene Fathers of the Christian Church, eds. Philip Schaff and Henry Wace. Second series, XIV:21-23. London: Parker & Company.
- Phillips, Peter M. (2011) *Faith and Order Committee Report MC/11/61*. Available at http://www.methodist.org.uk/downloads/coun-MC1161-Faith-Order-250311.doc

Pius X (1906) "Vehementer nos" 11 February 1906, Acta Sanctae Sedis 39:3-16

Pius XI (1929) Acta Apostolica Sedis, 20.

Pius XII (1943) Mystici Corporis. ['MC']

- Pope, W.B. (1880) *A Compendium of Christian Theology*. 2nd ed. Vol. 3. London: Wesleyan Conference Office.
- Power, David N. (1969) *Ministers of Christ and His Church*. London: Geoffrey Chapman.
- (1973) The Christian Priest: Elder and Prophet. London: Sheed & Ward.
- (2008) Mission, Ministry, Order: Reading the Tradition in the Present Context. London: Continuum.
- Pugh, Estelle M. and D.S. Pugh (1994) *How to Get a PhD: A handbook for students and their supervisors.* 2nd ed. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Rack, Henry D. (1965) *The Future of John Wesley's Methodism*, London: Lutterworth Press. Ecumenical Studies in History, No.2.
- Rahner, Karl (1963) *Theological Investigations* (tr. K. Kruger) Vol 2. London: Darton, Longman & Todd.
- Ramsbotham, John (1961) "Suffragan Bishops". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 90-98. London: The Faith Press.
- Reichertz, Jo (2007) "Abduction: The Logic of Discovery of Grounded Theory". In *The Sage Handbook of Grounded Theory* eds. A. Bryant and K. Charmaz, 214-28. London: Sage.
- Reisenfeld, Harald (1953) "Ministry in the New Testament". In *The Root of the Vine: Essays in Biblical Theology*, ed. Anton Fridrichsen. New York: Philosophical Library, 96-127. Consulted online: http://www.hornes.org/theologia/harald-riesenfeld/the-ministry-in-the-new-testament, accessed 2014-09-15.
- Richardson, A. (1969) s.v. "Creed(s)". In *A Dictionary of Christian Theology*. ed. A. Richardson, 80. London: SCM Press.
- Richey, Russell E. (1996) *The Methodist Conference in America*. Nashville, TN: Kingswood Books.
- (1997) "Introduction". In Connectionalism: Ecclesiology, Mission and Identity (United Methodism and American culture: vol. 1). ed. Russell E. Richey, Dennis M. Campbell and William B. Lawrence, 1-20. Nashville, TN: Abingdon Press.
- (2004) "Episcopacy in Methodism: Shadows of John Wesley". In *Episcopacy in the Methodist Tradition: Perspectives and Proposals* by Russell E. Richey and Thomas Edward Frank, 43-62. Nashville, TN: Abingdon Press.

- Richey, Russell E. (2009) Doctrine in Experience: A Methodist Theology of Church and Ministry. Nashville, TN: Kingswood Books.
- (2010) "Methodism in North America". In T & T Clark Companion to Methodism, ed. Charles Yrigoyen, 89-111. London: T & T Clark.
- (2013) "Episkopé and Connexionalism: Ecclesiology and Church Government in Methodism." In The Ashgate Research Companion to World Methodism, edited by William Gibson, Peter Forsaith and Martin Wellings, 251-268. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing.
- Richey, Russell E., Dennis M. Campbell and William B. Lawrence (2005) *Marks of Methodism: Theology in Ecclesial Practice*. United Methodism and American Culture Vol. 5. Nashville TN: Abingdon Press.
- Richey, Russell E. and Thomas Edward Frank (2004) *Episcopacy in the Methodist Tradition: Perspectives and Proposals.* Nashville TN: Abingdon Press.
- Ricoeur, Paul (1970) Freud and Philosophy: An Essay on Interpretation. tr. Denis Savage. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Rigg, James (1879) The Connexional Economy of Wesleyan Methodism in its Ecclesiastical and Spiritual Aspects. London: Wesleyan Conference Office.
- (1887) A Comparative View of Church Organisations, Primitive and Protestant. With a supplement on Methodist secessions and Methodist union. 2nd ed. London: T. Woolmer. Accessed 2013-11-25. http://books.logos.com/books/5856#content=/books/5856
- Rikhof, Herwi (1981) *The Concept of Church: A Methodological Inquiry into the Use of Metaphors in Ecclesiology.* London: Sheed and Ward.
- Ringgren, Helmer (1966) Israelite Religion. tr. David Green. London: SPCK.
- Ritchie J. and J. Lewis (2003) (eds) *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for* Social Science Students and Researchers. London: Sage.
- Roach, J.C. (2011) Review of *Talking about God in Practice: Theological Action Research and Practical Theology*, by Helen Cameron, Deborah Bhatti, Catherine Duce, James Sweeney and Clare Watkins. London: SCM Press, 2010", *Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, 3(2):125-27.
- Robinson, John (1961) "A new model of episcopacy". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 125-38. London: The Faith Press.
- Robson, C. (1993) Real World Research. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Rohls, Jan (1997) "Apostolicity, *Episkope* and Succession: The Lutheran, Reformed and United Tradition". In *Visible Unity and the Ministry of Oversight: The Second Theological Conference held under the Meissen Agreement between the Church of England and the Evangelical Church in Germany*, by the Council for Christian Unity of the Church of England, 93-107 [ET]. London: Church House Publishing.

- Rosaldo, Renato (1989) *Culture and Truth: The Remaking of Social Analysis.* Boston: Beacon Press.
- Rose, Gillian (1993) Judaism and Modernity: Philosophical Essays. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Rosenbaum, P.R. (2002) Observational Studies. 2nd ed. New York: Springer.
- Roseveare, Richard (1961) "Bishops Overseas". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 107-15. London: The Faith Press.
- Rupp, Gordon (1965) "Introduction". In *A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain*, I. ed. G. Rupp and R. Davies, i-xi. London: Epworth Press.
- Saarinen, Risto (1997) Faith and Holiness: Lutheran-Orthodox Dialogue 1959-1994. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.
- Sackett, A.B. (1971) "John Wesley and the Greek Orthodox Bishop" *Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society* 38(3):81-87.
- (1972) "John Wesley and the Greek Orthodox Bishop" Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society 38(4):97-102.
- Scaife, Lauriston (1961) "Bishops in America". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 99-106. London: The Faith Press.
- Schillebeeckx, Edward (1981) *Ministry: A Case for Change*. tr. John Bowden. London: SCM Press.
- (1985) The Church with a Human Face: A New and Expanded Theology of Ministry. tr. John Bowden. London: SCM Press.
- Schipani, Daniel S. (2012) "Case Study Method". In *The Wiley-Blackwell* Companion to Practical Theology. ed. Bonnie J. Miller-McLemore, 91-101. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Schleiermacher, Friedrich (1850) *Brief Outline of the Study of Theology*. Tr. W. Farrer. Edinburgh: T&T Clark.
- (1976) *The Christian Faith*. Edinburgh: T&T Clark.
- Schmemann, Alexander (1963) *The Historical Road of Eastern Orthodoxy* tr. Lydia W. Kesich. London: Harvill Press.
- Schottroff, W. (1997) s.v. "קק *pqd* to visit". In *Theological Lexicon of the Old Testament*. ed. Ernst Jenni and Claus Westermann, tr. Mark E Biddle. Vol. 2, 1018-1031. Peabody, MA: Hendrickson.
- Schwartz, Christian (1996) *Natural Church Development*. St. Charles, IL: ChurchSmart Resources.
- Shier-Jones, Angela (2004) "Being Methodical: Theology within Church Structures". In *Unmasking Methodist Theology*. ed. Clive Marsh, Brian Beck, Angela Shier-Jones and Helen Wareing, 29-40. London: Continuum.
- (2005) A Work in Progress: Methodists Doing Theology. Peterborough: Epworth.

- Shier-Jones, Angela (2009) "Growth in Grace and Holiness". In *Methodist Present Potential, And realistic hopes for the future.* ed. Luke Curran and Angela Shier-Jones, 186-202. London: Epworth.
- Shrewsbury W.J. (1840) An Essay on the Scriptural Character of the Wesleyan Methodist Economy. London: Renshaw and Kirkman.
- Silverman, David (1993) Interpreting Qualitative Data: Methods for Analysing Talk, Text and Interaction. London: Sage.
- Simon, Glyn (1961) 'Introductory Essay'. In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 1-15. (London: The Faith Press).
- Smith, George (1866) *History of Wesleyan Methodism*. Vol. II, The Middle Age. London: Longman, Brown, Green, Longmans, and Roberts. http://books.google.co.uk/books?id=u0RDAAAAYAAJ
- Smith, Kevin Gary (2008) Academic Writing and Theological Research: A Guide for Students. Johannesburg: South African Theological Seminary Press.
- Sofield, Loughlan and Donald H. Kuhn (1995) *The Collaborative Leader: Listening* to the Wisdom of God's People. Notre Dame, IN: Ave Maria Press.
- Speiser, E.A. (1958) "Census and Ritual Expiation in Mari and Israel". Bulletin of the American Schools of Oriental Research, 149:17-25, cited by Tyler F. Williams (1997) s.v. און פָקר (#7212), In New International Dictionary of Old Testament Theology and Exegesis, Vol.3, ed. Willem A VanGemeren, 657-63. Carlisle: Paternoster Press.
- Spellman, Norman W. (1964) "The Formation of the Methodist Episcopal Church". In *The History of American Methodism, I.* ed. Emory Stevens Bucke, 185-232. New York: Abingdon Press.
- Spencer, Harold, and Edwin Finch (1951) *The Constitutional Practice and Discipline of the Methodist Church*. London: The Methodist Publishing House.
- Stacey, John (1977) Groundwork of Theology. London: Epworth Press.
- Steen, Jane (2010) Review of *Talking about God in Practice: Theological Action Research and Practical Theology*, by Helen Cameron, Deborah Bhatti, Catherine Duce, James Sweeney and Clare Watkins. London: SCM Press, 2010". *Journal of Adult Theological Education* 7(1):108-109.
- Stevens, Abel (1861) *The History of the Religious Movement of the Eighteenth Century, called Methodism.* Vol. III. London: Alexander Heylin. http://books.google.co.uk/books?id=D9EQAAAAIAAJ
- Stevenson, J. (1987) *A New Eusebius: Documents illustrating the history of the Church to AD 337.* 2nd rev.ed., ed. W.H.C. Frend. London: SPCK.
- Stillingfleet, Edward (1842) *The Irenicum, or Pacificator: Being a Reconciler as to Church Differences.* First American ed. Philadelphia: M. Sorin. https://play.google.com/store/books/details?id=wYsOAAAIAAJ

- Stogdill, R.M. (1963) Manual for the Leader Behaviour Description Questionnaire -Form XII: an experimental revision. Columbus, OH: The Ohio State University.
- (1997 [1950]) "Leadership, Membership and Organization". In *Leadership: Classical, Contemporary and Critical Approaches*, ed. Keith Grint, 112-125. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sweeney, J., G. Simmonds and D. Lonsdale, eds (2010) *Keeping Faith in Practice: Aspects of Catholic Pastoral Theology.* London: SCM Press.
- Sweeney, James et al. (2010) "Practical Theological Research: A Case Study". In Keeping Faith in Practice: Aspects of Catholic Pastoral Theology, eds. James Sweeney, Gemma Simmonds and David Lonsdale, 273-86. London: SCM.
- Swift, Wesley F. (1961) *The Superintendent Minister's Vade Mecum*. London: The Epworth Press.
- Swinton, John (2012) "Where is Your Church?" Moving toward a Hospitable and Sanctified Ethnography." In *Perspectives on Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Pete Ward, 71-92. Cambridge, UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Swinton, John and Harriet Mowat (2006) *Practical Theology and Qualitative Research*. London: SCM.
- Sykes, Norman (1961) "The Election of Bishops". In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 51-66. London: The Faith Press.
- Sykes, Stephen (2006) Power and Christian Theology. London: Continuum.
- Tanner, K. (1997) *Theories of Culture: A New Agenda for Theology*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press.
- Taylor, Charles (1991) *The Ethics of Authenticity*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- (2007) A Secular Age. London: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Thinking Anglicans (2005) *Southwark takes Action*. Accessed 2013-11-30. http://www.thinkinganglicans.org.uk/archives/001405.html
- Thompson, Judith (2008) Theological Reflection. London: SCM Press.
- Thompson, Judith, Stephen Pattison and Ross Thompson (2008) SCM Study Guide to Theological Reflection. London: SCM Press.
- Thompson, William, John Pawson, Robert Roberts, John Allen, Richard Rodda,
 Samuel Bradburn, Thomas Tennant, Thomas Hanby and Christopher Hopper (1858) "The 'Halifax Circular, 1791" In *History of Wesleyan Methodism* by George Smith. Vol. II, The Middle Age, 688-89. London: Longman, Brown, Green, Longmans, and Roberts.

- Thornton, L.S. (1957) "The Body of Christ in the New Testament". In *The Apostolic Ministry: Essays on the History and the Doctrine of Episcopacy*, by K.E. Kirk Kirk *et al.*, 2nd edn, 53-111. London: Hodder & Stoughton.
- Thurian, Max, ed. (1986) Churches Respond to BEM, Vol.II: Official Responses to the "Baptism, Eucharist and Ministry" Text. Faith and Order Paper No. 132. Geneva: World Council of Churches.Tillich, Paul (1951) Systematic Theology. Vol. I. London: SCM Press.
- Tillich, Paul (1953) Systematic Theology. Vol.1. London: Nisbet & Co.
- Tompkins, Oliver (1961) 'Are Bishops necessary?' In *Bishops*, ed. Glyn Simon, 26-33. London: The Faith Press.
- Townsend, W.J. (1897) "Church Principles and Order of the Methodist New Connexion". In *The Centenary of the Methodist New Connexion*. ed. J. Packer, 1-69. London: G. Burroughs.
- Tracy, David (1975) Blessed Rage of Order. New York: Seabury.
- (1983) "The Foundations of Practical Theology". In Practical Theology: The Emerging Field in Theology, Church, and World, ed. Don S. Browning. London: Harper & Row.
- Turner, C H (1921) "Apostolic Succession". In Essays on the Early History of the Church and the Ministry, ed. H B Swete. 2nd edn, 93-214. London: Macmillan.
- Turner, Philip (2006) "The Windsor Report: A defining moment for a worldwide communion". In *The Fate of Communion: The agony of Anglicanism and the future of a global church*, by Ephraim Radner and Philip Turner, 198-219. Cambridge UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- United Methodist Church ['UMC'] (1972). *The Book of Discipline of the United Methodist Church 1972.* Nashville, TN: The United Methodist Church Publishing House.
- (1980) *The Book of Discipline of the United Methodist Church 1980*. Nashville, TN: The United Methodist Church Publishing House.
- (2012) The Book of Discipline of the United Methodist Church 2012. Nashville, TN: The United Methodist Church Publishing House.
- Van der Ven, Johannes (1993) *Practical Theology: An Empirical Approach*. ET Barbara Schultz. Leuven: Peeters Press.
- (1996) Ecclesiology in Context. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans.
- Van Deusen Hunsinger, D.D. (1995) *Theology and Pastoral Counseling: A New Interdisciplinary Approach*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans.
- Vickers, John A., ed (1988) "Documents and Source Material". In *A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain*, Vol. IV, ed. Rupert Davies, A. Raymond George and Gordon Rupp, 3-649. London: Epworth Press.

- Vincent of Lérins (2012) Commonitorium. New Advent. Accessed 2012-01-19. http://www.newadvent.org/fathers/3506.htm
- Vine, Victor E. (1956) "Episcope" in Methodism", *Proceedings of the Wesley Historical Society*, 30(8):162-70.
- Vision4Life (2013) www.vision4life.org.uk. Accessed 2013-11-23.
- von Arx, Urs (2002) "The Old Catholic Churches of the Union of Utrecht". In *The Christian Church: An Introduction to the Major Traditions.* ed. Paul Avis, 157-85. London: SPCK.
- Wainwright, Geoffrey (1983) "Reconciliation in Ministry". In Ecumenical Perspectives on Baptism, Eucharist and Ministry: Faith and Order Paper 116. ed. Max Thurian, 129-139. Geneva: World Council of Churches.
- Walton, Heather (2012) "Poetics". In *The Wiley-Blackwell Companion to Practical Theology*. Ed. Bonnie J. Miller-McLemore, 173-82. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Walton, Roger L. (2002) *The Teaching and Learning of Theological Reflection: Case Studies in Practice,* EdD thesis, University of Durham.
- (2003) "The Bible and Tradition in Theological Reflection". British Journal of Theological Education 13(2):133-51.
- Ward, Frances (2004) "The Messiness of Studying Congregations Using Ethnographic Methods". In *Congregational Studies in the UK*, ed. M. Guest, K. Tusting and L. Woodhead. 125-37. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Ward, Pete (2008) *Participation and Mediation: A Practical Theology for the Liquid Church.* London: SCM Press.
- (2012) "Attention and Conversation." In *Perspectives on Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Pete Ward, 36-49. Cambridge, UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Warren, Robert (2004) *The Healthy Churches' Handbook*. London: Church House Publishing.
- Watkins, Clare (2010) "Texts and practices: an ecclesiology of *traditio* for pastoral theology". In *Keeping Faith in Practice: Aspects of Catholic Pastoral Theology*, eds. James Sweeney, Gemma Simmonds and David Lonsdale, 163-78. London: SCM.
- (2012) "Practical Ecclesiology: what counts as theology in studying the church?" In *Perspectives on Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Pete Ward, 167-81. Cambridge, UK: William B Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- (2014) "Living Marriage, Learning Discipleship, Teaching Church: The Practices of Married Life as Embodied Theology for Today's Mission". *INTAMS Review* 20(2), Winter 2014, 236-248.

- Watkins, Clare (2015) "Practising Ecclesiology: From Product to Process. Developing Ecclesiology as a Non-Correlative Process and Practice through the Theological Action Research Framework of Theology in Four Voices". *Ecclesial Practices* 2 (2015) 23-39.
- Watkins, Clare and Helen Cameron (2012) "Epiphanic Sacramentality: An Example of Practical Ecclesiology Revisioning Theological Understanding". In *Explorations in Ecclesiology and Ethnography*, ed. Christian B. Scharen, 71-89. Cambridge, UK: William B. Eerdmans Publishing Company.
- Watkins Clare and Bridget Shepherd (2014) "The Challenge of 'Fresh Expressions' to Ecclesiology: Reflections from the Practice of Messy Church". *Ecclesial Practices* 1 (2014), 92-110
- Watson, Richard (1831) The Life of the Rev. John Wesley, A.M., sometime Fellow of Lincoln College, Oxford, and Founder of the Methodist Societies. London: John Mason.
- Wellings, Martin (1999) "'A time to be born and a time to die'?: a historian's perspective on the future of Methodism". In *Methodism and the Future*, ed. Jane Craske and Clive Marsh, 148-157. London: Cassell.
- (2010) "Methodism in the UK and Ireland". In T & T Clark Companion to Methodism, ed. Charles Yrigoyen,73-88. London: T & T Clark.
- Wescher, Carle (1866) "Note sur une inscription de l'île de Théra publiée par M. Ross relative à un société religieuse", *Revue archéologique* 13 (new series): 245-49.
- Wesley, John (1938) *The Journal of The Rev. John Wesley, A.M.* ed. Nehemiah Curnock. 8 Vols. London: Epworth.
- (1931a) The Letters of John Wesley, ed. John Telford. Vol VII. London: Epworth.
- (1931b) "Sermon 75: On Schism". In Works of John Wesley, ed. F. Baker, 3:59-69. London: Epworth.
- (1931c) "Reasons against a separation from the Church of England". In Works of John Wesley, ed. F. Baker, 9:334-49. London: Epworth.
- (1976) Explanatory Notes upon the New Testament. London: Epworth Press.
- (1988a) John Wesley's Forty-Four Sermons. London: Epworth Press.
- (1988b) "A Plain Account of the People called Methodists, 1748." In A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain, Vol. IV, ed. Rupert Davies, A. Raymond George and Gordon Rupp, 92-102. London: Epworth Press.
- Wesley, John and Charles Wesley (1747). The Nature, Design, and General Rules, of the United Societies, in London, Bristol, King's-wood, and Newcastle upon Tyne. 5th ed. Bristol: Felix Farley. http://books.google.co.uk/books?id=RTVcAAAQAAJ

- Wesleyan Church (2013) "Our Foundations". Accessed 2013-09-18. http://www.wesleyan.org/about#missional-priorities-our-foundation.
- White, Stephen K. (1991) *Political Theory and Postmodernism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Whitehead, John (1796) *The Life of the Rev. John Wesley, Sometime Fellow of Lincoln College, Oxford.* Vol.2. London: Couchman.
- Wigg-Stevenson, Natalie (2011) Faith in my Bones: An Exercise in Ethnographic Theology. PhD Thesis, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN. Accessed 2012-01-22. http://etd.library.vanderbilt.edu/available/etd-07212011-110912/unrestricted/Dissertation.pdf
- Wijsen, F., P. Henriot and R. Mejía, eds (2005) *The Pastoral Circle Revisited: A Critical Quest for Truth and Transformation.* Maryknoll, NY: Orbis Books.
- Wilkinson, John T. (1978) "The Rise of Other Methodist Traditions". In A History of the Methodist Church in Great Britain, ed. Rupert E. Davies, A. Raymond George, and E. Gordon Rupp, Vol. 2, 276-329. London: Epworth.
- Williams, Robert R. (1978) *Schleiermacher the Theologian: the construction of the doctrine of God.* Philadelphia: Fortress Press.
- Williams, Rowan (2000) On Christian Theology. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Williams, Tyler F. (1997) s.v. פָקר (#7212). In New International Dictionary of Old Testament Theology and Exegesis, Vol.3, ed. Willem A VanGemeren, 657-63. Carlisle: Paternoster Press.
- Wisker, Gina (2001) *The Postgraduate Research Handbook: Succeed with your MA, MPhil, EdD and PhD.* Basingstoke, Hants: Palgrave.
- Woodward, J., and S. Pattison, eds (2000) *The Blackwell Reader in Pastoral and Practical Theology*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- World Council of Churches (1982) *Baptism, Eucharist and Ministry: Faith and* Order Paper No. 111. Geneva: World Council of Churches. ['**BEM'**]
- World Methodist Council ['**WMC**'] (1996) "Wesleyan Essentials of Christian Faith". *Rio de Janeiro*, 1996. Accessed 2013-09-18. http://worldmethodistcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Wesleyan-Essentials.pdf
- (2013) Member Churches: Our World-wide Church Family. Accessed 2013-06-13. http://worldmethodistcouncil.org/about/member-churches/
- Yin, Robert K. (2000) "Rival Explanations as an Alternative to "Reforms as Experiments"". In Validity & Social Experimentation: Donald Campbell's legacy. ed. L. Bickman, 239-66. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- (2009) *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. 4th ed. London: Sage.
- Yrigoyen, Charles (2009) s.v. "Superintendent." In *The A to Z of Methodism*, ed. Charles Yrigoyen and Susan E Warrick, 291. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press.

Yrigoyen, Charles ed. (2010) T & T Clark Companion to Methodism. London: T & T Clark.

Yuhasz, Michael (1978) "Views of a layman concerning the actions of the apostolic visitator". In *Historical Mirror: Sources of the Rusin and Hungarian Green Rite Catholics in the United States of America, 1994-1963* by John Slivka, 31-36. Brooklyn, NY: Slivka. Available online https://archive.org/details/HistoricalMirrorGreekRiteCatholics1884-1963.

Accessed 2014-04-14.